
Scrutiny
Meeting papers

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 7 March 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester



    

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 7 March 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Clarke

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

Andrea Clarke

3  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 10)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 17th January 2109.  

Andrea Clarke

4  OFSTED OUTCOME LETTER (Pages 11 - 14)

To update the Committee of the outcome of the latest Ofsted 
Monitoring visit.

Chris Spencer

5  IMPROVEMENT BOARD UPDATE (Pages 15 - 18)

To inform the Committee of the progress being made by Children’s 
Services Improvement Board.

Chris Spencer

6  QUALITY ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK: PROGRESS UPDATE REPORT 
(Pages 19 - 24)

The Committee is asked to receive the report.    

Rob England

7  SCHOOL OFF ROLLING INFORMATION (Pages 25 - 40)

To provide an update on the rate of exclusion and home education in 
Gloucestershire.

To receive a presentation.  

Charlotte Jones

8  UPDATE ON THE PERMANENT EXCLUSIONS TASK GROUP REPORT 
(Pages 41 - 46)

To provide an update on progress on responding to the 

Cllr Richard 
Boyles
Tel: 01452 
830720



    

recommendations.
9  CHILDREN'S CENTRES - A POSITION STATEMENT (Pages 47 - 272)

Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of children and 
family centre activity during the year 2017-2018, for information.

Wendy Williams
Tel: 01452 
328526

10  PERFORMANCE MONITORING (Pages 273 - 294)

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

Chris Spencer

11  REVENUE MONITORING (Pages 295 - 304)

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

Suzanne Hall

Membership – Cllrs Cllr Chris Coleman, Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Dr Andrew Miller, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Loraine Patrick, Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman) and 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese) and Dr Richard Castle (Primary Sector 
Parent Governor Representative)

Co-Opted Member - Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns01452 328472/ e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the start 
of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 425237/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk   

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p64 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Thursday 17 January 2019 commencing at 10.00 am at the 
Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman)
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Apologies: Charlotte Blanch, Dr Richard Castle, Cllr Loraine Vivienne Patrick 
and Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Brian Robinson declared a personal interest as a Foster Carer. 

The Chairperson on behalf of the Committee wished to pay his respect to Councillor 
Jack Williams who sadly passed away.  Councillor Coleman, on behalf of the 
Liberal Democrats added that Councillor Williams was a well-respected and 
hardworking member for Churchdown and volunteered working with many young 
people in his ward.  It was noted that he was also a well-liked and respected 
member of this Council and the Committee reflected on his work.  

Cllr Coleman explained that Cllr Williams was largely responsible for the Liberal 
Democrats decision to work on the Ofsted outcome and was a driving factor in 
working to improve the CYP services in Gloucestershire.  He actively met frontline 
staff and was a proactive Member of the Scrutiny Committee.  Cllr Coleman 
expressed his deepest sorrow for Cllr Williams family.  

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting on the Thursday 21st November 2018 were agreed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

The Committee were given an update on the outstanding actions:
- It was agreed that the MASH invitation would be recirculated to members of 

the Committee, individual members would be responsible for contacting 
officers directly to make the necessary arrangements.  Action – Andrea 
Griffiths

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

- The DCS explained that the third party review completed by the LGA and 
People Too, had been completed and a copy of the report would be 
circulated to Members in due course.  It was agreed that the report would 
also be included for discussion at the next committee meeting.  Action – 
DCS/Andrea Griffiths

- In relation to the Children & Young People Mental Health Services, the DCS 
advised the committee that the CCG weren’t aware of the grant that was 
previously available.  However, Health had now submitted a bid for £5million, 
over two years to set up CYP Mental Health Support Teams across the 
County in schools.  The Committee welcomed this approach and requested 
that this item be included on the Committee’s work plan, Committee also felt 
it would be beneficial to have sight of the bid before it was rolled out to 
schools.  Action – DCS/Andrea Griffiths    

3. IMPROVEMENT BOARD UPDATE 

The Committee welcomed Andrew Ireland, Independent Chair of the Improvement 
Board to the meeting.  Mr Ireland reported on the work of the Board, his role as 
Chair and the cross partnership aspects involved in the work.  In addition, he 
reflected upon developments made within the service and the performance 
improvements.   He proceeded to highlight the critical areas where progress was 
still required in order to secure the sustainable improvements.  

The Chair of the Improvement Board explained that the council had decided to 
continue with the Improvement Board and had contracted his services to continue 
the function.  He advised the Committee that he had been assisted fully in his role 
and the Council had been true its word.  It was noted that his role gave him the 
freedom to meet regularly with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and 
other senior management as and when he required.  Members were informed that 
as the Chairperson, Mr Ireland also had the opportunity to visit staff and teams on 
the ground, in order to formulate his own assessment and opinion of daily practice.  
Primarily, he had ability to challenge the Council and others where insufficient 
progress had been made or over specific aspects of performance.  

The DCS explained that it was not a case of aiming to scrape over the Ofsted line, 
the aim was to produce the best service possible for the young people in 
Gloucestershire.  The Committee were reminded that there was a bigger a picture 
to keep in mind, and the Improvement Board would help to focus attentions on long 
term improvements.  

The key issues were detailed in the report, the Chair of the Improvement Board 
informed the Committee that there was a clear positive trajectory and the report 
showed an improvement.  He added that there was still some way to go in some 
areas and there would undoubtedly be some bumps along the way, however the 
trajectory was looking positive.  

Members noted that the Board had reflected some strong levels of concern but 
were intent on moving forward.  As such, the Chair of the Improvement Board had 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

visited MASH, and felt there were strong processes in place, and he was confident 
they would continue to pick up and improve on the arrangements in place.  It was 
noted that this was the single most important aspect as this set the tone for the 
business as a whole.  

In response to a question, it was explained that the Improvement Board had 
reflected some strong levels of concern but were pleased to report things were 
moving forward.  As a point of information, Improvement Plans were presented to 
the Board on a regular basis.  

The Committee were reassured that the Chair of the Improvement Board had 
visited staff county wide, he felt confident in their approach, which would make a 
significant difference to the service.  It was reported where strong and committed 
management teams were in place this notably had an impact on staff morale.  

The Chair of the Improvement Board explained that the Board were making a valid 
contribution to the process and were gaining an insight into multiagency 
partnerships.  They were also intent on narrowing down the focus, in order to gain 
traction and acceleration.  It was evident that it was necessary to get good driven 
interim managers on to permanent contracts, as they were a driving force behind 
making key differences to the service.  

In response to a question, it was noted that management had a strong 
understanding of managing performance, which was proven to be embedded within 
the staff group and was evident in the Districts.  Members were advised that some 
agency staff were inspirational leaders and encouraged their teams to achieve and 
deliver the best service possible, which in turn was reciprocated by staff on the 
ground.  It was evident that some agency staff were on short term contracts, which 
highlighted where the difficulties occurred.  The high level of staff turnover in 
Gloucestershire was a problem to overcome and with the help of energetic and 
enthusiastic managers it could prove to be a positive experience and employees 
would want to remain in service.  

Officers explained that induction and exit interviews in the past hadn’t always been 
reported as a positive experience, however human resources were actively working 
to improve the induction and exit processes.   It was deemed a valuable learning 
tool, especially from those who were exiting the service as lessons could be learnt.  

Members were advised that 75% of team managers were now employed on 
permanent contracts and the aim was to increase this figure in order to stabilise and 
improve staff morale and confidence in the service area.  It was reported that in the 
Forest of Dean, there were now 3 permanent team managers and 1 agency team 
manager and these individuals were making a rapid difference to the team and 
service delivery.  

The DCS informed members that all staff were offered an exit interview, even with 
the DCS if they wished, however the choice was up to the individual.  It was noted 
that the DCS had conducted two exit interviews to date, Members welcomed this 
approach.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

In response to a question in terms of grass roots and partnership working, the Chair 
of the Improvement Board explained that there were performance indicators for 
children in care, and the board actively monitored and pursued these areas if they 
weren’t progressing in the right direction.  The Committee concurred that multi 
agency strong working partnerships would be the key part of success for the 
Improvement Board and the performance framework would evidently judge how it 
was working.  

Members were advised that the Board were encouraged to see progress being 
made, however there was still a need for consistency across the Authority.  

Resolved

That the update be received.

4. QUALITY ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK: PROGRESS UPDATE REPORT 

The Head of Quality Children and Families, Rob England presented the report in 
detail.  The report provided an overview of the audit activity undertaken in 
December, including the completion of audits against expectation, the growth in the 
number of auditors through the rolling training programme and other quality 
assurance activity.  The Committee welcomed the report and appreciated having 
sight of the latest figures. 

The Head of Quality Children and Families informed the committee that the data 
showed that 23% of cases audited were rated as inadequate.   The Committee 
accepted that in order for the organisation to be lifted from an overall rating of 
inadequate, it was necessary to move the monthly audit ratings to no more than 
10% inadequate.  There were significant improvements in the audit completion 
rates as a result of considerable oversight and any exemptions had to be approved 
by the Director of Children’s Safeguarding.  The Committee agreed that the 
pressure needed to be maintained until audit process was seen as business as 
usual.  

It was reported that the service had achieved its target of having 85 trained auditors 
in place by the end of November 2018, though 3 had left GCC in December and 3 
had became moderators.  This represented continued growth in the auditor and 
moderator capacity, in addition a small group of internal trainers would be trained in 
February 2019, who would take forward the delivery of the auditor and moderator 
development on a rolling quarterly programme.  This would enable the service to 
sustain a good level of auditor capacity going forward.  

The Head of Quality Children and Families reported that risk assessment appeared 
to be an improving area, of which 30% were judged good.  However, it was noted 
that weaknesses in Risk Assessment remained a dominant feature in the 
inadequate practices of 25%, this would remain an area of priority focus.  It was 
explained that it would be necessary to spend time with managers in order to 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

develop an understanding of the situation, whilst attending to audits in a timely 
manner.  

In response to a question, members were advised that it was not a one size fits all 
approach, as there was evidently something which prevented managers from 
discharging their duties and the Head of Quality Children and Families was keen to 
understand why.  

The Committee were advised that the analysed data was discussed with the 
appropriate teams as a learning tool which proved beneficial to all concerned.  In 
addition, the audit results were discussed with the leadership team and cascaded 
down to enforce the learning experience.  However, it was evident that not all 
parties acted on the information.  

The DCS remarked that until a year ago, there was an unreliable audit process in 
place and now there were 82 trained auditors.  Members were advised that ex-
senior Ofsted inspectors had been involved in the training of the auditors and 
moderators, and as a prescriptive process imposed on staff the service had 
developed considerably.  It was evident that the service was now being audited 
against a ‘good’ standard and managers now audited within their own teams as this 
provided more value and relevance which engaged people.  As part of this process 
team managers could now deal with the issues as they arose during the course of 
an audit.  It was apparent that the cultural issue of interpretation had now changed.    

Members were informed by the DCS that managers were expected to grade cases 
appropriately and were urged to err on the side of caution, as any risk concerning a 
child should be dealt with curiously.  It was better to over represent than under 
represent the risk.  The DCS explained that it was an essential area of business to 
assess the risk, the question was how good were we at spotting it, assessing it and 
acting on it, this would attribute to being deemed a good authority and there was 
still some way to go. 

The Committee remarked that the main focus was the risk to the child, and the 
numerous forms people had to complete were in effect a risk reduction for the 
authority.  The committee questioned the order of the risk, as primary the focus 
should be that of the child.  Therefore balanced decisions required a clear process 
map.  

The Director of Children’s Safeguarding explained that in terms of risk, the authority 
was now very focused and clear standards of risk had been set out for social 
workers.  Based on the Eileen Monroe Report which encouraged reductions in the 
high levels of bureaucracy within social work nationally, the service was actively 
looking to make processes and assessments leaner.  Officers explained that tools 
were in place to assess risk but it was essential to target the front line services first 
and foremost.  The Head of Quality Children and Families explained that in the last 
decade Social Work nationally had become process biased, however this was no 
longer the case and staff were being retrained to remember the primary focus was 
the life of the child.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

The committee agreed to continue to monitor this area closely.  

Resolved 

That the report be received.  

5. PERFORMANCE MONITORING 

The Director of Children’s Services (DCS), Chris Spencer presented the report.  
The DCS reported that there were a number of areas across Children’s Social Care 
where performance had improved or continued to improve since November 2018.  
The Committee were advised that this performance would need to be maintained 
despite the challenging factors of a system under pressure and continued workforce 
turnover, which resulted in recruitment issues. However, given all these pressures 
there was a trajectory of improvement.   

It was reported that social worker caseloads were now more manageable, as such 
morale had improved and social workers were beginning to feel more valued and 
supported in their role.  In addition, weekly performance meetings were being 
undertaken, which had also contributed to this change.  

Members appreciated that further improvements were required in those areas 
where performance was not progressing or where issues were still evident for a 
reducing number of children, in order for all children to be seen, assessed or 
worked within a timely way and have plans in place to support progress, protection 
and transition to adulthood.  The Committee were pleased to note that no children 
had been left in unsafe circumstances.  

The DCS shared his initial thoughts following Ofsted’s visit with committee 
members and was awaiting the latest outcome letter from Ofsted. He anticipated 
there would be a number of issues that would need to be improved although the 
trajectory is good.  

In response to a question relating to the visiting of children, it was explained that 
children were expected to be seen in and out of the home environment and on their 
own in order to gain the individuals view.  It was noted that 76.3% of children 
subject to a child protection plan had been visited in the last ten days, it was 
explained that this direction of travel had been improving since July 2018 (60.5%).   
Member’s attention was drawn to summary of key areas performance as detailed 
within the report (pages 24 & 25).  

Members questioned the number of missing children, in terms of age distribution, 
the number of times they went missing, from where and the reasons given in the 
return interview.    The Committee requested that these areas be looked at in more 
detail and requested a report on the impact of these circumstances.  Action – 
DCS/Andy Dempsey 

The Committee wished to know how relationships were with the courts, officers 
explained that there were pressures with the local courts, as they were running at 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

capacity which affected timescales.  The DCS explained that he had a good 
working relationship with Judge Wildblood and had regular meetings in an effort to 
improve services, however the capacity of the local family court was insufficient.  
The DCS explained that in order to deal with the backlog and reduce the need to 
travel further afield, another part time judge had been appointed.    Members 
requested that an invitation be extended to Judge Wildblood, as they were keen to 
discuss the issues with him.  Action – DCS/Andrea Griffiths

Resolved 

That the report be received.  

6. REVENUE MONITORING 

The Finance Business Partner, Suzanne Hall, informed the committee that the 
report highlighted the position as at November 2018. The current position for non-
DSG funded services was an overspend position of £7.23 million (6.81% of budget). 
The underlying over-spend was £9.83 million, £5.98 million being external 
placement costs, which reduces to £7.23 million when offset by £2.6 million of 
Business Rates Retention pilot income. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded 
services are forecast to be over-spent by £4.22 million in-year and this exceeds 
uncommitted balances resulting in an over-spend of £1.92 million.

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the position statement.  

7. CHILDREN'S CENTRES - A POSITION STATEMENT 

Unfortunately the main report had been omitted from the agenda pack, therefore 
the decision was taken to delay this item to the March meeting.    Action: Wendy 
Williams

8. CHILDREN AND THE JUSTICE SYSTEM 

The Director of Partnerships and Strategy (DPS), Andy Dempsey, presented the 
report in great detail.  The Committee noted the progress made in relation to further 
developing the local arrangements for Youth Justice with a particular emphasis on 
the work being undertaken to prevent the detention of children in police stations 
following charge.  It was explained that the development of the protocol had a great 
deal of support from the Assistant Chief Constable and custody suite officers.  All 
parties recognised that children being detained in the cells overnight was a difficult 
issue to deal with and were supportive of reducing the opportunity for such 
situations to occur.  It was reported that in the last quarter, three children had spent 
the night in the cells.  

A vigorous discussion took place which assisted officers in the development of the 
plan.  Officers explained that the local authority was not provided with a specific 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

grant or funding stream to meet this duty, as such the costs for children transferred 
to the care of the local authority were met from existing budgets for children in care.  

There was unanimous support for this protocol and members offered to liaise with 
officers if they required further support.  The DPS informed members that the 
protocol was written with a small number of individuals in mind.  It was evident that 
the compounding issues were only known at the point of arrest, it was suggested 
that the charging flow chart, as published in national guidance should be amended 
accordingly and worded sensitively to assist custody officers who had to process 
the child.  The aim of the protocol was to provide continuity and safeguard the child.  

Members felt it was an appalling experience for a child to spend a night in the cells 
and were deeply concerned for those children, where there was no option but to 
bed down in the cells overnight before being interviewed.  The DPS explained 
unfortunately at times there was no option but to detain a child in the custody suite 
overnight, rather than transferring a child in the early hours of the morning.  The 
DPS accepted members concerns and agreed to take the point on board.  

It was noted that many children in authority care were often disconnected from their 
social worker over the weekend.  Therefore, it was essential that each agency 
understood and gained a clear understanding of the reality of the situation.  

The DPS explained that the protocol wouldn’t ‘land’ until they had met with custody 
suite staff to implement the process and develop an understanding.  It was evident 
that there was a great deal of work to do, in order to get it right.  

In response to a question, it was noted that if a child breached an Anti-Social 
Behaviour Injunction (ASBI) they would be arrested, naturally this appeared to be 
an ever decreasing circle.   Some situations were of a contradictory nature and 
colleagues were open to new lessons in order to bring about change.  

The Committee were advised that children out of school were vulnerable, as such a 
focused piece of work was being undertaken which would involve multi agency 
meetings to avoid unintended consequences.  In response to a question, it was 
noted that a presentation had been given to Safer Gloucestershire Board.  

Members unanimously requested that this item be revisited at a future meeting, 
where a detailed update, including the revised protocol could be presented.  
(Action – Andy Dempsey/AG) 

The DCS agreed the development of the protocol was a good starting point, 
however some cohorts were not covered in the protocol.  It was suggested that 
perhaps an appendix should be included to cover the omitted cohorts.  The 
Committee welcomed and agreed this approach as a helpful way forward.    Cllr 
Coleman offered to work with officers to devise the cohort list.  (Action - Andy 
Dempsey/Cllr Coleman)

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

The DPS informed the Committee that the police were supportive of this area of 
work, however all parties would need to be persistent and work together to expand 
the cohort and the fine detail.  

Resolved

That the report be received.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.43 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Ofsted Outcome letter 

Purpose of 
Report

To update the Committee of the outcome of the latest Ofsted 
Monitoring visit

Is this for 
information 
or decision?

Information

Author Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services

Key Issues:  

The Authority has been in “intervention” since March 17. The next 6 months 
are critical to accelerate the pace of improvement in order to be ready for re-
inspection in the Autumn.

Recommendations to the Committee: 

To receive the report and note the Ofsted feedback received following the 
January monitoring visit and note the Accelerated Improvement plan 
developed in response to Ofsted feedback.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None specifically identified in this report other than to note that the County 
Council continues to provide additional resources to support the delivery of the 
Children’s Services Improvement Plan. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



2

Report

This report is provided to update the Committee of the outcomes of the latest Ofsted 
Monitoring visit and the Accelerated Improvement plan developed in response to 
Ofsted feedback

1. Ofsted Monitoring visit 

1.1. Our fifth Ofsted Monitoring visit took place on 15th and 16th January 19.

1.2. The Ofsted Monitoring Visit letter has been published on the Ofsted website: 
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/gloucestershire.  

1.3. This monitoring visit focused on Adolescents.

1.4. Ofsted inspectors noticed the following improvements:
- Clear vision and strategy
- Low number of children experiencing delays in being allocated a social 

worker
- Vast majority of single assessment are completed within timescale
- Increased timeliness of visits to children in Need and on CP plan 
- Assessment routinely include consideration of risks and protective 

factors and historical information
- Increased timeliness and quality of initial conferences and reviews
- More effective use of performance information 
- Staff morale is good
- Auditing process getting stronger and stronger
- Availability of good performance management data

1.5. However Ofsted also noticed that we still need to improve the following:
- Timeliness of visits after contact
- Practice is too variable in quality and consistency
- Assessment do not yet contribute to effective planning
- Plans are too variable in quality 
- Insufficient consideration is given to the daily lived experience of young 

people and the needs of younger siblings are often taking precedence
- Supervisions are not challenging enough and do not drive casework 

with clear timescales for improvement
- Young people are not consistently engaged or engaged in planning or 

reviews
- Audit activity has yet to demonstrate impacts on practice and outcomes 

for children
- Performance use need to be more embedded at front line

1.6. During this visit, Ofsted felt that no children were left in unsafe 
circumstances but too many were left in circumstances where their 
outcomes are not improving. Whilst Ofsted acknowledged that the significant 
turnover of staff and social work vacancies continue to impact negatively on 

Page 12

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/gloucestershire


3

the consistency and quality of practice, they stressed that the pace of 
improvement continues to be too slow.

1.7. We will be having a further monitoring visit in May but soon after that, 
possibly in the Autumn, we are highly likely to receive a full inspection under 
the new ILACs framework.  

2. Accelerated Improvement Plan

2.1. In response to Ofsted feedback, we have developed an Accelerated 
Improvement plan which aims to position the Authority to be ready for the re-
inspection by July.

2.2. We are aiming to achieve this by focusing on:
- Quality of Practice: Assessment, SMART plans, Risk planning and 

Recording
- Frequency and consistency of Supervision and Management 

oversight 
- Timeliness of visits

2.3. Key actions include:
- Identify Social Workers, Team Managers and Teams to target for 

extra support
- Deep dive interventions into targeted teams and individuals
- Increase completion rate of Essentials Training
- Heads of Service and SLT to mentor targeted Team Managers
- Fortnightly reports from Heads of Service to SLT
- Performance surgeries to focus on visits
- Fortnightly Extended Managers Meeting

2.4. To be ready for re-inspection in the Autumn, we need to show sustained 
improvements for a period of 3 months before inspection. The following key 
targets have been set for end of July:

- 8/5% of cases judged as inadequate through case file auditing
- 80% of SWs to have had 3 supervisions within the previous 3 months
- 80% of children seen within timescale following contact 
- 80% of children in need seen within timescale 
- 85% of children on CP plan seen within timescale 
- 90% of children in care seen within timescale 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Children’s Services Improvement Board (CSIB) update

Purpose of 
Report

To inform the Committee of the progress being made by CSIB

Is this for 
information 
or decision?

Information

Author Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services

Key Issues:  

The Children’s Services Improvement Board (CSIB) oversees the 
implementation of the Children’s Services Improvement Plan (Building the 
Best) which sets out the ways in which the Council intends to improve the 
performance of the service and respond to the Ofsted judgements and 
recommendations set out initially in the Ofsted Inspection report published on 
the 13th June 2017 and subsequent quarterly monitoring visits. 

Recommendations to the Committee: 

To receive the report and note the work of the CSIB to date.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None specifically identified in this report other than to note that the County 
Council continues to provide additional resources to support the delivery of the 
CSIP. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



2

Report

The Improvement Board is chaired independently by Andrew Ireland since July 18. 
The Board meets every two months. CSIB is attended by the Leader of the County 
Council, Chief Executive GCC, Director of Children’s Services GCC and other key 
partners. The Board role is to oversee the implementation of the Improvement 
Programme.

1. “Building the Best” Improvement Programme

1.1. An update on Building the Best was provided to Improvement Board at the 
end of January. This update has also been seen by DfE and was well 
received. Building the Best goes beyond Ofsted inspection; it is about the 
service we would like in the future. 

1.2. We have progressed a number of areas of our Improvement Programme, in 
particular:
 Our recruitment strategy has been revised and our package of 

employee benefits compares well with neighbouring authorities. 
 The Senior Leadership Team and Heads of Service cohorts have been 

settled for some time and 75% of our Team Managers are now 
permanent appointments.

 Case loads are manageable (86% of social workers have 20 or fewer 
children).

 Work to progress the physical location and initial curriculum for the SW 
Academy is now well advanced.

 We are seeing a sustained increase in the volume of auditing activity 
and are increasingly secure in our judgements.

 The co-location of partners in MASH is now well established, 93% of 
contacts are subject to a decision within 48 hours (with the remainder 
resolved within 4 subsequent days) and the proportion of contacts that 
lead to No Further Action continues to reduce.

 The timeliness of Strategy meetings has improved (93% held within 5 
working days). Agency representation/participation is also improving 
(health attendance at 88% in November, up from 61% in May). 

 The timeliness of assessments has remained broadly stable despite an 
increase in the volume of open and completed assessments.

 Timeliness of visits has improved with Children in Need visits at 81%, 
visits to children subject to a Child Protection Plan at 76% and 97.8% of 
Children in Care with an up to date statutory visit.

 The timeliness of initial child protection conferences following the 
commencement of Section 47 enquiries has improved, with 76% held 
within 15 days. The timeliness of review conferences has also 
continued to improve with 95.3% held within timescales.

 Cabinet has recently approved Our Sufficiency Strategy Right 
Placement First Time (2018-21) and has agreed to bring in house the 
management of statutory Social Care and case management for 11-24 
Children in Care and Care Leavers.

Page 16



3

1.3. Despites these improvements in performance, a number of challenges 
remain:
 A number of recruitment activities are progressing well. However, the 

overall vacancy figure remains high (32.7%) and our agency staffing 
proportion also remains high at 47%.

 The percentage of audits graded as Inadequate has remained 
stubbornly stable at around 20%. This is a key area of focus.

 The timeliness of visits following contact is a concern with just under 
half of children having not been seen or not seen in a timely way 
(November). 

 Performance is not consistent across teams, particularly for those most 
affected by staffing churn.

 The Early Help Module is in use across Families First and Children and 
Family Centres, however further configuration is required to produce 
useful performance data. Progress is limited by the capacity within data 
and performance team and the focus on Ofsted priorities.  

 The new Entry to Care process has begun to address shortfalls and 
enable the gathering of a range of management information to target 
interventions. More work is needed to embed the process. 

 Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) and reviews (RHAs) are not 
completed within statutory timescale. Actions are in place to improve 
performance. 

 The Performance team is continuing to increase the range and 
accuracy of the management information available to teams. However 
a key, senior member of the data team has left in February, and while 
recruitment is underway, any new appointee is likely to take time to 
bring up to speed, and in the meantime, this is likely to impact on the 
delivery of new reports/milestones.

2. Performance Monitoring is a separate paper to the Children & Families 
Scrutiny Committee, as is the update on Quality Assurance framework. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

REPORT: Update on Audit and QA Activity – 
operational copy

MONTH: January 2019

AUTHOR: Rob England (Head of Quality & Safeguarding, Children’s Services)

1) How much did we do?

This report provides an overview of audit activity for January 2019, including the completion of audits 
against expectations, the growth in the number of auditors through the rolling training programme 
and other relevant quality assurance activity (e.g. dip samples).  

Our expectation is that every Senior Manager, Manager and Advanced Practitioner undertakes 1 
high quality core audit per month (unless they are otherwise moderating the audits of their 
colleagues).  We now have a pool of 82 trained auditors and 16 moderators including two external 
(ex-Ofsted) moderators available for audit activity.  We have a further 3 auditors graduating to 
become moderators in February.  For business as usual, we are expecting an approximate pool of 85 
auditors and 26 moderators to be available with a completion rate of 90%.  

Due to exemptions (see below), 65 children were allocated for audit from across all teams in 
Children’s Social Care and the 11-25 Service.  Seven auditors did not return audits, which, alongside 
1 completed audit that did not meet required standards when moderated, resulted in 57 audits 
completed to expected standards.  For January these 57 audits were completed and uploaded to 
children/young people’s records – the findings of which follow.  

There were no formal dip samples undertaken in January due to the Christmas holidays and Ofsted 
monitoring visit in January.

2) How well are we doing? 

This section summarises progress against the targets to grow our auditor and moderator capacity 
and progress, and learning from auditing and dip sample activity.

The QA pool will grow with training of the next cohort of auditors and moderators in February.  

Figure 1 charts the monthly rate of audit completion.  In January there were 5 exemptions granted 
that were not related to maternity, health, or part-time working arrangements; and a further 7 nil-
returns.  This led to a completion rate of 83%.  

This is below the expected completion levels of 90% and is largely influenced by the 7 nil returns 
(previous months saw <3 nil returns).  We had more than double the number of late returns for the 
January audits.  The Christmas break and the Ofsted monitoring visit in January are likely to have 
had some effect on this.
 
Fig 1. Audit completion rates: January 2017 – January 2018:

Q4: Jan - 
Mar 18

Q1: Apr - 
Jun 18

Q2: Jul - 
Sept 18

Oct 18 Nov 18 Dec 18 Jan 19

Completed audits 79 92 81 46 45 57 58
No. of auditors 49 89 154 61 73 82 82

Overall Completion 
rate

161% 103% 53% 75% 62% 70% 71%

Completion rate less 
non-operational* 

exemptions 

Not measured 47/62 
(76%)

57/67 
(85%)

58/70
(83%)

          

Note: December figures includes 4 completed audits not meeting standard
 * Non-operational exemptions include: extended leave, health reasons, p/t staff who audit bi-monthly, or               
those leaving GCC. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



2

Figures 2 and 3 below summarise the audit ratings.  It is important to highlight that the audit 
methodology not only measures the quality of practice, but the impact of that practice for the 
child/young person.  Better ratings should therefore be directly correlated to better outcomes for 
children, and vice-versa.  

There continues to be good and improving practice and outcomes for children evidenced through the 
work.  It is encouraging to see improvements around Good practice (16%) being sustained.  Audited 
work that is deemed of an Inadequate quality (that is failing to attend to children/young people’s 
outcomes, or worse leaving them at risk of harm), continues to be high (29%) and is increased on 
recent months.

Fig 2.  Audit ratings by month – percentages:      

3

10
5 7

21
17 16

73

63
58

67

60 60
55

24
28

37

26

19
23

29

Q4 
17/18

Q1 
18/19

Q2 
18/19

Oct Nov Dec Jan-19
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Good
RI
Inadequate

      
Fig 3.  Audit ratings by month – actual numbers:

Month 
(2018)

Q4: Jan - 
Mar 18

Q1: Apr - 
Jun 18

Q2: Jul - 
Sept 18

Oct Nov Dec Jan 19

Good 2 9 4 3 9 9 9
RI 58 59 45 28 25 31 32
Inadequate 19 26 29 11 8 12 17

                
Note: the audit that was not uploaded still clearly qualified as a Child of Concern so was included above.

 
Fig 4.  Audit ratings by legal status:

Month 
(2018)

Children in Need Children subject to a CP 
Plan

CiC Care Leavers

Good 3 4 1 1
RI 11 7 9 3
Inadequate 5 9 3 0

Audit activity over the past 3 months has evidenced a high proportion of inadequate practice in the 
CiN group, and a fairly balanced split between good and inadequate practice in the CP group.  In 
contrast, the January data indicates a shift in this to a higher proportion of inadequate practice in the 
CP group.  Irrespective of this shift, the higher proportion of inadequate practice remains 
concentrated in the Safeguarding teams where we have also recognised the highest levels of staff 
turnover, and staff working across the widest remit (CiN, CP, Court, and CiC).  

Auditing of practice with Care Leavers indicated no Inadequate practice in this month. 

Page 20



3

Fig 5. Profile of Practice identified through January audits (as a percentage):

Resp
onsiv

eness

Relat
ional 

prac
tic

e

Asse
ssm

ent

Risk
 Asse

ssm
ent

Analy
sis

Plan
ning

Dire
ct 

work

Revie
ws

Man
ag

ement &
 Su

pervi
sio

n

IRO/C
P ove

rsi
gh

t

Liv
ing A

rra
nge

ments
Le

ga
l

Perm
an

ence
0

20

40

60

80

%age rated 
Good/Outstanding

%age rated RI

%age rated Inadequate

Figure 5 above outlines the main themes and areas of learning arising from audit activity in January:

a) Good practice is most reliably demonstrated in the permanence and quality of living 
arrangements for children in our care, in some of our direct work, and in some relational 
practice.  

b) We have undertaken some good work with respect to legal activities but equally some of our 
weakest work evaluated in January related to this area. 

c) The same variability of good and inadequate work is observed in our responsiveness, 
relational working, and risk assessment.

d) Inadequate practice remains concentrated in the areas of assessment, planning, reviews, and 
the oversight of work by managers, IROs and CP Chairs.  

Feedback on the findings from file audits is shared with social workers and managers as a driver for 
development and learning.  Alongside this, a tracker has been established to track any necessary 
actions and ‘Children of Concern’ (those in receipt of an Inadequate service).  The latter fall into two 
categories:

Of those audits uploaded to children’s records in January, 16 were deemed to be Children of 
Concern.  A further 1 Child of Concern was clearly identified amongst those audits that did not meet 
the standards required to be uploaded; so in total there were 17 identified this month.  Four of these 
were Category 1, which is a higher than usual number.  In relation to these 4 children, at the time of 
writing:

- One categorisation, moderated by an ex-Ofsted inspector has been rightly challenged by the 
Head of Service and consequently been revised by the Head of Quality to Category II against 

Category 1: there are widespread or serious failures meaning that the child / 
young person is at immediate risk of significant harm and needs an urgent (same 
day) response from the Head of Service; with Director oversight.  

Category 2: there are widespread or serious failures meaning that the service 
offer/risk assessment is not appropriate to the needs of that child/young person.  

Page 21



4

the Ofsted Annex H guidance.  
- One has been signed off by the director as no longer at Cat I.
- One is under Head of Service oversight and currently in proceedings.  This is awaiting further 

information from the team before being submitted for director sign-off.  
- One, the HoS feedback is still being sought.

Including the Children of Concern from January, there are currently 25 Children of Concern on the 
tracker.  1 of these Children has been on the log from August, 2 from November, and 6 from 
December indicating insufficient action to de-escalate the concerns as needed for these children.

3) What action have we taken as a result of January QA activity?

A key element within our quality assurance programme is to ensure that there is an effective and 
timely response to identified actions to address issues impacting on children and young people and 
drive organisational learning.  The Quality Assurance Team maintains an action tracking log for all 
actions from audit, which is shared with managers and Heads of Service on a regular basis.  

There are currently 432 ongoing actions from previous audits (including January).  142 (33%) of 
which are within timescale, and 290 (67%) are overdue – detail on these is available in Appendix 2.  
All overdue actions are regularly communicated to managers and senior managers.  In addition to 
the tracking of actions directly with managers by the QA team, overdue actions (audit and Children of 
Concern) are now shared at the monthly Leadership Team meeting as a standing agenda item with 
an expectation that Heads of Service drive resolution as a result.  Despite this, the proportion of 
overdue actions has not reduced since the December report when 63% of actions were overdue.   

Under continued direction from the DCS, all exemptions from completing audits are to be authorised 
by the respective operations directors; this is notably improving audit compliance.  

The Essentials training (focusing on Visits, Assessment, Analysis, Planning, and Risk) has been 
revised and re-launched across the service under the Accelerated Improvement Plan.  Within this 
there is a clear emphasis on the role of managers in ensuring quality oversight and direction.  Some 
of the Gloucester teams are already undertaking this training at the time of writing.
  
4) How well are we engaging Social Workers and Managers in audits?

Of the 58 audits completed, 56 were completed with a social worker (97%) and there were legitimate 
reasons for not doing so in the other 2 instances.  The greater majority of audits are now undertaken 
by team managers in their own areas thereby increasing the participation of managers in the audit.  
In January, 47 (81%) managers reported their participation in the audit.  16 children/young people 
were contacted which doubled the December figure, and 23 parents chose to give their views during 
the audits.  In a marked improvement on previous months, 16 IRO’s/CP Chairs gave their views in 
the audit.  

5) What is the impact of our audit actions on outcomes for children and 
young people?

The timely closure and oversight of audit actions promotes improved outcomes for children.  Whilst 
this is improving circumstances for some children and young people, at present, we continue to have 
too many overdue actions on the audit and Children of Concern action trackers, and this has risen 
from the December QAF report.  

We should be able to report more fully in future reports on qualitative feedback on audit impact 
following the launch of a new survey tool in February.

6) Conclusions

1. The current percentage of inadequate practice is too high and carries the risk of an Ofsted 
judgement of ‘Inadequate’.  Our primary aim of the Accelerated Improvement Plan is to 

Page 22



5

decrease this percentage markedly.  To this end, QA activity has highlighted the following:

a) Continued emphasis is needed on Assessment, Analysis, Planning and Review (including 
the assessment and management of risk).  This work must include workers, managers, 
IRO’s and CP chairs.

b) Work remains needed with our team management group to understand the barriers to 
management grip and to introduce the necessary individual and contextual solutions to 
overcome these.    

c) The use of visits to build relationships and effect positive change for children and young 
people through direct work remains a priority area of need.

d) The rising issues in weakness of practice relative to legal activity requires monitoring and 
inclusion in wider discussions about improving our practice in relation to legal and court 
work.  

2. The Ofsted monitoring visit in January reinforced the reliability of our auditing, describing the 
quality of audits as “good” which is thereby affording us an honest self-assessment.  As per 
previous QAF reports though, Ofsted highlighted that we remain unable to routinely and 
systematically demonstrate the impact of this activity on children’s lives.  This urgently 
requires the timely completion of audit action and the removal of children from the Children of 
Concern tracker by effectively attending to their needs.  

3. Inadequate practice is largely concentrated in the Safeguarding teams.  

4. We are seeing steady improvements in audit completion rates as a result of considerable 
focus and the need to have exemptions approved by directors.  This needs to be maintained 
until audit is seen as business as usual.

5. There is continued pressure on the development of the moderator pool, wherein new auditors 
need more time to develop to allow prospective moderators to be identified.

7) Recommendations

Taking account of the learning from the volume and outcomes of our QA activity during 
December  2018, the following recommendations are made:

1. The current Accelerated Improvement Plan has clearly targeted inadequate practice in the 
system with an aim of reducing this incrementally in the coming months.  This includes 
responses to the above issues as follows:

a) Weaknesses in practice fundamentals – in part being addressed through the Essentials 
intervention with Managers and AP’s, and cascaded with them into teams and to 
individuals.  Also, the expectation on team managers for not signing-off sub-standard 
practice should raise the standards.

b) Challenges in management oversight - mentoring and coaching by senior managers to 
team managers.  
A review of the Supervision framework led by the operations director.

c) Challenges within identified teams - senior management-led units offering brief, solution-
focused interventions with teams.  

d) Share accounts of good practice at all key leadership forums, and through 
communications with the service.

2. To address the limited evidence of impact on practice following audit, we will deploy the 
impact measurement tool in February and include results in future QAF reports.  This remains 

Page 23



6

secondary to SLT direction and grip to ensure the suitable removal of children from the 
Children of Concern tracker and resolution of overdue audit actions by heads of service and 
team managers.  We will continue to use the monthly standing item on the Leadership Team 
agenda to report on audit completion, action tracking, and progress against recommendations 
from dip samples and audits.  

3. Exemptions to continue to be signed-off by the respective director.  

4. Continued resourcing for external moderator support.

5. We will be including reporting on audit activity in Early Help and Youth Support in the March 
QAF report.

Page 24



Page 1 of 15

Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Off-Rolling Data Report

Purpose of 
Report

To provide an update on the rate of exclusion and home 
education in Gloucestershire

Is this for 
information 
or decision?

For information

Author Charlotte Jones 

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  

High rate of exclusions in the county and link to the council’s high needs strategy

Recommendations to the Committee: 

That the data be accepted and read in conjunction with the Update on the Permanent 
Exclusions Task Group report

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 of 15

1. Background 

1.1. The term off-rolling has become a well used phrase over the past year following the 
Education Select Committee’s “Forgotten Children” report. It is a term used to capture 
those children who leave formal maintained education provision – either through 
exclusion from school, to become home educated or to move into the independent 
sector. 

1.2. The rise in children being ‘off-rolled’ is a national issue and is subject to further 
national debate through the Education Select Committee; with recommendations for 
change anticipated following the Timpson review on exclusions. In the meantime off-
rolling continues to be a concern in Gloucestershire, and a focus of the Education 
Hub and its work with partners. 

1.3. This report outlines the rate of permanent exclusion and home education in the 
county; leading to off-rolling data which is particularly focused on examination years 
in school. 

2. Permanent Exclusions 

2.1 For the 2016/17 academic year, at 0.15% of the school population, Gloucestershire 
had one of the highest reported permanent exclusion rates in the country (ranking 
121 out of 154) – placing it higher than statistical neighbours and the second highest 
in the South West region. 

2.2 In the 2017/18 academic year 139 children were permanently excluded from school. 
This is a reduction of 3 on the previous year so levels have remained fairly stable. 
National comparator data for the 2017/18 academic year is not yet available but the 
exclusion rate in Gloucestershire is not anticipated to change significantly.

Table 1: Permanent exclusions in the last two academic years:

2016/17 2017/18
Primary permanent exclusions 31 30
Secondary permanent exclusions 110 109
APS permanent exclusions 1 0
Total permanent exclusions 142 139

2.3 In 2017/18 half of all permanent exclusions were for pupils who had an identified level 
of special educational needs (SEND). This is not likely to be dissimilar from the 
national picture. 

2.4 The countywide proportion of all exclusions for children with SEND is impacted by the 
high number of exclusions for this group of children in the primary sector.  In 2017/18 
only one pupil did not have any identified SEND – the others receiving SEN support 
(70%) or having an EHCP (27%). 

Page 26



Page 3 of 15

2.5 Primary Exclusions - There were 30 primary aged children excluded in in 
2017/2018. 26 out of the 247 primary schools excluded a child and these are spread 
across the county. 3 schools excluded more than one child:

a. Rowanfield Junior Academy: 3 
b. Springbank Primary Academy: 2 
c. St James’ Junior School: 2 

2.6 The most common reason for permanent exclusions in primary schools is still 
persistent disruptive behaviour, but there has been a rise in the number of pupils 
permanently excluded for physical assault against an adult or pupil (from 5 to 7).

2.7 Encouragingly, in the first two terms of the 2018/19 academic year there has been a 
significant reduction in the number of primary children excluded than the same period 
in the previous year. This has seen exclusions reduce from 18 to 5. However all of 
these children had identified SEND and 3 had an EHCP in recognition of this. Further 
detail on autumn 2018 exclusions is attached at Appendix 1.

2.8 Secondary Exclusions - There were 109 secondary aged children excluded in in 
2017/18. Only 6 secondary schools did not exclude any children. Most schools 
excluded more than one child, with the highest excluding schools being:

a. Cheltenham Bournside School: 9 
b. Gloucester Academy: 8 
c. Beaufort Co-operative Academy: 7  

2.9 The most common reason for permanent exclusions in secondary schools is still 
persistent disruptive behaviour. There has been a rise in the number of pupils 
permanently excluded for drugs & alcohol offences (from 8 to 14) but physical and 
verbal assaults against adults or pupils have decreased (from 31 to 18). 

2.10 In contrast to primary, the majority of pupils excluded from secondary school did not 
have any identified SEND (62%) – with only 4% having an EHCP and 34% receiving 
SEND support. 

2.11 Secondary exclusions are continuing to cause significant concern. In the first two 
terms of the 2018/19 academic year there has been a significant increase in the 
number of secondary children excluded than the same period in the previous year. 
This has seen exclusions rise from 36 to 50, including 1 from an Alternative Provision 
School. 56% of these children had identified SEND. Further detail on autumn 2018 
exclusions is attached at Appendix 1.

2.12 Whilst less secondary schools have excluded children in the autumn term (25 down to 
16) those who have done so have excluded more children – with two schools already 
having excluded 7 children in just a third of the year; All Saints Academy and 
Gloucester Academy. 

3. Elective Home Education (EHE)

3.1 There is no national comparator data on EHE, but according to the ADCS who carried 
out a survey of all LAs in October 2018, there were 40,359 children known to be EHE 
in total across the 106 LAs who responded – accounting for a 27% increase from the 
previous year. 

Page 27



Page 4 of 15

3.2 In Gloucestershire, whilst the number of children electively home educated continues 
to rise, the rate of increase has slowed slightly in recent months. Through 2018 the 
growth of this cohort of children was less than 8% (55 children) taking the number of 
children known to be EHE in February 2019 to 763. This now accounts for 0.88% of 
the total school age population. 

3.3 There has been an increase in children with SEND who are home educated, 
especially those who had received SEND support whilst in school (a rise of 4% to 
19% in two years). There are 44 children with EHCPs being home educated this year. 

3.4 In general, the number of home educated children increases along with the age of the 
pupils with 64% of the 763 children registered as being home educated being of 
secondary school age.

Table 2: Electively home educated children by year group (February 2019):

3.5 In the past year the highest proportion of children leaving school to become home 
educated were in Years 9 & 10 (accounting for 26% of all new home educated 
children). 

3.6 For children of primary school age the highest proportion left school in Year 6 (7.4% 
of all new home educated children) with Year 1 close behind (6.9%). 

3.7 Data on the reasons for parents choosing home education relies upon honesty from 
parents and accuracy from schools and therefore does not show the full picture – with 
286 (63%) of new entrants to the home education register in 2017/18 not providing a 
reason for this choice. The number of children being home educated for philosophical 
or religious reasons has fluctuated each year however it remains the most reported 
reason in 2017/18:

a. Philosophical or religious reasons – 54 children 
b. Dissatisfaction with school – 39 children 
c. Health, Emotional or Mental health - 33 children 

Year Group EHE children Proportion of EHE
Reception 11 1.5 %

Year 1 27 3.5 %
Year 2 32 4 %
Year 3 38 5 %
Year 4 53 7 %
Year 5 58 7.5 %
Year 6 53 7 %
Year 7 76 10 %
Year 8 87 11.5 %
Year 9 102 13 %

Year 10 113 15 %
Year 11 113 15 %

Page 28



Page 5 of 15

4. Off-Rolling

4.1 Off-rolling is a particular concern in KS4 due to the impact it can have on a child. 
Ofsted have recognised that there can also be benefits to a school in relation to their 
attainment results if lower ability children do not remain on their roll to sit national 
examinations. 

4.2 In comparing January school census data, there were 184 Year 10 children in 2016 
who left their school in 2017, before finishing Year 11 and sitting examinations. The 
profile of these children correlates with the national picture as reported by Ofsted, 
with children from more vulnerable groups more likely to leave their school.

Table 3: 2016/17 School leavers by category: 

Gender
EHCP

SEN 
Support

FSM 
eligible

Ethnic 
Minority EAL M F

Number of leavers 10 38 44 39 22 90 94

Percentage of 
leavers 5.4% 20.6% 24.0% 21.2% 11.9% 48.9% 51.1%

% of all Glos’shire 
state-funded 
secondary pupils

2.9% 12.4% 9.4% 15.9% 7.2% 51.0% 49.0%

4.3 Out of these 184 Year 10/11 children, 23 are known to have moved to another 
secondary school in the county. Others will have become home educated or moved to 
an alternative school in the independent sector, another county/country or an 
alternative provision school. 

4.4 In January 2017 there were 14 Year 10 and Year 11 children who were known to be 
missing education (not on a school roll nor home educated).  

4.5 During the 2017/18 academic year there were 489 children who either left school to 
become home educated or were permanently excluded. Key points are: 

a. 43% of children leaving secondary school were in Years 10 & 11 
b. 32% of children leaving primary school were in Years 5 & 6. 
c. The proportion of leavers varies by district for both primary schools (from 

23% to 45%) and secondary schools (from 33% to 51%) 

Table 4: Proportion of 2017/18 Year 5 and 6 leavers by district:

District Proportion
Stroud 22.6%

Cotswolds 25%
Cheltenham 25.8%

Forest 35.3%
Tewkesbury 37.5%
Gloucester 45.5%

Page 29



Page 6 of 15

Table 5: Proportion of 2017/18 Year 10 and 11 leavers by district:

District Proportion
Cotswolds 32.5%
Gloucester 39.3%

Tewkesbury 41.7%
Cheltenham 44.9%

Stroud 47%
Forest 51.2%

4.6 There were 16 schools which lost more than 5 children or 5% of their Year 10 cohort 
and 7 of these schools were significantly above that level. 3 of these schools were 
significantly above average levels for the second year in a row and these have also 
been identified by Ofsted for further investigation; namely All Saint’s Academy, 
Tewkesbury School and Barnwood Park. 

4.7 Individual school level data for those schools that lost pupils during the 2017/18 
academic year is attached at Appendix 2. This shows the number of pupils who left 
the school due to permanent exclusion or EHE for the whole school and explicitly for 
the examination years (Years 5 & 6 for primary and Years 10 & 11 for secondary) 
both as a total number and as a proportion of children in those year groups or on roll 
at the school. 

Page 30



Page 7 of 15

APPENDIX 1

CHILDREN & FAMILIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
SCHOOL EXCLUSIONS UPDATE PAPER

January 2019

Background
Since its creation in January 2018, one of the key priorities of the Education Inclusion Service has been 
to increase inclusion in schools; thereby reducing the number of children who are excluded.  As well as 
actively promoting changes to whole school approaches which increase the focus on inclusive practice, 
this has enhanced the council’s responsiveness to assisting schools in identifying and meeting children’s 
needs - and supporting them, and their families, to address issues as they arise to prevent escalation to 
a point where exclusion becomes the only option. 

At the end of 2017/18, the year on year increasing numbers of permanent exclusions was halted; with 
two less children being permanently excluded than in 2016/17 (a total of 139). The work of staff within 
the Education Inclusion Service effectively prevented a number of permanent exclusions between 
January – July 2018; and therefore without this impact the total number of exclusions would have 
continued to rise as it had in previous years. 

2018/19 Exclusions Data Update
Between September – December 2018 there were a total of 56 exclusions. This is an increase on the 
same period in the previous academic year:

2017/18
(terms 1 & 2)

2018/19
(terms 1 & 2)

 Primary 18 5
 Secondary 36 50
 APS 0 1
 Total 54 56

There is a noticeable increase in the secondary sector but a very encouraging picture in the primary 
sector; with these schools more actively working in collaboration with the council to seek alternative 
solutions. 

The 5 primary pupils were each excluded from different schools (with only one of these schools having 
excluded another child since 2015) and all had an identified SEN; 3 of whom had an EHCP.  

16 secondary schools excluded children, which is 40% of the sector. Whilst this is a fewer number of 
schools than the same period last year (25 schools), it means that those schools which are excluding are 
doing so for a greater number of children – 7 schools excluded 4 or more children between September-
December; with 7 children in just one school.  Main points of note are the:

 increase in exclusions due to physical assaults against an adult or child; from 1 to 9 (although 
persistent disruptive behaviour remains the most common cause)

 increase in the number of excluded children with identified SEN; from 39% to 56% - including 5 
children with EHCPs

 increase in the number of children for whom this was their second permanent exclusion; from 1 
to 4

 decrease in the number of KS4 (Years 10 & 11) children excluded; from 69% to 56%

Page 31



Page 8 of 15

2018/19 Education Inclusion Impact
Staff within the Education Inclusion Service have worked with schools to avoid children being excluded 
from school. Working with other services and agencies, the team has focused on improving inclusion 
across the school system through: 

 Redesigning training packages for Governor’s and Head Teachers to provide an explicit focus on 
inclusive practice (training to include rather than exclude)

 Targeting challenge at leaders within individual schools with significantly high levels exclusions and 
children leaving to become home educated (especially in KS4)

 Developing a ‘Team Around the School’ approach for 6 targeted secondary schools alongside 
partner services and agencies. Looking holistically at groups or individual children needing support 
and understand how best the school can respond and wider multi-agency support be galvanised 
(in one school alone this approach has avoided 4 exclusions) 

 Improving school leadership understanding of whole school approaches to respond to more shared 
needs of groups of children; i.e. through a more nurturing or structured environment

 Attendance at all exclusion Governor Disciplinary Meetings to influence Governor’s questioning on 
events leading up to an exclusion and whether the school had done all it could to mitigate this – 
also sharing good practice across schools 

 Encouraging Head Teachers to seek support from the council prior to determining whether it is 
necessary to exclude a child and to consider more personalised, child-centred options as 
alternatives; such as: 
o Facilitating managed moves between schools
o Accessing alternative sanctions to exclusions (i.e. programmes related to drug use)
o Enhancing multi-agency work to improve identification of a child’s needs and appropriate 

support for the child and/or family
o Facilitating timely support and advice for schools and families across agencies to prevent 

issues from escalating 

Much of this work is to facilitate an inclusive culture change within schools (which is challenging given 
the performance and funding pressures they have) and therefore results are not expected to be 
immediate; although it is hoped that the new Ofsted framework will help drive the inclusion agenda. 
However, during September – December 2018 alone, the collaboration between the service and schools 
has had the following positive impact for children: 

 4 children were put on alternative pathways prior to school determining exclusion was necessary
 4 exclusions were withdrawn by the school following agreement on an alternative solution
 2 exclusions were overturned at the Governor’s Disciplinary Meeting (meeting held to determine 

final exclusion decision)
 1 exclusion decision was overturned by an Independent Review Panel (parental appeal 

mechanism against final exclusion decision) 
 3 exclusion decisions considered by an Independent Review Panel were returned to the school 

Governing Body on evidential grounds, requesting reconsideration of their final decision to exclude

Summary
Exclusions in the county are still worryingly high. The primary sector is starting to embrace the new way 
of working with the council to reduce exclusions which is having a marked impact so far. This is not the 
same in the secondary sector where exclusions are still rising significantly but discussions are ongoing 
with GASH and individual schools to find a solution to this. 

Page 32



Page 9 of 15

APPENDIX 2
 
Secondary schools off-rolling data 2017/18:

 Exclusion EHE Combined

Locality School name Number Rate Number Rate Number Rate
Chelt All Saints Academy 6 0.67% 8 0.89% 14 1.55%
Chelt Yrs 10 & 11 5 1.69% 3 1.01% 8 2.70%
Stroud Archway 5 0.46% 18 1.66% 24 2.21%
Stroud Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.27% 11 2.99% 12 3.26%
Chelt Balcarras 2 0.14% 2 0.14% 4 0.29%
Chelt Yrs 10 & 11 2 0.49% 1 0.25% 3 0.74%
Glos Barnwood Park 4 0.66% 6 0.99% 10 1.65%
Glos Yrs 10 & 11 4 1.95% 1 0.49% 5 2.44%

Glos Beaufort Co-operative Academy 7 0.62% 11 0.98% 18 1.60%
Glos Yrs 10 & 11   3 0.85% 3 0.85%
Chelt Cheltenham Bournside 9 0.54% 6 0.36% 15 0.90%
Chelt Yrs 10 & 11 3 0.56% 2 0.37% 5 0.93%
Cots Chipping Campden 2 0.16% 3 0.23% 5 0.39%
Cots Yrs 10 & 11     0  
Tewks Chosen Hill   4 0.29% 4 0.29%
Tewks Yrs 10 & 11   1 0.22% 1 0.22%
Tewks Churchdown 1 0.08% 6 0.45% 7 0.53%
Tewks Yrs 10 & 11   2 0.46% 2 0.46%
Cots Cirencester Deer Park 3 0.33% 11 1.20% 13 1.42%
Cots Yrs 10 & 11 2 0.51% 2 0.51% 4 1.02%
Cots Cirencester Kingshill 2 0.23% 3 0.35% 5 0.58%
Cots Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.29% 1 0.29% 2 0.58%
Tewks Cleeve 5 0.34% 10 0.68% 14 0.96%
Tewks Yrs 10 & 11   4 0.84% 4 0.84%
Forest Dene Magna 1 0.12% 3 0.36% 4 0.49%
Forest Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.33% 1 0.33% 2 0.67%
Cots Farmor's 1 0.11% 1 0.11% 2 0.22%
Cots Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.37%   1 0.37%
Forest Five Acres High School 3 0.54% 4 0.72% 7 1.27%
Forest Yrs 10 & 11 2 0.90% 2 0.90% 4 1.79%
Glos Gloucester Academy 8 0.95% 8 0.95% 16 1.89%
Glos Yrs 10 & 11 4 1.35% 6 2.03% 1 0.34%

Tewks
Henley Bank High School (open 
01/01/2018) 2 0.46% 7 1.62% 9 2.09%

Tewks Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.48% 3 1.45% 4 1.93%
Glos High School for Girls       
Glos Yrs 10 & 11       
Stroud Katharine Lady Berkeley's 1 0.07% 4 0.27% 5 0.33%
Stroud Yrs 10 & 11     0  

Page 33



Page 10 of 15

Stroud Maidenhill 3 0.54% 7 1.27% 1 0.18%
Stroud Yrs 10 & 11 3 1.63% 2 1.09% 5 2.72%
Stroud Marling 2 0.21%   2 0.21%
Stroud Yrs 10 & 11 2 0.80%   2 0.80%
Tewks Millbrook (closed 31/12/2017) 2 0.46% 7 1.62% 9 2.09%
Tewks Yrs 10 & 11 2 0.97% 4 1.93% 6 2.90%
Forest Newent 2 0.24% 1 0.12% 4 0.48%
Forest Yrs 10 & 11     0  
Chelt Pate's       
Chelt Yrs 10 & 11       
Chelt Pittville 4 0.60% 10 1.51% 16 2.42%
Chelt Yrs 10 & 11 3 1.39% 3 1.39% 6 2.78%
Stroud Rednock 6 0.52% 9 0.79% 15 1.31%
Stroud Yrs 10 & 11 3 0.80% 4 1.07% 7 1.88%
Glos Ribston Hall 1 0.12%   1 0.12%
Glos Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.42%   1 0.42%
Glos Severn Vale 1 0.09% 4 0.34% 5 0.43%
Glos Yrs 10 & 11   2 0.44% 2 0.44%
Stroud SGS Berkeley Green UTC 1 0.76% 1 0.76% 2 1.53%
Stroud Yrs 10 & 11 1 1.10% 1 1.10% 2 2.20%
Glos Sir Thomas Rich's       
Glos Yrs 10 & 11       
Cots Sir William Romney's 1 0.25% 5 1.26% 6 1.51%
Cots Yrs 10 & 11   1 0.76% 1 0.76%
Glos St. Peter's Catholic High 5 0.32% 1 0.06% 5 0.32%
Glos Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.21%   1 0.21%
Stroud Stroud High 1 0.10% 2 0.21% 3 0.31%
Stroud Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.40%   1 0.40%
Tewks Tewkesbury 4 0.29% 6 0.44% 10 0.73%
Tewks Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.23% 3 0.69% 4 0.93%
Cots The Cotswold 2 0.15% 7 0.53% 9 0.68%
Cots Yrs 10 & 11 2 0.49% 3 0.73% 5 1.22%
Glos The Crypt 1 0.11%   1 0.11%
Glos Yrs 10 & 11     0  
Forest The Dean Academy 5 0.80% 11 1.76% 16 2.56%
Forest Yrs 10 & 11 5 1.91% 3 1.15% 8 3.05%
Forest The Forest High School 2 0.63% 4 1.27% 6 1.90%
Forest Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.72% 3 2.17% 4 2.90%
Stroud Thomas Keble   5 0.75% 5 0.75%
Stroud Yrs 10 & 11   2 0.76% 2 0.76%
Tewks Winchcombe 3 0.61% 5 1.02% 7 1.43%
Tewks Yrs 10 & 11 1 0.53% 3 1.60% 4 2.13%
Forest Wyedean   4 0.38% 4 0.38%
Forest Yrs 10 & 11   3 1.03% 3 1.03%

Page 34



Page 11 of 15

Primary schools:

 Exclusion EHE Combined
Localit

y School name
Numbe

r Rate
Numbe

r Rate
Numbe

r Rate
Forest Ann Cam   1 1.00% 1 1.00%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Cots Ann Edwards   5 1.69% 5 1.69%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Forest Berry Hill 1 0.55%   1 0.55%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Cots Bledington   2 2.74% 2 2.74%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Cots Blockley Primary   2 1.34% 2 1.34%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6   2 5.13% 2 5.13%
Forest Bream Primary   1 0.66% 1 0.66%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Bussage Primary   1 0.50% 1 0.50%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Callowell   1 0.55% 1 0.55%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Cam Hopton Primary   1 0.51% 1 0.51%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Cam Woodfield Inf   2 1.59% 2 1.59%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Carrant Brook Junior   4 2.48% 4 2.48%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6   3 4.23% 3 4.23%
Tewks Castle Hill   1 0.49% 1 0.49%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Chalford Hill   1 0.48% 1 0.48%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  

Tewks
Ch'down Parton Manor 
Infant   2 1.23% 2 1.23%

Tewks Yrs 5 & 6     0  

Tewks
Ch'down Parton Manor 
Junior   2 1.11% 2 1.11%

Tewks Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.27% 1 1.27%
Cots Chesterton 1 0.55% 2 1.09% 3 1.64%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6 1 1.89%   1 1.89%
Stroud Coaley Primary   3 5.17% 3 5.17%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6   1 5.56% 1 5.56%
Stroud Coberley Primary   1 1.52% 1 1.52%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Cranham Primary   2 3.45% 2 3.45%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Deerhurst & Apperley   1 1.49% 1 1.49%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6     0  

Page 35



Page 12 of 15

Glos Dinglewell Junior   2 0.56% 2 0.56%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6   1 0.57% 1 0.57%
Cots Down Ampney Primary   1 2.78% 1 2.78%

Cots Yrs 5 & 6   1
10.00

% 1
10.00

%
Chelt Dunalley   1 0.27% 1 0.27%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.16% 1 1.16%
Glos Elmbridge Pri   2 0.33% 2 0.33%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Cots Fairford   1 0.40% 1 0.40%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Glos Field Court Junior   2 0.55% 2 0.55%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6   2 1.12% 2 1.12%
Forest Forest View Primary 1 0.31% 1 0.31% 2 0.63%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.16% 1 1.16%
Stroud Foxmoor Primary   1 0.38% 1 0.38%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Chelt Gardners Lane Primary 1 0.32%   1 0.32%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0 0.00%
Stroud Gastrells Community   1 0.59% 1 0.59%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.72% 1 1.72%
Tewks Gotherington 1 0.47%   1 0.47%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Glos Grange Primary 1 0.32% 1 0.32% 2 0.63%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6 1 1.22%   1 1.22%
Glos Hardwicke Parochial   1 0.22% 1 0.22%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6   1 0.84% 1 0.84%
Glos Harewood Junior 1 0.33%   1 0.33%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Glos Hatherley Infant 1 0.58%   1 0.58%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Chelt Hesters Way Primary 1 0.55% 1 0.55% 2 1.10%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Chelt Holy Apostles Primary   3 1.41% 3 1.41%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Forest Huntley Primary   1 1.19% 1 1.19%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Glos Hunts Grove Primary School 1 1.25%   1 1.25%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Innsworth Junior   2 1.40% 2 1.40%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.47% 1 1.47%
Tewks Isbourne Valley 1 1.23%   1 1.23%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6 1 4.00%   1 4.00%
Cots Kempsford Primary   2 1.94% 2 1.94%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6   1 4.00% 1 4.00%

Page 36



Page 13 of 15

Stroud King's Stanley Primary   1 0.48% 1 0.48%
Glos Kingsholm Primary 1 0.16% 5 0.81% 6 0.97%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6 1 0.56% 4 2.26% 5 2.82%
Glos Kingsway Primary   3 0.71% 3 0.71%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Chelt Lakeside Primary   2 0.40% 2 0.40%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6   2 1.87% 2 1.87%
Chelt Leckhampton Primary   1 0.23% 1 0.23%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Cots Leighterton Primary   3 3.57% 3 3.57%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Leonard Stanley Primary   1 0.48% 1 0.48%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.67% 1 1.67%
Glos Linden Primary 1 0.22% 3 0.67% 4 0.90%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6   1 0.85% 1 0.85%
Glos Longlevens Junior   1 0.21% 1 0.21%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Cots Mickleton Primary   2 1.43% 2 1.43%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Minchinhampton   1 0.32% 1 0.32%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Miserden Primary   1 2.50% 1 2.50%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Norton Primary   5 3.70% 5 3.70%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6   1 2.70% 1 2.70%
Chelt Oakwood 1 0.30% 4 1.20% 5 1.51%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6   2 1.90% 2 1.90%
Forest Parkend Primary   1 1.59% 1 1.59%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Forest Picklenash Junior   2 1.32% 2 1.32%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6   2 3.03% 2 3.03%
Cots Powell's Primary   1 0.24% 1 0.24%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Queen Margaret Primary   1 0.58% 1 0.58%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6   1 2.22% 1 2.22%
Stroud Randwick Primary   2 2.60% 2 2.60%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6   1 4.55% 1 4.55%
Glos Robinswood Primary 1 0.23%   1 0.23%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6 1 0.85%   1 0.85%
Chelt Rowanfield Infant   1 0.39% 1 0.39%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Chelt Rowanfield Junior 3 0.96%   3 0.96%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6 1 0.64%   1 0.64%
Stroud Sharpness 1 0.85%   1 0.85%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6 1 2.63%   1 2.63%

Page 37



Page 14 of 15

Stroud
Sheepscombe Primary 
School   1 1.96% 1 1.96%

Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Shurdington Primary 1 0.69% 2 1.39% 3 2.08%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6 1 3.45% 1 3.45% 2 6.90%
Cots Siddington C of E   2 2.25% 2 2.25%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6   1 5.00% 1 5.00%
Chelt Springbank Academy 2 0.53% 2 0.53% 4 1.06%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6 1 1.18% 1 1.18% 2 2.35%
Cots St. David's Primary   1 0.37% 1 0.37%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud St. Dominic's Primary   1 1.23% 1 1.23%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Chelt St. James' CoE Pri (Chelt) 1 0.25% 1 0.25% 2 0.50%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Glos St. James' Junior (Glos) 2 1.26%   2 1.26%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6 1 1.11%   1 1.11%
Forest St. John's C of E Academy   1 0.57% 1 0.57%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6   1 2.27% 1 2.27%
Chelt St. John's Primary (Chelt)   2 1.01% 2 1.01%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Cots St. Mary's (Tetbury) 1 0.31% 1 0.46% 2 0.62%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.18% 1 1.18%
Glos St. Paul's Primary 1 0.49% 1 0.49% 2 0.98%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.75% 1 1.75%
Chelt St. Thomas More Primary   2 1.01% 2 1.01%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Forest Steam Mills Primary   1 0.83% 1 0.83%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Stone with Woodford Prim   2 2.06% 2 2.06%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud Stroud Valley Primary   1 0.40% 1 0.40%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Chelt Swindon Village Primary   2 0.48% 2 0.48%
Chelt Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Tewkesbury Primary   2 0.52% 2 0.52%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6   1 0.88% 1 0.88%
Stroud The Croft   1 0.69% 1 0.69%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks The John Moore Primary 1 0.41%   1 0.41%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Stroud The Rosary   1 0.57% 1 0.57%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6   1 2.08% 1 2.08%
Forest Tibberton Primary   1 0.94% 1 0.94%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6   1 4.17% 1 4.17%

Page 38



Page 15 of 15

Glos Tuffley Primary 1 0.43%   1 0.43%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Forest Tutshill Primary   1 0.48% 1 0.48%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Twyning   3 3.23% 3 3.23%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Forest Walmore Hill   3 5.88% 3 5.88%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6   1 6.25% 1 6.25%
Glos Waterwells Academy   1 0.29% 1 0.29%
Glos Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.72% 1 1.72%
Stroud Whiteshill Primary School   2 1.98% 2 1.98%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6   1 3.70% 1 3.70%
Stroud Whitminster Endowed   1 0.88% 1 0.88%
Stroud Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Tewks Winchcombe Abbey Prim   3 1.11% 3 1.11%
Tewks Yrs 5 & 6   1 1.64% 1 1.64%
Cots Withington Primary   1 2.56% 1 2.56%
Cots Yrs 5 & 6     0  
Forest Woodside 1 0.92%   1 0.92%
Forest Yrs 5 & 6     0  

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Update on the Permanent Exclusions Task Group report

Purpose of 
Report

To provide an update on progress on responding to the 
recommendations

Is this for 
information 
or decision?

For information

Author Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development
Email: Philip.Haslett@Gloucestershire.gov.uk
Tel 01452 328488

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  

Permanent exclusions remain very high in Gloucestershire and above the 
level in comparator authority areas.  Government policy announcements are 
awaited.

Recommendations to the Committee: 

That the report be noted

Financial/Resource Implications: 

The cost of Alternative Provision for excluded pupils, funded from Dedicated 
Schools Grant, is around £5.7m

1. Background 

1.1.Following concerns raised at the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (CFOSC) in January 2017 the formation of a ‘permanent 
exclusions task group’ was commissioned.  

Page 41

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Philip.Haslett@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1.2.Between December and March 2018 the task group considered all the 
available data and met with a range of stakeholders including, headteachers, 
parents, students and governors, as well as the appropriate council staff.  

1.3.Following this work the task group reported its findings and recommendations 
to the CFOSC in May 2018.

1.4.The task group referenced the announcement by the government on the 16th 
March 2018, that they would be undertaking a review of school exclusions led 
by Edward Timpson CBE.  We are still awaiting the publication of the findings 
of the review. Terms of reference for the review can be found on the 
Department for Educations (DFE) website - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-exclusions-review-terms-
of-reference 

1.5. It is also worth noting that education select committee undertook an inquiry 
into the rising number if permanent exclusions. The inquiry and the 
government and Ofsted responses are here - 
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-
select/education-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/inquiry/.

1.6.Many of the issues identified by the education select committee inquiry are in 
alignment with the findings from Gloucestershire’s task group report. 

1.7.We have continued to develop our plans and strategies for tackling the 
increasing rate of exclusions, but we are also mindful of the need to consider 
and reflect the recommendations that will come form the Timpson review, 
which is expected imminently.  

2. Data for  Academic year 2018/19 (as at 31st December 2018)

During the autumn term 2018 exclusion rates have continued to remain high. 
However, there has been a significant change in the trend of these exclusions, 
with a decline in primary exclusions and a continued rise in secondary. 

Table 1: Permanent exclusions during the Autumn terms 2018 (terms 1 and 2).
2017/18 2018/19

Primary permanent exclusions 18 5
Secondary permanent exclusions 36 50
APS permanent exclusions 0 1
Total permanent exclusions 54 56

For further detail please see the report on off-rolling data.

3. What has been achieved so far?
3.1.As outlined in para 1.7 we are awaiting the publication of the Timpson review 

from government.  We expect the review to provide a clear steer from 
government on the escalating issue of permanent exclusions. We have 
therefore been cautious not to over-reach in our planning, so as to avoid 
having to unpick them to align with the recommendations from Government.

3.2.However, since the publication of the task group report there has been a 
significant amount of work completed to refine and develop strategies to 
address the continued rise in permanent exclusions.

3.3.Our strategic planning has been informed by consultation with key 
stakeholders, including children and young people with additional needs, 
parents and carers mainstream schools, special schools and specialist 
providers, the Gloucestershire schools forum and health care professionals.   

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-exclusions-review-terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-exclusions-review-terms-of-reference
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/education-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/inquiry/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/education-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/inquiry/


It was also informed by the published inquiry from the education select 
committee and the responses from Government and Ofsted.

3.4.As the task group identified in its finding it is hard ‘to identify a definitive 
answer to the question of why there are such a high number of exclusions in 
Gloucestershire schools’ (para, 3.2.1 – Permanent Exclusions Task Group 
report).  

3.5.The underlying issues are complex and as such are woven into a number of 
elements of the Councils work.  We are therefore tackling them as part of our 
broader strategies to address the pressures on the high needs budget and 
the joint strategy to support children and young people with additional needs.

3.6.These strategies (the High Needs Cabinet report; and Gloucestershire’s Joint 
Strategy for Children and Young People with Additional Needs, including 
Special Educational Needs & Disabilities, see annex 1.) have been finalised 
and approved by Cabinet in January 19. 

3.7.Our approach is underpinned by three core objectives: 
 The development of a collaborative culture of inclusivity that is owned and 

operated by school leaders;
 That we take a preventative approach by ensuring support and 

intervention is provided at the earliest possible opportunity; and
 We aspire to a fully inclusive education system with Zero exclusions.

3.8.Whilst conscious of the need to align with the recommendations that will 
come from Government, through the Timpson review, we are also conscious 
of the need to implement change across Gloucestershire. So, there are a 
number of areas which we have started to make progress.  These are:
 The work of the inclusion team
 Implementation of a new Fair Access Protocol (FAP)
 The development of primary inclusion hubs
 The implementation of restorative practice approaches

3.9.The work of the inclusion team and the implementation of the FAP, are the 
areas in which we are able to have more immediate impact.  The impact of 
the primary inclusion hubs and restorative practice programme are longer 
term strategies focussed on changing the underlying culture of permanent 
exclusion.

4. The work of the inclusion team
4.1.Staff within the Education Inclusion Service have worked with schools to 

avoid children being excluded from school. Working with other services and 
agencies, the team has focused on improving inclusion across the school 
system through: 
 Redesigning training packages for Governor’s and Head Teachers to 

provide an explicit focus on inclusive practice (training to include rather 
than exclude).

 Targeting challenge at leaders within individual schools with significantly 
high levels exclusions and children leaving to become home educated 
(especially in KS4).

 Developing a ‘Team Around the School’ approach for 6 targeted 
secondary schools alongside partner services and agencies. Looking 
holistically at groups or individual children needing support and 
understand how best the school can respond and wider multi-agency 
support be galvanised (in one school alone this approach has avoided 4 
exclusions).

Page 43



 Improving school leadership understanding of whole school approaches to 
respond to more shared needs of groups of children; i.e. through a more 
nurturing or structured environment.

 Attendance at all exclusion Governor Disciplinary Meetings to influence 
Governor’s questioning on events leading up to an exclusion and whether 
the school had done all it could to mitigate this – also sharing good 
practice across schools. 

 Encouraging Headteachers to seek support from the council prior to 
determining whether it is necessary to exclude a child and to consider 
more personalised, child-centred options as alternatives; such as: 

- Facilitating managed moves between schools
- Accessing alternative sanctions to exclusions for schools (i.e. 

programmes related to drug use)
- Enhancing multi-agency work to improve identification of a child’s 

needs and appropriate support for the child and/or family
- Facilitating timely support and advice for schools and families 

across agencies to prevent issues from escalating 
4.2.Much of this work is to facilitate an inclusive culture change within schools 

(which is challenging given the performance and funding pressures they 
have) and therefore results are not expected to be immediate; although it is 
hoped that the new Ofsted framework will help drive the inclusion agenda. 
However, during September – December 2018 alone, the collaboration 
between the service and schools has had the following positive impact for 
children: 
 4 children were put on alternative pathways prior to school determining 

exclusion was necessary
 4 exclusions were withdrawn by the school following agreement on an 

alternative solution.
 2 exclusions were overturned at the Governor’s Disciplinary Meeting 

(meeting held to determine final exclusion decision)
 1 exclusion decision was overturned by an Independent Review Panel 

(parental appeal mechanism against final exclusion decision)
 3 exclusion decisions considered by an Independent Review Panel were 

returned to the school Governing Body on evidential grounds, requesting 
reconsideration of their final decision to exclude

5. Primary Hubs
5.1.As outlined in section 4.1 of the high needs cabinet report we have started to 

develop the vision and strategy for the creation of the 7 primary inclusion 
hubs across the county.  

5.2.A key objective of the hub model is for schools to develop and guide local 
strategies to improve inclusion and ultimately provide them with more 
autonomy and delegated financial responsibilities. 

5.3.The quality of engagement from schools is a critical element of achieving this 
objective. As such we are delighted that the schools have responded and 
engaged very positively. 

5.4.Each of the 7 hubs has been formed and initial discussions have taken place 
to explore their objectives and to consider potential operating models. These 
discussions are informing our thinking about how we structure the 
implementation of the hub model to ensure success.  In particular how we 
ensure a smooth transition to a ‘school led’ model that provides greater local 
autonomy and decision making.

Page 44



5.5. Initial planning has taken place to develop a three phase model that includes 
a central hub which will hold and manage funding and draw together the work 
of the local hubs.  This model is being finalised ready for implementation from 
September 2019.

6. Restorative Practice
6.1.The High Needs paper that was approved by the cabinet in January 2019 

outlines a committed of 200k a year for the next 5 years to support the 
implementation of the restorative practice programme across Gloucestershire 
schools. 

6.2.The funding we have set aside will enable us to start scaling up the 
programme, with a view to creating a self-sustaining programme with through 
the traded service or accessing funding through alternative routes. 

6.3.A five year plan has been developed, which outlines the key milestones and 
objectives for the programme, both for Gloucestershire CC and the schools 
that we work with. During which time we will apply for and achieve the 
Restorative Service Quality Mark (RSQM), to validate the work that we are 
doing. We will also set the expectation that the schools achieve the quality 
mark.

6.4.The response from schools has been exceptional, with demand already 
outstripping our capacity to deliver.  We are looking at ways to try and meet 
the demand, but also with a clear view that we need to prioritise the 
engagement of schools that need the support the most.

7. Fair Access Protocol (FAP)
7.1.The FAP has been reviewed and agreed with the Gloucestershire Association 

of Primary Headteachers (GAPH) and the Gloucestershire Association of 
Secondary Headteachers (GASH).

7.2.The new protocol:
 Places more emphasis on the child by including pupil voice in the referral 

process, ensuring the child has the opportunity to put forward their point 
of view at the point of referral.

 Provides a clearer and more structured timeline for transition into and out 
of alternative provision.

 Clearer guidance and expectations on the assessment and support 
required through the transition points into and out of alternative provision.

 A clearer mandate for the panel to ensure that a place back into 
mainstream education is identified.  

7.3.The finalised protocol will be published on the Gloucestershire County 
Council website shortly and the first panel will take place in early March. 

7.4.We will continue to monitor and refine the process and protocols over the 
coming months to ensure effective implementation.

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Gloucestershire Children and Family Centre Performance 
Reports

Purpose of 
Report

Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of 
children and family centre activity during the year 2017-2018, 
the first year of delivery for the Targeted Family Support 
Service.
There are 6 reports, 1 per locality and an overall County 
report.

Is this for 
information 
or decision?

Information only.

Author Wendy Gray – Outcome Manager – Early Years

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council – Children’s and Families 
Commissioning

Key Issues:  
The Children and Family Centres proportion of the troubled family  target was 
456 families for Year 1. The service has supported 1,009 families in 17/18 as 
part of the targeted family support service. This exceeded the target set.

Year 2 of the contract will start to show a true reflection of the work being 
undertaken by the targeted support service and the outcomes achieved by 
families as there was no comparable data for the new targeted service.

Children and family centres were also introduced at the mid point of year 1 to 
the validation and closing of cases using the outcomes spreadsheet. The data 
shown only reflects the opened and closed cases measured against these 
new criteria.

 Children & Family Centres went from delivering a 0-5 service to a 0-11 
integrated service which has meant additional staff training has been 
undertaken to meet the holistic needs of whole family working.

 The service is supporting a high number of children in need.
 The service is providing packages of support to children on child 

protection plans where the long term plan is for the child to stay within 
the family home.

Risks

The first year of delivery of the targeted support service has been difficult to 
record and evidence accurately due to the late implementation of the liquid 
logic IT system.
Liquid Logic to date is still not able to run reports to make data collection 
comparable.
Universal services are now being run in communities by the voluntary sector. 
These are now differing locality to locality making the step down of cases to 
universal services more challenging.

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



Recommendations to the Committee: 
A review of the Year 2 service will start to show outcomes and impact of the 
targeted support service.

Financial/Resource Implications: 
Funding is agreed in the contract price until March 2022 with a break clause in 
March 2020.

This template can be used as either a front page to an existing report format to 
indicate purpose/outcomes, or as the first page of a report. 

The main body of the report starts here. Please use plain English with all acronyms 
explained and please number paragraphs.

Please use Arial font size 12. 

Page numbers are not required.

Page 48



1

2018-19

Wendy Gray, Outcome Manager

July 2018

Gloucestershire 
Children and Family 
Centres Performance 

Report

Page 49



2

Children & Family Centre Gloucestershire Performance Report 2018-19

Contents

 Introduction……………………….. …………………………………………………….. 3

 Number of Families & Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre 
Services…………………………………………………………………………………… 6

o Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18………………6
o Priority Groups seen by Children & Family Centres…………………………….. 6 
o Families First Data………………………………………………………………….. 7
o Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucester City Locality 17/18……... 8
o Referrals into Children & Family Centres………………………………………… 9
o Supervised contacts taking place in Children & Family Centres………………. 10
o Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the Children 

& Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders……………………… 10

  Delivering ‘evidence based’ parenting programme…………………………. ……… 11

o Parenting Programme………………………………………………………….. 11

 Family Support Service Standards……………………………………………. ……… 12

o Family Support Service Standards (locality table)………………………….. 12 

 Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres……………………………………………………………………………………. 13

o Universal Services……………………………………………………………….13
o Targeted Services based in de-designated community run Children’s 

Centres……………………………………………………………………………13 

 Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision…………………………………………… 15 

 Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 years olds…………………………………20

 Take up of the 2 year old entitlement …………………………………………………. 22

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance (hyperlink)……………………………… 24

Page 50



3

1. Introduction

Name of locality Gloucester City

Name of Provider Barnardo’s

Children and Family Centres in 
locality 

Bartongate
Finlay
Kaleidoscope Kingsholm
The Oaks (Tuffley)
The Lighthouse (Linden)
The Link (Matson)

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

Kaleidoscope Elmbridge (Elmbridge & 
Longlevens)
Hatherley
Quedgeley Library
The Beacon (Kingsway)
The Compass (Coney Hill)
Tredworth

Name of Locality Stroud Locality

Name of Provider Barnardo’s

Children and Family Centres in 
Locality 

Stonehouse The Park
Treetops

Children’s Centres in locality 
(community led buildings)

Five Ways (Cashes Green)
Nailsworth Library
Painswick
Parliament
Wotton

Name of Locality Forest of Dean

Name of Provider Barnardo’s

Children and Family Centres in 
locality 

Hilltop
River

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

The Family Tree - Branches (Newent)
The Family Tree – Leaves (Coleford)
The Family Tree – Twigs (Mitcheldean 
Library) 

Page 51



4

Name of Locality Cheltenham

Name of Provider Gardners Lane & Oakwood Federation

Children and Family Centres in 
Locality 

Gardners Lane
Hesters Way
Oakwood (Whaddon)

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

Charlton Kings Library
Leckhampton
Rowanfield
Up Hatherley Library

Name of Locality Tewkesbury

Name of Provider Gardners Lane & Oakwood Federation

Children and Family Centres in 
Locality 

Brockworth
Noah’s Ark

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

Bishops Cleeve Library
Jigsaw (Churchdown)
Jigsaw (Innsworth)
Northway & Ashchurch
Winchcombe Library

Name of Locality Cotswold

Name of Provider Gloucestershire County Council/Families 
First

Children and Family Centres in 
Locality 

Springboard Cirencester

Children’s Centres in locality 
(community led buildings)

Springboard Fairford Library
Springboard Northleach
Springboard Stow
Springboard Tetbury Library

Since 1st April 2017, 16 children and family centres have been managed by 3 
organisations who bid to run 6 locality contracts across the county. 

Barnardos – Gloucester City and Forest of Dean & Stroud.
Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) – Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire County Council (FF+) – Cotswolds

Page 52



5

In line with the Cabinet decision in June 2016 the Cotswolds locality Children’s 
Centre was transferred the County Council and is managed as an integrated service 
with Families First+. Family support workers provide a 0-19 targeted service, working 
alongside early help coordinators, community social workers, employment advisers 
and partners to ensure a co-ordinated whole-family response to meeting the needs 
of vulnerable families in the Cotswolds. Services are delivered from both 
Springboard Children and Family Centre and the Lewis Lane site. The data provided 
therefore reflects this integrated approach and does not separate out the 0-11 
targeted service. There is a plan in place to create a 0-19 ‘hub’ in Cirencester via a 
successful capital bid to modernise and improve the Lewis Lane site and building 
work is due to start shortly.

There is a performance report for each locality and this is the overall service 
performance report for the targeted family support service running from these 16 
children and family centres. Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of 
children and family centre activity during the year 2017-2018. 

The monitoring of current children and family centre activity and impact is based on a 
variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 
 Performance and Data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems for 

collecting data 
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres
 Headcount data

In addition to the 16 children and family centres under contract for the targeted family 
support service Gloucestershire County Council has handed over 29 children centres 
that are currently in the process of being de-designated, following an EOI process 
undertaken for each of these buildings.  Each centre has been handed over as a 
community hub asset to local providers to sustain the running of universal services 
for children and families.

Page 53



6

Number of Families and Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre Services

Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18 TOTALS

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of 
D

ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

Number of families that 
have received a targeted 
family support service

578 159 82 97 43 50 1,009

Number of individuals 
that have received a 
targeted family support 
service

1823 491 251 282 130 167 3,144

Priority Groups seen by Children and Family Centres TOTALS

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of 
D

ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

Teenage Parents 47 8 12 15 39 47 168
Workless Families 348 138 113 72 20 348 1,039

CIN 550 76 152 280 116 550 1,724
CP 180 48 55 97 58 180 618
CIC 165 36 51 78 33 165 528

Performance Measure: Numbers of families receiving services through Children’s 
Centre  

Data Source: Quarterly Contract Monitoring 

Page 54



7

Troubled Families Data  - Total number of families in Gloucester with 
children 0-11 that meet Troubled Families Criteria

TOTALS

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of 
D

ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

Total Number of families in 
Locality 400 160 152 220 116 92 1,140

Children’s Centre 
proportion of target 160 64 60 88 46 38 456

The Children’s Centres proportion of the target was 456 families for Year 1. The 
service has supported 1,009 families in 17/18 as part of the targeted family support 
service. This exceeded the target set.

Page 55



8

Glos City Chelt Tewks FoD Stroud Cots

1 – Parents and children involved with crime or 
anti-social behaviour 1a

1 0 0 0 0 0

1b 3 1 0 0 0 0
1c 2 1 0 1 0 0
1d 5 6 0 0 1 6

2 – Children who have not been attending school 
regularly 2a

6 8 2 3 7 27

2b 0 0 0 1 1 1
2c 0 1 0 0 1 0
2d 0 0 0 0 1 0
2e 0 0 0 0 1 0
2f 4 0 0 1 2 2
2g 0 1 0 0 0 8
2h 5 6 3 2 4 0

3 – Children who need help 3a 171 77 40 67 73 85
3b 36 16 1 6 17 14
3c 26 6 1 15 17 9
3d 3 1 1 2 0 0
3e 19 9 2 2 4 0

4 – Adults out of work or at risk of financial 
exclusion or young people at risk of worklessness 4a

58 66 22 53 62 57

4b 7 1 0 1 0 1
4c 2 0 0 0 0 0
4d 17 15 9 7 7 8
4e 38 9 3 6 2 8
4f 32 7 3 2 4 0

5 – Families affected by domestic violence 5a 27 31 12 18 35 22
5b 20 13 5 8 11 2
5c 3 9 0 1 0 0

6 – Parents and children with a range of health 
problems 6a

2 3 1 2 2 0

6b 53 39 18 38 35 38
6c 15 14 6 8 11 9
6d 50 35 8 24 66 0

Criteria
Total number of families in…………..

Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucestershire 17/18

Page 56



9

Referrals into Children and Family Centres
TOTALS

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of 
D

ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

Number of cases open 578 120 81 143 66 65 1,053

Number of cases not 
engaged 6 15 15 6 8 0 50

Number of cases closed and 
outcomes achieved 86 32 37 71 20 16 262

What the data tells us 
 The Children and Family Centre targeted support service exceeded its target 

for the number of families supported in year 1.
 The first year of delivery of the targeted support service has been difficult to 

record and evidence accurately due to the late implementation of the liquid 
logic IT system.

 Children and family centres were also introduced at the mid point of year 1 to 
the validation and closing of cases using the outcomes spreadsheet. The data 
shown only reflects the opened and closed cases measured against this new 
criteria.

 Year 2 of the contract will start to show a true reflection of the work being 
undertaken by the targeted support service and the outcomes achieved by 
families.

 Children & Family Centres went from delivering a 0-5 service to a 0-11 
integrated service which has meant additional staff training has been 
undertaken to meet the holistic needs of whole family working.

 The service is supporting a high number of children in need.
 The service is providing packages of support to children on child protection 

plans where the long term plan is for the child to stay within the family home.

Page 57



10

Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the 
Children & Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders

TOTALS

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of 
D

ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

Number of Adults 
attending 10,394 553 5,074 7,584 3,148 1,226 27,979

Number of Children 
attending 8,586 336 4,707 6,813 2,712 1,076 24,230

What the data tells us

 Stroud Children and Family Centres have less space available than other 
Children and Family Centres across the County therefore less services are 
physically able to run from the buildings.

 A community offer of services is building to ensure families are able to access 
services near to where they live.

Supervised contacts taking place in Children and Family Centres TOTALS

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of D
ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

Number of 
Contacts booked 312 57 200 145 140 191 1,045

Number of hours 
booked 507 108 331 258 219 214 1,637

Number of 
families attending 47 9 26 18 13 8 121

Page 58



11

 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 
supervised contacts

 In addition to the targeted family support service the centres are facilitating 
additional targeted and universal services to support children and families

 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by 
local families

Page 59



12

Delivering ‘evidenced based’ parenting programme

Performance Measure
1. How many adults/ families have started a  programme 
2. How many have completed the programme?
3. What evaluation tool/process have you used to measure outcomes?
4. Percentage of participants on the programme whose progress has been 

evaluated. 

Data Source: Self reported by Children’s Centre 

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of 
D

ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

TO
TA

LS

Parenting 
Programme

Solihull

Triple P

Freedom

Triple P

Solihull

Freedom

Solihull

B
est Start

N
o 

program
m

es 
w

ere run

Triple P

W
ebster 

Stratton

No of parent 
starting 14 6 8 47 23 18 16 5 0 10 7 154

No of parents 
completing 11 3 6 38 16 12 9 3 0 8 7 113

No of evaluations 
completed 11 3 4 39 16 7 9 3 0 8 7 207

No of parents 
identifying positive 
change

11 3 6 31 16 7 9 3 0 8 7 101

 What the data tells us 
 A good range of partners are engaged – Partnership Managers will build on 

and improve this.
 Programmes are evaluated using a range of methodologies 
 A programme of support for families where domestic violence is an issue is 

well embedded.
 A programme of support for families to improve parenting is well embedded.
 Pre-birth classes are reaching families at a much earlier stage to embed 

positive parenting.

Page 60



13

Family Support Standards

Q1 Q4 Q1 Q4 Q1 Q4 Q1 Q4 Q1 Q4 Q1 Q4

3 4 4 3 4 3 5 5 5 5 3 4
4 4 4 4 4 4 4 5 4 5 5 5
3 3 4 4 4 4 4 5 4 5 4 4
3 3 3 4 3 4 4 5 4 5 4 4
3 3 4 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 4 4
4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
4 4 4 4 4 4 4 5 4 5 4 4
3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
3 3 4 4 4 4 4 5 4 5 4 4
3 4 3 4 3 4 5 5 5 5 4 4
3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 4
2 4 3 3 3 3 4 5 4 5 4 4
3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3

3.21 3.5 3.5 3.7 3.5 3.7 3.9 4.57 3.9 4.57 4 4

Cotswolds
Standard Score

Family Support Service Standards

Glos City Stroud Forest of Dean Cheltenham Tewkesbury

Service Average

Service Standard 13

Service Standard 14

Service Standard 11

Service Standard 12

Service Standard 9

Service Standard 10

Service Standard 7

Service Standard 8

Service Standard 5

Service Standard 6

Service Standard 3

Service Standard 4

Service Standard 1

Service Standard 2

Service Standard

 The family support standards guidance attached as Appendix 1 is used as 
part of contract monitoring to monitor the progress and the service. An action 
plan is submitted annually to improve standards and is monitored quarterly.

 The data shows a baseline assessment figure and end of Year 1 
improvements.

 Overall the service has maintained family support standards countywide and 
all localities have improved in some key areas. 

Page 61



14

Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres

Universal Services

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of 
D

ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

TOTALS

Number of children accessing 
universal services 4,965 1,597 85 3,535 7,710 1,925 19,817

Number of families accessing 
universal services 785 160 73 0 168 1,170 2,356

Targeted Services based in 
de-designated community 
run Children’s Centres

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of 
D

ean

C
heltenham

Tew
kesbury

C
otsw

old

TOTALS

Number of children accessing 
universal services

132 22 0 1 81 129 365

Number of families accessing 
universal services 116 8 0 1 107 140 372

Parenting Courses offered from children’s centre buildings are:

Solihull, Webster Stratton, Triple P, Introduction to Children’s Play and Artemis, 
Freedom

The range of services that the centres are offering are:

Adult Education courses, Baby Groups, Early Education sessions, Family Time, Play 
Therapy, Communication& Interaction Group, Family Group Conference, Family 
Contact, Freedom Programme, Midwife Drop-in and Antenatal Classes, Child 
Development, Breastfeeding Support Groups, Home Start Groups, Stay and Play 
sessions, Tiny Talk, Holiday Clubs, Family Thrive, Health Visitor weigh in/ 
developmental checks, Family Support Worker sessions, Baby Bounce and Rhyme, 
Craft events, Story Telling, Creative Writing, Explore Learning, Code Club, Nigel 

Performance Measure: Data collected from Universal Children’s Centres

Page 62



15

Hunter SEND Provision, TAC meetings, Health Social/Total Communication 
Meetings.

What the data tells us 

 The numbers shown above include a number of children’s centres which are 
based within libraries.  The children’s centre library services do not collect 
information on individual or specific services accessed by families with 0-11 
year olds hence they have provided the numbers of families accessing library 
services as a whole. These numbers are encouraging.

 A wide range of universal services are on offer to children and families in all 
localities showing us universal services are being retained and grown by 
communities.

Page 63



16

In April 2017, the local authority commissioned to organisation to manage the 
Children and Families Centres in Gloucestershire.  Barnardo’s have the contract for 
Gloucester, Stroud and Forest of Dean localities and, Gardners Lane & Oakwood 
Federation have the contract for Cheltenham and Tewkesbury.  The Cotswold 
Children and Family locality is managed in-house by Gloucestershire County 
Council.

The remaining children’s centres are being developed as hubs for education and 
childcare, universal services and are delivered by private, voluntary and community 
groups as follows:

GLOUCESTER LOCALITY

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Kaleidoscope Elmbridge PATA (Playgroup and Toddler Association)
Hatherley Hatherley Infants School
Quedgeley Quedgeley Library Service
The Beacon Kingsway Primary School
The Compass Coney Hill Primary School
Tredworth Mighty Oaks Little Acorns Pre-school

STROUD LOCALITY

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Five Way Cashes Green Primary School
Nailsworth Nailsworth Library Service
Painswick Painswick Playgroup
Parliament Severn View Primary Academy
Wotton Library Service

FOREST OF DEAN LOCALITY

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
The Family Tree (Branches) Newent Early Years
The Family Tree (Leaves) Coleford St John’s Playgroup
The Family Tree (Twigs) Mitcheldean Community Library

CHELTENHAM LOCALITY

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Charlton Kings Charlton Kings Library Service
Leckhampton Leckhampton Primary School
Rowanfield Gardners Lane & Oakwood Federation
Up Hatherley Up Hatherley Library Service

Performance Measure: Ofsted Inspection Framework for nurseries on Children’s Centre sites

Page 64



17

TEWKESBURY LOCALITY

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Bishops Cleeve Library Service
Jigsaw (Churchdown) Parton Manor Primary School
Jigsaw (Innsworth) Innsworth Primary School
Noah’s Ark (Chance Street) Tewkesbury Primary School
Northway & Ashchurch Northway Primary School
Winchcombe Library Service

Attached to a number of these centres are on site childcare facilities.  These are:

GLOUCESTER LOCALITY

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Bartongate Widden 
Primary 
School

48 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
Term Time Only   
(38 weeks)

Requires 
Improvement – 
14th March 2018

Finlay Barnardo’s 
(moving to 
Finlay Primary 
School Sept 
18?)

26 Mon to Fri 8.30-3.30 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

Requires 
Improvement – 
13th June 2018

Kaleidoscope 
Elmbridge

PATA 28 Mon to Fri 8.45-2.45 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date*

Kaleidoscope 
Kingsholm

Kingsholm 
Primary 
School

60 Mon to Fri 9.00-
12.00 & 12.30 -3.30 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date*

The Lighthouse 
(Pebbles)

Barnardo’s 24 Mon to Fri 8.30- 
3.30pm
Term Time Only   
(38 weeks)

Outstanding -    
19th February 2014

The Link Barnardo’s 
(moving to 
Robinswood 
Primary 
School Sept 
18)

26 Mon to Thurs 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
All year round       
(38 weeks)

Outstanding -    
16th April 2015

Hatherley Hatherley 
Infants School

20 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30  
Term Time Only   
(38 weeks)

Requires 
Improvement –   
5th March 2018

Page 65



18

Tredworth Mighty Oaks 
Little Acorns 
Pre-school 
(Private)

26 Mon to Fri 9.00-3.30 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

Good -                
6th June 2018

The Beacon Kingsway 
Primary 
School

32 Mon to Fri 9.00-5.30 
All Year Round    
(48 weeks)

Requires 
Improvement – 
27th February 2018

The Compass Coney Hill 
Primary 
School

58 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
(38 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date*

STROUD LOCALITY

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational 
Hours

Ofsted

Painswick Painswick 
Playgroup

24 Mon to Thurs  
9.00-3.30 & Fri 
9.00-3.00
Term Time Only   
(40 weeks)

Outstanding –
2nd July 2015

Parliament Severn View 
Primary 
Academy

Severn 
View 16 – 
Parliament 
20

Mon to Fri 8.45-
3.15
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

*Good –
25th January 2018

Stonehouse 
The Park

Stonehouse 
The Park 
Primary

66 Mon to Fri 8.45-
12.00 & 12.00-3.30 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

*Good -
3rd October 2017

Treetops Dursley 
Primary 
Academy

90 Mon to Fri 7.30am-
6.00pm All year 
round (51 weeks)

*No Inspection to 
date

FOREST OF DEAN LOCALITY

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Hilltop Barnardo’s 32 Mon, Tues & Fri 
8.40-11.40 & 12.30-
3.30, Wed & Thurs 
9.00-3.00
Term Time Only   
(39 weeks)

Good –
11th January 2017

The Family 
Tree (Branches)

Newent Early 
Years

20 Mon to Fri 8.00-5.00 
All Year Round
(51 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date

The Family  
(Leaves)

Coleford St 
John’s 
Playgroup

22 Mon, Wed, Thurs & 
Fri 8.45-3.00 & Tues 
12.00-3.00

Outstanding –
16th May 2018

Page 66



19

Term Time Only
(40 weeks)

River Barnardo’s 32 Mon, Tues, Thurs & 
Fri 8.45-11.45 & 
12.30-3.30, Wed 
Only 8.45-11.45 
Term Time Only  
(39 weeks)

Good –
1st December 2015

CHELTENHAM LOCALITY

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Gardners Lane Gardners Lane 
& Oakwood 
Federation

80 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
Term Time Only   
(38 weeks)

Good –
26th April 2018

Hesters Way Gardners Lane 
& Oakwood 
Federation

30 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
Term Time Only  
(40 weeks)

Outstanding – 
10th March 2016

Oakwood Gardners Lane 
& Oakwood 
Federation

66 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.45-3.45 
Term Time Only  
(40 weeks)

Outstanding -
2nd February 2016

Rowanfield Gardners Lane 
& Oakwood 
Federation

36 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.15-3.315 
Term Time Only  
(40 weeks)

Outstanding - 
18th July 2016

TEWKESBURY LOCALITY

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Brockworth Brockworth 
Pre-school

24 Mon to Thurs 8.50-
3.05 & Fri Only 
8.50-11.50
Term Time Only   
(40 weeks)

Good – 
7th December 2016

Jigsaw 
(Churchdown)

Churchdown 
Parton Manor 
Primary 
School

24 Mon to Fri 8.30-5.15 
Term Time Only  
(39 weeks)

*Requires 
Improvement –
8th November 2016

Noah’s Ark 
(York Road)

Gardners Lane 
and Oakwood 
Federation

38 Mon to Fri 8.45-2.45 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date

Noah’s Ark Tewkesbury C 32 Mon to Fri 8.30- *No Inspection to 

Page 67



20

(Chance Street) of E Primary 
School

11.30 & 12.00 -3.00 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

date

Northway & 
Ashchurch

Northway Pre-
school 
Playgroup

52 Mon to Fri 9.00-
3.00pm
Term Time Only   
(40 weeks)

Outstanding –
2nd November 
2017

COTSWOLD LOCALITY

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Springboard Fairford Fairford Library Service
Springboard Northleach Northleach Primary School
Springboard Stow Stow Primary School
Springboard Tetbury Tetbury Library Service

*Please note that the nurseries marked with an asterisk will now be inspected as part of the schools 
inspection.

What the data tells us 

 There has been a reduction in the grading’s for nurseries inspected following 
the transfer of these nurseries from children’s centres to new providers. This 
is mainly due to a new leadership and management structure needing to 
embed and the nurseries needing time to sustain the new changes 
implemented. 

 The Local Authority is offering support to the nurseries identified as Requiring 
Improvement.

Page 68



21

Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 year olds

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years 30 hours entitlement by three and four year 
olds by children’s centre reach area

The Government has made childcare more affordable for working parents by 
increasing the early education and childcare offer from 15 to up to 30 hours per week 
and for 38 weeks of the year (or all the year round equivalent) for some 3 and 4 year 
old children.

Since September 2017 families with a 3 or 4 year old who meet certain criteria can 
receive up to an additional 15 hours of early education and childcare per week which 
is in addition to the current entitlement of 15 hours per week, which all 3 and 4 year 
olds are entitled to when they reach the qualifying age.

The following table represents a full Academic Year showing the number of children 
in receipt of 30 hours since its inception.

Children's Centre

G
loucester

Stroud

Forest of Dean

Cheltenham

Tew
kesbury

Cotsw
old

TOTALS

No of 3yos taken 
from GP data @ 
31.8.17 

1,842 1,050 873 1,396 1,049 852 7,062

No of 4yos taken 
from GP data @ 
31.8.17

1,922 1,144 942 1,427 1,034 855 7,324

       
Autumn 2017 3yos 595 337 299 516 394 233 2,374
% take up 32% 32% 34% 37% 38% 27% 34%
Autumn 2017 4yos 2 6 3 10 2 4 27
% take up 0.1% 1.0% 0.3% 1% 0.2% 0.5% 0.36%
 
Spring 2018 3 yos 615 330 306 541 427 258 2,477
% take up 32% 31% 35% 39% 41% 30% 35%
Spring 2018 4 yos 235 156 124 215 152 113 995
% take up 12% 14% 13% 15% 15% 13% 14%
 
Summer 2018 3 yos 601 328 305 561 440 262 2,497
% take up 33% 31% 35% 40% 42% 31% 35%
Summer 2018 4 yos 400 225 191 341 254 172 1,583
% take up 21% 20% 20% 24% 25% 20% 22%

Page 69



22

What the data tells us 

 The data in the above table is taken from the termly headcount.  The majority 
of children using their entitlement were aged 3.  The number of 4 year olds 
has increased term by term and the 3 year olds have been stable.

 The highest percentage of families accessing the 30 hours funding in the 
Summer Term has been in the Tewkesbury locality where 42% of 3 year olds 
and 25% of 4 year olds took up the offer.  The lowest percentage being 
Stroud and Cotswold locality areas showing 31% of 3 year olds and 20% of 4 
year olds taking up the offer.

Page 70



23

Take Up of the Two Year Old Entitlement 

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years Education of eligible two year olds by 
children’s centre reach area 
Data Source: Capita One Finance Extract 

The Department of Education has specified the entitlement criteria.  Free places are 
to be targeted with a primary focus on economic disadvantage with the council 
having a statutory duty to secure 570 hours of free education for each eligible child.  
This equates to 15 hours per week over 38 weeks of the year.

A child will be entitled to the hours from the term after their 2nd birthday, if both of the 
following conditions are satisfied: (1) the child has attained the age of two (2) the 
child or parent meets the eligibility criteria if you live in England and get one of the 
following benefits:

 Income Support
 Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA)
 Income-related Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)
 Universal Credit – for places starting in the summer term of 2018 (on or after 

1st April 2018), or any subsequent term, if a parent is entitled to Universal 
Credit they must have an annual net earned income equivalent to and not 
exceeding £15,400, assessed on up to three of the parent’s most recent 
Universal Credit assessment periods

 Tax Credits and a parent has an annual income of under £16,190 before tax
 The guaranteed element of State Pension Credit
 Support through part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act
 The Working Tax Credit 4-week run on (the payment you get when you stop 

qualifying for Working Tax Credit)
A child can also get free early education and childcare if any of the following apply:

 they are looked after by a local council
 they have a current statement of special educational needs (SEN) or an 

education, health and care (EHC) plan
 they get Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
 they have left care under a special guardianship order, child arrangements 

order or adoption order.

Page 71



24

Children Centre 
Locality

Age 2 at 
31st Aug 

2017

Number of 2 yr 
olds potentially 

eligible for funded 
place (3 terms 

from the start of 
the next term)

Current number of 
2YO children 

accessing a place 
(Headcount 

Spring Term)

Take up

Gloucester 1,854 623 452 73%

Stroud 1,435 231 179 77%

Forest of Dean 417 103 85 83%

Cheltenham 1,349 316 228 72%

Tewkesbury 995 206 140 68%

Cotswold 806 125 91 73%

What the data tells us 

 The locality with the lowest number of potentially eligible children is Forest of 
Dean with 103 children, and the highest is Gloucester with 623 children.

 The lowest take up of 2 year old places has been in Tewkesbury locality at 
68%, with the highest take up being in the Forest of Dean at 83%.  

 The County is maintaining an overall total take up of approximately 84%, 
however during the Spring Term 2018 the take up dropped to 74%.  The 
reasons for this have been discussed at national level and it is thought that 
this may be due to the changes in the Universal Credits.

Page 72



25

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance

..\..\Performance and Contract monitoring (TSS)\Copy of FSS Standards Matric 
for RAG rating.xlsx

Page 73

../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx
../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2018-19

Wendy Gray, Outcome Manager

July 2018

Gloucester Children & 
Family Centres 

Performance Report

Page 75



2

Children & Family Centre Locality Performance Report 2018-19

Contents

 Introduction……………………….. …………………………………………………….. 3

 Number of Families & Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre 
Services…………………………………………………………………………………… 4

o Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18………………4
o Priority Groups seen by Children & Family Centres…………………………….. 4 
o Families First Data………………………………………………………………….. 5
o Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucester City Locality 17/18……... 5
o Referrals into Children & Family Centres………………………………………… 6
o Case studies – Individual work - Study 1 & Study 2…………………………….. 7
o Supervised contacts taking place in Children & Family Centres………………. 21
o Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the Children 

& Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders……………………… 21

  Delivering ‘evidence based’ parenting programme…………………………. ……… 22

o Parenting Programme………………………………………………………….. 22
o Case studies – Group Work : Study 1 & Study 2………………………….... 23

 Family Support Service Standards……………………………………………. ……… 33

o Family Support Service Standards (locality table)………………………….. 33 

 Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres……………………………………………………………………………………. 33

o Universal Services……………………………………………………………….33
o Targeted Services based in de-designated community run Children’s 

Centres……………………………………………………………………………34 

 Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision…………………………………………… 34 

 Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 years olds…………………………………37

 Take up of the 2 year old entitlement …………………………………………………. 39

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance (hyperlink)……………………………… 41

Page 76



3

1. Introduction

Name of locality Gloucester City

Name of Provider Barnardo’s

Children and Family Centres in 
locality 

Bartongate
Finlay
Kaleidoscope Kingsholm
The Oaks (Tuffley)
The Lighthouse (Linden)
The Link (Matson)

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

Kaleidoscope Elmbridge (Elmbridge & 
Longlevens)
Hatherley
Quedgeley Library
The Beacon (Kingsway)
The Compass (Coney Hill)
Tredworth

Since 1st April 2017, 16 children and family centres have been managed by 3 
organisations who bid to run 6 locality contracts across the county. 

Barnardo’s – Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud
Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) – Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire County Council (FF+) - Cotswolds

There is a performance report for each locality and an overall service performance 
report for the targeted family support service running from these 16 children and 
family centres. Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of children and 
family centre activity during the year 2017-2018. 

The monitoring of current children and family centre activity and impact is based on a 
variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 
 Performance and Data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems for 

collecting data 
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres
 Headcount data

Page 77



4

In addition to the 16 children and family centres under contract for the targeted family 
support service Gloucestershire County Council has handed over 29 children centres 
that are currently in the process of being de-designated, following an EOI process 
undertaken for each of these buildings.  Each centre has been handed over as a 
community hub asset to local providers to sustain the running of universal services 
for children and families.

Page 78



5

Number of Families and Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre Services

Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18 TOTALS

B
artongate

Finlay

K
aleidoscope 

K
ingsholm

The 
Lighthouse

The Link

The O
aks

Number of families that 
have received a targeted 
family support service 91 108 102 68 109 100 578
Number of individuals 
that have received a 
targeted family support 
service

289 321 328 240 299 346 1823

Priority Groups seen by Children and Family Centres TOTALS

B
artongate

Finlay

K
aleidoscope 

K
ingsholm

The 
Lighthouse

The Link

The O
aks

Teenage Parents 14 8 6 6 9 4 47
Workless Families 62 58 54 40 62 72 348

CIN 108 96 87 110 82 67 550
CP 48 37 13 32 24 26 180
CIC 39 29 30 26 34 7 165

Performance Measure: Numbers of families receiving services through Children’s 
Centre  

Data Source: Quarterly Contract Monitoring

Page 79



6

Families First Data

Total Number of 
families in Gloucester

Children’s Centre 
proportion of target for 
17/18

Total number of families in 
Gloucester with children 0-11 that 
meet Troubled Families Criteria

400 160

The Children’s Centre’s proportion of target for Year 1 was 160 families for 
Gloucester, 578 families received a targeted support service. This exceeded the year 
1 target set.

Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucester City Locality 17/18

Criteria Total Number of 
families in Gloucester 

1 – Parents and children involved with 
crime or anti-social behaviour

1a 1

1b 3
1c 2
1d 5

2 – Children who have not been 
attending school regularly

2a 6

2b 0
2c 0
2d 0
2e 0
2f 4
2g 0
2h 5

3 – Children who need help 3a 171
3b 36
3c 26
3d 3
3e 19

4 – Adults out of work or at risk of 
financial exclusion or young people at 
risk of worklessness

4a 58

4b 7
4c 2
4d 17
4e 38
4f 32

5 – Families affected by domestic 
violence

5a 27

5b 20
5c 3

6 – Parents and children with a range 
of health problems

6a 2

6b 53
6c 15
6d 50

Page 80



7

Referrals into Children and Family Centres
TOTALS

B
artongate

Finlay

K
aleidoscope 

K
ingsholm

The 
Lighthouse

The Link

The O
aks

Number of cases open 91 108 102 68 109 100 578
Number of cases not 
engaged

1 1 1 1 1 1 6

Number of cases closed and 
outcomes achieved

10 13 24 13 15 11 86

What the data tells us 

 The targeted family support service exceed its year 1 target of families to 
support.

 The first year of delivery for the targeted support service has been difficult to  
evidence accurately due to the late implementation of the liquid logic IT 
system.

 Children and family centres were also introduced at the mid point of year 1 to 
the validation and closing of cases using the outcomes spreadsheet. The data 
shown only reflects the opened and closed cases measured against this new 
criterion.

 Year 2 of the contract will start to show a true reflection of the work being 
undertaken by the targeted support service and the outcomes achieved by 
families.

 C&F centres went from delivering a 0-5 service to a 0-11 integrated service 
which has meant additional staff training has been undertaken to meet the 
holistic needs of whole family working.

 The service is supporting a high number of children in need.
 The service is providing packages of support to children on child protection 

plans where the plan is for the child to stay within the family home.

Page 81



8

Case studies – individual work

Study 1:

Title: 
5044558; 5066210; 5085771
Domestic abuse, substance 
misuse, emotional work with the 
children and parenting

Date of support (to and from):
13th January 2017 - Present

Family Support Worker: 
Kash Allen 

Date case study completed:
09/07/2018

The Approach   
What is the aim of Targeted Family Support piece of work with the 
child and family?
To support family to understand the impact of alcohol misuse on the 
children. 
To help the family to recognise the impact of domestic abuse on the 
children. 
To encourage good practice in parenting and to empower the mother with 
this.
To enable the children to have a voice.
To equip family with tools to be self-sufficient 

What work was completed with the family?
The mother has completed a parenting programme and has had 
intervention to address her alcohol misuse. Mum has been on courses that 
look at the effects of domestic abuse on her children and their relationship. 
I did one to one work with the children to capture their voice. To help 
children develop their self-esteem and feel confident.

How did you tailor your support to meet the child and their family’s 
individual needs? 
Child/ren
I worked on a one to one basis with the two of the children aged 4 years 
and 3 years; this enabled each child to have their say without being 
influenced by the other.  I used child friendly language and simple short 
questions to gain an insight into the children’s understanding. I used 
cartoon images of faces expressing different emotions to engage the 
children and support them to verbalise what feelings the pictures 
represented.  I then asked them to name a time that they felt like that. 

I spoke with the speech and language therapist to gain information about 
the children’s needs; she shared that the eldest child needed support with 
his pronunciation and provided worksheets that I could use that mirrored 

Page 82



9

her work to support the child’s language development.  This information 
was useful in guiding my work with this child and provided the tools to do 
so. 

I found the use of role play was similarly a valuable tool when engaging 
with the children; it enabled me to find out what interests the children 
have. This helped to stimulate conversation and introduce new topics.  I 
would role play different emotions too and encourage the children to copy 
this and tell me when they were feeling this way.

Parents
I found a youth work approach was most affective when engaging with this 
parent, getting the parent to identify what they feel needed to be 
done/could be done to make any positive changes to improve her life and 
that of her children. This worked on a number of levels:

1. Supporting the mother to identify issues gave her ownership to 
address them

2. This gave the mother responsibility for these issues and therefore 
she could be more reflective on her actions.

3. My role was to encourage and praise the mother for taking 
responsibility.  I made suggestions for ways to approach an issue.

What were the strengths of the family?

The children attended education their nursery setting regularly.
The children were fed and clothed appropriately.
The children were always clean and tidy.
The family home (albeit small) was well presented and presented no risk to 
the children.
I observed some good interactions between parent and children; hugs, 
kisses and praise given. 
The family engaged with services well. 
The mother has attended training to help with a variety of issues: alcohol 
misuse, relationship issues, parenting, behaviour issues, mental health 
(depression and anxiety).
The mother recognised her actions and how they impacted on the children.  

What are the successes of the family? (for example, engagement)

The family engaged well with all services working with family. The mother 
of the children has undertaken a parenting programme to aid her 
parenting skills and develop strategies to deal with difficult situations. 
The family group conference Social Worker observed ’The progress of the 
children and their personal development was by far the most positive 
outcome to date; both boys have developed well over the past two 
months. Both have become more independent and resilient’.
Mum has been able to share her experience with others that find 

Page 83



10

themselves in a similar situation. For example, mum has volunteered to 
share her experience as part of a case study where she was able to share 
her experience of services involved with her and the benefits she gain for 
their support. Mum now recognises the impact her behaviour has had on 
the children. 

What were/are the main challenges and barriers?

Historically there has been a lack of engagement when the children’s 
father lived at the family home. The children’s language development and 
their limited vocabulary impacted on me being able to gain their story 
initially; through my 1:1 work with the children I was able to overcome 
this using tools such as pictures cards and role play to encourage them to 
speak with me (please see below for how I overcame this potential barrier 
in more detail).
In practice  
What methodology/approach did you use with your work with the 
child and their family? (For example, Family Support Standard 9, 
tools, evidence based theories, models and programmes)

I have used Youth Work methodology to engage the family, the key element of this is 
equality; this is not about treating everyone the same, it’s about treating everyone fairly. 
(Youth Work National Occupational Standards)

The Youth Work approach allowed me to look at any historical issues within the family, 
absence of suitable role models, any substance abuse, housing, mental health and a 
whole range of other problems/issues. Using self-awareness skills to pick up on anger 
and frustration individuals may have, which could lead to confrontation and a lack of 
engagement. Any work done with the child/ren should help them to learn about 
themselves, others and society through informal educational activities which combine 
enjoyment, challenge and learning.

Partnership working is key to any intervention with families, any success in this work is 
strongly linked to how well these partnerships are identified, developed and maintained.

When engaging with parents it is essential to gain their confidence and support, by 
encouraging and enabling the family to consult and decide on certain aspects of the 
intervention. This can lead to a ‘voluntary’ involvement aspect of the relationship and 
‘them wanting to engage as they have some ownership over what has been planned’.   

Youth work is underpinned by a clear set of values. These include young people
choosing to take part; starting with young people’s views of the world; treating young
people with respect; seeking to develop young people’s skills and attitudes rather than 
remedy ‘problem behaviours’; helping young people develop stronger relationships and 
collective identities; respecting and valuing differences; and promoting the voice of the 
child/ren. This helped the family to understand that all families and relationships have 
difficulties and there are ways to deal with these difficulties.  https://nya.org.uk › Careers 
in Youth Work
This work has benefited the children as their voice was heard and taken in to 

Page 84



11

consideration when making future plans. 

How did you evidence the Voice of the Child? 

I used images of activities that the child may like and asked them to place 
a picture by that image. I then asked them to tell me a time when they felt 
like that, for example, happy, sad, upset etc. I also used a series of child 
friendly questions, such as, do you get dressed yourself, do you walk to 
school/nursery, and do you clean your own teeth.  I then wrote up their 
responses.  I observed the children during these sessions to gather 
information. For example, how they behaved in any given situation, their 
response to a situation or action and/or how they interacted with other 
family members. I have used role play to gain an understanding of how 
the child may feel in certain circumstance. An example of this was that the 
child felt uncomfortable when I asked them to play an angry role.   

How did you support the child/ren and their family with any 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)? (For example, forms of 
abuse,  substance misuse, mental health issues, domestic abuse, 
parental imprisonment)

I carried out one to one work with individual family members and/or 
signposted them to a more suitable service. I attended meetings and 
appointments with family members to provide moral support. I have acted 
as an advocate or voice for family when they felt they cannot express 
themselves. I encouraged the family to take responsibility for their actions. 
I gave family members time to reflect on their actions and having open 
and honest conversations with family members. 

Describe how you engaged the whole family.

Kept appointments
Found something positive to say about the family (the home, child, etc)
By being open, honest and consistent  
By being approachable
Listened to what the family had to say.
Showed an interest in the family.
Explained why I was there and why I did what I did. 
Set clear objectives with family.
Valued the family structure 
Recognised cultural differences. 
Understood issues within the family. 

Page 85



12

Was a multi-agency approach adopted? What 
partners/professionals were involved? How did this support the 
child/ren and their family?

Yes a multi-agency approach is in place.
There are a number of agencies that work with the family as a whole: 
nursery, family support, social care, Speech And Language Therapists 
(SALT), Gloucester Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS).
As a family support worker I did one to one work with children to look at 
their feelings and emotions. I did home visits to monitor children in the 
home environment and the interactions between all family members. I 
worked with the children to develop their confidence and resilience.  The 
nursery monitored any change in children’s behaviour and any 
developmental issues. SALT has worked with the children to develop their 
language skills, which has helped with getting the children’s view of things. 
Social Care worked with the mother to increase her awareness of the 
impact of her actions on the children. GDASS worked with the mother to 
understand and recognise the signs of an abuser and develop strategies to 
deal with this.  By working with all agencies in this way to share 
information we were able to complement each other’s work and work 
together, rather than undoing pieces of work by approaching things in a 
different way.  For example I used the same worksheets as the speech and 
language therapist.

The Learning
How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?

By referring back to the family plan and any changes made.
Quotes from family members.
By speaking with other professionals who have noticed the change. Chair 
of Conference: ‘It’s good that someone records the voice of the child in 
such detail; you captured well the children’s home life and the relationship 
the family have from the child/ren’s point of view. You have illustrated 
changes that have taken place and gained an understanding of how the 
child/ren think and feeling.’
Observation of family members and their interactions. 
By comparing where the family are now, against where the family was 
then. 

Page 86



13

Reflections and analysis:
Looking back at this family the engagement of the children and their 
personal development was by far the most encouraging aspect of this 
intervention. To see the change in the children and their ability to 
communicate how they were feeling and having some understanding of 
their feelings has contributed to a greater family bond and positive 
attachment. It took a period of time to build a relationship with the 
children where they were at ease in my company and willing to work with 
me. The help of nursery staff that allowed me access to nursery and a 
space to work with children help as they were in a familiar surroundings. 
The willingness of the Mother to give me time in the family home to work 
with the children again helped as they were in familiar surroundings. 
However, there were times when these familiar surroundings presented 
issues. For example in the family home the children could get distracted by 
other things going on around them. 

What were the overall outcomes and the impact our support?  How 
did the package of support improve outcomes for the child and 
their family?

This package of support enabled the service to gain an insight into the 
lives of the children and the negative impact the life choices of the parents 
had on the children both in the short and long term. This intervention has 
allowed services to work with the children to build up confidence, resilience 
and develop language skills so their voice can be heard and views taken 
into account when making future plans. The mother appears to be more 
confident to challenge inappropriate behaviour both in adults and children 
and has developed approaches for dealing with these encounters. All 
services have liaised to enable complimentary interactions with the family 
and not undo work either service is delivering. This package of services 
has positively supported the family to recognise and address the areas in 
which they needed to focus to improve the outcomes for the children.

Conclusions: 

The willingness of the family to engage and take on board advice has 
contributed to the positive changes the family have made. The services 
working with the family have a good understanding of the family issue 
which again help to put in place the right interventions to meet family 
needs. 

The variety of services on offer to the family and the timely interventions 
of these services have aided the positive outcomes for the family.  

Page 87



14

Next Steps
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further? 
Are there any unmet needs/signposting required?

I hope to continue this intervention by encouraging change and 
acknowledging any positive changes made.
Yes, there are unmet needs with the father as he is not fully committed to 
this intervention; however, he is making limited change. 
The mother needs to show over a period of time that any changes made 
can be sustained 

Further Contact Details 
Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (for example, Department for 
Education; Ofsted; for commissioners Gloucestershire County Council, 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)? (please tick)

 No 

 

Page 88



15

Study 2 :

Title: 

5043277

Date of support (to and from):
April 2016 – May 2018

Family Support Worker:

Sue Stephens

Date case study completed:

9th July 2018
The Approach   
What is the aim of Targeted Family Support piece of work with the 
child and family?
Attendance at nursery to improve
Support for parent to develop child’s speech and language through play
Support for parent to recognise the abusive relationship she had been in 
and the impact this was having on her parenting skills

What work was completed with the family?
1-1 support through home visits
Relationships and domestic abuse support
Referral to speech and language
Mediation 
Law centre referral
Liaising with nursery to improve attendance

Work with dad was not supported.  Dad is White British convert to Muslim 
having zealous religious beliefs.  Part of the abusive behaviour towards 
mum was due to her being a none-practicing Muslim.  Dad would send 
abusive texts to her about the way she dressed and who she was friends 
with.  Dad challenged professionals when he met with them for example he 
challenged my making referral to Speech and Language for child, asking 
me about my qualifications to be able to make that judgement of his son 
needing S & L support.  After I explained my professional qualifications and 
my referring to the experts, speech and language therapists he insisted 
that his son was “just a late talker”.  His son received support from S & L 
sessions.   He shouted verbally at an A & E doctor at the hospital after 
mum admitted that their son was fully up to date with his immunisations.  
Dad had specifically said to mum (during their relationship) that he did not 
want his child immunised due to it causing autism and other problems.  
Dad said this is why child needed speech and language.

Dad informed mum that he had been wrongly diagnosed with Bi-polar 
when younger and that he actually was suffering Psychosis and Borderline 
Personality Disorder.  During the court proceedings mums solicitor 
requested a medical report from dad which he provided.  This did not say 
he had been diagnosed with anything other than depression.  Dad had 
physical health needs including being diagnosed blind due to being only 
partially sighted and having exploratory surgery (undetermined why).   

Page 89



16

How did you tailor your support to meet the child and their family’s 
individual needs?

Home visits – choosing days and times that fitted in with mums college 
courses and child’s nursery.

What were the strengths of the family?
Mum recognised that she needed support from service
Mum wanted to do whatever was best for her child
Mum and child have support from maternal grandparents and Mums 
siblings
Mum taking college courses to help with work when child starts school
Child attending nursery

What are the successes of the family? (for example, engagement)

Mum engaged with the service.  
She was determined that her son was to be a priority.  

What were/are the main challenges and barriers?
Mum not recognising the abusive relationship she had been in and the 
coercive and controlling behaviour she was still being subjected too.  The 
impact this was having on her parenting her child.

Mums poor mental health and the inability to make decisions due to her 
poor mental health.   The anxiety mum felt whenever she had to speak to 
or meet with ex-partner.
In practice  
What methodology/approach did you use with your work with the 
child and their family? (For example, Family Support Standard 9, 
tools, evidence based theories, models and programmes)

Using elements of Freedom Programme to support mums understanding of 
domestic abuse and the impact of this on her child.

1-1 play sessions to encourage speech and Language development of 
child.

Page 90



17

How did you evidence the Voice of the Child? 

Initially this was gained by observations of parent, child interaction 
through play because of child’s limited speech. 

With the progress in child’s speech and language the voice of the child has 
been captured through play sessions during home visits.

How did you support the child/ren and their family with any 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)? (For example, forms of 
abuse,  substance misuse, mental health issues, domestic abuse, 
parental imprisonment)

Although mum recognised that she had been in an abusive relationship 
with ex-partner and dad to child she did not understand the impact this 
was having on her parenting skills.  The abuse which was continuing 
through harassment and stalking continued to impact on parent and her 
parenting skills long after separation from ex-partner.  Decisions about 
nursery, school and general everyday practices were constantly queried by 
ex- partner to the point that mum’s mental health deteriorated and she 
was prescribed medication.   Support through mediation and consequently 
through referral to Law Centre to stop the harassment through texting and 
e-mailing was partially successful.  The constant texting ceased.   

Describe how you engaged the whole family.

Home visits were made and planned around the child being home from 
nursery.
Child would look forward to my visits and would be excited to show me his 
new toys.  Child would initiate a game (usually dinosaurs) and I would join 
in role modelling to mum how to play and how to extend his game to 
develop his speech and language.

Page 91



18

Was a multi-agency approach adopted? What 
partners/professionals were involved? How did this support the 
child/ren and their family?

Speech & Language therapist
Nursery 
Law centre
Mediation
Courts

Child attended speech and language sessions for support with his speech 
and language development.   Parents were invited to these sessions to 
help them with advice and strategies to support their child.  Nursery was 
given information to help support child at nursery.

Mum wanted child to have a relationship with his father, her ex-partner.  
This became increasingly difficult due to the breakdown of communication 
between mum and ex.  This was due to the controlling and coercive text 
and emails mum was still receiving from her ex.  To stop this I supported 
mum in contacting the Law Centre who wrote a letter warning ex-partner 
that the amount of texts he was sending and the abusive content of some 
of the texts had to stop otherwise legal action would follow.   As mum still 
wanted child to have contact with his father it was suggested she try 
mediation with ex-partner.  This was attempted twice, both times 
unsuccessfully due to ex-partners unreasonable demands.  I accompanied 
mum both appointments.
It was after the second attempt at mediation that mum informed dad that 
he would need to go to court if he wanted to have contact with their child.  
For a year there was no contact between child and his dad.  Dad 
eventually asked for contact and through the legal system he was granted 
private supervised contact starting with 2 hours every Saturday.  Further 
contact was dependent on dad being consistent in having his son for 2 
hours every Saturday for a total of 8 weeks.  Dad had wanted to bring his 
new wife to the contact centre to help him with child due to his (dads) on-
going health needs.  This was not allowed by the judge who informed dad 
that he needed to make the relationship with his son not his wife.  
After the 8 weeks of 2 hours it was to be extended to 4 hours for a further 
4 weeks, dad did not want this has he said he would not be physically able 
to look after his child for that long without support.  
It was then put up to 3 hours.  After this dad would be able to have his son 
in the community for 4 hours each Saturday (support from his new wife).  
If this worked he would be able to have his son overnight for one day a 
week.  A contract was drawn up by the court and both parties had to agree 
to it.  Contact started in March and the first 2 contacts went ahead as 
scheduled, 2 were cancelled due to ill heath one parent, one child.  Child 
looks forward to seeing his dad.  The case is now closed to this service.

Page 92



19

The Learning
How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?
Review of support plan and distance travelled every 3 months.

Liaising with nursery and speech and language to support and review plans 
made.

Child has improved developmentally in all areas according to nursery. 
Child is now playing with his peers.
Mum is making decisions about child for herself and not worrying what ex-
partner will say.
Mum’s mental health has improved – no longer takes medication.
Mum’s parenting skills have improved.
Child looks forward to seeing his dad.

Reflections and analysis:

It has been a long process in getting mum to believe that she is making 
good and positive decisions about her child.  

What were the overall outcomes and the impact our support?  How 
did the package of support improve outcomes for the child and 
their family?

Child’s speech and Language development improved thus supporting his 
overall development especially his social and emotional development.   
Child made friends at nursery.
Parenting skills improved, mum no longer worried about what ex-partner 
would think about her decisions relating to everyday things like potty 
training and having child’s haircut.
Mum was able to engage in child initiated play supporting child’s 
development.
Mum’s mental health improved.
Contact between dad and child being supported by private contact centre.
Text messages no longer happening between parents, communication is by 
e-mail (mum has separate email for contact between ex-partner and 
herself).

Page 93



20

Conclusions:

With support from family worker, mother and child are now moving 
forward into the next chapter of their lives.  
Mother is actively seeking employment as she does not want her son 
brought up on benefits.  
Child is starting school in September and due to his improved speech and 
language development will be better able to cope with the transition to ‘big 
school’.

Next Steps
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further? 
Are there any unmet needs/signposting required?

Needs are met and family are closed to service.  

Further Contact Details 
Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (for example, Department for 
Education; Ofsted; for commissioners Gloucestershire County Coucil, 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)? (please tick)

√ No 

Page 94



21

Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the 
Children & Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders

TOTALS

B
artongate

Finlay

K
aleidoscope 

K
ingsholm

The 
Lighthouse

The Link

The O
aks

Number of Adults 
attending

3794 1632 1106 1816 792 1794 10,934
Number of Children 
attending

2426 1583 1213 1123 614 1627 8,586

Services accessed were:
Adult Education; GDASS; Greensquare; Health Visitors and Midwive’s; Parent Run 
Groups; Safeguarding; Social Care; Supervised contact; Early Start; Immunisation; 
SALT; Stay & Play; Baby Groups, Early Education sessions, Family Time, Midwife 
Drop-in and Antenatal Classes, Child Development, Breastfeeding Support Groups, 
Home Start Groups, Stay and Play sessions, Health Visitor weigh in/ developmental 
checks.

What the data tells us
 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 

supervised contacts
 In addition to the targeted family support service the centres are facilitating 

additional targeted and universal services to support children and families
 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by 

local families

Supervised contacts taking place in Children and Family Centres TOTALS

B
artongate

Finlay

K
aleidoscope 

K
ingsholm

The 
Lighthouse

The Link

The O
aks

Number of 
Contacts booked

124 24 45 58 35 26 312

Number of hours 
booked

183 42 68 122 51 41 507

Number of 
families attending

19 4 6 10 4 4 47

Page 95



22

Delivering ‘evidenced based’ parenting programme

Performance Measure
1. How many adults/ families have started a  programme 
2. How many have completed the programme?
3. What evaluation tool/process have you used to measure outcomes?
4. Percentage of participants on the programme whose progress has been 

evaluated. 

Data Source: Self reported by Children Centre provider Barnardo’s  

Bartongate Kaleidoscope 
Kingsholm

Parenting Programme Solihull Triple P
No of parent starting 14 6

No of parents completing 11 3

No of evaluations completed 11 3

No of parents identifying positive change 11 3

 What the data tells us 
 A good range of partners are engaged – the Partnership Manager will build on 

and improve this.
 Programmes are evaluated using a range of methodologies 
 A programme of support for families to improve parenting is well embedded.

Page 96



23

Case studies – Group work

Study 1:

Title: 

Solihull Parenting Group 
Programme

Date of support (to and from):

11th January  to 29th March 2018

Family Support Worker:
Danielle Goscomb and Craig 
Wheeler 

Date case study completed:
9th July 2018

The Approach   
What is the aim of Targeted Family Support piece of work with the 
child and family?

The aim of this programme is to support parents in understanding their 
child’s behaviour, development and communication.

What work was completed with the family?

Delivery of the Solihull parenting group programme. 

The group consisted of 6 participants that started and completed the 
course.
The course was delivered over twelve weeks. 
Two males, one father and one grandfather.
Four females, mothers.
How did you tailor your support to meet the child and their family’s 
individual needs?

A form with each parent/carer was completed prior to the course to gain 
an understanding of what difficulties they may be having.
Most of these parents/carers shared they struggle to interact with their 
children and found it difficult to manage challenging behaviour.
This supported our delivery of the programme.
Solihull looks at:

 Having fun together 
 Development needs
 Behaviour difficulties 
 Communication 
 Parenting styles

Page 97



24

What were the strengths of the family?

All participants returned each week. This demonstrates they want to make 
the changes to support their children. 
Participants shared their experiences with each other.
Participants supported each other within the group.
Participants engaging in sessions supported the flow and discussions. 
What are the successes of the family? (for example, engagement)

The group, each individual participated in all sessions.
It was particularly noticed the confidence gained for one of the individuals 
who attended.
Another participant shared her child had improved at home and at school, 
we shared with her that this was due to the positive changes she had 
made and was clearly having a positive impact on her child.
What were/are the main challenges and barriers?

On occasions parents would find it difficult to be positive. Due to the 
nature of difficulties they were facing at that time in their lives they found 
it difficult to view the situation from the child’s perspective and think how 
this could be impacting on them. 
Due to the size of the group activities were delivered and completed as a 
whole group. A larger group would facilitate the separating of groups to 
complete activities then joining back to share; this will support characters 
within the group ensuring all participants are able to have their say. 
In practice  
What methodology/approach  did you use with your work with the 
child and their family? (For example, Family Support Standard 9, 
tools, evidence based theories, models and programmes)

Solihull parenting group programme.

How did you evidence the Voice of the Child? 

Parent/carers shared feedback from activities set at the end of each 
session with the group.
Activities consisted of:

 Observing their child and noting the behaviour seen. Thinking about 
what their child may be feeling.

 Writing about an incident that occurs and thinking about what they 
may be feeling and how their child may be feeling when the 
behaviour was difficult to manage. Thinking about how they are able 
to tell what their child’s feelings are.

 Observing what their child is learning.

Page 98



25

 Reflection, saying things differently when children are upset or have 
not behaved well.

 Thinking about parenting styles and the impact on children. Using 
this to make the changes they want to. 

 Playing a game with their child.

How did you support the child/ren and their family with any 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)? (For example, forms of 
abuse,  substance misuse, mental health issues, domestic abuse, 
parental imprisonment)

Session four is particularly challenging and some members of the group 
voiced this to be difficult.
Many of the families had experienced forms of abuse, substance misuse, 
mental health issues, domestic abuse and parental imprisonment. Some of 
this was experienced as a child themselves, as an adult or have these 
problems themselves. 
The group were made aware the week before that this session could be 
challenging, that they were able to leave the room and opt out at any 
point during the session and the importance of confidentiality. 
The group shared experiences and this aided their understanding with how 
they support their children. 
A member of the group struggled with this and left the room. This 
participant was offered support straight away and further support was 
provided by their allocated family support worker. 

Describe how you engaged the whole family.

Solihull parenting group programme has pieces of work to be completed at 
home and then shared the following week. By doing this it engages the 
whole family. 
Participants particularly found it difficult to play with their child. 
One participant voiced he really struggled with this due to his own 
experiences as a child, and stated he felt silly. We worked together and 
discussed how the child might be feeling too and advised to follow the 
child’s lead with play, gave a leaflet on parent perspective and child’s 
perspective and this helped him to feel reassured. A few weeks later this 
participant voiced how he had managed to enjoy some time playing and 
how it made him feel proud. He stated he still struggles and that it wasn’t 
a long time he spent playing, we reassured him to keep going and that this 
was positive for both him and the child.  

Page 99



26

Was a multi-agency approach adopted? What 
partners/professionals were involved? How did this support the 
child/ren and their family?

This group was delivered by two members of Gloucester City Targeted 
Family support services, who took into consideration on a weekly basis the 
needs of the group and the information individuals, were sharing. We 
worked together with the families to meet their needs, actively listening 
and understanding whilst delivering this parenting programme.
The Learning
How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?

Parents gave feedback in sessions, sharing with the group.
Parents completed feedback/evaluation forms.

Reflections and analysis:

This was the first delivery for myself and my colleague following training, 
each participant voiced they valued the group and what they had learnt. 
The feedback received was positive. One parent shared how her child’s 
behaviour has improved at home and at school.
Next time, I feel we need a more robust system of capturing the impact of 
the parenting group after and during delivery, knowing where this 
information is to be kept. 

Page 100



27

What were the overall outcomes and the impact our support?  How 
did the package of support improve outcomes for the child and 
their family?

Following the delivery of this programme it is hoped that all attendees 
were better informed and have a clearer understanding on the following:

 How they feel and how their child may be feeling and why.
 How to tune into their child’s developmental needs
 How to respond to their child’s feelings
 Have an understanding of the different parenting styles and how this 

may have impacted upon their parenting and what they want to 
change.

 How to enjoy and have fun with their child
 An understanding on the rhythm of interaction and sleep
 Understanding of how to self-regulate and how children self-regulate 

and express anger.
 The importance of communication and attunement, being able to 

recover when things go wrong. 

Conclusions:

To conclude, this was a positive group where all attendees completed the 
course. We received positive feedback and will use this when planning 
another group. 
The group size was small and in future I feel a bigger group may work 
better for some of the activities. However, the discussions as a whole 
group worked well for these participants. 

Next Steps
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further? 
Are there any unmet needs/signposting required?

Solihull will continue to be delivered to parents/carers across Gloucester 
City.
We are further enhancing/developing and adapting this to deliver to 
parents who do not have their children with them at this time. This is to 
meet the identified needs for children and their families. 

Page 101



28

Further Contact Details 
Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (for example, Department for 
Education; Ofsted; for commissioners Gloucestershire County Council, 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)? (please tick)

 Yes  
 No 

Page 102



29

Study 2:

Title: 
Domestic abuse ID 5057671

Date of support (to and from):
3/01/2018 – 31/05/2018 

Family Support Worker:
Rebecca Pullinger

Date case study completed:
5/07/2018

The Approach   
What is the aim of Targeted Family Support piece of work with the 
child and family?
The You and Me Mum programme was completed one to one with the 
mother, to support her understanding of the impact of domestic violence 
on children. The programme also provided an opportunity to reinforce the 
positive parenting the mother had been doing and the positive steps she 
had taken to end her relationship with her ex-partner. 
What work was completed with the family?

The You and Me, Mum programme was delivered one to one. 
One to one work with the child was completed to capture their thoughts 
and feelings, and to assess the impact of domestic abuse on the child. This 
was completed using pictures of animals with different facial expressions, 
pairs and groups of animals, which gave the opportunity for the child to 
talk about how the animals feel and how the child felt seeing the animals 
in their different living environments. It also provided an opportunity for 
the child to recognise emotions in others and their own.
Emotional support was provided to mum throughout the court process. 
Support with completing benefits applications and attending the job centre. 
How did you tailor your support to meet the child and their family’s 
individual needs?

The You and Me, Mum programme was delivered one to one as the mum 
was planning to move to Poland, therefore would not have been able to 
attend a group due to time scales. 

To be able to capture the voice of the child and their feelings, an age-
appropriate approach was needed, the use of pictures with animals made it 
interesting for the child whilst supporting information gathering. This 
guided the on-going work. 
What were the strengths of the family?

The mother engaged throughout the one to one session, and would openly 
discuss her relationship, the difficulties she has experienced in parenting 
during and after the relationship ended. The mother was committed to 
providing a safe and secure home environment and understood the 
importance of routine and boundaries. 

Page 103



30

The mother was able to reflect on her experiences and relate them to 
difficulties she was facing. 

What are the successes of the family? (for example, engagement)

The family engaged throughout the work, the engagement was meaningful 
and the mother completed pieces of work each week and was able to 
feedback progress or areas still needing support. Meaningful engagement 
observed through the mothers growing confidence and understanding of 
domestic abuse. 

What were/are the main challenges and barriers?

The main challenges to the work was the mothers emotional wellbeing, 
when work first began the mother took time to develop a trusting 
relationship with FSW. The ongoing challenge was the emotional wellbeing 
of the mother when contact was taking place, the mother would worry 
about how her daughter was during contact, and worry about pick up and 
drop offs. 
In practice  
What methodology/approach did you use with your work with the 
child and their family? (For example, Family Support Standard 9, 
tools, evidence based theories, models and programmes)

I used the You and Me Mum programme throughout the work. 
I was aware of the impact of trauma from the mother’s previous 
relationship and used a trauma informed approach when working with her. 
I was aware of the importance of having a strength-based approach to my 
work to support the mother to feel empowered (a key area of the You and 
Me Mum programme). 
How did you evidence the Voice of the Child? 

I completed one to one work the child capturing their voice and feelings. 
This was done with an age appropriate tool, using pictures of animals with 
various expressions on their face and different living environments. This 
encouraged the child to talk about how the animals were feelings, how the 
pictures made her feel. The child related some of the animals to parents 
and parents with children. 
I played with the child during visits and observed her with her mother. 

Page 104



31

How did you support the child/ren and their family with any 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)? (For example, forms of 
abuse,  substance misuse, mental health issues, domestic abuse, 
parental imprisonment)

I completed the You and Me Mum programme. 
I encouraged the mother to seek advice from CAFCASS. 
I supported the mother to her health assessment at the job centre, which 
she had refused to attend for a period of time. 

Describe how you engaged the whole family.

I engaged both the mother and child by carrying out visits at different 
times of the day to be able to see both of them. I ensured I completed one 
to one work with mother and child to capture both their voices throughout 
the work. I completed an evidence-based programme with the family to 
support their identified needs, which supported the mother to understand 
the impact of abuse on her child and the future impact this could have, 
which in turn supported her child. 
No work was completed with the father of the child due to parents being in 
the court process for custody of the child throughout the duration of the 
work, any work with the father would have been a conflict of interest. 
(additional information known about the father supported this decision).
Was a multi-agency approach adopted? What 
partners/professionals were involved? How did this support the 
child/ren and their family?

Work was completed with the job centre to support the mother to receive 
benefits she was entitled to. This supported the mother and child to have 
their basic needs met. This reduced the mothers stress as she was unable 
to work and needed some time at home to support her mental health. 

The Learning
How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?

The recording and my plan evidenced the impact of change for the family. 
An email was received from the mother which provides feedback on the 
support she received and how she feels this helped her. 

‘I have been supported by family worker throughout the most difficult time 
in my life’ 

‘She made me see that I’ve made the right choice for my child’s best 
interest, when I was in so much doubt’

Page 105



32

‘Life is good again, I am the best example and so proud of myself now. 
Despite feeling so shameful at the time.’

Reflections and analysis:

The work with the family was challenging and often visits would take place 
on the floor in entrance hall due to the mother’s emotional wellbeing after 
attending court. This provided opportunity for FSW to build a relationship 
with the mother by demonstrating compassion and willingness to work 
with the mother at their pace. The work carried out worked well and home 
visits being weekly at the same time supported engagement and showed 
the mother the FSW was consistent in their approach. The you and me 
mum programme gave opportunity for the mother to talk through her 
experiences and reflect on how this could impact the child. The mother 
grew in confidence throughout the work and this is evidenced through the 
mother being able to return to her own county and live with her child 
independently. 

What were the overall outcomes and the impact our support?  How 
did the package of support improve outcomes for the child and 
their family?

The mother was able to complete the court process and return home to 
her home country. The mother was able to recognise the impact of 
domestic violence on children. The mother was able to reflect on her 
previous experiences and how this has impacted her and her child. 

The mother has an understanding of the impact of domestic abuse on 
children and will be able to use this knowledge for her future relationships. 
The mother understands the behaviours and coping mechanism children 
use where they have lived in homes were there is domestic abuse. The 
family are able to recognise when support is needed and know there are 
services available to them. 

Page 106



33

Conclusions:

Needs are met, both mother and child are safe. Mother has the recognition 
and tools to support her in future relationships. 

Next Steps
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further? 
Are there any unmet needs/signposting required?

The family no longer live in the UK. The mother is aware that if she can 
contact the service if she returns to the UK. Mother is aware of online 
support from women’s aid. 

Further Contact Details 
Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (for example, Department for 
Education; Ofsted; for commissioners Gloucestershire County Coucil, 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)? (please tick)

 No 

Page 107



34

Family Support Standards

Q1 Q4

Service Standard 12 4

4

Service Standard 7 4
Service Standard 8 3

Service Standard Standard Score

Family Support Service Standards

3

Service Standard 9 3

Service Standard 10 3

Service Standard 11 3

Service Standard 1 3

Service Standard 2 4
Service Standard 3 3
Service Standard 4 3
Service Standard 5 3
Service Standard 6

Service Standard 13 2

Service Standard 14

Standard Score

4

4

3

3

3
4

4
3

3

4

3

Service Average 3.21 3.5

4

4

3

 The family support standards guidance attached as Appendix 1 is used as 
part of the contract monitoring to monitor the progress of the service.  An 
action plan is submitted annually to improve standards and is monitored 
quarterly.

 The data shows a baseline assessment figure and end of Year 1 
improvements.

 Overall the service has maintained family support standards and has 
improved in some areas.

 The Gloucester locality is performing well and improving.

Page 108



35

Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres

Universal Services

K
aleidoscope 
Elm

bridge

H
atherley

Q
uedgeley 
Library

The B
eacon

The C
om

pass

Tredw
orth

TOTALS

Number of children accessing 
universal services

357 56 4,239 188 85 40 4,965

Number of families accessing 
universal services

286 56 0 356 50 37 785

Targeted Services based in de-
designated community run 
Children’s Centres

K
aleidoscope 
Elm

bridge

H
atherley

Q
uedgeley 
Library

The B
eacon

The C
om

pass

Tredw
orth

TOTALS

Number of children accessing 
targeted services

6 0 0 23 85 18 132

Number of families accessing 
targeted services

6 0 0 42 50 18 116

Parenting Courses offered from children’s centre buildings are:

Solihull, Webster Stratton, Triple P and Introduction to Children’s Play

The range of other services offered from the centres:

Adult Education courses, Baby Groups, Early Education sessions, Family Time, Play 
Therapy, Communication& Interaction Group, Family Group Conference, Family 
Contact, Freedom Programme, Midwife Drop-in and Antenatal Classes, Child 
Development, Breastfeeding Support Groups, Home Start Groups, Stay and Play 
sessions, Health Visitor weigh in/ developmental checks, Family Support Worker 
sessions, Nigel Hunter SEND Provision, TAC meetings, Health Social/Total 
Communication Meetings.

Performance Measure: Data collected from Universal Children’s Centres

Page 109



36

What the data tells us 
 The children’s centre library services do not collect information on specific 

services accessed by families with children 0-11, however numbers are 
encouraging.

 A wide range of universal services are on offer to children and families in the 
locality

Page 110



37

Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision

In April 2017, the local authority commissioned the charity organisation Barnardo’s to 
run the group of Children and Families Centres known as the Gloucester Locality 
Children & Family centres on its behalf, offering targeted provision. 

The remaining children’s centres are being developed as hubs for education and 
childcare, universal services and are delivered by private, voluntary and community 
groups as follows:

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Kaleidoscope Elmbridge PATA (Playgroup and Toddler Association)
Hatherley Hatherley Infants School
Quedgeley Quedgeley Library Service
The Beacon Kingsway Primary School
The Compass Coney Hill Primary School
Tredworth Mighty Oaks Little Acorns Pre-school

Attached to a number of these centres are on site Early Years provision.  These are:

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Bartongate Widden 
Primary 
School

48 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
Term Time Only   
(38 weeks)

Requires 
Improvement – 
14th March 2018

Finlay Barnardo’s 48 Mon to Fri 8.30-3.30 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

Requires 
Improvement – 
13th June 2018

Kaleidoscope 
Elmbridge

PATA 28 Mon to Fri 8.45-2.45 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date*

Kaleidoscope 
Kingsholm

Kingsholm 
Primary 
School

60 Mon to Fri 9.00-
12.00 & 12.30 -3.30 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date*

The Lighthouse 
(Pebbles)

Barnardo’s 64 Mon to Fri 8.30-
3.30pm
Term Time Only   
(38 weeks)

Outstanding -    
19th February 2014

The Link Barnardo’s 
(moving to 

26 Mon to Thurs 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 

Outstanding -    
16th April 2015

Performance Measure: Ofsted Inspection Framework for nurseries on Children’s Centre sites

Page 111



38

Robinswood 
Primary 
School Sept 
18)

All year round       
(38 weeks)

Hatherley Hatherley 
Infants School

20 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30  
Term Time Only   
(38 weeks)

Requires 
Improvement –   
5th March 2018

Tredworth Mighty Oaks 
Little Acorns 
Pre-school 
(Private)

26 Mon to Fri 9.00-3.30 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

Good -                
6th June 2018

The Beacon Kingsway 
Primary 
School

32 Mon to Fri 9.00-5.30 
All Year Round    
(48 weeks)

Requires 
Improvement – 
27th February 2018

The Compass Coney Hill 
Primary 
School

58 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
(38 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date*

*Please note that the nurseries marked with an asterisk will now be inspected as part of the schools 
inspection.

What the data tells us

 There has been a reduction in the grading’s for nurseries inspected following 
the transfer of these nurseries from children’s centres to new providers. This 
is mainly due to a new leadership and management structure needing to 
embed and the nurseries needing time to sustain the new changes 
implemented. The Local Authority is offering support to the nurseries identified 
as Requiring Improvement.

Page 112



39

Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 year olds
Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years 30 hours entitlement by three and four year 
olds by children’s centre reach area

The Government has made childcare more affordable for working parents by 
increasing the early education and childcare offer from 15 to up to 30 hours per week 
and for 38 weeks of the year (or all the year round equivalent) for some 3 and 4 year 
old children.

Since September 2017 families with a 3 or 4 year old who meet certain criteria can 
receive up to an additional 15 hours of early education and childcare per week which 
is in addition to the current entitlement of 15 hours per week, which all 3 and 4 year 
olds are entitled to when they reach the qualifying age.

The following table represents a full Academic Year showing the number of children 
in receipt of 30 hours since its inception.

The O
aks

G
loucester Totals

Children's Centre 

Bartongate 

Finlay &
 Tredw

orth

Kaleidoscope Elm
bridge 

Kaleidoscope Kingsholm
 

Q
uedgeley

The Beacon 

The Com
pass

The Lighthouse 

The Link

No of 3yos taken 
from GP data @ 
31.8.17 152 176 172 164 257 186 219 207 204 105 1842
No of 4yos taken 
from GP data @ 
31.8.17 166 150 155 137 258 235 229 237 234 121 1922
            
Autumn 2017 3yos 37 26 150 55 63 47 67 66 56 28 595
% take up 24% 15% 87% 34% 25% 25% 31% 32% 27% 27% 32%
Autumn 2017 4yos 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2
% take up 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0.4% 0% 0.4% 0% 0.1%
            
Spring 2018 3 yos 41 29 137 71 64 47 76 74 50 26 615
% take up 25% 19% 88% 52% 25% 20% 33% 31% 21% 21% 32%
Spring 2018 4 yos 20 9 58 25 21 13 27 26 23 13 235
% take up 12% 6% 37% 18% 8% 6% 12% 11% 10% 11% 12%
            
Summer 2018 3 yos  42  21 131 72 78 44 63 77 40 33 601 
% take up  28%  12% 76%  44% 30% 24% 29% 37% 20% 31% 33%
Summer 2018 4 yos  29 13 96 46 39 26 44 42 43 24 400
% take up  17% 9% 61% 34% 15% 11% 19% 18% 18% 20% 21%

Page 113



40

What the data tells us 

 The data in the above table is taken from the termly headcount.  The majority 
of children using their entitlement were aged 3.  The number of 4 year olds 
has increased term by term and the 3 year olds have been stable.

 The highest percentage of families accessing the 30 hours funding in the 
Summer Term is in the Kaleidoscope Elmbridge reach area where 76% of 3 
year olds and 61% of 4 year olds took up the offer.  The lowest percentage 
being Finlay and Tredworth area showing 12% of 3 year olds and 9% of 4 
year olds taking up the offer.

Page 114



41

Take Up of the Two Year Old Entitlement 

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years Education of eligible two year olds by 
children’s centre reach area 
Data Source: Capita One Finance Extract 

The Department of Education has specified the entitlement criteria.  Free places are 
to be targeted with a primary focus on economic disadvantage with the council 
having a statutory duty to secure 570 hours of free education for each eligible child.  
This equates to 15 hours per week over 38 weeks of the year.

A child will be entitled to the hours from the term after their 2nd birthday, if both of the 
following conditions are satisfied: (1) the child has attained the age of two (2) the 
child or parent meets the eligibility criteria if you live in England and get one of the 
following benefits:

 Income Support
 Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA)
 Income-related Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)
 Universal Credit – for places starting in the summer term of 2018 (on or after 

1st April 2018), or any subsequent term, if a parent is entitled to Universal 
Credit they must have an annual net earned income equivalent to and not 
exceeding £15,400, assessed on up to three of the parent’s most recent 
Universal Credit assessment periods

 Tax Credits and a parent has an annual income of under £16,190 before tax
 The guaranteed element of State Pension Credit
 Support through part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act
 The Working Tax Credit 4-week run on (the payment you get when you stop 

qualifying for Working Tax Credit)

A child can also get free early education and childcare if any of the following apply:

 they are looked after by a local council
 they have a current statement of special educational needs (SEN) or an 

education, health and care (EHC) plan
 they get Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
 they have left care under a special guardianship order, child arrangements 

order or adoption order.

Page 115



42

Children Centre 
Reach Area

Age 2 at 
31st Aug 

2017

Number of 2 yr 
olds potentially 

eligible for funded 
place (3 terms 

from the start of 
the next term)

Current number of 
2YO children 

accessing a place 
(Headcount 

Spring Term)

Difference/ 
Shortfall

Bartongate 176 97 83 86%
Finlay & Tredworth 165 62 52 84%
Kaleidoscope 
Elmbridge 144 20 31 155%
Kaleidoscope 
Kingsholm 131 61 38 62%
Quedgeley 269 63 38 60%
The Beacon 194 53 41 77%
The Compass 208 44 13 30%
The Lighthouse 227 91 77 85%
The Link 227 94 46 49%
The Oaks 113 38 33 87%
Gloucester Totals 1854 623 452 73%

What the data tells us 

 The reach area with the lowest number of potentially eligible children is 
Kaleidoscope Elmbridge with 20 children, and the highest is Bartongate with 
97 children.

 The lowest take up of 2 year old places has been in The Compass area at 
30%, with the highest take up being in the Kaleidoscope Elmbridge area at 
155%.  The reason for the extremes in Kaleidoscope Elmbridge may be that 
there are three large nurseries which are all based on major roads making it 
easier for parents to access a 2 year old place.

 The County is maintaining an overall total take up of approximately 84%, 
however during the Spring Term 2018 the take up dropped to 74%.  The 
reasons for this have been discussed at national level and it is thought that 
this may be due to the changes in the Universal Credits.

Page 116



43

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance

..\..\Performance and Contract monitoring (TSS)\Copy of FSS Standards Matric 
for RAG rating.xlsx

Page 117

file:///C:/Users/wjgray/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Performance%20and%20Contract%20monitoring%20(TSS)/Copy%20of%20FSS%20Standards%20Matric%20for%20RAG%20rating.xlsx
file:///C:/Users/wjgray/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Performance%20and%20Contract%20monitoring%20(TSS)/Copy%20of%20FSS%20Standards%20Matric%20for%20RAG%20rating.xlsx


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2018-19

Wendy Gray, Outcome Manager

July 2018

Stroud Children & 
Family Centres 

Performance Report

Page 119



2

Children & Family Centre Locality Performance Report 2018-19

Contents

 Introduction……………………….. …………………………………………………….. 3

 Number of Families & Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre 
Services…………………………………………………………………………………… 4

o Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18………………4
o Priority Groups seen by Children & Family Centres…………………………….. 4 
o Families First Data………………………………………………………………….. 5
o Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucester City Locality 17/18……... 5
o Referrals into Children & Family Centres………………………………………… 6
o Case studies – Individual work - Study 1 & Study 2…………………………….. 7
o Supervised contacts taking place in Children & Family Centres………………. 20
o Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the Children 

& Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders……………………… 20

  Delivering ‘evidence based’ parenting programme…………………………. ……… 21

o Parenting Programme………………………………………………………….. 21
o Case studies – Group Work : Study 1 & Study 2………………………….... 22

 Family Support Service Standards……………………………………………. ……… 29

o Family Support Service Standards (locality table)………………………….. 29 

 Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres……………………………………………………………………………………. 30

o Universal Services……………………………………………………………….30
o Targeted Services based in de-designated community run Children’s 

Centres……………………………………………………………………………30 

 Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision…………………………………………… 31 

 Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 years olds…………………………………33

 Take up of the 2 year old entitlement …………………………………………………. 35

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance (hyperlink)……………………………… 37

Page 120



3

1. Introduction

Name of Locality Stroud Locality

Name of Provider Barnardo’s

Children and Family Centres in 
Locality 

Stonehouse The Park
Treetops

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

Five Ways (Cashes Green)
Nailsworth Library
Painswick
Parliament
Wotton

Since 1st April 2017, 16 children and family centres have been managed by 3 
organisations who bid to run 6 locality contracts across the county. 

Barnardo’s – Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud
Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) – Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire County Council (FF+) - Cotswolds

There is a performance report for each locality and an overall service performance 
report for the targeted family support service running from these 16 children and 
family centres. Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of children and 
family centre activity during the year 2017-2018. 

The monitoring of current children and family centre activity and impact is based on a 
variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 
 Performance and Data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems for 

collecting data 
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres
 Headcount data

In addition to the 16 children and family centres under contract for the targeted family 
support service Gloucestershire County Council has handed over 29 children centres 
that are currently in the process of being de-designated, following an EOI process 
undertaken for each of these buildings.  Each centre has been handed over as a 
community hub asset to local providers to sustain the running of universal services 
for children and families.

Page 121



4

Number of Families and Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre Services

Families accessing services at Children & Family 
Centres 17/18

TOTALS

Stonehouse 
The Park

Treetops

Number of families that have received a 
targeted family support service

113 46 159

Number of individuals that have received a 
targeted family support service

330 161 491

Priority Groups seen by Children and Family Centres TOTALS

Stonehouse 
The Park

Treetops

Teenage Parents 8 0 8
Workless Families 90 48 138

CIN 28 48 76
CP 19 29 48
CIC 14 22 36

Performance Measure: Numbers of families receiving services through Children’s 
Centre  

Data Source: Quarterly Contract Monitoring 

Page 122



5

Troubled Families Data

Total Number of 
families in Stroud

Children’ Centre 
proportion of target

Total number of families in 
Gloucester with children 0-11 
that meet Troubled Families 
Criteria

160 64

The Children’s Centre’s proportion of target was to work with 64 families for year 1 
that met the criteria. 159 families received a targeted support service. This exceeded 
the year 1 target.

Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Stroud Locality 17/18

Criteria Total Number of 
families in Stroud 

1 – Parents and children involved with 
crime or anti-social behaviour

1a 0

1b 0
1c 0
1d 1

2 – Children who have not been 
attending school regularly

2a 7

2b 1
2c 1
2d 1
2e 1
2f 2
2g 0
2h 4

3 – Children who need help 3a 73
3b 17
3c 17
3d 0
3e 4

4 – Adults out of work or at risk of 
financial exclusion or young people at 
risk of worklessness

4a 62

4b 0
4c 0
4d 7
4e 2
4f 4

5 – Families affected by domestic 
violence

5a 35

5b 11
5c 0

6 – Parents and children with a range 
of health problems

6a 2

6b 35
6c 11
6d 66

Page 123



6

Referrals into Children and Family Centres

Stonehouse 
The Park

Treetops

TOTALS

Number of cases open 77 43 120
Number of cases not engaged 8 7 15
Number of cases closed and outcomes 
achieved

21 11 32

What the data tells us 
 The Children and Family Centre exceeded its target for the number of families 

supported in year 1.
 The first year of delivery of the targeted support service has been difficult to 

record and evidence accurately due to the late implementation of the liquid 
logic IT system.

 Data was accurately collated by the suppliers own data systems so this is a 
true reflection of the Year 1 undertaken in Stroud.

 Children and family centres were also introduced at the mid point of year 1 to 
the validation and closing of cases using the outcomes spreadsheet. The data 
shown only reflects the opened and closed cases measured against this new 
criterion.

 Children & Family Centres went from delivering a 0-5 service to a 0-19 
integrated service which has meant additional staff training has been 
undertaken to meet the holistic needs of whole family working.

 The service is supporting a high number of children in need.
 The service is providing packages of support to children on child protection 

plans where the plan is for the child to stay within the family home.
 Year 2 of the contract will start to show a true reflection of the work being 

undertaken by the targeted support service and the outcomes achieved by 
families.

Page 124



7

Case studies – individual work

Study 1:

TITLE: 
ACE- aware long term direct 1 to 
1 and group work with a child

Barnardo’s theme1:
Targeted Family Support – 
Children’s Services

Author:
Emma Little – FSW
6th July 2018

Contact email:
Emma.little@barnardos.org.uk

The Approach   (suggested word count: 250)

What is the summary Aim of Project/Piece of Work:
Child’s name has been changed.
At the time of writing ‘Joe’ is ten years old and I have been working with 
him through direct 1:1 work in school since November 2016. ‘Joe’ has a My 
Plan+ and My Assessment. The local Gloucestershire school staff team 
assessed him as being approximately one to two years behind his peers in 
academic terms. His school attendance was poor. ‘Joe’ presented with 
sexualised behaviour on a number of occasions; difficulty in managing 
relationships and difficulty in progressing at school. ‘Joe’s attention span is 
short at school and at home. He displays his anxiety in not being able to 
fix on an activity. ‘Joe’ frequently disengages from a task and has resorted 
to low level disruption in class. He needed a lot of attention in school to 
focus on tasks and struggled without that attention.

My work has been to support ‘Joe’ with his feelings of loss and anxiety and 
coming to terms with the past and its impact on him. To support him to 
build relationships, engage and enjoy his school work and environment. 
‘Joe’s Father and step-Mum have received support from me with regard to 
managing ‘Joe’s behaviour and have enthusiastically engaged in the Triple 
P parenting programme.  

Context 
‘Joe’ was removed from his mother and his siblings (who had the same 
mother but different fathers resulting in the siblings being split up and 
cared for separately) in 2015 due to neglect. They had been living in 
(North England town). He was put on an emergency placement with his 
biological father in Gloucestershire; there was no transfer or support plan 
due to the status of the placement. As such GCC had no knowledge of ‘Joe’ 
and therefore no support had been offered. ‘Joe’s father had been 
contacted by ‘Joe’s school in (North England town) and was informed of 

1 SMIF themes: Advocacy and participation (Children in Care); Child bereavement; Children's Centres; Disability 
advocacy/participation; Domestic abuse; Education alternative provision; Employment; Extended services; Family contact; 
Family support; Family Group Conferencing; Housing and homelessness; Life-limiting conditions; Mental health; Nurseries; 
Parenting programmes; Play services; Rights and participation; Sexual health; Short breaks for disabled children; Substance 
misuse; Supporting employment; Teenage pregnancy; Vocational training

Page 125



8

the decision to place ‘Joe’ with him. Dad went to collect ‘Joe’; ‘Joe’ was not 
able to say goodbye to his mother or siblings or collect anything from the 
home.

‘Joe’ was very close to his siblings and would care for them e.g. he was 
able to clearly describe making a bottle of formulae milk and tending to 
them at night. Due to absence of a traceable handover it was unclear why 
‘Joe’ had been removed from his birth mother at such short notice. 

To attempt to explore the background to this decision further and gain a 
better understanding of ‘Joe’s lived experience, I supported Dad to apply 
for ‘Joe’s previous social care records. The records offered considerable 
insight into ‘Joe’s life before he came to live with his father. The social care 
information from where he previously lived revealed emotional and 
physical neglect and potential sexual abuse. There was also an adult family 
member who ‘Joe’ mentioned used to sleep in his bed with him sometimes 
– he did not allege that this adult had touched him but did describe being 
touched by a teenager – the adult family member was living in ‘Joe’s home 
with his partner and they had had their own children removed – it was 
unclear why and it did not appear to have been clarified by social care.  
‘Joe’ said he didn’t like it when the adult family member got in his bed 
because ‘all his skin came off’ in the bed (the adult had a severe skin 
condition). ‘Joe’ has been working with CYPS to explore further what may 
have happened in addition to this but he is yet to disclose any detail that 
makes it clearer. ‘Joe’ has informed me that he has viewed sexual material 
on a DVD which he said his mum knew about. 

‘Joe’ was caring for his younger siblings, changing nappies, making up 
formula feeds and ensuring that they had food. ‘Joe’ would put them to 
bed. Mum was emotionally unavailable. There was evidence of the toxic 
trio – poor maternal mental health, DV and suspected substance use. Mum 
had suffered a stroke following the birth of the youngest child, which 
further compromised her ability to meet their needs. There was significant 
neglect and poor conditions in the home.

‘Joe’ has sporadic phone contact with his mother but no contact with his 
siblings who he says he ‘misses every day’. No support was offered to ‘Joe’ 
or his father to maintain these relationships in a safe way and this has 
impacted heavily on ‘Joe’.

How does the project address the Core Purpose to improve 
outcomes for children and families?

Troubled Families Outcomes
3a & 6b - ‘Joe’ is a child who has been identified as needing help and with 
some mental health problems e.g. anxiety

Page 126



9

Barnardo’s Outcomes
Satisfactory progress in learning/development goals
Positive/improved family relationships
Improved mental health & wellbeing
Increased confidence

How was the work undertaken in practice?

My Plan + and Assessment. 

Identified needs for the child – work around friendships, emotional 
understanding and empathy, his feelings of loss and anxiety, improved 
concentration, his ability to control and manage his behaviours. ‘Joe’ was 
referred to CYPS and has been going to 121 sessions since December 
2017. 
Work in practice – 1:1 work in school every two weeks with ‘Joe’ exploring 
his relationships; ways in which he can self-manage his behaviours; 
exploring ‘Joe’s mental health and his displays of sexualized behaviours. 
The support has been to build ‘Joe’s social and emotional understanding 
and well- being through creative techniques such as Kinetic Family 
Drawing. 

An Educational Psychologist has been involved, completing an assessment 
with ‘Joe’. Training was given to me and school staff by the Educational 
Psychologist to deliver a Circle of Friends intervention (March 2017) to 
‘Joe’ and his classmates.  

Identified needs for the Parents - support with parenting, behaviour 
management, reducing isolation and improved resource management. 
‘Joe’s parents also attended sessions with the CYPS practitioner to help 
with their understanding of ‘Joe’ and how best to support him.

How did you personalise your approach for this family or group?
‘Joe’ has educated me in how to lead the sessions and they have been very 
child-led. 
‘Joe’s very short attention span has led me to carefully plan short activities 
which will hold his attention and stimulate his enjoyment. 
‘Joe’ is more open when he is busy with his hands, Lego, clay, paint and 
glue have been popular. During these activities he is more able to talk, 
share his experiences and emotions.
‘Joe’ does not enjoy writing so when there is a written activity to complete, 
I often write for him. He tells me what to write and what colour to use – I 
am careful to write things down exactly as he says them.
When I attempted the Kinetic Drawing activity with him, which involves 
asking the child to draw a picture of everyone in their family doing 
something, ‘Joe’ was unable to finish this. I had expressed a concern to 

Page 127



10

the Educational Psychologist that he would struggle with this task. I had 
spent several weeks introducing drawing into our sessions using various 
mediums and on paper, whiteboards, blackboards etc as well as paper to 
prepare him. In spite of this, he managed only to draw the family dog 
which I said was absolutely fine. I adapted the session asking him instead 
what he would have drawn his family doing if he had felt like drawing 
today and wrote this down his words.
We do something different at each session and I often ask ‘Joe’ what he 
would like to do next time as experience has shown that he is more likely 
to engage if he has chosen the activity himself.
What were/are the main challenges?

Supporting ‘Joe’ to process his family losses and in particular losing touch 
with his sisters. I created the space for him to talk and supported him to 
feel safe and secure in his new situation and overcome challenges in 
friendships and at school. 

In practice  (suggested word count: 200)

Actual impact of the work/project?

 ‘Joe’ is stable and happy at home with his Dad and stepmother
 ‘Joe’ is now receiving the additional support he requires from CYPS
 ‘Joe’ is significantly less behind with his expected targets at school
 ‘Joe’ is able to manage his behaviour better and not distract others
 ‘Joe’ is able to talk about his past experiences and try to make sense 

of his losses
 ‘Joe’ has recently managed extremely well on a school residential trip 

which the head teacher felt he would not have coped with at all a 
year ago

 ‘Joe’s behaviour is calmer and he is more focused
 ‘Joe’s classmates have a better understanding of things that he finds 

hard and are able to support him and include him
 ‘Joe’ has a real friend for the first time
 ‘Joe’ has not displayed any inappropriate sexualised behaviours for 

some time. CYPS are working with him to establish if there may have 
been any previously undisclosed sexual abuse 

 ‘Joe’ has enjoyed the support of a team of people at school and 
myself 

 Dad and stepmother have grown in confidence as parents
 ‘Joe’s Dad and stepmother have completed Triple P

Page 128



11

What methodology – approach, evidence based theories, models 
and programmes and did you use?

Circle of Friends 
My Journey
Restorative practice
Kinetic Family Drawing
Triple P

What did you do differently to support the family with any Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs)? I.e. physical/sexual/emotional 
abuse, neglect, DA, substance misuse, Mental Health issues, 
parental separation or divorce, parental imprisonment

I accommodated the family in a family focused way, whole family working. 
In accessing the social care files from another county the parents and I 
were able to understand the background to ‘Joe’s story. It helped us to 
adapt our approaches to him in order that he could flourish and develop. 
Working through the My Plan+ with a solid team around the child provided 
the family with a holistic approach.

I adapted my work to meet ‘Joe’s needs as above, enabling him to lead the 
way.

In 1 to 1 TFS work, describe how you used whole family working 
supporting the family journey towards change

See above

Describe and give examples of partnership working in this 
case/project and how it has impacted on family outcomes. 

Partnerships with school
Educational Psychologist
Parents

A strong team around the family has improved confidence in parents and 
self-esteem and resilience for the child
In 1 to 1 TFS work, briefly outline the family’s journey

‘Joe’ and his new family were thrust into a situation that was unexplained 
and therefore not clear. Contact between Dad and ‘Joe’ had been minimal 
prior to him coming to live in Gloucestershire. Gradually a picture of ‘Joe’ 
emerged largely through his revealing conversations with me. The outlines 
of these conversations formed part of the strong My Plan+. Through the 

Page 129



12

My Plan+ each partner, including ‘Joe’, were able to work at the 
integration of emotion and behaviours changing the way in which ‘Joe’ was 
presenting and improving his potential. 

What were the outcomes of the project?

Please see above.

Feedback from the children involved in the Circle of Friends group:
o ‘some people struggle and some people don’t- we’ve been helping 

people who struggle to make friends’
o ‘since we did the big class session, people don’t wind each other up 

so much- people are more aware of each other’s feelings’
o ‘we’ve learnt new ways to help each other to calm down if we’re 

feeling upset or angry’
o ‘it’s helped us to think of ways to calm down on our own too’
o ‘I feel more able to go over to someone now if they are having an 

argument or if they don’t look happy and ask if they are ok and if 
they want to come and be with me and my friends instead’

o ‘it’s been good making new friends and working together’
o ‘it’s been good seeing how things have changed for our classmate 

since we started doing this’
o ‘I’m really pleased I was chosen – I know we came here to help our 

classmate but it feels like it’s helped me to have better friendships 
too’

Feedback from the school regarding the above circle of friends work:
o ‘Following the intervention, ‘Joe’ is feeling better supported and more 

included by classmates.’

Ongoing support to be reviewed following CYPS and therapeutic work that 
has been completed 
To complete My Journey with ‘Joe’ to establish outstanding support needs 
with a view to his transition to secondary school in September 2019

The Learning – (suggested word count: 150)

What new processes have been developed?

Improved quality of 1:1 work with children and the child’s voice
Training in Circle of Friends
Training in Kinetic Family Drawing

Page 130



13

Good working partnerships with school and parents

How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?

Recording
Evaluations with the child
Photos
Work sheets

Conclusions:

Ensuring that the child is at the forefront of our work is absolutely vital. I 
found that ‘Joe’ ‘taught’ me what I needed to know in order to help and 
support him. All adults involved in this family case were listening to the 
child. We responded to this in a proactive way. It was essential to adapt 
the approach to the individual child.

Next Steps – (suggested word count: 150)
 
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further?

Sharing the Circle of Friends training with colleagues and sharing this case 
study.
I will take this very valuable experience with me into other families.

Can you summarise how this piece of work may assist other 
Barnardo’s Children and Family Centres/services:

Meaningful capture of the child’s voice, which I used to shape the service I 
provided.

Further Contact Details 

Page 131



14

Is there a web link to this project/work?

Contact details for further information:

Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (eg Department for Education; Ofsted; 
LGA Knowledge Hub; National College Centre Leader Network; future 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)?

Study 2:

Title: Volunteering to support study

Volunteer Role: Pathfinder work 
with family

Barnardo’s theme2: Family 
Support, Supporting Employment

Author: Anne Anderson Contact email: 
anne.anderson@barnardos.org.uk

Volunteer Background

The volunteer enquired about our Targeted Family Support (TFS) volunteer 
roles in September 2017 when she had seen the Pathfinder role advertised 
on the Barnardo’s website. She was about to embark on a Post Graduate 
course in Child, Adolescent and Family Mental Wellbeing. As part of this 
course she needed to find a placement with an appropriate organisation 
where she could work alongside a family and use the work she was 
carrying out with them as the basis for her anonymised case study for her 
assignments.

The Volunteer was already a qualified Children’s Community Learning 
Disability Nurse. She had a wealth of prior training including Parents Plus, 
The Incredible Years and Triple P Stepping Stone (for families with children 

2 SMIF themes: Advocacy and participation (Children in Care); Child bereavement; Children's Centres; Disability 
advocacy/participation; Domestic abuse; Education alternative provision; Employment; Extended services; Family contact; 
Family support; Family Group Conferencing; Housing and homelessness; Life-limiting conditions; Mental health; Nurseries; 
Parenting programmes; Play services; Rights and participation; Sexual health; Short breaks for disabled children; Substance 
misuse; Supporting employment; Teenage pregnancy; Vocational training

Page 132

http://www.barnardos.org.uk/get_involved/volunteering/volunteering-search.htm
http://www.incredibleyears.com/
https://www.triplep-parenting.uk.net/uk-en/get-started/triple-p-courses-for-parents-of-children-birth-12-years/stepping-stones/


15

with a developmental disability). Other experience she had included being 
a health and social care specialist, working on a health community project 
and carrying out autism assessments.

The Volunteer clearly had a good grasp of the sort of work we carry out 
and the need for confidentiality, effective recording, safeguarding, good 
practice etc. and met the criteria for a Volunteer Pathfinder.

In practice  

The Volunteer officially started as a Volunteer Pathfinder in November 
2017. Prior to this she was subject to the Barnardo’s recruitment process 
which included completing an application form, having two successful 
references, undergoing a DBS check and taking part in Barnardo’s 
Volunteer Induction Training.

The Volunteer was allocated a family who were already being supported by 
one of our Family Support Workers (FSWs). This FSW became the 
Volunteer’s Mentor. The Mentor discussed with the Volunteer the piece of 
work she wanted her to carry out. It was agreed that the Volunteer would 
visit the family on a 1:1 basis once a week and would give support with 
Child A’s homework, encouraging her to get into the habit of completing it 
straight after school, and also helping to encourage healthy eating for the 
whole family.

The Volunteer has been visiting the family for 6 months. After three 
months, this was reviewed. It was agreed further support was still required 
and that this would also allow the Volunteer to finish her studies using the 
same family in her assignments.

Parents have also undertaken Triple P with our service. The Social Worker 
wanted them to undertake the Triple P programme as it was urgent for 
them to undertake a parenting programme and the course was due to run 
shortly after. However, the Solihull would be better for parents with 
Learning Disabilities so this was fed back by the FSW and will again be 
suggested as the next step.

In 1 to 1 TFS work, briefly outline the family’s journey

The Family consists of Mum, Dad, Child A (aged 8 years) and Child B (aged 
2 years). The family live together. Both children subject to a Child 
Protection plan due to neglect, home environment and personal hygiene. 
There were also repeated visits to A+E for the youngest child due to lack 
of supervision. Mum and Dad both have learning difficulties. A Parenting 
Assessment has indicated that they have capacity to parent. However, it 

Page 133



16

appears that they put strategies into place but they are unable to sustain 
using them in an appropriate way e.g. they used a marble jar but, rather 
than focusing on rewarding positive behaviour, they took marbles away for 
unwanted behaviour.

Social Care requested morning routines work as the oldest child wasn’t 
arriving at school on time and was also frequently absent when the 
parents felt it was too late for the child to attend. Social Care also asked 
for support for the family with keeping the house clean.

Prior to volunteer involvement, the FSW was making regular home visits to 
the family from 7.30-8.30am, working on the morning routines and 
cleaning routines. 

At a review Child Protection Conference, concerns were raised by the 
school that Child A wasn’t doing any homework. The School requested 
support from the FSW in this area. At this point the FSW approached the 
VC to ask if there was a volunteer available to support with this. 

Potential/actual impact of the work/project?

Child A does not like doing homework but is getting better at the routine of 
doing this after school with better consistency.

The Volunteer is working with the child on identifying different emotions 
during her visits to support her emotional literacy.

The effects of the Volunteer Pathfinder’s visit and Child A doing her 
homework are rubbing off on child B as well, who will bring pen and paper 
to the Volunteer, wanting to join in. This is a great basis for him starting 
school and completing homework himself in a few years’ time.

The Volunteer’s visits have emphasised the positives of doing the 
homework, eg by following it up with a game.

The Volunteer is role-modelling to the parents. The role modelling 
alongside the attendance of the Triple P parenting programme has helped 
the parents to transfer the learning into practice. The parents are fairly 
isolated and have no experience of being with other parents, so have not 
been able to see parenting as a joyful role, rather a task to e undertaken. 
However they have been able to observe the fun role-modelled by the FSW 
and Pathfinder. Dad recently joined in with a game of hide and seek and 
play other games with their children. They have appeared to enjoy this.

Child A had shown occasional inappropriate behaviour; as a strategy to 
avoid doing her homework, child A flashed her underwear to the volunteer 

Page 134



17

on a number of occasions. The volunteer set a boundary, telling her to 
stop or she would leave, which the child complied with. The Pathfinder also 
told the parent and the FSW who informed the Social Worker. The SW has 
undertaken stay safe work with the child and parents. However during the 
latter months of visit the Volunteer reported that although she could tell 
the child had thought about using this behaviour, she had self- corrected, 
stopping herself from doing so.

Quote from FSW: “Child A is benefitting from the routine of settling down 
to do her homework, before being offered play as a reward.  The Volunteer 
is role modelling this to parents in a calm and supportive way.  From my 
point of view, I have a 2nd pair of eyes observing the family, which always 
gives a clearer picture.  Also, it enables me to focus on the parenting skills, 
knowing the child is being supported by the Volunteer.”

The children are now going to school on time. The home environment has 
improved alongside parenting. There are better relationships between the 
children and their parents. Child A is getting the same hours of education 
as her peers.

How has the Volunteer been able to improve their own skills and 
knowledge?

The Volunteer was assigned a Mentor (the FSW also working with the 
family) and the Mentor has been on hand week by week to hold case 
discussions with the Volunteer and offer support and advice regarding the 
work she is carrying out. If training needs have been identified by the 
Mentor, these have been passed on to the VC.

The Volunteer has had regular supervisions with the VC where her training 
needs are discussed and learning and development activities such as 
shadowing have been arranged where appropriate.

The volunteer has been very keen to take part in any training we were 
able to offer and to date she has completed the following:

 Barnardo’s Induction Training Day (including basics in Barnardo’s 
History, Safeguarding, Data Protection, Professional Boundaries, 
Health & Safety & Equality, Diversity & Inclusion)

 Safeguarding Core 1 Training
 Listening to Children

The Volunteer Pathfinder has fed back:
‘This is a great training placement for working with families and children 
and has provided me with everything I have needed for post graduate 
study.
It is a good opportunity to gain insight into a different field of work and 

Page 135



18

provide experience for looking for work in this area and to enhance 
knowledge.
I have found it really interesting looking at how different practitioners work 
with their caseload and the wide variety of work they offer has also 
provided me with on the ground knowledge of inter-agency working.’

What was the feedback from the family at the end of the work?
Please provide positive and constructive feedback from the 
child(ren) and the parent(s).

The child always tells FSW when the Volunteer has visited in a positive and 
happy way. 

Mum has stated:
‘I find myself using some strategies that I have watched the Volunteer 
using.’

The Learning

The Pathfinder role complements the work of the FSW and enables a more 
intense intervention. The Pathfinder role can also be used to sustain 
positive outcomes once the FSW work has ended.

As a result of The Volunteer getting in touch with us about Volunteering 
and the positive experience she has had with us during her college 
placement we have taken steps to reach out to educational facilities in the 
area to try and recruit other volunteers in a similar situation. We have 
adverts on the websites of the local universities and have plans to attend 
the Freshers’ Fayre at the University of Gloucestershire at the start of the 
new academic year.

Next Steps

Even though her college placement has come to an end, we are delighted 
that the Volunteer has decided to continue her volunteering role with us 
and continue the positive work she has been doing.

She is now actively seeking work and, as the VC, I keep her informed of 
any vacancies available within the Forest & Stroud or Gloucester City 
teams that might be suitable for her to aid her in furthering her career.

Whilst a paid role is not a foregone conclusion when someone joins us as a 
volunteer, if she were successfully recruited to our staff team this would 

Page 136



19

bring an additional bonus to the organisation as she will already have 
carried out much of the initial training we give new starters, allowing her 
to get into the actual work far quicker than an external candidate.

Further Contact Details 

Is there a web link to this project/work?

Barnardo’s Website Volunteer Opportunities - 
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/get_involved/volunteering/volunteering-
search.htm 

Triple P Stepping Stones - https://www.triplep-parenting.uk.net/uk-
en/get-started/triple-p-courses-for-parents-of-children-birth-12-
years/stepping-stones/

The Incredible Years - http://www.incredibleyears.com/ 

Parents Plus - 

Contact details for further information:

Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (eg Department for Education; Ofsted; 
LGA Knowledge Hub; National College Centre Leader Network; future 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)?

No objection.

Supervised Contacts taking place in Children and 
Family Centres

TOTALS

Page 137

http://www.barnardos.org.uk/get_involved/volunteering/volunteering-search.htm
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/get_involved/volunteering/volunteering-search.htm
https://www.triplep-parenting.uk.net/uk-en/get-started/triple-p-courses-for-parents-of-children-birth-12-years/stepping-stones/
https://www.triplep-parenting.uk.net/uk-en/get-started/triple-p-courses-for-parents-of-children-birth-12-years/stepping-stones/
https://www.triplep-parenting.uk.net/uk-en/get-started/triple-p-courses-for-parents-of-children-birth-12-years/stepping-stones/
http://www.incredibleyears.com/


20

Stonehouse 
The Park

Treetops

Number of Contacts booked 5 52 57
Number of hours booked 10 98 108

Number of families attending 2 7 9

Families accessing Universal Family Support Services 
based in the Children & Family Centres provided by 
partners and stakeholders

TOTALS

Stonehouse 
The Park

Treetops

Number of Adults attending 78 475 553

Number of Children attending 24 312 336

Services accessed were:

Adult Education; GDASS; Greensquare; Health Visitors and Midwives; Parent Run 
Groups; Safeguarding; Social Care; Supervised contact; Early Start; Immunisation; 
SALT; Stay & Play, Stroud Credit Union. Family Time; Baby weigh-in and massage; 
Childminders and nannies; Early start group; Baby Bounce and Rhyme; Storytime; 
Craft events; Fun Day Friday; As One Theatre visit; Early Education sessions; Easter 
egg hunt and word search; Monster book keepers; Summer Reading Challenge;

What the data tells us

 Stroud Children and Family Centres have less space available than other 
Children and Family Centres across the County therefore less services are 
physically able to run from the buildings.

 A community offer of services is building to ensure families are able to access 
services near to where they live.

 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 
supervised contacts

 In addition to the targeted family support service the centres are facilitating 
additional targeted and universal services to support children and families

 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by 
local families

Page 138



21

Delivering ‘evidenced based’ parenting programme

Performance Measure
1. How many adults/ families have started a  programme 
2. How many have completed the programme?
3. What evaluation tool/process have you used to measure outcomes?
4. Percentage of participants on the programme whose progress has been 

evaluated. 

Data Source: Self reported by Children Centre provider Barnardo’s

Stonehouse The Park Treetops

Parenting Programme Triple P Freedom Triple P
No of parent starting 36 8 11

No of parents completing 28 6 10

No of evaluations completed 30 4 9

No of parents identifying positive change 22 6 9

 What the data tells us 
 A good range of partners are engaged – the Partnership Manager will build on 

and improve this.
 Programmes are evaluated using a range of methodologies 
 A programme of support for families to improve parenting is well embedded

Page 139



22

Case studies – group work

Study 1:

TITLE: 

Triple P 1:1- whole family 
working

Barnardo’s theme3:
Children and Family Centres

Author:
Sue Smith

Contact email:
Susan.smith2@barnardos.org.uk

The Approach   (suggested word count: 250)

What is the summary Aim of Project/Piece of Work:
Context : Family consisted of two older children from Father 1 and a 
younger child  from Father 2. Following the separation of mother from 
Father 1, the oldest child chose to live with Father 1.  Middle child stayed 
with mother.  Mother subsequently separated from Father 2 due to 
domestic abuse.

Request from EHH for Triple P 1:1 for Mother and both of the Fathers.  
Following discussion with a pre-school nursery manager, the Lead 
Professional, it was decided that Mother and Father 1 could do 1:1 
together. Father 2 (to the youngest child) was to be offered group Triple P 
separately to the other parents.

When I started working with this family, the oldest child had just moved 
back with Mother and was finding the different routines and structure 
difficult to manage.  Living with her Dad, Father 1, it appeared she had an 
equal relationship in terms of boundaries and routines, rather than that of 
a parent and child.  When she moved back with her Mother, she wanted to 
make decisions, would comment on other’s parenting and was struggling 
with anxiety and anger management.

Mother had a good relationship with Father 1, who shared caring for his 
children.  Mother was not having any contact with Father 2, and he was 
not seeing his child due to the previous DA.

3 SMIF themes: Advocacy and participation (Children in Care); Child bereavement; Children's Centres; Disability 
advocacy/participation; Domestic abuse; Education alternative provision; Employment; Extended services; Family contact; 
Family support; Family Group Conferencing; Housing and homelessness; Life-limiting conditions; Mental health; Nurseries; 
Parenting programmes; Play services; Rights and participation; Sexual health; Short breaks for disabled children; Substance 
misuse; Supporting employment; Teenage pregnancy; Vocational training

Page 140



23

How does the project address the Core Purpose to improve 
outcomes for children and families?
Triple P links to 1.2.24 Improved parenting.  The aim was for all parents to 
be consistent in their parenting using a positive approach. The aim was 
also to reduce the older daughter’s  anxiety and support her to not take on 
a parenting/care role.

How was the work undertaken in practice?
I visited Mother and Father 1 within the home.  All subsequent parenting 
programme visits were in the home.   However, Father 1 was not able to 
be present due to job commitments, then illness.  

8 x 1 hour visits.

How did you personalise your approach for this family or group?

Each Triple P 1:1 is slightly different as I take into account the needs and 
parenting skills of the family.  Mother had scored highly on the parenting 
scale, but was still willing to undertake the course as she wanted both 
Fathers to see it as beneficial for their children.

I offered to visit Father 1 within his home, but by this time he was 
suffering with low mood and requested that Triple P be put on hold.  
Father 1 is currently on the Triple P 1:1 waiting list for when he feels well 
enough to be able to take part.

What were/are the main challenges?
The bulk of the work was carried out over the Summer Holidays, when the 
children were home.  This was a positive in that I could see Mother putting 
parenting strategies into use, meet the children and observe parent-child 
interactions, but also made it difficult to talk openly with Mother about the 
children.  The oldest child was struggling with anxiety and had been living 
with her Dad until recently.  She tended to take on an adult role, worrying 
about her brothers. It was therefore important for her to feel that we were 
not worried about them as well; this included not being party to adult 
conversations about parenting.

Engaging both Dads.  Father 1 was very keen to begin with, but then 
became employed, which was a positive outcome, but this meant he could 
not fit in with the sessions organised with the Mother. I offered different 
times for Father 1, but by this stage he was off work on sick leave with low 
mood and felt that home visits would be too stressful.

Father 2 was given dates and times of local Triple P courses.  He contacted 
the facilitator, but, again due to work commitments, could not initially 
make the dates offered.  However, he signed up for a course starting in 

Page 141



24

January and eventually completed this course March 2018.

In practice  (suggested word count: 200)

Potential/actual impact of the work/project?

The potential impact was for consistent positive parenting for the children 
regardless of which household they were staying in.

Actual impact was Mother completing the Triple P course, but one Father 
completing it later and the other Father not completing it.  During the 
evaluation Mother stated she had more confidence in the way she was 
parenting and found it useful to have input from a Family Support Worker.  
Father 2, subsequently completed group Triple P, and gained a knowledge 
of the strategies used to give consistent and confident parenting, when co-
parenting with Mother.

Mother felt that the oldest daughter was less anxious due to stronger 
routines at home. The oldest daughter had improved on her emotional and 
peer scores in the Strengths and Difficulties questionnaire. She was less 
anxious and took less of a parenting role. See below for more information.

The end of course questionnaires showed that Mother had scored better in 
the parenting scale and her depression anxiety stress scores had 
improved.

What methodology – approach, evidence based theories, models 
and programmes and did you use?

Triple P parenting programme 1:1 and in group.
Solution-focused approach
Knowledge of Freedom Programme

What did you do differently to support the family with any Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs)? I.e. physical/sexual/emotional 
abuse, neglect, DA, substance misuse, Mental Health issues, 
parental separation or divorce, parental imprisonment 

The children had suffered a parental separation and Mother suffered from 
poor mental health and had been the victim of domestic abuse from Father 

Page 142



25

2.  As part of the Triple P 1:1 work we completed a Depression, Anxiety, 
Stress questionnaire, in which mum scored highly for all three at the 
beginning of the course.  The end of course evaluation showed that she 
was still suffering with depression, but her anxiety and stress scores had 
improved.

I acknowledged the parental separation with both Mum and Father 1, but 
they had a good relationship and communicated well.  Father 2 had been 
referred for anger management and mental health support (not by 
myself). The parental separation needs were included in the My Plan for 
the oldest child, held by School.

In 1 to 1 TFS work, describe how you used whole family working 
supporting the family journey towards change

During the parenting programme I work specifically with the adults.  
However, the children are included in the questionnaires and were 
observed with the parent(s) as part of the course. 

When I first observed the oldest child she was disrespectful to Mum, 
answering her back and arguing about any decisions made that she did not 
agree with. At the end of the course, the family had discussed household 
rules and routines and these were observed to be written down and 
displayed on the walls of the living room. Observing the oldest child, she 
appeared more relaxed, playing, laughing and not concerning herself with 
the adults in the room. She had also lost the negative attitudes previously 
observed towards her mother.

I was able to observe the children with Mum and Father 1, which gave me 
an insight into the family dynamics.  Father 1 does not live with the family, 
but was there for a couple of the sessions.   Neither father is presently 
living with the family.

What were the outcomes of the project?

The children feel safe and secure with consistent and positive parenting.
2 of the parents have complete the Triple P Parenting Programme. At the 
end of the course, mother felt she had benefitted from the praise received 
about her parenting skills.  The oldest child told me that mum was ‘not 
shouty anymore’, indicating that Mum’s parenting had changed and she 
was calmer. The oldest child became less worried and appeared happier. 
The parents reported that the oldest child was no longer attempting to 
parent, leaving this to her mum and she was more respectful towards 
them.

Mother felt more confident in her parenting ability, which I observed.  This 
confidence and positivity affected how the children reacted to her.  

Page 143



26

‘Knowing that their mum was going to be consistent and strong, stopped 
them whinging until they got what they wanted’ (Mum’s words).  

Mum felt disappointed that Father 1 had not completed the programme 
with her, as her aim was to have consistent shared parenting across both 
families. However, the outcomes have still improved for the children and 
he has the opportunity to complete the programme when he is ready.

In 1 to 1 TFS work, briefly outline the family’s journey
When I started working with the family, the oldest daughter (8) had 
recently moved back with her mother, having lived with her father since 
the separation.  The oldest daughter was struggling with these changes.  It 
became evident that Father 1 had treated the oldest daughter more as an 
adult, than a child and this daughter showed tendencies of worrying about 
‘adult’ things and trying to intervene when Mother was parenting the two 
younger children.
With Mother growing in confidence and the oldest daughter getting used to 
her new home, things have settled down.  The oldest daughter is less 
anxious and acting more child-like. 
At a TAF review, both parents and school were able to say that the oldest 
child was more relaxed at home and at school, and appeared to be 
enjoying life, not talking about her worries. Parents reported that the 
oldest child is no longer attempting to parent, leaving this to her mum.  As 
I never observed the children alone with Dad, I could not say whether this 
was also true with Dad.  I observed that oldest child was not speaking to 
Mum in a disrespectful way.

The Learning – (suggested word count: 150)

What new processes have been developed?
For the parents:
Positive parenting strategies:

 Play, talk, and show affection
 Praise, attention, and interest
 Role modelling

Dealing with challenging behaviour:
 Behaviour charts
 Clear ground rules
 Planned ignoring
 Clear calm instructions
 Logical consequences
 Quiet time and time out

For me: To be patient as parents can take part in parenting programmes 
can be arranged that fit with their work schedules. It is important for us to 
deliver parenting groups at times that suit parents, especially those who 

Page 144



27

work.

How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?

At the start of the programme, Mother completed 3 questionnaires.  These 
were completed at the end of the programme, showing the progress made.

At the start of the programme, I completed a Barnardo’s assessment tool, 
which was completed at the end, which again showed the progress made 
in parenting and mental health.

Conclusions:

Even though I did not manage to engage both Fathers, which was the 
original request, Mother completed the Parenting Programme and grew in 
confidence over the 8 weeks. Father 2 completed the course in January. 
Father 1 did not take up the opportunity to complete Triple P.

Mother presented as a capable parent at the beginning of the programme, 
but stated that she felt more confident and had benefitted from discussing 
strategies with a Family Support Worker. She said it was good to know 
that she was getting it right some of the time, and was keen to learn and 
build on the strategies she was already using.

The children benefited from this confidence, having a family discussion 
around routines and putting boundaries in place.  

Next Steps – (suggested word count: 150)
 
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further?

With the completion of the programme, the case is now closed. 

In discussion with Mother I have put in a referral to Home Start, as Mother 
had enjoyed having someone to talk things over with. Mother also felt that 
a volunteer could help her get out and about during school holidays, when 
she finds 3 children a handful. This should help Mum to sustain the 
changes.

Page 145



28

Can you summarise how this piece of work may assist other 
Barnardo’s Children’s Centres:

It is beneficial to have a range of parenting programmes on offer as one 
size does not fit all.

At present we can offer Triple P for the older age range and Solihull or Five 
to thrive for the 0-5’s. We can also signpost to the Triple P Teen 
programme, and Incredible Years (for parents with children with additional 
needs)
Further Contact Details 

Is there a web link to this project/work?

www.triplep.net

Contact details for further information:

Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (eg Department for Education; Ofsted; 
LGA Knowledge Hub; National College Centre Leader Network; future 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)?

No

Page 146



29

Family Support Standards

Family Support Service Standards

Service Standard

Service Standard 5

Service Standard 6

Service Standard 3

Service Standard 4

Service Standard 1

Service Standard 2

Service Standard 11

Service Standard 12

Service Standard 9

Service Standard 10

Service Standard 7

Service Standard 8

4

Q4

4
3

Service Average 3.5 3.7

Standard Score

4
4

4
4

4
4

Service Standard 13

Service Standard 14

3
3

4
3

4

3

Q1

Standard Score

4
4
4
3
4
4
4
3
4
3
3
3
3

 The family support standards guidance attached as Appendix 1 is used as 
part of contract monitoring to monitor the progress of the service. An action 
plan is submitted annually to improve standards and is monitored quarterly

 The data shows a baseline assessment figure and end of Year 1 
improvements

 Overall the service has maintained family support standards and has 
improved in some areas

 The Stroud locality is performing well and improving

Page 147



30

Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres

Universal Services

Five W
ays

N
ailsw

orth 
Library

Painsw
ick

Parliam
ent

W
otton

Library

TOTALS

Number of children accessing universal 
services

189 574 37 8 789 1,597

Number of families accessing universal 
services

160 0 0 0 0 160

Targeted Services based in de-
designated community run 
Children’s Centres

Five W
ays

N
ailsw

orth 
Library

Painsw
ick

Parliam
ent

W
otton

Library

TOTALS

Number of children accessing targeted 
services

6 0 0 16 0 22

Number of families accessing targeted 
services

8 0 0 0 0 8

The range of other services offered from the centres are:

Allsorts; Adoption Toddler Group; Counselling; HENRY; Freedom; Triple P; Solihull; 
5 to Thrive; kinship support group; GDASS; family therapy; children’s occupational 
therapy, teens in crisis; core groups;

What the data tells us 

 The numbers shown by the children’s centre library services are particularly 
high as they do not collect information on specific services accessed by 
families with children 0-11 years old.

 The Wotton Children’s Centre was based within the Health Centre in Wotton 
but due to the closure of the building by the Health Service the Children’s 
Centre was moved to the library.

Performance Measure: Data collected from Universal Children’s Centres

Page 148



31

Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision

In April 2017, the local authority commissioned the charity organisation Barnardo’s to 
run the group of Children and Families Centres known as the Stroud Locality 
Children & Family centres on its behalf, offering targeted provision. 

The remaining children’s centres are being developed as hubs for education and 
childcare, universal services and are delivered by private, voluntary and community 
groups as follows:

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Five Way Cashes Green Primary School
Nailsworth Nailsworth Library Service
Painswick Painswick Playgroup
Parliament Severn View Primary Academy
Wotton Library Service

Attached to a number of these centres are on site Early Years provision.  These are:

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational 
Hours

Ofsted

Painswick Painswick 
Playgroup

24 Mon to Thurs  
9.00-3.30 & Fri 
9.00-3.00
Term Time Only   
(40 weeks)

Outstanding –
2nd July 2015

Parliament Severn View 
Primary 
Academy

Severn 
View 16 – 
Parliament 
20

Mon to Fri 8.45-
3.15
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

*Good –
25th January 2018

Stonehouse 
The Park

Stonehouse 
The Park 
Primary

66 Mon to Fri 8.45-
12.00 & 12.00-3.30 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

*Good -
3rd October 2017

Treetops Dursley 
Primary 
Academy

90 Mon to Fri 7.30am-
6.00pm All year 
round (51 weeks)

*No Inspection to 
date

*Please note that the nurseries marked with an asterisk will now be inspected as part of the schools 
inspection.

What the data tells us 

Performance Measure: Ofsted Inspection Framework for nurseries on Children’s Centre sites

Page 149



32

 There has been a no reduction in the grading’s for nurseries inspected 
following the transfer of these nurseries from children’s centres to new 
providers. 

 Treetops is still awaiting their inspection. The Local Authority is providing 
support to the setting in preparation for the Ofsted visit.

Page 150



33

Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 year olds

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years 30 hours entitlement by three and four year 
olds by children’s centre reach area

The Government has made childcare more affordable for working parents by 
increasing the early education and childcare offer from 15 to up to 30 hours per week 
and for 38 weeks of the year (or all the year round equivalent) for some 3 and 4 year 
old children.

Since September 2017 families with a 3 or 4 year old who meet certain criteria can 
receive up to an additional 15 hours of early education and childcare per week which 
is in addition to the current entitlement of 15 hours per week, which all 3 and 4 year 
olds are entitled to when they reach the qualifying age.

The following table represents a full Academic Year showing the number of children 
in receipt of 30 hours since its inception.

Children's Centre 
Five W

ays

N
ailsw

orth

Painsw
ick

Parliam
ent

The Park

Treetops

W
otton

 

Stroud Totals

No of 3yos @ 
31.8.17 115 100 105 181 209 268 72  1050
No of 4yos @ 
31.8.17 131 145 143 184 184 255 102  1144
          
Autumn 2017 3yos 33 40 36 69 63 86 10  337
% take up 29% 40% 34% 38% 30% 32% 14%  32%
Autumn 2017 4yos 0 1 1 1 1 2 0  6
% take up 0% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 0.0%  1.0%
          
Spring 2018 3 yos 30 38 32 76 54 90 10  330
% take up 26% 38% 30% 42% 26% 34% 14%  31%
Spring 2018 4 yos 19 20 14 23 35 37 8  156
% take up 15% 14% 10% 13% 19% 15% 8%  14%
          
Summer 2018 3 yos 28 38 26 77 46 104 9  328
% take up 24% 38% 25% 43% 22% 39% 13%  31%
Summer 2018 4 yos 23 27 22 50 48 41 14  225
% take up 18% 19% 15% 27% 26% 16% 14%  20%

Page 151



34

What the data tells us 

The data in the above table is taken from the termly headcount.  The majority of 
children using their entitlement were aged 3.  The number of 4 year olds has 
increased term by term and the 3 year olds have been stable.

The highest percentage of families accessing the 30 hours funding in the Summer 
Term is in the Parliament reach area where 43% of 3 year olds and 27% of 4 year 
olds took up the offer.  The lowest percentage being Wotton area showing 13% of 3 
year olds and 14% of 4 year olds taking up the offer.

Page 152



35

Take Up of the Two Year Old Entitlement 

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years Education of eligible two year olds by 
children’s centre reach area 
Data Source: Capita One Finance Extract 

The Department of Education has specified the entitlement criteria.  Free places are 
to be targeted with a primary focus on economic disadvantage with the council 
having a statutory duty to secure 570 hours of free education for each eligible child.  
This equates to 15 hours per week over 38 weeks of the year.

A child will be entitled to the hours from the term after their 2nd birthday, if both of the 
following conditions are satisfied: (1) the child has attained the age of two (2) the 
child or parent meets the eligibility criteria if you live in England and get one of the 
following benefits:

 Income Support
 Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA)
 Income-related Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)
 Universal Credit – for places starting in the summer term of 2018 (on or after 

1st April 2018), or any subsequent term, if a parent is entitled to Universal 
Credit they must have an annual net earned income equivalent to and not 
exceeding £15,400, assessed on up to three of the parent’s most recent 
Universal Credit assessment periods

 Tax Credits and a parent has an annual income of under £16,190 before tax
 The guaranteed element of State Pension Credit
 Support through part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act
 The Working Tax Credit 4-week run on (the payment you get when you stop 

qualifying for Working Tax Credit)

A child can also get free early education and childcare if any of the following apply:

 they are looked after by a local council
 they have a current statement of special educational needs (SEN) or an 

education, health and care (EHC) plan
 they get Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
 they have left care under a special guardianship order, child arrangements 

order or adoption order.

Page 153



36

Children Centre 
Reach Area

Age 2 at 
31st Aug 

2017

Number of 2 yr 
olds potentially 

eligible for funded 
place (3 terms 

from the start of 
the next term)

Current number of 
2YO children 

accessing a place 
(Headcount 

Spring Term)

Difference/ 
Shortfall

Five Ways 137 29 32 110%
Nailsworth 105 21 19 90%
Painswick 120 18 8 44%
Parliament 180 55 42 76%
The Park 163 44 36 82%
Treetops 259 53 36 68%
Wotton 471 11 6 55%
Stroud Totals 1435 231 179 77%

What the data tells us 

 The reach area with the lowest number of potentially eligible children is 
Wotton with 11 children, and the highest is Parliament with 55 children.

 The lowest take up of 2 year old places has been in Painswick area at 44%, 
with the highest take up being in the Five Way area at 110%.  

 The County is maintaining an overall total take up of approximately 84%, 
however during the Spring Term 2018 the take up dropped to 74%.  The 
reasons for this have been discussed at national level and it is thought that 
this may be due to the changes in the Universal Credits.

Page 154



37

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance

..\..\Performance and Contract monitoring (TSS)\Copy of FSS Standards Matric 
for RAG rating.xlsx

Page 155

../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx
../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2018-19

Wendy Gray, Outcome Manager

July 2018

Forest of Dean 
Children & Family 

Centres Performance 
Report

Page 157



2

Children & Family Centre Locality Performance Report 2018-19

Contents

 Introduction……………………….. …………………………………………………….. 3

 Number of Families & Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre 
Services…………………………………………………………………………………… 4

o Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18………………4
o Priority Groups seen by Children & Family Centres…………………………….. 4 
o Families First Data………………………………………………………………….. 5
o Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucester City Locality 17/18……... 5
o Referrals into Children & Family Centres………………………………………… 6
o Case studies – Individual work - Study 1 & Study 2…………………………….. 7
o Supervised contacts taking place in Children & Family Centres………………. 20
o Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the Children 

& Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders……………………… 20

  Delivering ‘evidence based’ parenting programme…………………………. ……… 21

o Parenting Programme………………………………………………………….. 21
o Case studies – Group Work : Study 1 & Study 2………………………….... 22

 Family Support Service Standards……………………………………………. ……… 30

o Family Support Service Standards (locality table)………………………….. 30 

 Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres……………………………………………………………………………………. 31

o Universal Services……………………………………………………………….31
o Targeted Services based in de-designated community run Children’s 

Centres……………………………………………………………………………31 

 Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision…………………………………………… 32 

 Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 years olds…………………………………33

 Take up of the 2 year old entitlement …………………………………………………. 35

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance (hyperlink)……………………………… 37

Page 158



3

1. Introduction

Name of Locality Forest of Dean

Name of Provider Barnardo’s

Children and Family Centres in 
locality 

Hilltop
River

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

The Family Tree - Branches (Newent)
The Family Tree – Leaves (Coleford)
The Family Tree – Twigs (Mitcheldean 
Library) 

Since 1st April 2017, 16 children and family centres have been managed by 3 
organisations who bid to run 6 locality contracts across the county. 

Barnardo’s – Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud
Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) – Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire County Council (FF+) - Cotswolds

There is a performance report for each locality and an overall service performance 
report for the targeted family support service running from these 16 children and 
family centres. Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of children and 
family centre activity during the year 2017-2018. 

The monitoring of current children and family centre activity and impact is based on a 
variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 
 Performance and Data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems for 

collecting data 
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres
 Headcount data

In addition to the 16 children and family centres under contract for the targeted family 
support service Gloucestershire County Council has handed over 29 children centres 
that are currently in the process of being de-designated, following an EOI process 
undertaken for each of these buildings.  Each centre has been handed over as a 
community hub asset to local providers to sustain the running of universal services 
for children and families.

Page 159



4

Number of Families and Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre Services

Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 
17/18 TOTALS

H
illtop

R
iver

Number of families that have received a targeted 
family support service

46 36 82

Number of individuals that have received a targeted 
family support service

135 116 251

Priority Groups seen by Children and Family Centres TOTALS

H
illtop

R
iver

Teenage Parents 5 7 12
Workless Families 67 46 113

CIN 46 106 152
CP 19 36 55
CIC 22 29 51

Performance Measure: Numbers of families receiving services through Children’s 
Centre  

Data Source: Quarterly Contract Monitoring 

Page 160



5

Troubled Families Data

Total Number of 
families in Forest of 
Dean

Children’ Centre 
proportion of target

Total number of families in 
Gloucester with children 0-11 
that meet Troubled Families 
Criteria

152 60

The Children’s Centre’s proportion of target for Year 1 was 60 families. 82 families 
received a targeted support service exceeding the target for Year 1.

Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Forest of Dean Locality 17/18

Criteria Total Number of 
families in FoD 

1 – Parents and children involved with 
crime or anti-social behaviour

1a 0

1b 0
1c 1
1d 0

2 – Children who have not been 
attending school regularly

2a 3

2b 1
2c 0
2d 0
2e 0
2f 1
2g 0
2h 2

3 – Children who need help 3a 67
3b 6
3c 15
3d 2
3e 2

4 – Adults out of work or at risk of 
financial exclusion or young people at 
risk of worklessness

4a 53

4b 1
4c 0
4d 7
4e 6
4f 2

5 – Families affected by domestic 
violence

5a 18

5b 8
5c 1

6 – Parents and children with a range 
of health problems

6a 2

6b 38
6c 8
6d 24

Page 161



6

Referrals into Children and Family Centres 
17/18

H
illtop

R
iver

TOTALS

Number of cases open 45 36 81
Number of cases not engaged 7 8 15
Number of cases closed and outcomes achieved 19 18 37

What the data tells us 
 The Children and Family Centre exceeded it’s set target for the number of 

families supported in year 1.
 The first year of delivery of the targeted support service has been difficult to 

record and evidence accurately due to the late implementation of the liquid 
logic IT system.

 The data was collated by the current provider on their in house database so 
has been collected from there.

 Children and family centres were also introduced at the mid point of year 1 to 
the validation and closing of cases using the outcomes spreadsheet. The data 
shown only reflects the opened and closed cases measured against this new 
criterion.

 Children & Family centres went from delivering a 0-5 service to a 0-19 
integrated service which has meant additional staff training has been 
undertaken to meet the holistic needs of whole family working.

 The service is supporting a high number of children in need.
 The service is providing packages of support to children on child protection 

plans where the longer term plan is for the child to stay within the family 
home.

Page 162



7

Case study – individual work

Study 1:

TITLE: 
1: 1 Support for a family 
where there were existing 
mental health problems 

Barnardo’s theme1:
Family Support/ Mental Health

Author:
Yvonne Neubauer

Contact email:
yvonne.neubauer@barnardos.org.uk

The Approach   (suggested word count: 250)

What is the summary Aim of Project/Piece of work. 

This 1:1 work was aimed to support parents with accessing support that can help 
their children reach their true learning potential. Support needed to be given with 
regards to play and development, parenting strategies and in gaining an 
understanding of the impact parental mental health has on the children. Support 
was also given to the oldest child around improving the child’s self-confidence and 
managing anxiety

- Empowering Mum to understand the impact of her own mental ill health on 
her children. At the start of the work, Mum was inconsistent in her boundary-
setting and meeting her children’s emotional needs. Both parents were 
expecting too much of the younger child in terms of behaviour at her age 
and stage of development; they compared her unfavourably with the older 
child. This resulted in her labelling the youngest child as ‘the difficult one’ 
and scapegoating this child. Mum was tired and had limited motivation to 
stimulate her youngest child.

- Providing 1:1 family support in order to progress Mum’s and Dad’s 
understanding of parenting techniques.

- Supporting the parents to access suitable Early Years provision for the 
youngest child.

- Supporting the oldest child with her confidence by doing “emotion coaching 
work.” Recognising her own feelings of anxiety. 

The youngest daughter accessed the Early Years Setting at X Children and Family 
Centre and the older daughter attended the adjoining Y Primary School. 
Attendance for both children was very good.

Page 163



8

How does the project address the Core Purpose to improve outcomes for 
children and families?

1-1 work was completed on a fortnightly basis. Joint working took place with other 
agencies in order to share relevant information and to reach the best outcomes for 
the whole family. Joint Working with the X Early Years Setting enabled both 
parents to gain trust for professionals and enabled them to realise the benefits of 
Early Years provision for the youngest child.  During my involvement two TAC 
meetings were held in order to share information and discuss suitable intervention  
for the two children

Other agencies involved were:
Health Visitor
Z Mental Health Community Hub
X Early Years Children and Family Centre
Y Primary School 

During the period of the 1:1 work, I discussed and reflected on progress towards 
the outcomes, that I set, in my monthly supervision.

I used appropriate resources to capture the voice of the children. TAC meetings 
and regular updates with other professionals ensured that the children’s voices 
were heard by the multi-agency team. It also ensured that all professionals worked 
towards the needs of the whole family. 

The conversations with my line manager and other professionals enabled me to 
reflect on my own working practice and ensured that positive outcomes for the 
children were kept in mind.

What were/are the main challenges?
This case was challenging in different ways:

 At the beginning Mum did not acknowledge  the impact her mental health 
issues have on the children

 The parents struggled to see that their two children are unique and at 
different ages and stages of development.

How was the work undertaken in practice?

Home visits were undertaken on a fortnightly basis. Observations of the two 
children were undertaken in the family home.

Guidance and support was given on:

Boundaries
Modelling play

Page 164



9

The impact mental ill health has on children
Healthy Lifestyle
Dealing with emotions

1:1 visits gave the opportunity to discuss the two children’s developmental stages 
and behaviour. 

Mum and Dad needed to make changes to their expectations of their children in 
line with the children’s ages and developmental stages. Routines and boundaries 
needed to be established and put into place by both parents in order to provide 
consistency for the two children. Mum needed to gain an awareness of the impact 
her mental ill health has on her two children.

I was able to build a trusting and honest relationship with both parents. This 
especially helped Mum to understand my expectations and commitment to help 
her. The trust that both parents developed towards me enabled both parents to 
seek advice and guidance from other agencies. Mum was able to understand the 
impact her mental ill health has on her children’s well- being and seek appropriate 
support.

Joint working with the Early Years setting and Primary School with regards to the 
children’s behaviour and development enabled all professionals to support the 
children’s needs and well-being. This was often followed up with 1:1 support at 
home so it would provide a consistent approach.

I carried out emotion coaching work with the oldest child regarding feelings of 
anxiety. This included a variety of age-appropriate activities regarding recognising 
emotions; how to fill your emotional bucket; and what we can do if feeling nervous 
and anxious.

1:1 visits enabled me to support parents in understanding of the importance of 
play and the importance of structures and boundaries.

TAC meetings ensured that the family were engaging with all professionals in a 
productive way to ensure both of their children’s needs were met. 

What evidence based theories, models and programmes did you use? 

EYFS Framework
Solihull Programme 
Henry Programme

What were the outcomes of the project?

1.2.24 Improved Parenting

Page 165



10

1.4.07 Leads Healthy Lifestyle
5.1.03 Carers/parents promote child’s play and learning

Mum was aware of impact of her Mental ill Health on the children.
Children had consistent boundaries and routines.
Mum was aware of and responding to the different ages, stages and needs of the 
children. She was able to recognise and manage her emotions in a better way.
Oldest child able to manage her own feelings and self-regulate.
Youngest child able to thrive according to her age and stage of development; she 
was able to be own unique self.

Feedback from the parents at the end of the service:
“Yvonne has given me the confidence and taught me how to cope when I feel 
overwhelmed. Yvonne has helped (oldest child) learn how to recognise and 
manage emotions. Her confidence has really increased”  and
“…you are incredibly good at what you do”.

Feedback from the oldest child at the end of the service:

 How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?

All home visits, all telephone conversation and all the conversations with 
professionals were recorded on the Barnardo’s’ Contents Server and from October 
2017 onwards on EHM. 

The outcomes and needs of the whole family were assessed and reviewed by using 
the Barnardo’s outcome tools and Big Assessment Tool. 
The children’s voices were captured in every session recording and reviewed in the  
child’s voice form.

The case was closed once all the outcomes had been met. Support for the family 
will continue through universal providers- pre-school and school. The children’s 

Page 166



11

development will be monitored through pre-school professionals and professionals 
at school.

Conclusions:

Giving consistent messages and joint working with other agencies enables a 
holistic approach of working with families and focusing on the child’s voice.
This work enabled the parents to make changes in orders to meet the children’s 
needs
Next Steps – (suggested word count: 150)
 
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further?

The case is closed to family support now. The children will be monitored by the 
Early Years setting and Primary School. The parents have developed a good 
relationship with other professionals such as the Early Years Practitioners and the 
staff at the Primary School This enables both parents to seek advice from the Early 
Years setting and the school in the future.

Can you summarise how this piece of work may assist other Barnardo’s 
Children’s Centres:

Never give up on families and always work with hope.
Focus on the children’s voices.
Give families time in order to build up a professional and trusting relationship

Further Contact Details 

Is there a web link to this project/work?

Contact details for further information:

Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the wider 
Children’s Centre networks (eg Department for Education; Ofsted; LGA 
Knowledge Hub; National College Centre Leader Network; future Barnardo’s 
tender submissions)?

No

Page 167



12

Study 2:

TITLE: 
1:1 work with a six year old boy 
who displays aggressive 
outbursts

Barnardo’s theme2:
Targeted Family Support 
Gloucestershire Families 
Outcomes Plan Criteria 3a “a 
child who has been identified as 
needing help”
6b “adult or child with mental 
health problems identified by 
referrer or through assessment”

Author:
Yvonne Neubauer- Forest

Contact email:
yvonne.neubauer@barnardos.org.uk

The Approach   (suggested word count: 250)

What is the summary Aim of Project/Piece of Work:

The 1:1 support is aimed to support a 6 year old boy who lives together 
with his 6 year old twin sister his step sister and his mother and father
Initially a MARF was received in March 2017, a referral from school. FF+ 
initially held this case until November 2017. Concerns were around the 6 
year old boy’s deteriorating, aggressive behaviour within school and at 
home. The GP had already referred to the paediatrician, who had seen the 
boy. The referral was passed to the Early Help team and the aim of my 1:1 
support was to explore the family dynamics and why the 6 year old boy 
was displaying aggressive behaviour. The paediatrician had at that time 
not been able to give a diagnosis. 
The work involved the following aspects:

 Listening to and capturing the child’s voice through various activities 
e.g. creating a family tree with the 6 year old boy, creating worry 
boxes for the whole family, completing activity sheet (“House of 
good things” with the whole family)

 Empowering Mother and Father to find strategies regarding how to 
deal with the outbursts of their six year old son e.g. ideas of the 
Solihull Parenting Programme. Mum suffered with depression and 
anxiety and at times felt overwhelmed with her son’s aggressive 
outbursts.

 Empower the whole family Mum, Dad, the twins (six year old boy 
and his 6 year old sister) and their step sister to spend time as a 

2 SMIF themes: Advocacy and participation (Children in Care); Child bereavement; Children's Centres; Disability 
advocacy/participation; Domestic abuse; Education alternative provision; Employment; Extended services; Family contact; 
Family support; Family Group Conferencing; Housing and homelessness; Life-limiting conditions; Mental health; Nurseries; 
Parenting programmes; Play services; Rights and participation; Sexual health; Short breaks for disabled children; Substance 
misuse; Supporting employment; Teenage pregnancy; Vocational training

Page 168



13

family. This would improve family relationships and benefit mum’s 
mental health problems 

How does the project address the Core Purpose to improve 
outcomes for children and families?
1-1 work is currently completed on a fortnightly basis. Joint working with 
other agencies is taking place (the school and paediatrician) in order to 
share relevant information and to reach the best outcomes for the family.
A My Plan has been put in place by the school and I (FSW) have 
contributed to this My Plan with a holistic approach to meet the needs of 
the whole family. The progress of the My Plan is reviewed every three 
months and so there has been positive progress re the boy’s behaviour at 
school.

Other agencies involved were:
 
Paediatrician
School

How was the work undertaken in practice?
I completed home visits on a fortnightly basis, mainly after school hours so 
I could meet the whole family. I ensured that I talked to the whole family 
and involved the whole family in the activities. During one home visit for 
example, I handed out activity sheets: “House of good things”. I 
encouraged Mother, Father and all three children to fill in things they like 
about their home. I filled a sheet in myself. These sheets led to a 
productive discussion between the whole family about their home life. It 
also provoked an observation of the dynamics between the twins: I 
observed that the  6 year old girl appeared overpowering and discouraging 
towards her twin brother, which then seemed to impact on the twin 
brother’s behaviour: all of a sudden he appeared reluctant to talk about 
things he liked and went very quiet. The smile disappeared from his face 
and he kept looking down to the floor. This observation then lead to a 
conversation between me, the mother and the father where the mother 
said to me that the boy had made a comment at school that he feels 
pushed out by his twin sister and step sister. This gave my work a new 
focus, as I then explored the dynamics between the children via various 
activities to capture their voices. I started off with meeting the 6 year old 
boy without his sister, step sister and parents within the family home. I 
took some “question dice” with me to start off the conversation. He opened 
up that he was feeling left out due to his sisters and wished for more 
quality 1 to 1 time with his Mum. When I shared this with Mum (with his 

Page 169



14

permission) it enabled her to see him in a more positive light rather than 
scapegoating him for everything negative that was happening in the family 
home. 
Dad was always the mediator and already spent a lot of time with him.

I did some joint and separate activities with the boy and his Mum 
regarding feelings and how to manage them. The work with Mum focused 
on enabling her to take a step back every time there was conflict. This 
helped her to see that it wasn’t always the boy who was responsible for 
the conflict. She could then see him as a positive part of the family.

How did you personalise your approach for this family or group?
I chose my own resources for the family out of the resources that are 
available at the Children and Family Centre. I selected the resources that I 
thought the boy would find interesting and appealing and also ensured that 
I involved myself in the activities.

What were/are the main challenges?
The parents seem to focus on medical diagnoses, wanting a medical 
diagnosis for the 6 year old boy that could explain his outbursts. It was 
difficult to stop the parents from speaking negatively in front of the 
children. I challenged this and gently asked them to think about times 
when they may have been spoken about negatively and how it made them 
feel, particularly when it was their parents. I also modelled not speaking 
negatively in front of the children by setting up a separate meeting with 
the parents to discuss the difficulties when the children were not present.

I said in conversation that there was no medical diagnosis at the moment 
and therefore the focus needed to be around facts and observations on the 
boy as well as the family dynamics. This was further explored with the 
mother and the father in another meeting where the children were not be 
present. We discussed what they could do to not scapegoat the boy and on 
how their own experience of being parented had impacted on their 
parenting style.

In practice  (suggested word count: 200)

Potential/actual impact of the work/project?
I worked towards an improvement for the family dynamics and for the boy 
to be able to deal with his emotions in a safe non-aggressive way.

Page 170



15

What methodology – approach, evidence based theories, models 
and programmes and did you use?

 My Plan 
 My Progress Chart
 Family Tree(Genogram)
 Solihull Approach 
 Emotion-coaching: Activities that encourage adults and 

children to express their feelings e.g emotion dices, worry 
boxes, house of good things sheets.

What did you do differently to support the family with any Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs)? I.e. physical/sexual/emotional 
abuse, neglect, DA, substance misuse, Mental Health issues, 
parental separation or divorce, parental imprisonment
I responded to the family’s emotional needs as above.

In 1 to 1 TFS work, describe how you used whole family working 
supporting the family’ journey towards change

I have managed to get the family working together completing activity 
sheets which lead to conversations within the family about what each other 
likes about the family home and gave the whole activity a positive focus.

I worked with both Mum and Dad, even though the difficulty was around 
Mum’s approach to the boy.

I carried out whole family activities such as ‘the house of good things’ 
activity, which included the parents and all of the children.

Describe and give examples of partnership working in this 
case/project and how it has impacted on family outcomes. 
I started working with the family in November following an FF+ worker 
having been working on the case initially. I liaised with the school of the 
boy to attend a My Plan review meeting the beginning of January. At the 
meeting I was given the chance to put my input forward and to add to the 
existing My Plan. The discussion at the My Plan meeting also showed that 
the boy’s behaviour had improved at school. This evidenced progress for 
the whole family as school reported that the boy was now able to focus on 
his educational needs. We have had regular MyPlan meetings and the 
school has said that the boy’s behaviour and confidence have improved.

Page 171



16

In 1 to 1 TFS work, briefly outline the family’s journey
Initially the 6 year old boy’s outbursts happened at home and at school. 
Now school is reporting that his behaviour has improved. I have worked on 
ways for the boy to express his feelings in a safe way and give the family 
tools to use when he is having aggressive outbursts at home e.g. give him 
a space where he can calm down, a worry box etc. 

During one of the home visits it became apparent to me that the boy felt 
overwhelmed by his twin sister and the parents confirmed my observation. 
Although the parents were focusing on a medical diagnosis, I am having 
conversations about focusing on the family dynamics as one of the roots 
for the boy’s outbursts. The parents will still talk about a diagnosis from 
time to time but their focus has moved away from this towards thinking 
about their own parenting style. My aim was to empower the boy to 
express his feelings in a safe way and for the parents to realise that family 
dynamics could have an impact on his behaviour. I did this by capturing 
the child’s voice and feelings through various activities. This has been 
achieved so the family have moved forward considerably.

What were the outcomes of the project?

 Family relationships are more positive
 The boy is an equal part of the family unit and Mum no longer 

assumes he is to blame when there is conflict
 He is allowed to be angry and express his anger in a safe way
 At school, his angry outbursts have reduced
 He said to me that he now ‘feels important because you come to 

listen to me and my mummy listens to me too’. This highlights his 
growth in self-esteem and the Mum’s progress with treating him 
equally in the family.

What was the feedback from the family at the end of the work?

Both parents have said that my support has helped them to reflect upon 
their own actions and move away from blaming the boy. They have said 
that they still see challenging behaviour but it has reduced and they now 
understand it better and know what to do to help him calm down.

The boy has fed back to me that he now ‘feels important because you 
come to listen to me and my mummy listens to me too’.

Page 172



17

The Learning – (suggested word count: 150)

What new processes have been developed?
Whole family working and listening to everyone, getting a whole-family 
picture on the family dynamics.

With hindsight, I could also have worked more the twin sister on her need 
to control. However, she has already learnt that she cannot always control 
the situation and that Mum and Dad will listen to him as much as they 
listen to her. This came about as a natural additional benefit of the work 
with the parents and her response to Mum being less blameful towards the 
boy so perhaps this was better than speaking to her about it.

How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?
Using various activities to capture the voice of the whole family: activity 
sheets: “house of good things”, “house of dreams” both at the beginning 
and end of the intervention to compare.

The My Progress Chart, a My plan and a child’s voice form about likes and 
dislikes with the family. The My Plan and the My Progress Chart as well as 
the Child’s Voice form are reviewed regularly to evidence impact.

I have used photographs, blob tree at the beginning and end of the work 
for comparisons. Family evaluations- parents and children.

Conclusions:

The child’s voice is paramount in understanding what is happening in a 
family so that the right support can be put in place. It is important not to 
label a child as having difficult behaviour but to look at the underlying 
reasons for this and address them. 

Next Steps – (suggested word count: 150)
 
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further?

I am closing the case this month and my exit plan will involve encouraging 
the parents to use the emotion coaching methods for themselves. It is 
important that they are able to continue with this to maintain the boy’s 
self-esteem and ability to regulate his feelings.

I will get the feedback in their own words so that they can reflect on what 
has been achieved so that they can continue with the work.

I will continue to work in this child focused way with other families in the 

Page 173



18

future.

Can you summarise how this piece of work may assist other 
Barnardo’s Children’s Centres:
I would recommend to any Family Support Worker to stay neutral and 
professional if parents try to label their child and want to use you as a 
professional to achieve a medical diagnosis. It is important to listen to the 
child’s views and feelings and observe the whole family dynamics as this 
can give you indications of what might be going on for the children. At the 
same time, I am open for any medical diagnosis and would not discourage 
parents to see medical advice if they need to.  It is therefore important to 
focus on the role a Family Support Worker has and be aware that we 
cannot give a medical diagnosis. 

Further Contact Details 

Is there a web link to this project/work? No

Contact details for further information:
Yvonne.neubauer@barnardos.org.uk

Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (eg Department for Education; Ofsted; 
LGA Knowledge Hub; National College Centre Leader Network; future 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)?

Page 174



19

Supervised Contacts taking place in Children and Family 
Centres

TOTALS

H
illtop

R
iver

Number of Contacts booked 169 31 200
Number of hours booked 270.5 50 331

Number of families attending 15 11 26

Families accessing Universal Family Support Services 
based in the Children & Family Centres provided by 
partners and stakeholders

TOTALS

H
illtop

R
iver

Number of Adults attending 2,789 2,285 5,074

Number of Children attending 2,553 2,154 4,707

Services accessed were:

Adult Education; GDASS; Greensquare; Health Visitors and Midwives; Parent Run 
Groups; Immunisation; Stay & Play groups.

What the data tells us
 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 

supervised contacts
 In addition to the targeted family support service the centres are facilitating 

additional targeted and universal services to support children and families
 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by 

local families

Page 175



20

Delivering ‘evidenced based’ parenting programme

Performance Measure
1. How many adults/ families have started a  programme 
2. How many have completed the programme?
3. What evaluation tool/process have you used to measure outcomes?
4. Percentage of participants on the programme whose progress has been 

evaluated. 

Data Source: Self reported by Children Centre provider Barnardo’s

Hilltop River

Parenting Programme Solihull Freedom Solihull Freedom
No of parent starting 14 10 9 8

No of parents completing 9 7 7 5

No of evaluations completed 9 7 7 5

No of parents identifying positive 
change

9 7 7 5

 What the data tells us 
 A good range of partners are engaged – the Partnership Manager will build on 

and improve this.
 Programmes are evaluated using a range of methodologies. 
 A programme of support for families where domestic violence is an issue is 

well embedded.

Page 176



21

Case study – group work

Study 1:

TITLE: Triple P group Barnardo’s theme3:
Improved parenting

Author: Angela Halling FSW Contact email: 
angela.halling@barnardos.org.uk

The Approach   (suggested word count: 250)

What is the summary Aim of Project/Piece of Work:

To deliver a Triple P course in the evening that would engage working 
parents, including fathers.

Triple P 8-week course. 

Working with Fathers was a priority identified in the Forest and Stroud 
2017-18 Business Plan. All Fathers of families accessing 1 to 1 and group 
work were to be invited to participate in this work, with the permission of 
the Mother and providing it would not put the family at risk or due to 
previous DA.

How does the project address the Core Purpose to improve 
outcomes for children and families?

 Triple P gives parents simple and practical strategies to help them 
confidently manage their children’s behaviour, prevent problems 
developing and build strong healthy relationships. Triple P is 
currently used in 25 countries and has been shown to work across 
cultures, socio-economic groups and in all kinds of family structures.

 To ensure targeted intervention, prevention and early help has a 
significant and positive impact on children. 

 Increase parents’ skills in promoting social, emotional and 
behavioural competence in children.

 Reducing parents’ use of coercive and punitive methods of discipline
 Improve communication about parenting
 Reducing parental stress associated with raising children

3 SMIF themes: Advocacy and participation (Children in Care); Child bereavement; Children's Centres; Disability 
advocacy/participation; Domestic abuse; Education alternative provision; Employment; Extended services; Family contact; 
Family support; Family Group Conferencing; Housing and homelessness; Life-limiting conditions; Mental health; Nurseries; 
Parenting programmes; Play services; Rights and participation; Sexual health; Short breaks for disabled children; Substance 
misuse; Supporting employment; Teenage pregnancy; Vocational training

Page 177



22

 Increase parents’ access to services; to reach more parents, 
particularly Fathers

 To improve the well-being of young children and their families 
 To use effective strategies for encouraging families to participate in 

relevant services, including those who might be less likely to do so 
 To identify the target groups and individual families most in need of 

intervention and support, the specific nature of their needs, and the 
specialist services needed to support them

How was the work undertaken in practice?
We organised group Triple P with our local Primary school and used their 
room in the evening to deliver the course.

I contacted all participants by telephone prior to the course starting to 
make them feel comfortable enough to come to a group session. 
I also texted them on the day of the course to remind them.  

How did you personalise your approach for this family or group?
I personalised my approach to the needs of the participants in the room.
I asked them what their story was at the beginning of the session, so this 
could happen. 
This time we had a few parents who had been recommended to come on 
the course so they could get an appointment with a paediatrician, to get a 
further medical diagnosis for their child.

What were/are the main challenges?
Main challenges in the room were the amount of parents who attended; 20 
parents is a lot of people with different stories to tell and examples to give. 
Whilst engagement of this many parents can be seen as a positive, it can 
be quite daunting for some participants, particularly if they have had a 
previously difficult experience of education or groups. This may have 
impacted in retention as only 13 parents completed the programme and 12 
parents completed the post questionnaires.

Attendance as follows:

Page 178



23

20

14

11
1414

13

13

13

atendance
30th January
6th February
20th February
27th February
6th March 
13th March
20th March
27th March

Attendance

We had 28 parents referred for the course, 20 parents attended one 
session or more.
7 Fathers attended one session or more. 
13 Mothers attended one session or more.
4 parents asked to be put on the waiting list for the next course. 
8 other parents did not turn up; I contacted these parents as we were 
oversubscribed and asked them to register on the next parenting course. 
2 parents turned up on the day that hadn’t been referred in.

With a large group it is also a challenge to give parents enough time to be 
heard and give their views and ideas throughout the programme. 

In practice  (suggested word count: 200)

Potential/actual impact of the work/project?

There were improvements in the following aspects of parenting and 
parent-child relationships: understanding of child’s needs: parenting 
capability, parental commitment to child: great parent sensitivity and 
helping to meet the child’s development needs.

Qualitative findings
Parents gave descriptions of a wide range of outcomes for themselves and 
their families. These included changes for their parenting behaviour their 
relationship with their child: relationships within the family: Child 
wellbeing; and parental well-being. They spoke powerfully of the impact of 
these changes. Their descriptions also conveyed how parents felt that the 
different outcomes could reinforce each other. An example was where a 
parent was able to use a strategy to calm themselves down, which led to 
more effective parenting and this in turn resulted in greater confidence.

Please see attached Triple P evaluation for more information.

Page 179



24

What methodology – approach, evidence based theories, models 
and programmes and did you use?

Triple P parenting programme

What did you do differently to support the family with any Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs)? I.e. physical/sexual/emotional 
abuse, neglect, DA, substance misuse, Mental Health issues, 
parental separation or divorce, parental imprisonment

During the programme we complete a DASS form which can let us know 
how parents are coping with their mental health at the given time.

It was very noticeable for two male participants that there scores where 
very high, I acknowledged this and support parents if not accessing 
already, help around this. 

We touched on the subject of DA during the group sessions and supported 
parents with the knowledge of the impact on their own parenting as well as 
the impact on the child.

In addition to the outcomes, parents were able to reflect on factors that 
contributed to their achievement. Key to this was the relationship with the 
programme practitioner and in particular was the practitioner’s 
communication style, approach, experience, flexibility and their supportive 
encouragement.

Parents described the way that their health had affected the management 
of their child’s behaviour and acknowledged that they knew their parenting 
had been inconsistent and had not been helpful for their child; they had 
been unable to provide firm boundaries that help a child to know and feel 
where the limits of acceptable and unacceptable behaviour are.

In 1 to 1 TFS work, describe how you used whole family working 
supporting the family journey towards change
NA

Page 180



25

Describe and give examples of partnership working in this 
case/project and how it has impacted on family outcomes. 
Prior to the course, we approached schools in the locality area and gave 
them details to refer in to the programme.
Referrals came from the GL3, GL5, GL6, GL10 and GL11 reach area. 
18 were self-referrals via Early Help 
3 referrals via school to Early Help  
1 Early help referral via GP
2 from R&A team via Early Help
4 parents referred in by Family support workers in the CC.

In 1 to 1 TFS work, briefly outline the family’s journey

NA- this was group work

What were the outcomes of the project?
A range of impacts:
Parents description of change
Parents described in greater detail the changes they had experienced or 
perceived, for themselves as parents for their children and for their 
relationships 

More effective management of child’s behaviour.
Parents reported several changes to their approach to managing their 
child’s behaviour and were able to identify ways in which those changes 
occurred. There were examples of different strategies being used to 
manage their child’s behaviour.

Parents wanted to move away from negative methods of parenting such as 
shouting or hitting because they could be ineffective.

Improvements in the parent-child relationship.
Where parents identified improvements in their relationships with their 
children they were also able to identify ways in which this had happened.

Parent outcomes.
Understanding of child needs – their improvements reported in 
communication with children and parental involvement in their lives of 
their children.
Parent capability – improvements in laxness and limit setting means that 
children will feel more secure in their relationship and know when they 
have exceeded an acceptable boundary in their play and interaction.
Commitment to child – parental support indicates having sufficient 

Page 181



26

emotional and practical resources to provide adequate care for their child 
and that they demonstrate commitment.
Greater parental sensitivity – less over-reactivity to behaviour or 
interaction from their child will give the child greater confidence in their 
own development.
Helping to meet child’s developmental needs.

Parents feedback comments included the following:

‘The service has given me more ways in which I can positively parent my child’

‘Less stressed at home’

‘Since doing the course both my child and I are happier. I am learning to plan for 
problem situations’.

‘(I am) Calmer with my children, more discipline methods helping with behaviour.’

‘My child is happier and responds really well to increased boundaries. He gets better 
quality time from me. I have noticed that he calms down more quickly after a temper 
loss or upset.’

‘She seems calmer and listens to me more. She follows the “rules” better and does 
more of what I ask of her.

‘It was making me be the child and putting myself in their shoes and seeing me on the 
other side.’

Only 1 parents suggested something that would have made our support work better:

‘Possibly a home visit to meet the children and for the staff to know more about the 
child/ren issues before course starts.’

The Learning – (suggested word count: 150)

What new processes have been developed?

To engage working parents and working Fathers and we need to deliver 
more evening parenting courses. This also enables parents to attend as a 
couple, where appropriate, so they are learning together.

Fathers are then more willing to implement changes in the home and 
support their partners with parenting, providing a consistent approach for 
their children.

Page 182



27

How did you demonstrate/evidence impact?
I used graphs and Triple P evaluation sheets to collect evidence of the 
impact coming to a Triple P course. Please see attached evaluation for 
more information.

Conclusions:

The evening scheduling of Triple P programmes and the targeting of 
Fathers has been a success. This resulted in a very large group, which may 
not be appropriate for all participants as it can be daunting. We will need 
to reduce the numbers in future courses, by delivering extra programmes 
or signposting to the FF Triple P team. We can also work in partnership 
with them to deliver programmes in the future.

A home visit to the family prior to the start of the course was suggested by 
one of the parents. This would be a positive way to build relationships and 
engage the parents. It would also enable workers to meet the children and 
listen to their voices.

Next Steps – (suggested word count: 150)
 
How do you intend to continue and/or develop this work further?

To keep running parenting courses for both Mothers and Fathers.

To acknowledge that working parents like to attend evening courses that 
don’t impact on their working day. 

Page 183



28

Can you summarise how this piece of work may assist other 
Barnardo’s Children and Family Centres/services:

Knowledge of engaging working parents in parenting groups.

Further Contact Details 

Is there a web link to this project/work?

Contact details for further information:

Would you have any objection to Barnardo’s sharing your work with the 
wider Children’s Centre networks (eg Department for Education; Ofsted; 
LGA Knowledge Hub; National College Centre Leader Network; future 
Barnardo’s tender submissions)?

Page 184



29

Family Support Standards

Family Support Service Standards Q1 Q4

Service Standard Standard Score Standard Score
Service Standard 1 4 3
Service Standard 2 4 4
Service Standard 3 4 4
Service Standard 4 3 4
Service Standard 5 4 4
Service Standard 6 4 4
Service Standard 7 4 4
Service Standard 8 3 4
Service Standard 9 4 4

Service Standard 10 3 4
Service Standard 11 3 3
Service Standard 12 3 3

Service Average 3.5 3.7

Service Standard 13 3 3
Service Standard 14 3 4

 The family support standards guidance attached as Appendix 1 is used as 
part of contract monitoring to monitor the progress of the service. An action 
plan is submitted annually to improve standards and is monitored quarterly.

 The data shows a baseline assessment figure and end of Year 1 
improvements.

 Overall the service has maintained family support standards and has 
improved in some areas.

 The Forest of Dean locality is performing well and improving.

Page 185



30

Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres

Universal Services
The Fam

ily 
Tree 

(B
ranches)

The  Fam
ily 

Tree (Leaves)

The Fam
ily 

Tree (Tw
igs) 

Library

TOTALS

Number of children accessing universal services 52 33 0 85

Number of families accessing universal services 45 28 0 73

Targeted Services based in de-designated 
community run Children’s Centres

The Fam
ily 

Tree 
(B

ranches)

The Fam
ily 

Tree (Leaves)

The Fam
ily 

Tree (Tw
igs) 

Library

TOTALS

Number of children accessing targeted services 0 0 0 0

Number of families accessing targeted services 0 0 0 0

The range of other services offered from the centres are:

Counselling; HENRY; Freedom; Triple P; Solihull; 5 to thrive; kinship support group; 
GDASS; family therapy; children’s occupational therapy, teens in crisis; core groups; 
Safeguarding; Social Care; Supervised contact; Early Start; SALT

What the data tells us 

 The Family Tree (Twigs) Children’s Centre is based within a library in 
Mitcheldean.  A group of volunteers have been managing the community 
library for the last four years and unfortunately have not kept records of 
children and families using the children’s centre element of the building.  
There is a fortnightly baby weighing session and the parents will often come 
back to the library on an informal basis.

 The Family Tree (Branches) Children’s Centre is situated in a building that 
now belongs to Glebe Infant School.  Currently there is an early year’s 
provider operating from the building.

 A wide range of universal services are on offer to children and families in the 
locality

Performance Measure: Data collected from Universal Children’s Centres

Page 186



31

In April 2017, the local authority commissioned the charity organisation Barnardo’s to 
run the group of Children and Families Centres known as the Forest of Dean Locality 
Children & Family centres on its behalf, offering targeted provision. 

The remaining children’s centres are being developed as hubs for education and 
childcare, universal services and are delivered by private, voluntary and community 
groups as follows:

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
The Family Tree (Branches) Newent Early Years
The Family Tree (Leaves) Coleford St John’s Playgroup
The Family Tree (Twigs) Mitcheldean Community Library

Attached to a number of these centres are on site Early Years provision.  These are:

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Hilltop Barnardo’s 32 Mon, Tues & Fri 
8.40-11.40 & 12.30-
3.30, Wed & Thurs 
9.00-3.00
Term Time Only   
(39 weeks)

Good –
11th January 2017

The Family 
Tree (Branches)

Newent Early 
Years

20 Mon to Fri 8.00-5.00 
All Year Round
(51 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date

The Family  
(Leaves)

Coleford St 
John’s 
Playgroup

22 Mon, Wed, Thurs & 
Fri 8.45-3.00 & Tues 
12.00-3.00
Term Time Only
(40 weeks)

Outstanding –
16th May 2018

River Barnardo’s 32 Mon, Tues, Thurs & 
Fri 8.45-11.45 & 
12.30-3.30, Wed 
Only 8.45-11.45 
Term Time Only  
(39 weeks)

Good –
1st December 2015

What the data tells us 
 There has been no reduction in the grading’s for nurseries inspected following 

the transfer of these nurseries from children’s centres to new providers. 

Performance Measure: Ofsted Inspection Framework for nurseries on Children’s Centre sites

Page 187



32

Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 year olds

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years 30 hours entitlement by three and four year 
olds by children’s centre reach area

The Government has made childcare more affordable for working parents by 
increasing the early education and childcare offer from 15 to up to 30 hours per week 
and for 38 weeks of the year (or all the year round equivalent) for some 3 and 4 year 
old children.

Since September 2017 families with a 3 or 4 year old who meet certain criteria can 
receive up to an additional 15 hours of early education and childcare per week which 
is in addition to the current entitlement of 15 hours per week, which all 3 and 4 year 
olds are entitled to when they reach the qualifying age.

The following table represents a full Academic Year showing the number of children 
in receipt of 30 hours since its inception.

Children's Centre 
Hilltop

River

The Fam
ily Tree 

(Branches)

The Fam
ily Tree 

(Leaves)

The Fam
ily Tree 

(Tw
igs)

 

Forest of Dean 
Totals

No of 3yos @ 
31.8.17 179 288 185 131 90  873
No of 4yos @ 
31.8.17 169 323 188 177 85  942
        
Autumn 2017 3yos 66 82 60 47 43  299
% take up 37% 29% 32% 36% 48%  34%
Autumn 2017 4yos 0 2 0 1 0  3
% take up 0% 1% 0% 1% 0%  0.3%
        
Spring 2018 3 yos 65 85 51 60 45  306
% take up 36% 30% 28% 46% 50%  35%
Spring 2018 4 yos 23 46 30 17 8  124
% take up 14% 14% 16% 10% 9%  13%
        
Summer 2018 3 yos 64 87 46 59 49  305
% take up 36% 30% 25% 45% 54%  35%
Summer 2018 4 yos 47 64 33 31 16  191
% take up 28% 28% 18% 18% 19%  20%

Page 188



33

What the data tells us 

 The data in the above table is taken from the termly headcount.  The majority 
of children using their entitlement were aged 3.  The number of 4 year olds 
has increased term by term and the 3 year olds have been stable.

 The highest percentage of families accessing the 30 hours funding in the 
Summer Term is The Family Tree (Twigs) reach area showing 49% of 3 year 
olds and Hilltop and River reach areas both showing 28% of 4 year olds 
taking up the offer.  The lowest percentage take up being in The Family Tree 
(Branches) reach area showing 25% of 3 year olds and The Family Tree 
(Branches) and The Family Tree (Leaves) reach areas both showing 18% of 4 
year olds.

Page 189



34

Take Up of the Two Year Old Entitlement 

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years Education of eligible two year olds by 
children’s centre reach area 
Data Source: Capita One Finance Extract 

The Department of Education has specified the entitlement criteria.  Free places are 
to be targeted with a primary focus on economic disadvantage with the council 
having a statutory duty to secure 570 hours of free education for each eligible child.  
This equates to 15 hours per week over 38 weeks of the year.

A child will be entitled to the hours from the term after their 2nd birthday, if both of the 
following conditions are satisfied: (1) the child has attained the age of two (2) the 
child or parent meets the eligibility criteria if you live in England and get one of the 
following benefits:

 Income Support
 Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA)
 Income-related Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)
 Universal Credit – for places starting in the summer term of 2018 (on or after 

1st April 2018), or any subsequent term, if a parent is entitled to Universal 
Credit they must have an annual net earned income equivalent to and not 
exceeding £15,400, assessed on up to three of the parent’s most recent 
Universal Credit assessment periods

 Tax Credits and a parent has an annual income of under £16,190 before tax
 The guaranteed element of State Pension Credit
 Support through part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act
 The Working Tax Credit 4-week run on (the payment you get when you stop 

qualifying for Working Tax Credit)

A child can also get free early education and childcare if any of the following apply:

 they are looked after by a local council
 they have a current statement of special educational needs (SEN) or an 

education, health and care (EHC) plan
 they get Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
 they have left care under a special guardianship order, child arrangements 

order or adoption order.

Page 190



35

Children Centre Reach 
Area

Age 2 at 31st 
Aug 2017

Number of 2 yr 
olds potentially 

eligible for 
funded place (3 
terms from the 
start of the next 

term)

Current 
number of 

2YO children 
accessing a 

place 
(Headcount 

Spring Term)

Difference/ 
Shortfall

Hilltop 170 56 51 91%
River 304 92 63 68%
The Family Tree (Branches) 192 31 25 81%
The Family Tree (Leaves) 146 48 40 83%
The Family Tree (Twigs) 79 24 20 83%
FOD Totals 417 103 85 83%

What the data tells us 

 The reach area with the lowest number of potentially eligible children is The 
Family Tree (Twigs) with 24 children, and the highest is River with 92 children.

 The lowest take up of 2 year old places has been in the River area at 68%, 
with the highest take up being in the Hilltop area at 91%.

 The County is maintaining an overall total take up of approximately 84%, 
however during the Spring Term 2018 the take up dropped to 74%.  The 
reasons for this have been discussed at national level and it is thought that 
this may be due to the changes in the Universal Credits.

Page 191



36

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance

..\..\Performance and Contract monitoring (TSS)\Copy of FSS Standards Matric 
for RAG rating.xlsx

Page 192

../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx
../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx


1

2018-19

Wendy Gray, Outcome Manager

July 2018

Cheltenham Children 
& Family Centres 

Performance Report

Page 193



2

Children & Family Centre Locality Performance Report 2018-19

Contents

 Introduction……………………….. …………………………………………………….. 3

 Number of Families & Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre 
Services…………………………………………………………………………………… 4

o Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18………………4
o Priority Groups seen by Children & Family Centres…………………………….. 4 
o Families First Data………………………………………………………………….. 5
o Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucester City Locality 17/18……... 5
o Referrals into Children & Family Centres………………………………………… 6
o Case studies – Individual work - Study 1 & Study 2…………………………….. 7
o Supervised contacts taking place in Children & Family Centres………………. 13
o Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the Children 

& Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders……………………… 13

  Delivering ‘evidence based’ parenting programme…………………………. ……… 14

o Parenting Programme………………………………………………………….. 14
o Case studies – Group Work : Study 1 & Study 2………………………….... 15

 Family Support Service Standards……………………………………………. ……… 23

o Family Support Service Standards (locality table)………………………….. 23 

 Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres……………………………………………………………………………………. 24

o Universal Services……………………………………………………………….24
o Targeted Services based in de-designated community run Children’s 

Centres……………………………………………………………………………24 

 Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision…………………………………………… 25 

 Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 years olds…………………………………26

 Take up of the 2 year old entitlement …………………………………………………. 28

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance (hyperlink)……………………………… 30

Page 194



3

1. Introduction

Name of Locality Cheltenham

Name of Provider Gardners Lane & Oakwood Federation

Children and Family Centres in 
Locality 

Gardners Lane
Hesters Way
Oakwood (Whaddon)

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

Charlton Kings Library
Leckhampton
Rowanfield
Up Hatherley Library

Since 1st April 2017, 16 children and family centres have been managed by 3 
organisations who bid to run 6 locality contracts across the county. 

Barnardo’s – Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud
Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) – Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire County Council (FF+) - Cotswolds

There is a performance report for each locality and an overall service performance 
report for the targeted family support service running from these 16 children and 
family centres. Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of children and 
family centre activity during the year 2017-2018. 

The monitoring of current children and family centre activity and impact is based on a 
variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 
 Performance and Data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems for 

collecting data 
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres
 Headcount data

In addition to the 16 children and family centres under contract for the targeted family 
support service Gloucestershire County Council has handed over 29 children centres 
that are currently in the process of being de-designated, following an EOI process 
undertaken for each of these buildings.  Each centre has been handed over as a 
community hub asset to local providers to sustain the running of universal services 
for children and families.

Page 195



4

Number of Families and Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre Services

Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 
17/18

TOTALS

G
ardners 

Lane

H
esters W

ay

O
akw

ood

Number of families that have received a 
targeted family support service

38 32 27 97

Number of individuals that have received a 
targeted family support service

110 93 79 282

Priority Groups seen by Children and Family Centres TOTALS

G
ardners 

Lane

H
esters W

ay

O
akw

ood

Teenage Parents 5 1 9 15
Workless Families 18 19 35 72

CIN 87 118 75 280
CP 19 46 32 97
CIC 31 30 17 78

Performance Measure: Numbers of families receiving services through Children’s 
Centre  

Data Source: Quarterly Contract Monitoring 

Page 196



5

Troubled Families Data

Total Number of 
families in Cheltenham

Children’ Centre 
proportion of target for 
17/18

Total number of families in 
Cheltenham with children 0-11 
that meet Troubled Families 
Criteria

220 88

The Children’s Centre’s proportion of target for Year 1 was 88 families, 97 families 
received a targeted support service exceeding the Year 1 target.

Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Cheltenham Locality 17/18

Criteria Total Number of 
families in Cheltenham 

1 – Parents and children involved with 
crime or anti-social behaviour

1a 0

1b 1
1c 1
1d 6

2 – Children who have not been 
attending school regularly

2a 8

2b 0
2c 1
2d 0
2e 0
2f 0
2g 1
2h 6

3 – Children who need help 3a 77
3b 16
3c 6
3d 1
3e 9

4 – Adults out of work or at risk of 
financial exclusion or young people at 
risk of worklessness

4a 66

4b 1
4c 0
4d 15
4e 9
4f 7

5 – Families affected by domestic 
violence

5a 31

5b 13
5c 9

6 – Parents and children with a range 
of health problems

6a 3

6b 39
6c 14
6d 35

Page 197



6

Referrals into Children and Family 
Centres

G
ardners 

Lane

H
esters 

W
ay

O
akw

ood

TOTALS

Number of cases open 53 52 38 143
Number of cases not engaged 2 2 2 6
Number of cases closed and outcomes 
achieved 15 26 26 67

What the data tells us 
 The Children and Family Centre exceeded its set target for the number of 

families supported in year 1.
 The first year of delivery of the targeted support service has been difficult to 

record and evidence accurately due to the late implementation of the liquid 
logic IT system.

 Children and Family centres were also introduced at the mid point of year 1 to 
the validation and closing of cases using the outcomes spreadsheet. The data 
shown only reflects the opened and closed cases measured against this new 
criteria.

 Year 2 of the contract will start to show a true reflection of the work being 
undertaken by the targeted support service and the outcomes achived by 
families.

 Children & Family Centres went from delivering a 0-5 service to a 0-19 
integrated service which has meant additional staff training has been 
undertaken to meet the holistic needs of whole family working.

 The service is supporting a high number of children in need.
 The service is providing packages of support to children on child protection 

plans where the longer term plan is for the child to stay within the family 
home.

Page 198



7

Case studies – individual work

Study 1:

Background/Context – family circumstances; identified needs (Bullet point)

 Child (6 years old) living with mother, maternal grandparents and uncle in a 3-bedroom 
house in Cheltenham

 Mother and father are separated; father has contact with child during the week after 
school 

 Maternal great grandmother died in November 2017; this bereavement had a significant 
impact on the family

 School reported child had been suffering from chronic headlice and tooth decay
 Support was offered by school staff to mother regarding addressing the headlice e.g. 

purchasing headlice lotion, headlice combs, demonstrating to mother how to check child’s 
hair, however there was no improvement 

 School highlighted that mother presents as someone who may have accessed help 
previously for special educational needs; no formal diagnosis. 

Partner agencies involved

 School – Referred into Early Help
 School Nurse – Referral had been made following initial TAF Meeting however only 

became involved when Child Protection procedures were initiated 
 Social Worker 
 CCP Family Worker 
 Advocate 
 Fire Service 

Input (what was done, key enablers/intervention that led to change)

 Following allocation of the referral and meeting with mother, a Team Around the Family 
meeting was arranged. This consisted of school headteacher, school SENCO, FSW, 
child’s teacher, mother and grandmother. Father was invited however did not attend.
Actions for both professionals and mother were agreed in each meeting and reviewed 
every 2 weeks. Following the second TAF Meeting professionals highlighted to mother 
that should there not be any improvements by the next meeting they would have to 
escalate their concerns.

 Home visits were arranged and attempted by FSW however were often unsuccessful with 
mother cancelling appointments or no one being present at the house. FSW eventually 
gained entry into the property, where the home conditions were found to be unsafe, 
unsanitary and evidence of significant hoarding

 A MARF was subsequently completed by the FSW and whilst it was picked up by the 
Children’s Assessment Team, the child was permitted to remain in the property with her 
mother and grandparents. A Strategy Meeting was requested by both FSW and the 
School; this meeting appeared to go ahead without any input from school or FSW

 FSW later raised concerns about the child remaining at the property as the bathroom was 
inaccessible and the previous outlet of the late great grandmother’s property was no 

Page 199



8

longer available. Decision was made for child to reside with the father
 Referral made by FSW to CCP for practical support with tidying the house as well as 

financial advice
 Referral to Fire Service made by FSW due to concerns around fire risks/hazards in the 

property
 1:1 Direct Work was completed with child in school. This piece of work looked at 

identifying key places for the child (e.g. school, Nanny’s house, daddy’s house, friend’s 
house, mummy’s house) and exploring what she liked about these places and if she 
would change anything about them
It also allowed the child to pinpoint significant people in her life and discuss what kind of 
person they were, what she liked about them etc.

Outcomes – What changed?

 Child was made subject to a Child Protection plan under the category of Neglect
 Decision made for child to reside with her father due to the poor home conditions of the 

mother’s property
 In-depth assessment of the property completed by the Fire Service deeming it unsafe for 

the child to return

Comments from Parent/carers/partners

Comments made by School Headteacher during Core Group:
“You received really positive feedback about your work with the family and were described as 
the 'glue' to the case who has gone above and beyond to meet the needs of [child] and are really 
committed to making a difference.”

Future actions 

 Outcome following assessment of mother’s learning needs and capacity to meet the 
child’s needs

 Long-term living arrangements for the child

Impact
 

 Home environment was seen. This allowed professionals to get a better picture of the 
child’s life and why the potential issues of headlice and tooth decay persisted 

 Child is living in a clean and safe environment
 Child no longer has headlice
 Child is now registered at the dentist and has had treatment for her tooth decay

Page 200



9

Study 2 :

Background/Context – family circumstances; identified needs (Bullet point)
All names in this case study have been changed.
Case file was opened by Family Support Services at Gardner’s Lane Children’s and 
Family Centre after a referral was sent via Early Help requesting support for the family in 
October 2018.

 Family Structure - Single female parent age nineteen, with 3 month old baby. Previously 
lived with her mother in Gloucester. 

 Then lived in supported housing which was provided by Stonham Housing, whilst 
receiving support in Cheltenham.

 Mother and Child became known services when she became pregnant and begun to 
receive support from Community Midwife in Gloucester.

 Became known to Social Care Children’s Services Gloucester when midwife reported that 
unborn baby was at risk due to mother’s ongoing drug taking (cannabis use) chaotic life 
style which was described as sofa surfing, partying, having poor relationships and having 
poor mental health.

 Biological father also posed a risk to the unborn and was known to be a perpetrator of 
domestic abuse.

 Relationship between mother and biological father was identified as unhealthy with 
domestic abuse taking place.

 Unborn became subject to Child Protection Plan and as part of the CP Plan, mother and 
baby was moved to Cheltenham in August 2017 and was placed into supported housing.

 Once in Cheltenham, a referral was made to Early Help.  This was then allocated to 
Family Support Services at Gardner’s Lane Children and Family Centre. 

 Referral identified a need for parenting support work and ask for help with developing 
mothers understanding of her baby’s current and future needs, to help her implement 
routines and to develop her support networks with in the local community.

 Allocated Family Support Worker from GLCC became part of the core group.
 Core group meetings were attend and requests on early help referral became part of the 

Child Protection Plan.
 Mum and baby was then introduced to Gardner’s Lane Children’s Centre and home 

visiting support begun.
 To develop peer support networks and to provide additional targeted support. Mother and 

baby was invited to attend ‘Invitation family time’ once weekly at GLCC.  Baby Club at 
GLCC and to attend Best Start Parenting Programme at GLCC.

 Mother and child began to attend GLCC and met other young parents whilst in group at 
Invitation Family Time.  Whilst attending mother begun to have conversations with FSW 
and Parents around parenting, taking advice and begun to discuss weaning, feeding, 
issues around safety, relationships and also gave the child opportunities to mix with peers 
of similar age.

Partner agencies involved

 Gardner’s Lane Children’s and Family Centre, Family Support Services Staff running 
Invitation family time.

Page 201



10

 Cheltenham Borough Homes and Stonham Housing Support Services.
 Health Visitors – Gardner’s Lane.
 Social Services, Cheltenham Children’s Team
 GP Services.
 Mental Health Services.
 Gloucestershire Little Bundles Charity.

Input (what was done, key enablers/intervention that led to change)

 Centre Introduction – Completed by Family Support Worker with a focus on relationship 
building.

 Invited and introduced to use the Centre for Invitation Family Time Group, Baby Club and 
Midwife Services.

 Best Start at Gardner’s Lane Children and Family Centre – As identified on CP Plan, 
invited to attend six week programme with advice and support around feeding, developing 
a healthy diet for child, holding and handling baby confidently, baby massage, oral 
hygiene, potty training and sign posting to other partner agencies such as the Library, 
Local Resource Centres and Community Hubs.

 Invitation Family Time at Gardner’s Lane Children’s Centre – Group designed to work 
with targeted families around giving, Child development advice, direct one to one 
Parenting Support and creating quality play opportunities for children attending to develop 
socially and to role model and help parents to understand the importance of play in early 
development.

 Health Visitor home visiting monthly – Health support and further advice around 
feeding, diet for child, potty training and routine developmental checks.  

 Family Support Services – Home visiting, relationship building and supporting the family 
through the CP Plan with practical support and also using Solihull Approach Parenting to 
build on current parenting Skills

 Partnership working with CBH/Stonham Housing to resolve issues around 
implementing routines, developing healthy financial circumstances, preparing for future 
home and moving into long term accommodation.  

 Partnership working with Health Visitor – Routine health checks, monitoring, and 
supporting with strategies to promote healthy eating routines, sleep routines, keeping 
baby safe and developing day routines.

 Safety planning and developing an understanding as to what baby would need to be 
safe.  Also supported with DV understanding what might be going on and dealing with this 
in the future.

 Planning ahead and thinking about Achieving Two Year and Funding Early Years 
Provision for nursery – given advice and support with understanding Early Years 
Provision focusing on early years learning goals, developing social skills, communication 
skills, and education skills.

 Sign posted to Solihull Approach To Parenting and Triple P Programme.

Page 202



11

Outcomes – What changed?

 Relationship building with parent develops.  
 Starts with meeting parent at home and within the Children’s Centre.
 FSW role was clarified and clear working expectations was agreed upon establishing trust 

and a clear sense of direction for the family.
 Parent and child were met at the Children’s Centre by both health visitor and family 

support worker on two separate occasions. This contained any anxieties parent was 
feeling at the time. 

 Parent begins to see the centre as a safe place and started to attend invitation family time 
and attended appointments to also see midwife within the centre.

 Attempts were made to attend baby club without any support.
 Professional working relationship allowed for needs to be identified, parents voice 

collected, child’s voice acknowledged and a support plan was set up through My Plan, 
which went onto to feed into CP Plan.

 Through maintaining a good relationship and maintaining frequent home visiting.  Parent 
addresses concerns around her mental health.

 Engaged with Best Start Programme and the educational work around weaning and 
feeding, she begins to implement better routines around sleep.

 Parent develops an understanding around early childhood development and responding 
to these to meet the child’s needs.

 Through attending invitation family time develops support networks with other young 
parents and made friends with other young local mums and father’s  through attending the 
group. 

 Through observing the different ages of children playing within the Invitation Family Time 
Group and with the support of other group members and the Family Support Worker, 
parent was able to see next stage in children’s development first hand and watch other 
parent’s role model how to deal with this effectively.

 Parent built up an understanding on how services can support her and child as a family.  
This increases her awareness of local resources within the community and takes child to 
local library for playgroups.

 Uses the Family time to network this information (library, or local activities) and 
encourages other parents to attend with her.

 Whilst in family time invitation group, the Child begun to see more opportunities to interact 
with similar peers resulting in further support work around language development and 
communication.

 Whilst in family time Parents were able to support each other with developing and 
extending play opportunities for children.

 Housing needs identified and plan put in place to move family to long term 
accommodation.

 Housing topics would frequently come up in Invitation Family Time. Support offered in 
family time group around home safety, understanding issues such as maintaining a 
household, managing bills, decision-making when budgeting.

 Child removed from CP Plan.
 Case closed after family moved to new home in Gloucester.

Page 203



12

Comments from Parent/carers/partners

 Thank you for supporting me with coming to the Centre. I have made friends and I’ve had 
fun watching my daughter play.

 I have learned so much, I will tell others about this.
 I don’t feel I need much support any more, I know who to go to if I need help.
 I feel safe and ready to go back to Gloucester, I’m looking forward to my new home.

Impact
 
Previous research and evaluations show that developing an effective professional relationship 
makes a real difference in improving outcomes for services users.  No matter how programmes 
and funding change across services, it is the ‘healthy human relationship’ that are at the core of 
effective service delivery.  
The Munro review highlights the importance of professional relationships in improving outcomes 
for families and the need for staff to have the skills and experience in being able to achieve this.  

The Family Support Service Staff at Gardner’s Lane Children’s and Family Centre are all able to 
offer skills such as understanding when people are in crisis, containing strong feelings, 
identifying strengths and working with them from a holistic approach. They frequently work from 
a motivational basis through using motivational interviewing skills, they encourage clients to 
move forward, to find their own solutions, through using solution focused therapy skills. But also 
keep the voice of the child at the forefront of their work to ensure the child’s needs are 
consistently met.
 
Through attending services at the children centre, such as Best start and Invitation Family Time. 
The parent was able to go away with the reassurance that such groups within the community are 
there to offer help and that there is a particular structure to this, that says ‘it is safe, its ok, I know 
they will listen to and support me’. This is consistent with the restorative practice model where 
most work can be done effectively with people when we are working within the ‘together box’.  
This gave the parent the confidence to also engage with Mental health services consistently and 
to be resilient when services came to an end.

We know that children brought up by parents with poor parenting skills are twice as likely to 
display serious anti –social behaviour according to research carried out by the Department for 
Education.  The research shows that inconsistent parenting at home was creating a generation 
of children with anger management problems, poor attention spans, poor social skills, social 
resilience and low levels of attainment.

The early help parenting support offered to this particular parent through Family support services 
and reinforced through Family time group support work, gave the mother the opportunity to 
develop skills and knowledge around understanding early childhood development, her child’s 
upcoming development, what to expect in these situations and how to deal with this effectively.  
It also helped her to address and recognise that parenting can sometimes go wrong when 
parenting. She was able to see that when this happen this was not the child being naughty, 
difficult or stubborn. But to see it as the child’s emerging development, the child trying to learn, 
trying to communicate and how to be helpful in these situations.

Page 204



13

Developing this curious approach to parenting with the mother and other parents in  family time 
encouraged her and other parents to consider attending further parenting workshops.
Information was provided to this parent before moving to Gloucester around what is currently 
being provided within the county in particular Gloucester for her to attend in her next nearest 
children and family Centre.

Page 205



14

Supervised Contacts taking place in Children and Family 
Centres

TOTALS

G
ardners 

Lane

H
esters W

ay

O
akw

ood

Number of Contacts booked 48 92 5 145
Number of hours booked 84 159 8 251

Number of families attending 8 6 4 18

Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based 
in the Children & Family Centres provided by partners and 
stakeholders

TOTALS
G

ardners 
Lane

H
esters W

ay

O
akw

ood

Number of Adults attending 3,359 2,712 1.513 7,584

Number of Children attending 4,096 2,301 416 6,813

Services accessed were:

Adult Education; GDASS; Greensquare; Health Visitors and Midwive’s; Parent Run 
Groups; Safeguarding; Social Care; Supervised contact; Early Start; Immunisation; 
SALT; Stay & Play; Baby Bounce and Rhyme; Toddler Time; Baby weigh – drop in; 
Health Visitor appointments; Music groups; Code club; Art & Craft events; Author 
events; Dogs Trust; World Read Aloud Day; Other professionals working with 
children; Stay and Play; Seasonal events; Brownies Library visit; Explore Learning 
Writing workshops; Summer Reading Challenge.

What the data tells us
 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 

supervised contacts
 In addition to the targeted family support service the centres are facilitating 

additional targeted and universal services to support children and families
 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by 

local families

Page 206



15

Delivering ‘evidenced based’ parenting programme

Performance Measure
1. How many adults/ families have started a  programme 
2. How many have completed the programme?
3. What evaluation tool/process have you used to measure outcomes?
4. Percentage of participants on the programme whose progress has been 

evaluated. 

Data Source: Self reported by Children’s Centre provider Gardners Lane & 
Oakwood Federation

Gardners Lane Hesters Way

Parenting Programme Solihull Best Start Solihull
No of parent starting 17 5 8

No of parents completing 9 3 3

No of evaluations completed 9 3 3

No of parents identifying positive change 9 3 3

 What the data tells us 
 A good range of partners are engaged – recent appointment of a Partnership 

Manager will build on and improve this.
 Programmes are evaluated using a range of methodologies 
 A programme of support for families to improve parenting is well embedded
 Pre-birth classes are reaching families at a much earlier stage to embed 

positive parenting.

Page 207



16

Case studies – group work

Study 1:

Background/Context – 
The Chill and Chat programme has been designed to be used with a small group 
of Year Five children identified by the school. Its aim is to:

 Provide a safe environment to enable the children to express themselves 
and share their worries.

 Improve self-image.
 Raise self-esteem, confidence and resilience
 Give opportunities to build on existing strengths by working together within 

the group.
 Increase knowledge and skills around the topics covered. 

Partner agencies involved

Gardner’s Lane Primary School/Oakwood Primary School – prior to the current 
programme format being written, the programme was delivered in other forms over 
a number of years by a variety of Community Family Workers.  
Hester’s Way Primary have commissioned the programme in its current form:

 March – July 2016
 April – July 2017
 March – July 2018

Input (what was done, key enablers/intervention that led to change)

The Chill and Chat programme provides 12 hour long sessions in school – 
divided into 4 topics – Getting to know you, Making Friends, Worries and 
how to beat them, Keeping Safe. Over the 12 weeks the children are able to 
complete the following activities:

 Creating a group agreement.
 Making a name plaque.
 Using the ‘chill and chat’ letterbox to post notes to the facilitator about their 

likes, thoughts, wishes, questions and worries.
 Sharing low level information about themselves during the 'M+Ms' game.
  Making a "Wanted for being amazing" poster.
  Completing an emotions quiz.
  Completing a group activity matching people to their jobs/professions.
  Creating a comic photo fit face.
  Playing the "A or B" choices game to provoke individual thought and 

decision making.

Page 208



17

  Creating a "Good friend potion" collage.
  Playing the "Chair game" to increase confidence and group participation.
  Completing a "What is laughter?" flip chart activity.
  Dressing up in comic accessories and taking photo portraits.
  Making a picture frame for their portraits.
  Completing a joke or laughter survey.
  Completing the "Hotting up and cooling down" activity to identify what makes 

conflict better or worse.
  Decorating a biscuit for a friend - to practise asking questions and listening 

to others.
  Filling in a “signs of stress” tick list.
  Practising two stress busting visualisation techniques - "wipe off your 

whiteboard" and "ninja point of power".
  Designing and making a worry box.
  Completing a "House of worries" flip chart activity.
  Designing and making a 3D "House of good things".
  Completing a personal "Mega-five" handout to identify trusted individuals.
  Playing the "in the style of.." game to encourage group participation and turn 

taking.
  Making an emotional barometer to identify emotions and indicate strength of 

feeling.
  Participating in a “keeping safe” flip chart activity.
  Designing and making a keeping safe diorama.
  Completing an Internet logo quiz.
  Designing and making a "stay safe" bead decoration.
 Participating in an "Ask the experts" panel game about Internet safety.
 Creating a "Chillers and Chatters know how" display (including information/ 

discussion regarding the NSPCC Pants Rule).
  Being involved in numerous conversations regarding the topic of the session 

and/or spontaneous discussions arising out of behaviour in group, questions, 
comments etc.

Outcomes – What changed?

Quantitative/Distance travelled evaluation - the children were asked to score 
themselves on building confidence, talking about feelings, making friends, school 
and learning and keeping safe, using a 1-10 star and its accompanying 
statements. This evaluation was carried out at the beginning of the programme 
and again after delivery of the final session. The following chart was generated 
using the average scores and shows an improvement in all areas.

Page 209



18

Comments from the “Chillers and Chatters”
Tell me something about “Chill and Chat”

 We love the arts and crafts.
 We get to have yummy snacks!
 We always have fun together.
 It’s a really good way to make friendships better.
 Some friends come with you to the group and you can make other friends 

when you get there.
 It has helped me communicate better with other people.
 We can learn to stay safe.
 We know that it’s ok to keep good secrets but not to keep bad ones.
 We can tell ‘her’ things if we are worried.

Is there anything that needs to be changed about “Chill and Chat”
 We could have longer sessions.
 Let’s have more weeks.
 I like it how it is.
 Nothing.
 You could maybe tell people earlier about the letterbox – just in case we are 

worried about anything.
 Sometimes it would be fun to have more people – but then I do like that there 

are only a few of us because we can get to know each other better and have 
more chance of talking.

What would you tell the next group about going to “Chill and Chat”
 It’s really good – you won’t regret going to it.
 I would tell them that it’s really fun.
 That you don’t have to say things out loud if you don’t want to. 

Page 210



19

 That they will wish for 9,000,000,000 more sessions.
 You won’t want to mess around because you won’t want to miss anything 

that is happening.
 You don’t have to call ‘her’ “Miss”.
 It’s fun.
 It’s awesome!
 ‘She’ is very kind. You could always talk to ‘her’ about your feelings.
 It’s really fun and you get to have treats.
 You will be making things and doing fun activities.
 You get snacks.
 You get to make fun models and dress up funny.
 If you needed any help while you were at Chill and Chat you could grab ‘her’ 

afterwards and she would try her best to help you.

Future actions 

March 2018 - informal training session run by facilitator to enable 
Family support workers to use the Chill and Chat ideas and resources to support in 
the delivery of work with individual children/families.
 
Impact
 
The programme has been commissioned by the school as they felt that its content 
supports and complements the work already being put in place by the Parent 
Support Advisory Team.
The children referred to the course are identified by staff as needing some extra 
input in a small group situation – as the programme is aimed at Year 5 children 
anything that is highlighted by their attendance at the group can be picked up and 
worked on during their time in year 6.

Page 211



20

Study 2:

Background/Context – family circumstances; identified needs (Bullet point)
 Child is a 5 year old male. 
 Referral for support received following Mum raising concerns around child's 

behaviour both in the home and at school. 
 Concerns around the impact of his behaviour in school on his social 

development and academic attainment. 
 Mum contacted social care following advice from child's health visitor in 

October 2017 in order to get support in how to manage her concerns around 
child displaying difficult behaviour around contact with his Dad, Dad. Mum 
reported that child will have a melt down and say "no, not daddy's, not 
daddy's" and saying that he did not want to go to his house. 

 Mum reported that child will often become shut down and does not want to 
talk about how he is feeling or what is worrying him. 

 Decision made to commence an Early Help Assessment in order to better 
understand what life is like for child, the reasons for child's reported 
emotional behaviour, and also to better understand child's feelings and 
views. 

 Outcome of the Early Help Assessment showed a need for support to be put 
in place for child in managing his emotional behaviour and begin to teach 
him the skills to begin to express his feelings 

 Assessment also highlighted that child is a Young Carer. Mum has reported 
a lot of health needs that will often leave her unable to get out of bed. child 
was identified as a Young Carer, and takes on caring roles in the home 

 Mum and Primary School reported Mum’s mental health as a concern, and 
the impact of this on her ability to be consistently emotionally available for 
child and support him in managing his own emotions 

Partner agencies involved
 Primary School 
 Gloucestershire Young Carers
 Counselling Service

Input (what was done, key enablers/intervention that led to change)
 Early Help Assessment 
 Direct pieces of work with child

- Mum’s health 
- Genogram 

Page 212



21

- My Journey 
- House of Worries and House of Good Things 

 Direct pieces of work with Mum
- Parenting support/ behaviour strategies 
- Support around impact of health needs on child

 Referral for counselling for Mum 
 Resources sought from GYC – further information around future support 

accessed 
 Pastoral support and nurture groups put in place in school for child 
 Communication log put in place re. child’s behaviour and Mum’s health 

Outcomes – What changed?
Behaviour in school 

 Child now observed as being happy and settled in school 
 Previous concerns around child showing physical behavior towards other 

children that led to them getting hurt has not been observed 
 School reported that there are significant improvements in child’s school 

work – child used to become upset and show difficult behavior when he felt 
that he was unable to do work, however, this is no longer something that is 
being observed from child, and he is now doing work despite finding it 
difficult. This is a really positive change for child 

 Child is focused on his school work and is making good progress 
academically – his behavior and worries are not impacting on this, as they 
previously were preventing him from learning 

 In May, child shared with his pastoral support worker that he was feeling 
worried about where he was going to fit in to the family home following Mum 
telling him that they were expecting a baby. Agreed that this was really 
positive for him to share this worry, and he was then able to be supported 
with it

Behavior at home 
 Observing less difficult behavior from child at home
 Both parent reporting behavior management strategies in place at home are 

working and child is responding to them 
 Both parents reported that they have clear expectations in place around 

child’s behavior
 Both reported that they communicate around child’s behavior – for example 

after having contact with Dad, he will update Mum around what type of 
weekend child has had 

Managing worries 
 When child is with Dad, they have implemented ‘talk time’ – this is where 

Dad and child will sit down 1:1 and talk about what is happening and how 
they are feeling

Page 213



22

 One-to-one pastoral support in place for child on a weekly basis 
 Mum reported that she feels that child is more open about his feelings 
 Observed decrease in the anxious behaviors seen from child – e.g. chewing 

clothes
Self-esteem/confidence 

 Previous concerns around lack of self-confidence in trying to do his work on 
his own have significantly decreased – child is now happy to give the work a 
go 

 School reported that they have observed child as displaying as happier and 
more settled, and there being less emotional behaviour from him, for 
example not being upset when coming in in the morning 

Concerns around O’s contact with his dad 
 Parents agreed their relationship has improved, and believed it was 

important that this would continue for child
 Both agreed that it was positive that child saw them communicate and have 

relationships with each other 
 Both felt that they were able to share any worries or concerns with each 

other
Mum’s mental health 

 Funding to continue for Mum to receive counselling sessions through 
Primary School 

 Weekly counselling sessions have been offered to Mum
 Mum has reported that the counselling sessions have been helpful

Mum’s physical health 
 Resources accessed through Glos Young Carers and used with child 
 Practical strategies put in place around reducing child’s anxiety when Mum is 

unwell – e.g. putting in place a plan child is aware of if Mum is unable to care 
for him 

 Strategies put in place in order to encourage child to share any worries he 
has around his mum both in school and at home 

 Communication log in place between school and Mum to share when she is 
unwell so that child is given an opportunity to talk about this 

Comments from Parent/carers/partners

Future actions 
 Child to continue to receive support from school until the end of the summer 

term – school to review this 
 Child to be referred to Gloucestershire Young Carers when he meets the 

Page 214



23

criteria age of 8 in order to access further support around being a Young 
Carer 

 Primary School to continue to monitor child and his emotional well-being 

Impact
 

 Through the support put in place, there has been an observed improvement 
in his educational attainment. If this was not to happen, then the impact of 
this could be that child would not achieve academically and therefore may 
not have any aspirations in place.  This may mean that he is more likely to 
become involved in ASB or criminal activity in the future.

 Mum’s emotional well-being and mental health has been improved through 
the support provided through counselling. This has allowed Mum to be more 
emotionally available to child. If this was not to happen, then this would 
negatively impact on the relationship between Mum and child, and also 
child’s emotional well-being. 

 Child’s emotional well-being has been improved through the support put in 
place. If this support was not to be put in place, it could be seen that child’s 
mental health as an adult may have been negatively impacted, and he may 
be more likely to experience mental health issues. 

 There has also been an observed improvement in child’s behaviour through 
the support put in place and the actions taken by both the family and 
professionals. If this was not to happen, and child’s behaviour was to 
continue to be difficult, this may have negatively impacted the relationship 
between Mum and child. Through support being put in place around 
behaviour, it has allowed there to be a positive and communicative 
relationship, and the secure attachment from which child can thrive is able to 
continue to be in place. 

 Child will be able to continue to have contact with his dad which will allow 
him to continue to build a relationship with him. If this was not able to 
happen, then child may have experienced difficulties in the future in building 
relationships, as he could potentially have issues around attachment.  

Page 215



24

Family Support Standards

Service Average 3.9 4.57

Service Standard 13 4 5
Service Standard 14 3 4

Service Standard 11 3 4
Service Standard 12 4 4

Service Standard 9 4 5
Service Standard 10 5 5

Service Standard 7 4 5
Service Standard 8 4 4

Service Standard 5 3 4
Service Standard 6 4 4

Service Standard 3 4 5
Service Standard 4 4 5

Service Standard 1 5 5
Service Standard 2 4 5

Family Support Service Standards Q1 Q4

Service Standard Standard Score Standard Score

 The family support standards guidance attached as Appendix 1 is used as 
part of contract monitoring to monitor the progress and the service. An action 
plan is submitted annually to improve standards and is monitored quarterly.

 The data shows a baseline assessment figure and end of Year 1 
improvements.

 Overall the service has maintained family support standards and has 
improved in some key areas. 

Page 216



25

Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres

Universal Services

C
harlton 

K
ings Library

Leckham
pton

R
ow

anfield

U
p H

atherley 
Library TOTALS

Number of children accessing universal services 1,487 0 285 1763 3,535

Number of families accessing universal services 0 0 0 0 0

Targeted Services based in de-designated 
community run Children’s Centres

C
harlton 

K
ings Library

Leckham
pton

R
ow

anfield

U
p H

atherley 
Library TOTALS

Number of children accessing targeted services 0 1 0 0 1

Number of families accessing targeted services 0 1 0 0 1

Parenting Courses offered from children’s centre buildings:

Solihull

The range of other services offered from the centres:

Supervised contacts; Inspiring Families; Storytime; Adult Education; GDASS; 
Greensquare; Health Visitors and Midwives; Communication & Interaction Group; 
Family Group Conference; Family Contact; Freedom Programme; Family Support 
Worker sessions; TAC meetings; Health Social/Total Communication Meetings.

What the data tells us 

 Leckhampton Children’s Centre was adopted by Leckhampton Primary 
School. The space has been used for supervised contact for a family.  
However it was felt by the Contact Team that the room was too small to use in 
the future.  The space is now being used mainly by professionals supporting 
children within the school.

Performance Measure: Data collected from Universal Children’s Centres

Page 217



26

 The children’s centre library services do not collect information on specific 
services accessed by families with children 0-11 years, however numbers are 
encouraging.

 A wide range of universal services are on offer to children and families in the 
locality

Page 218



27

Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision

In April 2017, the local authority commissioned the charity organisation Gardner 
Lane & Oakwood Federation to run the group of Children and Families Centres 
known as the Cheltenham Locality Children & Family centres on its behalf, offering 
targeted provision. 

The remaining children’s centres are being developed as hubs for education and 
childcare, universal services and are delivered by private, voluntary and community 
groups as follows:

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Charlton Kings Charlton Kings Library Service
Leckhampton Leckhampton Primary School
Rowanfield Gardners Lane & Oakwood Federation
Up Hatherley Up Hatherley Library Service

Attached to a number of these centres are on site Early Years provision.  These are:

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Gardners Lane Gardners Lane 
& Oakwood 
Federation

80 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
Term Time Only   
(38 weeks)

Good –
26th April 2018

Hesters Way Gardners Lane 
& Oakwood 
Federation

30 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.30-3.30 
Term Time Only  
(40 weeks)

Outstanding – 
10th March 2016

Oakwood Gardners Lane 
& Oakwood 
Federation

66 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.45-3.45 
Term Time Only  
(40 weeks)

Outstanding -
2nd February 2016

Rowanfield Gardners Lane 
& Oakwood 
Federation

36 Mon to Fri 8.45-
11.45 & 12.15-3.315 
Term Time Only  
(40 weeks)

Outstanding - 
18th July 2016

 
What the data tells us 

 The nurseries are doing very well, 3 of which are rated as Outstanding and 1 
is rated as Good.

Performance Measure: Ofsted Inspection Framework for nurseries on Children’s Centre sites

Page 219



28

 
Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 year olds

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years 30 hours entitlement by three and four year 
olds by children’s centre reach area

The Government has made childcare more affordable for working parents by 
increasing the early education and childcare offer from 15 to up to 30 hours per week 
and for 38 weeks of the year (or all the year round equivalent) for some 3 and 4 year 
old children.

Since September 2017 families with a 3 or 4 year old who meet certain criteria can 
receive up to an additional 15 hours of early education and childcare per week which 
is in addition to the current entitlement of 15 hours per week, which all 3 and 4 year 
olds are entitled to when they reach the qualifying age.

The following table represents a full Academic Year showing the number of children 
in receipt of 30 hours since its inception.

Children's Centre 

Charlton Kings

G
ardners Lane

Hesters W
ay

Leckham
pton

O
akw

ood

Row
anfield

U
p Hatherley

 

Cheltenham
 Totals

No of 3yos @ 31.8.17 126 250 208 212 301 107 192  1396
No of 4yos @ 31.8.17 154 266 202 225 256 119 205  1427
          
Autumn 2017 3yos 46 131 41 102 105 24 67  516
% take up 37% 52% 20% 48% 35% 22% 35%  37%
Autumn 2017 4yos 1 0 0 0 1 0 8  10
% take up 1% 0% 0% 0% 0.4% 0% 4.0%  1%
          
Spring 2018 3 yos 34 137 37 98 142 28 65  541
% take up 27% 55% 18% 46% 47% 26% 34%  39%
Spring 2018 4 yos 27 50 12 34 50 8 34  215
% take up 18% 19% 6% 15% 20% 7% 17%  15%
          
Summer 2018 3 yos 36 157 44 98 136 26 64  561
% take up 29% 63% 21% 46% 45% 24% 33%  40%
Summer 2018 4 yos 36 78 22 60 74 18 53  341
% take up 23% 29% 11% 27% 29% 15% 26%  24%

Page 220



29

What the data tells us 

 The data in the above table is taken from the termly headcount.  The majority 
of children using their entitlement were aged 3.  The number of 4 year olds 
has increased term by term and the 3 year olds have been stable.

 The highest percentage of families accessing the 30 hours funding in the 
Summer Term is in the Gardners Lane reach area where 63% of 3 year olds 
and 29% of 4 year olds took up the offer.  The lowest percentage being 
Hesters Way area showing 21% of 3 year olds and 11% of 4 year olds taking 
up the offer.

Page 221



30

Take Up of the Two Year Old Entitlement 

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years Education of eligible two year olds by 
children’s centre reach area 
Data Source: Capita One Finance Extract 

The Department of Education has specified the entitlement criteria.  Free places are 
to be targeted with a primary focus on economic disadvantage with the council 
having a statutory duty to secure 570 hours of free education for each eligible child.  
This equates to 15 hours per week over 38 weeks of the year.

A child will be entitled to the hours from the term after their 2nd birthday, if both of the 
following conditions are satisfied: (1) the child has attained the age of two (2) the 
child or parent meets the eligibility criteria if you live in England and get one of the 
following benefits:

 Income Support
 Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA)
 Income-related Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)
 Universal Credit – for places starting in the summer term of 2018 (on or after 

1st April 2018), or any subsequent term, if a parent is entitled to Universal 
Credit they must have an annual net earned income equivalent to and not 
exceeding £15,400, assessed on up to three of the parent’s most recent 
Universal Credit assessment periods

 Tax Credits and a parent has an annual income of under £16,190 before tax
 The guaranteed element of State Pension Credit
 Support through part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act
 The Working Tax Credit 4-week run on (the payment you get when you stop 

qualifying for Working Tax Credit)

A child can also get free early education and childcare if any of the following apply:

 they are looked after by a local council
 they have a current statement of special educational needs (SEN) or an 

education, health and care (EHC) plan
 they get Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
 they have left care under a special guardianship order, child arrangements 

order or adoption order.

Page 222



31

Children Centre 
Reach Area

Age 2 at 
31st Aug 

2017

Number of 2 yr 
olds potentially 

eligible for funded 
place (3 terms 

from the start of 
the next term)

Current number of 
2YO children 

accessing a place 
(Headcount 

Spring Term)

Difference/ 
Shortfall

Charlton Kings 125 8 3 38%
Gardners Lane 253 85 49 58%
Hesters Way 202 93 63 68%
Leckhampton 206 18 18 100%
Oakwood 240 46 45 98%
Rowanfield 141 45 29 64%
Up Hatherley 182 21 21 100%
Cheltenham Totals 1349 316 228 72%

What the data tells us 

 The reach area with lowest number of potentially eligible children is Charlton 
Kings with 8 children, and the highest is Hesters Way with 93 children.

 The lowest take up of 2 year old places has been in The Charlton Kings area 
at 38%, with the highest take up being in both the Leckhampton and Up 
Hatherley areas at 100%.

 The County is maintaining an overall total take up of approximately 84%, 
however during the Spring Term 2018 the take up dropped to 74%.  The 
reasons for this have been discussed at national level and it is thought that 
this may be due to the changes in the Universal Credits.

Page 223



32

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance

..\..\Performance and Contract monitoring (TSS)\Copy of FSS Standards Matric 
for RAG rating.xlsx

Page 224

../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx
../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx


1

2018-19

Wendy Gray, Outcome Manager

July 2018

Tewkesbury Children 
& Family Centres 

Performance Report

Page 225



2

Children & Family Centre Locality Performance Report 2018-19

Contents

 Introduction……………………….. …………………………………………………….. 3

 Number of Families & Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre 
Services…………………………………………………………………………………… 4

o Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18………………4
o Priority Groups seen by Children & Family Centres…………………………….. 4 
o Families First Data………………………………………………………………….. 5
o Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucester City Locality 17/18……... 5
o Referrals into Children & Family Centres………………………………………… 6
o Case studies – Individual work - Study 1 & Study 2…………………………….. 7
o Supervised contacts taking place in Children & Family Centres………………. 11
o Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the Children 

& Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders……………………… 11

  Delivering ‘evidence based’ parenting programme…………………………. ……… 12

o Parenting Programme………………………………………………………….. 12
o Case studies – Group Work : Study 1 & Study 2………………………….... 13

 Family Support Service Standards……………………………………………. ……… 17

o Family Support Service Standards (locality table)………………………….. 17 

 Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres……………………………………………………………………………………. 18

o Universal Services……………………………………………………………….18
o Targeted Services based in de-designated community run Children’s 

Centres……………………………………………………………………………18 

 Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision…………………………………………… 19 

 Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 years olds…………………………………21

 Take up of the 2 year old entitlement …………………………………………………. 23

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance (hyperlink)……………………………… 25

Page 226



3

1. Introduction

Name of Locality Tewkesbury

Name of Provider Gardners Lane & Oakwood Federation

Children and Family Centres in 
Locality 

Brockworth
Noah’s Ark

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

Bishops Cleeve Library
Jigsaw (Churchdown)
Jigsaw (Innsworth)
Northway & Ashchurch
Winchcombe Library

Since 1st April 2017, 16 children and family centres have been managed by 3 
organisations who bid to run 6 locality contracts across the county. 

Barnardo’s – Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud
Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) – Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire County Council (FF+) - Cotswolds

There is a performance report for each locality and an overall service performance 
report for the targeted family support service running from these 16 children and 
family centres. Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of children and 
family centre activity during the year 2017-2018. 

The monitoring of current children and family centre activity and impact is based on a 
variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 
 Performance and Data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems for 

collecting data 
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres
 Headcount data

In addition to the 16 children and family centres under contract for the targeted family 
support service Gloucestershire County Council has handed over 29 children centres 
that are currently in the process of being de-designated, following an EOI process 
undertaken for each of these buildings.  Each centre has been handed over as a 
community hub asset to local providers to sustain the running of universal services 
for children and families.

Page 227



4

Number of Families and Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre Services

Families accessing services at Children & Family 
Centres 17/18 TOTALS

B
rockw

orth

N
oah’s A

rk 
(York R

oad)

Number of families that have received a 
targeted family support service

11 32 43

Number of individuals that have received a 
targeted family support service

32 98 130

Priority Groups seen by Children and Family Centres TOTALS

B
rockw

orth

N
oah’s A

rk 
(York R

oad)

Teenage Parents 0 0 0
Workless Families 20 39 59

CIN 71 45 116
CP 37 21 58
CIC 20 13 33

Performance Measure: Numbers of families receiving services through Children’s 
Centre  

Data Source: Quarterly Contract Monitoring 

Page 228



5

Troubled Families data

Total Number of 
families in Tewkesbury

Children’ Centre 
proportion of target for 
17/18

Total number of families in 
Tewkesbury with children 0-11 
that meet Troubled Families 
Criteria

116 46

The Children Centre’s target was 46 families for year 1, 43 families received a 
targeted support service as set out in the new specification.  A mobilisation period 
from the last contract specification to the new one impacted on the capacity of staff 
to meet this year 1 target.

Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Tewkesbury Locality 17/18

Criteria Total Number of 
families in Tewkesbury 

1 – Parents and children involved with 
crime or anti-social behaviour

1a 0

1b 0
1c 0
1d 0

2 – Children who have not been 
attending school regularly

2a 2

2b 0
2c 0
2d 0
2e 0
2f 0
2g 0
2h 3

3 – Children who need help 3a 40
3b 1
3c 1
3d 1
3e 2

4 – Adults out of work or at risk of 
financial exclusion or young people at 
risk of worklessness

4a 22

4b 0
4c 0
4d 9
4e 3
4f 3

5 – Families affected by domestic 
violence

5a 12

5b 5
5c 0

6 – Parents and children with a range 
of health problems

6a 1

6b 18
6c 6
6d 8

Page 229



6

Referrals into Children and Family Centres

B
rockw

orth

N
oah’s A

rk 
(York R

oad)

TOTALS

Number of cases open 31 35 66
Number of cases not engaged 4 4 8
Number of cases closed and outcomes 
achieved

14 6 20

What the data tells us 
 The first year of delivery of the targeted support service has been difficult to 

record and evidence accurately due to the late implementation of the liquid 
logic IT system.

 Children and family centres were also introduced at the mid point of year 1 to 
the validation and closing of cases using the outcomes spreadsheet. The data 
shown only reflects the opened and closed cases measured against this new 
criterion and not the families supported during the mobilisation period.

 Children & Family Centres went from delivering a 0-5 service to a 0-19 
integrated service which has meant additional staff training has been 
undertaken to meet the holistic needs of whole family working.

 Year 2 of the contract will start to show a true reflection of the work being 
undertaken by the targeted support service and the outcomes achieved by 
families.

 The service is supporting a high number of children in need.
 The service is providing packages of support to children on child protection 

plans where the long term plan is for the child to stay within the family home.

Page 230



7

Case studies – individual work

Study 1:

Background/Context – family circumstances; identified needs (Bullet point)
Young family Mum, Dad, 2 year old Daughter (A) and Unborn baby. 
History of Mental ill health with Mum and post-natal depression.
Alcohol misuse with Dad 
Reports of physical abuse from Dad to Mum.
Reports of Financial control from Dad to Mum.
Family first referred from the referral and assessment team and agreed we would attend the 
Initial Child Protection Conference, where I first met the family.  
Identified needs were support with Healthy relationships.
Support with Boundaries and Behaviour Management.
Support with Finances (initially requested but Green Square a more suitable agency for this as 
they are more specialist)
It was raised at ICPC that the family have not engaged well with support. 

Partner agencies involved
Health Visitor
Social Care
Midwifery.
Following ICPC, referral made to Green Square Housing for support with finances.
Awaiting the consent to refer to Housing for support with re-housing Mum and little girl due to 
potential family breakdown.
Considering a GDASS referral if needed for Healthy relationship work is greater than within Early 
Help limits. 
Input (what was done, key enablers/intervention that led to change)
I became involved at the ICPC where both parents agreed for me to help support the family.
I did an initial home visit where we unpicked some of the discussion points from the ICPC.
On further conversations it transpired that the perceived financial abuse is down to the Mum 
getting unreasonable debts out in her name that are leaving the family short, so Dad no longer 
allows her access to his wages until he is sure the mortgage and other necessary bills are paid. 
Dad is very cautious that Mum’s poor financial management will lead the family to losing their 
home. So looking at it from that perspective we agreed the best way forward was some 
budgeting support and support around financial education. Consent was given to contact Green 
Square and they advised the family attended one of their drop in sessions which they forwarded 
me details of and I have subsequently forwarded to the family.
There are clear communication problems within the family and it is unclear how well the family 
function. Following on from the core group which highlighted the need for counselling for the 
family, I have raised concerns around counselling where domestic abuse is present and also 
highlighted that Dad is asking for space. As a team around the family some professionals were 
urging the family to seek counselling and stay together due to Mum’s reluctance to split. 
However, I expressed concerns that this could lead to a situation of increased tension and 
arguments in the home that both (A) and unborn baby would be exposed to. Following raising 
these concerns Mum chose to stay with her family for a week to enable Dad to have the space 
he was asking for. 
Healthy relationship work with Mum is due to start when housing situation is clearer.
Urged Dad to also undertake some healthy relationship work with the Turnaround programme to 

Page 231



8

which he was advised to self-refer. 
Mum was supported by Family Support and health to understand the importance of correct 
Mental Health support when pregnant and has subsequently re-commenced anti-depressants 
and appears to be already feeling the effect of these. 
Through seeing (A) in her environment, she is very comfortable with strangers and is happy to 
seek adult attention. She is also very responsive to Mum’s emotions and whilst it was reported at 
the ICPC that she is above expected for developmental milestones I have raised that she is also 
displaying signs in line with those of a child affected by domestic abuse in the home. 
Outcomes – What changed?
Mum has recommenced Anti-depressants, this will enable her to manage the birth of the new 
baby more effectively and will enable her to be more emotionally available to her children. Mum 
will also have a clearer mind when making future decisions.
The family are being supported through a potential separation and will be supported with 
housing referrals if needed. 
(A) will not be exposed to domestic abuse.

Comments from Parent/carers/partners
Mum and Dad are currently not responding to contact from me. Should this continue, the support 
from other members of the Core group will be required to get this back on track, or raise as an 
ongoing issue in line with the concerns raised at ICPC around engagement. 

Future actions 
Continue to monitor (A’s) emotional wellbeing, and responses to change. Monitoring and 
reacting to signs she has experienced trauma, based on her parent’s relationship.
Await decisions from the family if they are to stay together. 
Should the family separate, support mum to be rehoused, continue to support attending financial 
support with Green Square.
When Mum is clearer with what the living arrangements are and is in a more stable home 
environment consider starting healthy relationship work or signposting to GDASS.
Depending on healthy relationship work, look at offering Solihull to both parents either the course 
in January or 1:1 however, baby is due in January so may prove difficult. 

Impact
(A) will live in a safer household where both parents are emotionally available to her and can 
keep her safe. This may mean (A) needs to live with one parent and see the other parent 
separately.
(A) will live in a home not at risk due to financial concerns
(A) will be secure with which adults are safe and not display negative behaviours linked to 
Domestic Abuse. Mum and Dad will have support to move forward with setting boundaries (A) 
will have a clear message from both parents around what is expected of her and what she is to 
expect from them. 
Both Mum and Dad will increase their knowledge around domestic abuse, this will enable 
healthy relationships either together or with separate relationships. 
(A) and unborn sibling will no longer be subject to a Child Protection Plan.

 

Page 232



9

Study 2:

Background/Context – family circumstances; identified needs (Bullet point)
 When Mum was first referred to our service she lived outside Bishops Cleeve and was 

quite isolated. She had 4 children; a son aged 10 yrs and three daughters aged 18yrs, 
4yrs and 3yrs.

 Mum had been referred to Social Care by Grandmother (Mum’s Mother) as she had left 
the three younger children at home at night alone whilst going out to search for her oldest 
daughter.  

 Mum was suffering with mental health issues after losing her Dad as well as being 
recently diagnosed herself with autism. 

 Mum had also been in an abusive relationship with the younger two girls’ Dad and 
although they were separated, he was controlling over the contact arrangements and this 
was having a very negative effect on her mental health and her care of the children.

 As a result of how Mum was presenting the children were showing high levels of anxiety 
when separated from her. The 10 yr old son was doing a lot of the caring for his younger 
siblings and his Mum also.

 Mum’s relationship with her own Mum was not a very close one and she struggled with 
gaining any support from her Mum and her sister. 

Partner agencies involved
Social Care initial assessment
Health Visitor
Nursery for the 3 yr old girl
Primary School for the 4 yr old girl and 10 yr old boy.
Young Carers 
GDASS

Input (what was done, key enablers/intervention that led to change)
 A  My Assessment and My Plans were undertaken with the family
 The son was referred to Young Carers and other activities he could do out of the home 

environment.
 The two girls had some wishes and feelings work undertaken and NSPCC ‘pants’ work by 

the Family Support Worker (FSW) as they were both anxious about leaving their Mum to 
go on visits to their Dad and there were some concerns about this.

 Work with Dad on what activities he was doing with the girls and his parenting style when 
they stayed with him to ensure consistency of approach with Mum.

 Within the plan for Mum it was identified that she needed to be able to feel more confident 
in managing the children’s behaviour 

 Mum began to address the difficulties she was experiencing with her own mental health to 
enable the children to feel less anxious about her.

 This required her to be available for sessions with her FSW to look at behaviour 
management techniques.

 At the same time be willing to engage with her GP and any other agencies who might 
support her through therapies or counselling to improve her mental health.  

 On the plan Mum was given a date by when to have engaged with the activities and this 

Page 233



10

really helped her to feel supported and secure as she knew she had to achieve things by 
certain dates.

 Mum knew she had the support of the key worker and the TAF group which gave her the 
strength and confidence to attend the necessary appointments; some initially with the 
FSW and then this gave her the confidence to continue the appointments independently.

Outcomes – What changed?
 Mum’s mental health improved as she made important steps in engaging with mental 

health services
 All three children became less anxious on separation from their Mum and were observed 

as being more settled, happier and confident in Nursery and School.
 Contact between Mum and Dad is now easier as Mum has been able to say to Dad that 

he can’t control her anymore.
 The family have moved to a bigger town where there are more things for them all to do 

together as a family or on an individual basis

Comments from Parent/carers/partners

Future actions 

 FSW is currently supporting Mum through the School Appeals process and when that is 
settled and the new schools are all engaged with the family we will close.

Impact
 

 There have been real noticeable improvements in the children; they have been observed 
to be more confident and able to say when they are feeling worried or upset. They have 
engaged well in their educational environments and are doing well.

 They have gained in confidence and engage in other activities outside of home and are 
okay to separate from their Mum when necessary.

 Mum and Dad’s relationship is better; Dad no longer tries to control what Mum and the 
children do and Mum presents as being happier and more confident to stand up to him 
when she needs to.

 Mum is also more confident and knows who to turn to when she feels she is struggling.
 The Team Around the Family have been key in providing support and encouragement to 

Mum and the wider family.
 The work that was undertaken by the FSW with Mum regarding managing the children’s 

behaviour and giving her the emotional support she needed throughout was an important 
factor in helping Mum recognise what she could and couldn’t manage in relation to her 
diagnosis of her autism.

Page 234



11

Supervised Contacts taking place in Children and 
Family Centres

TOTALS

B
rockw

orth

N
oah’s A

rk 
(York R

oad)

Number of Contacts booked 24 116 140
Number of hours booked 47 172 219

Number of families attending 7 6 13

Families accessing Universal Family Support Services 
based in the Children & Family Centres provided by 
partners and stakeholders

TOTALS

B
rockw

orth

N
oah’s A

rk 
(York R

oad)

Number of Adults attending 1,018 2,130 3,148

Number of Children attending 867 1,845 2,712

Services accessed were:

Adult Education; GDASS; Greensquare; Health Visitors and Midwives; Parent Run 
Groups; Safeguarding; Social Care; Supervised contact; Early Start; Immunisation; 
SALT; Stay & Play; Baby Bounce & Rhyme; Storytime; Explore Learning events; 
Star Wars Day; Arts & Crafts; Summer Reading Challenges; Book Start; Early 
Education sessions; Stay and Play; Introduction to child’s play.

What the data tells us
 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 

supervised contacts
 In addition to the targeted family support service the centres are facilitating 

additional targeted and universal services to support children and families
 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by 

local families

Page 235



12

 Delivering ‘evidenced based’ parenting programme

Performance Measure
1. How many adults/ families have started a  programme 
2. How many have completed the programme?
3. What evaluation tool/process have you used to measure outcomes?
4. Percentage of participants on the programme whose progress has been 

evaluated. 

Data Source: Self reported by Children Centre provider Gardners Lane & 
Oakwood Federation

 What the data tells us 

 A good range of partners are engaged – the Partnership Manager will build on 
and improve this.

 No parenting programmes were run by, Children and Family staff, in the 
Tewkesbury area during the year 2017/18. This was due to staff training, 
capacity and recruitment to new posts.

 1-1 parenting sessions have taken place as part of the outreach package of 
support to families. 

 Year 2 of the contract will see a full programme to meet this need. 

Page 236



13

Case studies – group work

Study 1:

Background/Context – family circumstances; identified needs (Bullet point)
Solihull Approach is a 10 week parenting group for parents with children from universal to 
complex needs and aged 0-18 years. It is based on the Solihull Approach model of containment, 
reciprocity and behaviour management and uses social learning theory in the design of the 
parenting programme. It is delivered by two trained professionals and follows a resource manual 
for parents with children.

The Solihull Approach parenting group aims:  
To create an effective parenting programme by focusing on parent-child relationships and 
promoting a reflective style of parenting for lifelong learning 
To reduce problematic behaviour in children and affect parental anxiety
To promote understanding of children's behaviour within context of development.
To increase confidence and self-esteem in parent and child.
To give parents a strategy for repair when things go wrong.
To promote reflective, sensitive and effective parenting.

The programme is designed to run for 2 hours per week over 10 weeks, and sessions covered 
include:
• How do you know what you and your child are feeling?
• Tuning in to your child’s developmental needs
• Having fun together
• Self-regulation
• Sleep and anger
• Different styles of parenting
• How to recover when things go wrong

Parents attend 10 weekly two-hour sessions. Parents identify personal goals and the strategies 
that will help meet them, and reflect on their child’s behavior and their relationship with their 
child. 

Partner agencies involved
Grange field School, Bishops Cleeve – We were originally going to run the course in Tewkesbury 
but when the referrals came in all of the parents came from the Bishops Cleeve area, we 
approached Grange field Primary school to work in Partnership with us and asked them to offer 
us a venue and in returned we offered them places on the course for some of their parents. It 
has worked very well and the school are very keen to offer us a venue in the future and they 
have already referred more of their parents on future courses.
The course is open for referrals from Social care, Health visitors, local schools, and Families 
First and we keep them up to date on up and coming courses.

Input (what was done, key enablers/intervention that led to change)
 Once we have the details of the course the two facilitators will contact parents on the 

course, and arrange a home visit so we can introduce ourselves, explain what the course 
is about and make sure that the parents are happy with attending, We make sure the 

Page 237



14

course is informal and friendly, and parent know that that any input they give will be what 
they are comfortable to contribute and there will be no pressure put on them.

 We give out handouts at the end of each week and ask the parents for feedback by 
asking them to fill in a very simple form with three tick boxes.

 We remind the parents with a text every week, and make sure they have contact details 
so they can let us know of any absence.

Outcomes – What changed?
 All parents that completed the course this term felt that they had changed the way they 

talk to their children and were able to communicate better
 One of the parents we had on the course was originally supposed to do the course on a 

one to one basis in their home with their worker, because their worker was one of the 
facilitators and the group was small the parent agreed to come to the group sessions, this 
particular parent has autism and struggles to take information on board and can be 
socially awkward around people. She completed the course and was even able to tell the 
group she was autistic, she bonded well with the rest of the group and felt she got a lot 
from the course. She had even been recommending the course to other parents.

Comments from Parent/carers/partners
Parents made these comments after the course:
‘Now being able to see things from their children point of view’
‘Being able to stop and enjoy their children more’
‘Keep calmer’
‘More chilled’
‘All parents get the same emotions and feelings’
‘To be more positive’
‘Stop criticising yourselves’
‘Think about how you speak to your child’

Future actions 
We continue to run these courses every term in two locations across Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury

Impact
Parents say that they now stop and think before acting so they can be a calmer parent.
Parents now know that they are not the only ones that struggle with their children
Parents and children can learn to communicate better.
Parents can now help their children name their emotions and deal with them.
Parents can support their children to be able to self-regulate and calm down. 
 

Page 238



15

Study 2:

Background/Context – family circumstances; identified needs (Bullet point)
 The family previously received a lot of support from the Children’s Centre when the eldest 

son was pre-school age; this entailed working with partners to ensure the children’s safety 
and well-being at a time when Mum was struggling with her mental health and drinking. 
Dad was also offered support as he was living rough on the streets and he was 
encouraged to move into supported housing. 

 Mum and Dad of the two boys have been separated for some time now; due to domestic 
abuse and Dad’s use of drugs. Dad has been living on the streets in Cheltenham for 
some years.

 The family were referred again to Early Help in April 2018. The 15 year old son is on a 
CiN plan and the 8 year old son is on a CP plan.

 The family consists of Mum, daughter 19 yrs (no longer living at home) and two sons; 15 
and 8 years old; the family live in a village and Mum is quite isolated socially because of 
this.

 Mum is a recovering alcoholic and suffers with depression and PTSD bought on by sexual 
abuse she suffered as a child from both her Step Father and Grandfather.

 Paternal Grandparents support the family as much as they can but since the boys had to 
live with their grandparents for two months over Christmas the relationship between them 
and the youngest son has broken down and he refuses to see them.

 Identified needs were; support for Mum in managing the behaviour of both boys. There 
were concerns that the youngest child was becoming aggressive towards his Mum. The 
oldest child has had support with anger issues when he was younger.

 To help Mum with setting up routines around eating times etc
 To work with Mum and younger child around suitable age appropriate internet access.
 To help the children understand their Mum’s drinking and why they were unable to meet 

with their Dad.
 Benefits and Debt advice

Partner agencies involved
 Social Worker
 Change, Grow, Live. Attendance at the Relapse Prevention Group
 Senior Mental Health Support Worker to support Mum with her depression and look at 

future counselling support for the sexual abuse she has suffered.
 Schools for both children.

Input (what was done, key enablers/intervention that led to change)
 As part of the CP plan the worker has built a good relationship with Mum where she has 

been able to give her the emotional support to enable Mum to gain in confidence as a 
Parent.

 The worker observed Mum and both boys at home in the first stages of her work and their 
relationship was observed to be in line with normal expectations. With encouragement 
Mum has started the process of putting in routines and managing the boy’s behaviour, the 
youngest is now eating his dinner at the table instead of in his room, the family has a 
regular movie night and both boys have a clear routine for the day.

 The worker saw the youngest son in school and has started the process of some wishes 
and feelings work with him, work will also be completed around his anger issues.

 The worker has been part of the Core Group where updates are relayed and further plans 

Page 239



16

put in place.
 The worker supported Mum in telling the boys of their Dad’s drug use and his Hepatitis C 

diagnosis to help them understand why they couldn’t see him.

Outcomes – What changed?
 Mum has reduced her drinking
 She is more able to be consistent in managing her two sons and their behaviour and their 

relationships have improved as a result of this.
 Mum is undergoing sexual abuse counselling 

Comments from Parent/carers/partners

Future actions 
The family has now been taken off CP and will continue to get support through a CIN plan
The FSW will continue work with the family around the youngest son’s aggressive behaviour 
The FSW will now work with Grandparents and youngest child to rebuild their relationship.

Impact
 Mum has now abstained from alcohol since January and has the support from the 

professionals involved to help her through the next difficult step of counselling and dealing 
with her past

 Mum now has an understanding of the impact her alcohol had on the boys
 The whole family is starting to see the impact from positive parenting.
 The boys have reported to professionals that they are now feeling happy and secure with 

the positive changes. 

Page 240



17

Family Support Standards

Family Support Service Standards Q1 Q4

Service Standard Standard Score Standard Score
Service Standard 1 5 5
Service Standard 2 4 5
Service Standard 3 4 5
Service Standard 4 4 5
Service Standard 5 3 4
Service Standard 6 4 4
Service Standard 7 4 5
Service Standard 8 4 4
Service Standard 9 4 5

Service Standard 10 5 5
Service Standard 11 3 4
Service Standard 12 4 4

Service Average 3.9 4.57

Service Standard 13 4 5
Service Standard 14 3 4

 The family support standards guidance attached as Appendix 1 is used as 
part of contract monitoring to monitor the progress of the service. An action 
plan is submitted annually to improve standards and is monitored quarterly.

 The data shows a baseline assessment figure and end of Year 1.
 Overall the service has maintained family support standards and has 

improved in many areas.
 The Tewkesbury locality is performing well and improving

Page 241



18

INCOMPLETE DUE TO TWO SCHOOLS NOT HAVING RESPONDED

Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres

Universal Services

B
ishops C

leeve 
Library

Jigsaw
 

(C
hurchdow

n)

Jigsaw
 

(Innsw
orth)

N
oah’s A

rk 
(C

hance Street)

N
orthw

ay &
 

A
shchurch

W
inchcom

be 
Library

TOTALS

Number of children accessing 
universal services

5,407 NR 135 NR 96 2,072 7,710

Number of families accessing 
universal services

0 NR 73 NR 95 0 168

Targeted Services based in de-
designated community run 
Children’s Centres

B
ishops 

C
leeve Library

Jigsaw
 

(C
hurchdow

n)

Jigsaw
 

(Innsw
orth)

N
oah’s A

rk 
(C

hance 
Street)

N
orthw

ay &
 

A
shchurch

W
inchcom

be 
Lirary

TOTALS

Number of children accessing 
targeted services

0 NR 15 NR 66 0 81

Number of families accessing 
targeted services

0 NR 25 NR 82 0 107

Parenting Courses offered from children’s centre buildings:

Triple P, Introduction to Children’s Play and Artemis courses.

The range of other services offered from the centres are:

Baby Bounce & Rhyme; Storytime; Explore Learning events; Star Wars Day; Arts & 
Crafts; Summer Reading Challenges; Book Start; Early Education sessions; Stay 
and Play; Introduction to child’s play; TAC, TAF, CIN, CP and Givas meetings; 
Speech and Language Therapy; Freedom Programme; Family Liaison Advisor 1:1 
support for parents; Nurture Group; Protective Behaviours Training; Paws 4 Thought 
with trained pets as therapy dogs. 

What the data tells us 

 The children’s centre library services do not collect information on specific 
services accessed by families with children 0-11 years old, however the 
numbers are encouraging

 A wide range of universal services are on offer to children and families in the 
locality

Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision

Performance Measure: Data collected from Universal Children’s Centres

Page 242



19

In April 2017, the local authority commissioned the charity organisation Gardners 
Lane & Oakwood Federation to run the group of Children and Families Centres 
known as the Tewkesbury Locality Children & Family centres on its behalf, offering 
targeted provision. 

The remaining children’s centres are being developed as hubs for education and 
childcare, universal services and are delivered by private, voluntary and community 
groups as follows:

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Bishops Cleeve Library Service
Jigsaw (Churchdown) Parton Manor Primary School
Jigsaw (Innsworth) Innsworth Primary School
Noah’s Ark (Chance Street) Tewkesbury Primary School
Northway & Ashchurch Northway Primary School
Winchcombe Library Service

Attached to a number of these centres are on site Early Years provision.  These are:

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Brockworth Brockworth 
Pre-school

24 Mon to Thurs 8.50-
3.05 & Fri Only 
8.50-11.50
Term Time Only   
(40 weeks)

Good – 
7th December 2016

Jigsaw 
(Churchdown)

Churchdown 
Parton Manor 
Primary 
School

24 Mon to Fri 8.30-5.15 
Term Time Only  
(39 weeks)

*Requires 
Improvement –
8th November 2016

Noah’s Ark 
(York Road)

Gardners Lane 
and Oakwood 
Federation

38 Mon to Fri 8.45-2.45 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

No Inspection to 
date

Noah’s Ark 
(Chance Street)

Tewkesbury C 
of E Primary 
School

32 Mon to Fri 8.30-
11.30 & 12.00 -3.00 
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

*No Inspection to 
date

Northway & 
Ashchurch

Northway Pre-
school 
Playgroup

52 Mon to Fri 9.00-
3.00pm
Term Time Only   
(40 weeks)

Outstanding –
2nd November 
2017

Performance Measure: Ofsted Inspection Framework for nurseries on Children’s Centre sites

Page 243



20

*Please note that the nurseries marked with an asterisk will now be inspected as part of the schools 
inspection.

What the data tells us 
 2 of the nurseries are doing very well, 1 is rated Outstanding and 1 is rated 

Good.
 Noah’s Ark (York Road) is yet to be inspected whilst under the management 

of Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation. 
 The Local Authority is offering support to the nursery identified as Requiring 

Improvement.

Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 year olds

Page 244



21

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years 30 hours entitlement by three and four year 
olds by children’s centre reach area

The Government has made childcare more affordable for working parents by 
increasing the early education and childcare offer from 15 to up to 30 hours per week 
and for 38 weeks of the year (or all the year round equivalent) for some 3 and 4 year 
old children.

Since September 2017 families with a 3 or 4 year old who meet certain criteria can 
receive up to an additional 15 hours of early education and childcare per week which 
is in addition to the current entitlement of 15 hours per week, which all 3 and 4 year 
olds are entitled to when they reach the qualifying age.

The following table represents a full Academic Year showing the number of children 
in receipt of 30 hours since its inception.

Children's Centre 
Bishops Cleeve

Brockw
orth

Jigsaw

N
oah's Ark

N
orthw

ay &
 

Ashchurch

W
inchcom

be

 

Tew
kesbury Totals

No of 3yos @ 
31.8.17 262 221 222 163 99 82  1049
No of 4yos @ 
31.8.17 248 204 209 206 87 80  1034
         
Autumn 2017 3yos 108 70 89 45 52 30  394
% take up 41% 32% 40% 28% 53% 37%  38%
Autumn 2017 4yos 1 0 0 1 0 0  2
% take up 0.4% 0% 0% 0.5% 0% 0%  0.2%
         
Spring 2018 3 yos 120 92 93 44 53 25  427
% take up 46% 42% 42% 27% 54% 30%  41%
Spring 2018 4 yos 47 18 29 22 22 14  152
% take up 19% 9% 14% 11% 25% 18%  15%
         
Summer 2018 3 yos 122 101 92 51 52 22  440
% take up 47% 46% 41% 31% 53% 27%  42%
Summer 2018 4 yos 69 35 60 35 32 23  254
% take up 28% 17% 29% 17% 37% 29%  25%

What the data tells us 

Page 245



22

 The data in the above table is taken from the termly headcount.  The majority 
of children using their entitlement were aged 3.  The number of 4 year olds 
has increased term by term and the 3 year olds have been stable.

 The highest percentage of families accessing the 30 hours funding in the 
Summer Term is in the Northway & Ashchurch reach area where 53% of 3 
year olds and 37% of 4 year olds took up the offer.  The lowest percentage 
take up being in the Winchcombe reach area showing 27% of 3 year olds and 
Brockworth and Noah’s Ark reach areas both showing 17% of 4 year olds.

Page 246



23

Take Up of the Two Year Old Entitlement 

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years Education of eligible two year olds by 
children’s centre reach area 
Data Source: Capita One Finance Extract 

The Department of Education has specified the entitlement criteria.  Free places are 
to be targeted with a primary focus on economic disadvantage with the council 
having a statutory duty to secure 570 hours of free education for each eligible child.  
This equates to 15 hours per week over 38 weeks of the year.

A child will be entitled to the hours from the term after their 2nd birthday, if both of the 
following conditions are satisfied: (1) the child has attained the age of two (2) the 
child or parent meets the eligibility criteria if you live in England and get one of the 
following benefits:

 Income Support
 Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA)
 Income-related Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)
 Universal Credit – for places starting in the summer term of 2018 (on or after 

1st April 2018), or any subsequent term, if a parent is entitled to Universal 
Credit they must have an annual net earned income equivalent to and not 
exceeding £15,400, assessed on up to three of the parent’s most recent 
Universal Credit assessment periods

 Tax Credits and a parent has an annual income of under £16,190 before tax
 The guaranteed element of State Pension Credit
 Support through part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act
 The Working Tax Credit 4-week run on (the payment you get when you stop 

qualifying for Working Tax Credit)

A child can also get free early education and childcare if any of the following apply:

 they are looked after by a local council
 they have a current statement of special educational needs (SEN) or an 

education, health and care (EHC) plan
 they get Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
 they have left care under a special guardianship order, child arrangements 

order or adoption order.

Page 247



24

Children Centre Reach 
Area

Age 2 at 
31st Aug 

2017

Number of 2 yr 
olds potentially 

eligible for funded 
place (3 terms 

from the start of 
the next term)

Current number of 
2YO children 

accessing a place 
(Headcount 

Spring Term)

Difference/ 
Shortfall

Bishops Cleeve 226 31 20 65%
Brockworth 219 56 35 63%
Jigsaw 183 36 30 83%
Noah’s Ark 205 49 27 55%
Northway & Ashchurch 84 20 18 90%
Winchcombe 78 14 10 71%
Tewkesbury Totals 995 206 140 68%

What the data tells us 

 The reach area with the lowest number of potentially eligible children is 
Winchcombe with 14 children, and the highest is Brockworth with 56 children.

 The lowest take up of 2 year old places has been in Noah’s ark area at 55%, 
with the highest take up being in the Northway & Ashchurch area at 90%.  

 of approximately 84%, however during the Spring Term 2018 the take up 
dropped to 74%.  The reasons for this have been discussed at national level 
and it is thought that this may be due to the changes in the Universal Credits.

Page 248



25

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance

..\..\Performance and Contract monitoring (TSS)\Copy of FSS Standards Matric 
for RAG rating.xlsx

Page 249

../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx
../../Performance%2520and%2520Contract%2520monitoring%2520(TSS)/Copy%2520of%2520FSS%2520Standards%2520Matric%2520for%2520RAG%2520rating.xlsx


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2018-19

Wendy Gray, Outcome Manager

July 2018

Cotswold Children’s 
Centres Performance 
Report

Page 251



2

Children Centre Locality Performance Report 2018-19

Contents

 Introduction……………………….. …………………………………………………….. 3

 Number of Families & Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre 
Services…………………………………………………………………………………… 4

o Families accessing services at Children & Family Centres 17/18………………4
o Priority Groups seen by Children & Family Centres…………………………….. 4 
o Families First Data………………………………………………………………….. 5
o Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Gloucester City Locality 17/18……... 5
o Referrals into Children & Family Centres………………………………………… 6
o Case studies – Individual work - Study 1 & Study 2…………………………….. 7
o Supervised contacts taking place in Children & Family Centres………………. 9
o Families accessing Universal Family Support Services based in the Children 

& Family Centres provided by partners and stakeholders……………………… 9

  Delivering ‘evidence based’ parenting programme…………………………. ……… 10

o Parenting Programme………………………………………………………….. 10
o Case studies – Group Work : Study 1 & Study 2………………………….... 11

 Family Support Service Standards……………………………………………. ……… 13

o Family Support Service Standards (locality table)………………………….. 13 

 Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres……………………………………………………………………………………. 14

o Universal Services……………………………………………………………….14
o Targeted Services based in de-designated community run Children’s 

Centres……………………………………………………………………………14 

 Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision…………………………………………… 15 

 Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 years olds…………………………………17

 Take up of the 2 year old entitlement …………………………………………………. 19

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance (hyperlink)……………………………… 21

Page 252



3

1. Introduction

Name of Locality Cotswold

Name of Provider  Gloucestershire County Council/Families 
First

Children and Family Centres in 
Locality 

Springboard Cirencester

Children’s Centres in locality
(community led buildings)

Springboard Fairford Library
Springboard Northleach
Springboard Stow
Springboard Tetbury Library

Since 1st April 2017, 16 children and family centres have been managed by 3 
organisations who bid to run 6 locality contracts across the county. 

Barnardo’s – Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud
Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) – Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire County Council (FF+) – Cotswolds

In line with the Cabinet decision in June 2016 the Cotswolds locality Children’s 
Centre was transferred the County Council and is managed as an integrated service 
with Families First. Family support workers provide a 0-19 targeted service, working 
alongside early help coordinators, community social workers, employment advisers 
and partners to ensure a co-ordinated whole-family response to meeting the needs 
of vulnerable families in the Cotswolds. Services are delivered from both 
Springboard Children and Family Centre and the Lewis Lane site. The data provided 
therefore reflects this integrated approach and does not separate out the 0-11 
targeted service. There is a plan in place to create a 0-19 ‘hub’ in Cirencester via a 
successful capital bid to modernise and improve the Lewis Lane site and building 
work is due to start shortly.

There is a performance report for each locality and an overall service performance 
report for the targeted family support service running from these 16 children and 
family centres. Each report is an evaluation of a range of key areas of children and 
family centre activity during the year 2017-2018. 

The monitoring of current children and family centre activity and impact is based on a 
variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 
 Performance and Data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems for 

collecting data 
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres

Page 253



4

 Headcount data

In addition to the 16 children and family centres under contract for the targeted family 
support service Gloucestershire County Council has handed over 29 children centres 
that are currently in the process of being de-designated, following an EOI process 
undertaken for each of these buildings.  Each centre has been handed over as a 
community hub asset to local providers to sustain the running of universal services 
for children and families.

Page 254



5

Number of Families and Young Children Receiving Children’s Centre Services

Families accessing services at Children & Family 
Centres 17/18

TOTALS

Springboard
C

irencester

Number of families that have received a targeted 
family support service

50 50

Number of individuals that have received a 
targeted family support service

 167 167

Priority Groups seen by Children and Family 
Centres

TOTALS

Springboard 
C

irencester

Teenage Parents 14 47
Workless Families 62 348

CIN 108 550
CP 48 180
CIC 39 165

Performance Measure: Numbers of families receiving services through Children’s 
Centre  

Data Source: Quarterly Contract Monitoring 

Page 255



6

Troubled Families Data

Total Number of 
families in Cotswolds

Children’ Centre 
proportion of target for 
17/18

Total number of families in 
Gloucester with children 0-11 
that meet Troubled Families 
Criteria

92 38

The Children’s Centre’s proportion of target for Year 1 was 38 families. 50 families 
received a targeted support service exceeding the target set.

Troubled Families Outcomes Criteria for Cotswolds Locality 17/18

Criteria Total Number of 
families in Cotswolds 

1 – Parents and children involved with 
crime or anti-social behaviour

1a 0

1b 0
1c 0
1d 6

2 – Children who have not been 
attending school regularly

2a 27

2b 1
2c 0
2d 0
2e 0
2f 2
2g 8
2h 0

3 – Children who need help 3a 85
3b 14
3c 9
3d 0
3e 0

4 – Adults out of work or at risk of 
financial exclusion or young people at 
risk of worklessness

4a 57

4b 1
4c 0
4d 8
4e 6
4f 0

5 – Families affected by domestic 
violence

5a 22

5b 2
5c 0

6 – Parents and children with a range 
of health problems

6a 0

6b 38
6c 9
6d 0

Page 256



7

Referrals into Children and Family 
Centres

Springboard 
C

irencester

TOTALS

Number of cases open 65 65
Number of cases not engaged 0 0
Number of cases closed and outcomes 
achieved

16 16

What the data tells us 

 The Children and family Centre exceeded it’s set target for the number of 
families supported in year 1

 The first year of delivery of the targeted support service has been difficult to 
record and evidence accurately due to the late implementation of the Liquid 
Logic IT system.

 Children and family centres were also introduced at the mid point of year 1 to 
the validation and closing of cases using the outcomes spreadsheet. The data 
shown only reflects the opened and closed cases measured against this new 
criteria.

 Year 2 of the contract will start to show a true reflection of the work being 
undertaken by the targeted support service and the outcomes achieved by 
families.

 A 0-19 integrated model has meant additional staff training has been 
undertaken to meet the holistic needs of whole family working.

 The Cotswolds data is hard to pull apart in relation to Children & Family 
Centre data only as this is a 0-19 integrated in house service which is 
recorded on Liquid Logic.  The data shown is the most accurate picture we 
can present in terms of the Children & Family Centre work being undertaken 
within the integrated model of Early Help services.

 The service is supporting a high number of Children In Need.
 The service is providing packages of support to children on Child Protection 

plans where the long term plan is for the child to stay within the family home.
 Overall as an integrated service there is more development work needed but  

the service is performing well and improving.

Page 257



8

Case study – individual work

Study 1:

Children’s Centre: Families First & Springboard Children and Family Centre
Local Authority:  GCC
Author:  Donna Reeves
Date:  24th July 2018
Family ID Number: 5102346

Topic / Title:  
Homelessness

Starting point and evidence of need 
Family was classed as homeless due to living with external family after mother's relationship had broken down 
with child’s father.
Family previously lived in Oxfordshire. Family has no household items only clothing.
Family is being supported with housing / benefits and furniture from P3 and FSW 
Child A presents with additional needs none of which have been formally diagnosed.
Child A was previously on his school's SEN register and under the paediatrician. Due to moving counties mum 
will have to go through the referral process again to access support.
Child A wasn’t registered to attend  
Child B isn't accessing 3 year old funding due to no availability within local nurseries/child-minders/pre-school 
Family have been offered a two bedroom flat in Moreton-in-the-Marsh
Family are not registered with GP or dentist.
Mother wishes to return to work once Child B goes to school
Community nursery nurse supported Mother with toilet training Child B as he was still in nappies.

Work undertaken:
P3 supported Mother to access housing and to set up universal credit benefit claim.
Once successful in housing bid P3 and Family Support Worker (FSW) supported family to access local 
charitable organizations to cover the cost of household items such as sofa, beds, cooker, bedding etc. 
Organizations such as Roundabout and Community Awareness charities where used to purchase items. 
Family and friends also supported Mother with the smaller household items such as cutlery/plates/cups etc.
Child A and Child B are both attending education settings.
Family Support Worker (FSW) completed direct work with mum on budgeting and money management. 
Community nursery nurse and nursery supported mum with Child B's toilet training and he no longer use's 
nappies.
All family members are now registered at their local GP/dental surgery
Mother expressed a desire to return to work once Child B is settled in School but was unclear on how this 
would affect her benefits.  Family Support Worker (FSW) arranged for Fiona Chinn DWP to visit the home to 
discuss further.
FSW put mother in touch with School’s parent support advisor to help mum access the school nurse to 
support mum through the referral process to access a paediatrician.
FSW referred mum to Gloucestershire Carers in regards to attending their challenging behaviour workshops in 
July to support mum with child A’s additional needs and behaviour.

Outcome:
Family has now settled into their new home and the mum say's the children have begun to make friends 
locally. The family has a well equipped home with plenty of space for the children to play in.
Both the children are settled in school and nursery. School have assessed Child A's learning needs and have 
incorporated these into a My Plan held by school.
Child B has been successful in being allocated a place at Children’s school reception class for September ’18. 
Child B currently attends nursery 3 days per week.
Mum says Child B has built friendships with others at nursery and they will move on to school with him.

Page 258



9

Mother has a good understanding of how her Universal Credit works and what hours she can work before it 
becomes effected.
Child B is now fully toilet trained and so Mother no longer has to buy nappies which reduce the weekly 
expenditure. Mother has a better understanding of their income and out going's and has highlighted areas 
where she would like to make changes e.g. cigarettes (would like to cut down)
Parent support advisor has made contact with mum to support her through the process of accessing the 
school nurse to start the referral process for paediatrician

Impact:
The children have their own space where they can play and sleep without being over crowded. Mother 
and the children have a strong family support network around them who have been a great source of 
support both practically/emotionally and financially.  Without this around them it would be very difficult for 
Mother and the children to adapt to their new life in Gloucestershire.

Why was it successful?
Mother was very open to the support on offer and wanted their situation to change.

Next Steps
Close case to Family Support Worker (FSW) and pass on to Parent Support Advisor (PSA) at the 
children’s school to support with on going process of re-referral to school nurse for support to access 
paediatrician. 

Page 259



10

Supervised Contacts taking place in Children 
and Family Centres

TOTALS

Springboard 
C

irencester

Im
pact 

C
entre

Number of contacts booked 116 75 191
Number of hours booked 152.5 61.5 214
Number of families attending 3 5 8

Families accessing Universal Family Support 
Services based in the Children & Family Centres 
provided by partners and stakeholders

TOTALS

Springboard 
C

irencester

Number of Adults attending 1,226 1,226
Number of Children attending 1,076 1,076

Services accessed were:
BEST, Health Visitor drop in (developmental checks), breastfeeding support, Stay & 
Play 

What the data tells us
 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 

supervised contacts
 In addition to the targeted family support service the centres are facilitating 

additional targeted and universal services to support children and families
 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by 

local families

Page 260



11

Delivering ‘evidenced based’ parenting programme

Performance Measure
1. How many adults/ families have started a  programme 
2. How many have completed the programme?
3. What evaluation tool/process have you used to measure outcomes?
4. Percentage of participants on the programme whose progress has been 

evaluated. 

Data Source: Self reported by Children Centre provider Gloucestershire County 
Council – Families First Plus

Springboard Cirencester St David’s 
School

Parenting Programme Triple P Webster 
Stratton

Triple P

No of parent starting 1 7 9

No of parents completing 0 7 8

No of evaluations completed 0 7 8

No of parents identifying positive change 0 7 8

 What the data tells us

 A good range of partners are engaged – recent appointment of a Partnership 
manger will build on and improve this

 Programmes are evaluated using a range of methodologies 
 A programme of support for families to improve parenting is well embedded
 Pre-birth classes are reaching families at a much earlier stage to embed 

positive parenting.

Page 261



12

Case study – Group work:

Children’s Centre: Families First & Springboard Children and Family Centre
Local Authority:  GCC
Author:  Sasha Lewis
Date: 25.07.18
Family ID Number: 381949

Topic / Title:  
Challenging behaviour 

Starting point and evidence of need 

Case History
Previously open to Springboard Children Centre outreach and child attended a targeted group called Play 
and Communicate 
Child has global delay affecting social, communication and learning development
Child has an EHCP and My Plan+
Mother has learning needs and physical health needs - problems with hip and back

Initial referral was made by child’s school who felt family would benefit from support with the following
Sleep, negative behaviour at home (physical aggression, swearing, attitude etc.), 
Child beginning to hurt himself (pinching, hitting his own head, pulling his hair when cross) 
Support with medical appointments (headaches, eyesight), 
Support for mother as immediate family (mum) lives in Scotland and mother has her own medical 
difficulties – she is going to pain clinic regarding her hips and back. She is awaiting a date for an 
operation

The impact of these concerns on the child and how mother can effectively manage his behaviour will be 
significant.

Work undertaken:
Family support worker (FSW) did 1:1 work around creating a behaviour routine to avoid conflict and 
encourage positive behaviour. This included mother using visuals to support child’s learning needs.
Sessions where FSW supported Mother to implement the new routine for the first time. 
FSW encouraged Mother to seek support for her mental health and to get support from the community
FSW supported mother to maintain the child’s home environment addressing concerns over night time 
accidents and using the toilet
FSW liaised regularly with school to review the plan and share practice and advice between the home 
and school.
FSW supported mother to attend a parenting course and worked along side this learning experience to 
embed the strategies into home life

Outcome:
Mother completed parenting course (PPCP) at the school alongside FSW support which she said has 
given her helpful strategies like the pause button
Mother is now confident to deal with child's challenging behaviour in a calm, consistent way 
Mother has self-referred herself to Let's talk to get some extra support after finding out a family member 
is very poorly 
Mother feels child's behaviour is much improved and he understands she will follow through with 
consequences and he knows what is expected of him
Mother is working with school to support child’s learning at home and expand on his interests
Child is progressing at school in his speech and attention 
Child and mother experience a more positive relationship at pick up time from school, this was observed 

Page 262



13

to have been a point of conflict in the past
Impact:
Child is very in-tune with Mother’s emotions and would get very distressed if Mother was emotional or 
cross with him.  Due to child’s learning needs it means he cannot easily communicate which is frustrating 
for him. 

Now that Mother is calmer, more consistent in her approach to child’s  behaviour and is able to take 
herself away when she is getting stressed, this helps child to remain calm, have stability in knowing what 
will happen next and not get as distressed.  This will have a positive impact on their relationship and 
emotional well-being. 

Mother self-referring to Let’s talk will impact on child as it will allow his mum to have space to deal with 
sad news and get the support she needs to manage and take on-board strategies to cope with 
bereavement. This will mean that mother will be able to give her child the support and care that he needs 
in the home.

Mother engaging with school and supporting his learning in the home will help his development and show 
her child that his mum is interested in his school life and helping him to progress which will have a 
positive impact on his emotional well-being and self-esteem. 

Why was it successful?
Mother engaged with all the support and was able to consistently implement the plan that was put in 
place. Mother understands child’s needs and tried hard to work with his capability by using visuals and 
being consistent to make boundaries clear to him.   

Next Steps

Mother to carry on implementing boundaries and consequences
Mother to work with Let’s talk and school 

Page 263



14

Family Support Standards

Service Average 4 4

Service Standard 13 4 4
Service Standard 14 3 3

Service Standard 11 3 4
Service Standard 12 4 4

Service Standard 9 4 4
Service Standard 10 4 4

Service Standard 7 4 4
Service Standard 8 4 4

Service Standard 5 4 4
Service Standard 6 4 4

Service Standard 3 4 4
Service Standard 4 4 4

Service Standard 1 3 4
Service Standard 2 5 5

Family Support Service Standards Q1 Q4

Service Standard Standard Score Standard Score

 The family support standards guidance attached as Appendix 1 is used as 
part of contract monitoring to monitor the progress and the service. An action 
plan is submitted annually to improve standards and is monitored quarterly.

 The data shows a baseline assessment figure and end of Year 1 
improvements

 Overall the service has maintained family support standards and has 
improved in some key areas.

 The Cotswold Integrated service is performing well and improving each 
quarter.

Page 264



15

Families accessing services at de-designated community run Children’s 
Centres

Universal Services

Springboard 
Fairford Library

Springboard 
N

orthleach

Springboard 
Stow

Springboard 
Tetbury Library

TOTALS

Number of children accessing universal services 768 71 88 998 1925

Number of families accessing universal services 466 45 59 600 1170

Targeted Services based in de-designated 
community run Children’s Centres

Springboard 
Fairford Library 

Springboard 
N

orthleach

Springboard 
Stow

Springboard 
Tetbury Library

TOTALS

Number of children accessing targeted services 60 8 55 6 129

Number of families accessing targeted services 88 7 39 6 140

Parenting Courses offered from children’s centre buildings:

Webster Stratton, Triple P

The range of other services offered from the centres are:

Before and After School club; Development reviews; Music tuition; Baby Bounce and 
Rhyme; Storytime; Arts and Crafts; Chess Club; World Book Night; Dog’s Trust visit 
and story; Bookstart; NCT Bumps and Babes; Health Visitor clinics and 
developmental checks; Stay and Play; Breast feeding support; Contact for children in 
care; Adult Education courses; Toddle on Together; Play and Communicate.

What the data tells us 
 The children’s centre library services do not collect information on specific 

services accessed by families with 0-11 year olds however numbers are 
encouraging

 A range of universal services are on offer to children and families in the 
locality

Performance Measure: Data collected from Universal Children’s Centres

Page 265



16

Ofsted Inspection & Early Years Provision

In April 2017, the local authority took back in house by Gloucestershire County 
Council the management of the Children and Families Centre known as Springboard 
Cirencester, offering targeted provision. 

The remaining children’s centres are being developed as hubs for education and 
childcare, universal services and are delivered by private, voluntary and community 
groups as follows:

Previous Name of Children’s Centre Now managed by
Springboard Fairford Fairford Library Service
Springboard Northleach Northleach Primary School
Springboard Stow Stow Primary School
Springboard Tetbury Tetbury Library Service

Attached to a number of these centres are on site Early Years provision.  These are:

Centre Managed by No. of 
places

Operational Hours Ofsted

Springboard 
Cirencester

Gloucestershire 
County Council

26 Mon to Fri 8.30-4.30 
Term Time Only
(38 weeks)

Good – 
17th November 2017

Springboard 
Northleach

Northleach 
Playgroup

24 Mon, Tues, Thurs & 
Fri 9.00-3.00  Wed 
Only 9.00-12.00
Term Time Only   
(40 weeks)

Good – 
12th July 2018

Springboard 
Stow

Stow Primary 
School

26 Mon to Thurs 9.00-
3.00, Fri Only 9.00-
12.00
Term Time Only  
(38 weeks)

*Outstanding –
4th December 2012

*Please note that the nurseries marked with an asterisk will now be inspected as part of the schools 
inspection.

What the data tells us 
 There has been no reduction in the grading’s for nurseries inspected following 

the transfer of these nurseries from children’s centres to new providers. 

Performance Measure: Ofsted Inspection Framework for nurseries on Children’s Centre sites

Page 266



17

Take up of 30 hours entitlement for 3 & 4 year olds

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years 30 hours entitlement by three and four year 
olds by children’s centre reach area

The Government has made childcare more affordable for working parents by 
increasing the early education and childcare offer from 15 to up to 30 hours per week 
and for 38 weeks of the year (or all the year round equivalent) for some 3 and 4 year 
old children.

Since September 2017 families with a 3 or 4 year old who meet certain criteria can 
receive up to an additional 15 hours of early education and childcare per week which 
is in addition to the current entitlement of 15 hours per week, which all 3 and 4 year 
olds are entitled to when they reach the qualifying age.

The following table represents a full Academic Year showing the number of children 
in receipt of 30 hours since its inception.

Children's Centre 
Cirencester

N
orthleach &

 
Fariford

Stow

Tetbury

 

Cotsw
old Totals

No of 3yos @ 31.8.17 346 194 216 96  852
No of 4yos @ 31.8.17 327 200 230 98  855
       
Autumn 2017 3yos 88 74 51 20  233
% take up 25% 38% 24% 21%  27%
Autumn 2017 4yos 2 1 0 1  4
% take up 1% 1% 0% 1.0%  0.5%
       
Spring 2018 3 yos 91 79 60 28  258
% take up 26% 41% 28% 29%  30%
Spring 2018 4 yos 53 31 22 7  113
% take up 16% 16% 10% 7%  13%
       
Summer 2018 3 yos 91 83 60 28  262
% take up 26% 43% 28% 29%  31%
Summer 2018 4 yos 75 44 39 14  172
% take up 23% 22% 17% 14%  20%

Page 267



18

What the data tells us 

 The data in the above table is taken from the termly headcount.  The majority 
of children using their entitlement were aged 3.  The number of 4 year olds 
has increased term by term and the 3 year olds have been stable.

 The highest percentage of families accessing the 30 hours funding in the 
Summer Term is the Northleach reach area showing 43% of 3 year olds and 
Cirencester reach area showing 23% of 4 year olds took up the offer.  The 
lowest percentage take up being in the Cirencester reach area showing 26% 
of 3 year olds and Tetbury reach area showing 14% of 4 year olds.

Page 268



19

Take Up of the Two Year Old Entitlement 

Performance Measure: Take up of Early Years Education of eligible two year olds by 
children’s centre reach area 
Data Source: Capita One Finance Extract 

The Department of Education has specified the entitlement criteria.  Free places are 
to be targeted with a primary focus on economic disadvantage with the council 
having a statutory duty to secure 570 hours of free education for each eligible child.  
This equates to 15 hours per week over 38 weeks of the year.

A child will be entitled to the hours from the term after their 2nd birthday, if both of the 
following conditions are satisfied: (1) the child has attained the age of two (2) the 
child or parent meets the eligibility criteria if you live in England and get one of the 
following benefits:

 Income Support
 Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA)
 Income-related Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)
 Universal Credit – for places starting in the summer term of 2018 (on or after 

1st April 2018), or any subsequent term, if a parent is entitled to Universal 
Credit they must have an annual net earned income equivalent to and not 
exceeding £15,400, assessed on up to three of the parent’s most recent 
Universal Credit assessment periods

 Tax Credits and a parent has an annual income of under £16,190 before tax
 The guaranteed element of State Pension Credit
 Support through part 6 of the Immigration and Asylum Act
 The Working Tax Credit 4-week run on (the payment you get when you stop 

qualifying for Working Tax Credit)

A child can also get free early education and childcare if any of the following apply:

 they are looked after by a local council
 they have a current statement of special educational needs (SEN) or an 

education, health and care (EHC) plan
 they get Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
 they have left care under a special guardianship order, child arrangements 

order or adoption order.

Page 269



20

Children Centre 
Reach Area

Age 2 at 
31st Aug 

2017

Number of 2 yr 
olds potentially 

eligible for funded 
place (3 terms 

from the start of 
the next term)

Current number of 
2YO children 

accessing a place 
(Headcount 

Spring Term)

Difference/ 
Shortfall

Cirencester 312 52 43 83%
Northleach & Fairford 178 21 12 57%
Stow 219 33 23 70%
Tetbury 97 19 13 68%
Cotswold Totals 806 125 91 73%

What the data tells us 

 The reach area with lowest number of potentially eligible children is Tetbury 
with 19 children, and the highest is Cirencester with 52 children.

 The lowest take up of 2 year old places has been in Northleach area at 57%, 
with the highest take up being in the Cirencester area at 83%.  

 The County is maintaining an overall total take up of approximately 84%, 
however during the Spring Term 2018 the take up dropped to 74%.  The 
reasons for this have been discussed at national level and it is thought that 
this may be due to the changes in the Universal Credits.

Page 270



21

Appendix 1 – Family Support Standards guidance

..\..\Performance and Contract monitoring (TSS)\Copy of FSS Standards Matric 
for RAG rating.xlsx

Page 271

file:///C:/Users/eokane/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Performance%20and%20Contract%20monitoring%20(TSS)/Copy%20of%20FSS%20Standards%20Matric%20for%20RAG%20rating.xlsx
file:///C:/Users/eokane/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Performance%20and%20Contract%20monitoring%20(TSS)/Copy%20of%20FSS%20Standards%20Matric%20for%20RAG%20rating.xlsx


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2018/19 Performance
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee

07th March 2019

    Purpose of the report

This summary report highlights performance issues and progress arising in 2018/19 for Children’s Services. 

It draws on the performance, benchmarking and risk information presented quarterly to the Committee through the performance 
scorecard. The Quarter 3 2018/19 performance scorecard is attached to this report as supporting information for the Committee’s 
consideration. 

Officer Contact: Kelly Headley, Performance and Improvement Manager, Strategy and Challenge           
Report Sponsor: Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services

Note: All changes in performance levels are shown as a percentage increase/decrease in order to apply a consistent unit of measure across 
the report as well as to show the significance of the change.

KEY: 


Performance is below target/requires attention 
(Red/Amber/Yellow used to denote extent of 
concern)

 Performance is acceptable/within tolerance

 Performance is good/exceeds target



Direction of travel (Red/Amber/Green used to 
denote performance level)

P
age 273

A
genda Item

 10



2

Summary of key performance 
The number of children open to Social Care overall has remained relatively steady during 2018 with a small increase of 2.5% (around 100 children).

Timeliness of decision making at the Front Door reduced marginally over Q3 (67% in December) but remains improved on the position at the start of the 
year (April 55%) 

Timeliness of Single Assessments is good with the majority of assessments completed within timescale (80%). However performance has marginally 
dropped below tolerance of target for the first time this year. 

A high proportion of Children in Need had been seen within timescales at the end of Quarter 3 (84%). The majority of Children in Need have a plan that 
has been put in place in a timely way (95%). 

The majority of children subject to Protection Plans had been seen within timescales at the end of Quarter 3. Initial and Review Conferences are being held in 
a timely manner (86% and 98% respectively at the end of December).

31% of children made subject to a protection plan in the last year having been subject to one or more previous plans. 

With an increasing number of Children in Care there is a corresponding strain on the number and suitability of available placements. In the January 
Cabinet, the Sufficiency Strategy was approved and improvements are expected as the Strategy is implemented.

Initial and review health assessments for Children in Care remain an area of focus in addressing overdue health assessments  (22%) and improving initial 
health assessment timeliness (32%).

The number of Social Workers holding higher caseloads has remained relatively static since last quarter.

There are three areas that continue to represent the highest risk:

 The timeliness of visits to children open to social care and following contact have improved although both require a continued focus. A high 
proportion of children continue to still experience delays in being seen following contact affecting our ability to assure that they are safe and their 
needs are being met.   

 Workforce churn continues to impact stability of Social Worker for children, reducing opportunities to build trusting relationships, identify and 
follow up on risk of harm and progress plans.

 Delays in case recording are evident following child protection visits and admissions to care impacting sight of up-to-date information for children, risk 
levels and the legal status of children.

P
age 274



3

Contact Activity

 77.2% of decisions were made within 24 hours of contact in Quarter 3 overall. This has improved since 
73.5% in Quarter 2 and is a significant increase compared with 49.4% in Quarter 1. 94% of decisions were 
made within 48 hours in Quarter 3. However, timeliness followed a declining trend month on month 
throughout the quarter with 67% of decisions made within 24 hours at the end of December. 

  Following a reduction in the number of the contacts requiring a Social Care response in the previous two 
quarters, the number of contacts has increased in Quarter 3. The number and percentage of the contacts 
leading to referral and then onto assessment has also increased: 75% and 77% respectively. This is an 
increase from Quarter 2 where 71% and 75% respectively(See Fig 1).    

Referrals and Re-referrals

 The overall timeliness of seeing children following referral continues to improve (See Fig 2). However just 
under half of children (45%) referred are still not being seen in a timely way.

 For a small number of children, an initial visit has not taken place and is significantly delayed. The Director 
of Safeguarding is investigating these referrals.

 29.2% of referrals were re-referrals within the last 12 months at the end of December 2018. The proportion 
of re-referrals has decreased slightly since last quarter but continues to fluctuate. Good/Outstanding Local 
Authorities have an average re-referral rate of 24.3%.

2699
2047
76% 1695

83%

2635
1853
70% 1443

78%

2603 1861
71% 1388

75%

2714
2045
75% 1565

77%

Contacts Requiring a 
Social Care Response

Contacts Leading to a 
Social Care Referral

Referrals Leading to A 
Social Care Assessment

0

1000

2000

3000

Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18

Front Door Demand into Social Care

Fig 1

575
29%

786
38%

873
47%

967
52%

1132
55%

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

1987 2047
1853 1861

2045

Children seen in timescale following Contact Total number of referrals

Children Seen Following Referral

Fig. 2 

P
age 275



4

Single Assessments

  80% (1679) of all assessments completed in Quarter 3 were within 45 working days. Although the number 
of assessments completed within quarter 3 are higher than the previous quarters in the year this is the first 
quarter where performance has fallen marginally below target and is below performance of Good and 
Outstanding Local Authorities (84.8%). (See Fig. 3)

 The majority of open assessments remained within timescale at the end of December 2018 (88%). This is a 
marginal improvement in performance compared with the previous quarter. This provides an opportunity to 
focus on addressing overdue assessments and assessments resulting in no further action, despite taking 45 
days to come to that view. (See Fig. 4). 

Children in Need

  There were 2160 Children in Need at the end of December 2018. The number of Children in Need has 
been relatively static over 12 months 2137 to 2160. 

 84% (1806) of Children in Need had been seen within timescale at the end of December. This is above 
target (80%) and a continued improvement on Quarters 1 and 2 (See Fig. 5). 

  14% of children (354) had not been visited in timescales at the end of December 2018 (See Fig 5).

  94% of children (2032) have been on a plan for 1 year or less; this is within tolerance of the 97% target. 
 
 94.7% of Children in Need have had a plan put in place in a timely way or remain within the assessment 

period. 

2233
1916 2020 2006 2091

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

1000

2000

3000

1868
83.7%

1635
85.3%

1642
81.3%

1630
81.3%

1679
80.3%

Single Assessments Completed (In quarter)
Completed within Timescales

Single Assessments Completed (In quarter)

Fig 3

213 309 283 226 273
338 346 267 302 380
323 392 476 366 373

55
6%

121
10%

117
10%

157
15%

143
12%

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

1000

2000

0-8 Days 9-20 Days 21 -45 Days More than 45 Days

Timeliness of Open Single Assessments

Fig 4

78% 78%
67%

79% 84%

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Children in Need seen within timescales

Fig 5

P
age 276



5

Children in Need of Help and Protection

 There has been a small decrease in the number of children subject to protection plans for the first quarter 
this year; down 2.7% from 885 to 861 (See Fig. 6). 

 86.4% of children on child protection plans (743 children) had been seen within 10 working days at the end 
of December 2018. This is above target of 85% (See Fig.7). The improvement in reported performance has 
resulted from a change to the reporting cycle which now captures visits that had taken place where there 
was a lag in case recording.

 97.8% of children have been subject to a protection plan for less than 2 years. Performance remains better 
than Good and Outstanding authorities (97.4%).  

 The percentage of children subject to a second or subsequent plan has increased, 228 children (26.5%) 
were experiencing further intervention and re-work at the end of December (See Fig.8).  The rate of 
reregistration on to a CP plan and length of time on plan are potentially related and a line of further enquiry.

44.6% (Rolling year) of Initial Child Protection conferences were held within 15 working days. However, 
throughout the quarter the proportion of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 working days has 
continued to improve from 62% at the end of Quarter 2 to 86% at the end of Quarter 3; performance is now 
above target (80%). 

 97.7% of Review Conferences completed were in timescale during Quarter 3. Performance is above target 
(90%) and above Good and Outstanding authorities (92.4%).

612 653
789

885 861

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

200

400

600

800

1000

Number of Children on Child Protection Plans

Fig 6

82.7% 80.0% 72.8% 68.3%
86.4%

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0.0%

50.0%

100.0%

Child Protection seen within timescales

Fig 7

460 499 590 674 633

152
24.8%

154
23.6%

199
25.2%

216
24.3%

228
26.5%

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1st Child Protection Plan 2nd or Subsequent Child Protection Plan
Target

First and Subsequent Protection Plans

Fig 8

P
age 277



6

Children in Care

 The number of children in care has steadily increased since December 2017, up 9.9% from 636 children to 
699 at the end of December 2018. (See Fig 9). 84 Children have been admitted to care and 56 children left 
care in quarter 3. 

 One-fifth of admissions continue to be for children returning to care following a previous care episode.

 There continue to be delays in recording when a child has come into care. The Senior Leadership team are 
investigating improvements. 

There are 219 (31.3%) children accommodated under Section 20 this is above the 2017/18 national 
average of 19%. The number of children accommodated under Section 20 has increased in from 207 
children in Quarter 2 to 219 children in Quarter 3 (See Fig 10). 

Statutory Visits

At the end of Quarter 3, 96% of children in Care had an up to date Statutory Visit. This represents a 
marginal decline over the last two quarters (See Fig 11).  

Assessments and Pathway Plans

 The percentage of children who have an up-to-date assessment has improved throughout 2018/19 from 
79% in April to 91% at the end of December.

 79% of children in care who should have a Pathway Plan have a plan in place, this is an improvement 
compared to Quarter 2 where (71%); continued improvement is required. Of those children in care who 
have a pathway plan, the overwhelming majority of plans are up-to-date (97%).

636 649 678 670 699

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700

Number of Children in Care

  Fig 9

234
36.7%

225
34.7%

227
33.5% 207

30.9%

219
31.3%

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

100

200

300

Children Accomodated under Section 20

Fig10

98.8% 97.6% 96.0%

Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

25

50

75

100

Percentage of Children in Care with an up to date 
Statutory Visit

 Fig 11

P
age 278



7

Placement Stability

 At the end of Quarter 3, 54 children (7.7%) had 3 or more placements in the last 12 months during their 
current period of care this remains relatively static month on month.

 With a high and increasing number of Children in Care there is a strain on the number and suitability of 
available placements. Nearly a quarter of children in care are now placed out of County following a 
steady increase throughout 2018 (See Fig. 12). 

The sufficiency strategy which outlines how the county council will support children in care and leaving care 
to secure a stable family environment and, where possible, reunite more children with their own families has 
been approved by Cabinet in January 2019. 

Health and Well Being

 Following admission to care, 32% of initial health assessments were carried out within timescale in 
December.  This is an increase on the previous quarter but requires further significant improvement and 
is being addressed through the entry to care work now underway. 

 At the end of Quarter 3, 78% of children in care (548) had an up to date health assessment. This is an 
improvement compared with Quarter 2. However, the availability of review health check appointments is 
presenting difficulties in addressing overdue health checks as there are currently expected wait times of 
several months. 

 79%, of children in care aged 2 or over (486) had a dental check that was up to date at the end of 
Quarter 3, this is a small improvement on Quarter 2: 76%. 

106
17%

122
19%

135
20%

147
22%

163
23%

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Out-of-County Placement

Fig 12

Empowerment and Feedback

 During Quarter 3, 109 MOMO statements have been sent by 58 children using their personal accounts (1.4% of children open to Social Care). This is an increase on both 
Quarters 1 and 2 74 and 66 MOMO statements respectively had been sent by children. Themes were as follows: sort out a problem (35), worker visit (22), preparation for a 
meeting/conference (17), sharing good news (16).

 A similar number of complaints were received this quarter to last quarter (54 and 50 respectively). This equates to 1.3% of the children open to Social Care). The number of 
complaints has been steadily increasing over the year up 23% from the end of March 2018. The majority of complaints related to quality of service: errors or omissions in 
assessments, letters, minutes or statements.

P
age 279



8

 The proportion of complaints that were upheld or partially upheld decreased in Quarter 3 down to 17 (equating to 32% of the complaints received in the quarter).

Caseload Levels

At the end of December, 4090 children were open to Social Care (See Fig. 13). The number of children 
open to Social Care has remained relatively steady throughout 2018 with a small increase of 2.5% (around 
100 children).

 The number of case holding workers has gradually increased and is currently 284, compared with 225 in 
December 2017. 

 The number of Social Workers holding higher caseloads remained the same as Quarter 2, with 50 Social 
Workers responsible for more than 20 children each (See Fig.14). However there has been an increase in 
those Social Workers responsible for more then 25 children (13 up from 6). 

Unallocated Cases

 The overwhelming majority of children (99.1%) have an allocated case worker at the end of Quarter 3. 
There are more children who have experienced a delay in being allocated a worker than in Quarter 2. (See 
Fig. 14). Overall, the percentage of children allocated a Social Worker has remained strong throughout 
2018; ranging between 98.5%-99.3%. Given the level of workforce churn, this is positive in terms of risk 
management. 

Workforce Stability

 At the end of December, 89.9% of children have had fewer than 3 changes of Social Worker in the last 6 
months.  This is a static position as workforce churn continues and a high number of children continue to 
have frequent changes of Social Worker. 

2169 1996 2194

789 890 848
13 8 13678 670 679

344 358 356

Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

2000

4000

6000

Children in Need
Children Subject to a Protection Plan
Children in Care also Subject to a Protection Plan

Children Open to Social Care by Status

3993 3922 4090

Fig 13

46 53 59 85 88
120 135 145 143 146

59 60 53 50 50

Dec-17 Mar-17 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

100

200

1-10 11-20 More than 20

Caseload Levels

Fig 14

28 40 40 28 35

25 13 18
7

16

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18
0

50

100

Children experiencing a Delay in being Allocated to a Worker
Allocated to Managers

Children who have experienced delays being allocated 
to a Social Worker or who are allocated to managers

P
age 280



9

 Fig 14

Risk

 Strategic risk relating to Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and review processes 
resulting in drift and delay for children and young people in situations of harm is set at  Moderate 12 
(See Fig 13). A comprehensive Improvement Plan has been developed, with input from Improvement 
Partner (Essex County Council), with progress subject to oversight by the Children’s Improvement 
Board.  The Ofsted Improvement Plan is in place and areas of key focus are an integrated MASH to 
ensure a consistent, timely and effective response to contacts, a comprehensive programme of 
professional and management development for the social care workforce, a robust Quality Assurance 
framework to enable management and senior leaders to understand the effectiveness  of practice in 
improving outcomes for children and young people, the implementation of practice standards covering 
all aspects of social care activity and a robust multi-agency focus on complex safeguarding issues  
including criminal/sexual exploitation, radicalisation and missing episodes.

 Strategic risk relating to Insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely impacting on pace 
and sustainability of improvement and contributing to discontinuity in social engagement with children 
and families is set at Moderate 12 (See Fig 13). Additional funding that has been provided to 
Children's Services to increase capacity and ensure caseloads are manageable. The Recruitment and 
Relocation Strategy is in place including enhanced package for 'hard to recruit' posts, 'Grow our own' 
approach to workforce development including ASYE, Frontline and Step Up to Social Worker and 
overseas social work recruitment.

 Strategic risk relating to failure to develop sufficient placement capacity to meet the needs of children 
looked after is set at High 16 (See Fig 13). A revised Sufficiency Strategy has been completed and a 
refreshed Recruitment strategy is in place for foster carers with the aim of increasing the numbers and 
proportion of children cared for by 'in house' foster care provision. Further work is to take place with 
health partners to develop specialist residential provision as part of the IRIS Project. 

 
 Strategic risk relating to failure to close the gaps in educational outcomes for vulnerable learners and 

their peers resulting in adverse impacts for children and families, increased cost/pressures on 
specialist provision and damage to reputation remained at Moderate, 12. (See Fig 15).  Reshaping 
Education phase 1 is complete and phase 2 is underway.

Fig 15

P
age 281



10

P
age 282



Children & Families Scrutiny
Performance Annex

Quarter 3 2018/19

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page no.
Key to Symbols 2
Children & Young People 3
Strategic Risks 10

1

P
age 283

javascript:app.OpenBookmark(1,2243,true,null,null,false,'','');


Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4)

4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3)

3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2)

2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1)

1 2 3 4 5

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Performance better than tolerance

Performance within tolerance

Performance worse than tolerance

No information

Missing target

No value

Value Increasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Decreasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Increasing (Bigger is Better)

Value Decreasing (Bigger is Better)

No change

Bigger is better A bigger value for this measure is good

Smaller is
better

A smaller value for this measure is good

Plan is best Where it is best for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Key to Symbols

Key to Symbols  Risk

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with

the Likelihood of each risk)

The Gloucestershire Risk Matrix

2

P
age 284



Children & Young  People
Cllr Richard Boyles

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

Gloucestershire Population 017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

122,734 123,086 124,799 126,287 127,004
The 017 population figure is used to calculate the rates per 10,000 for Children's social
care indicators.

Gloucestershire Population 1017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

55,186 55,062 54,892 55,058 55,337
The 1017 population figure is used to calculate the rate of first time entrants to the Youth
Justice system.

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

2013 2014 2015 2016
2017
(Latest)

Comments

Children's Safeguarding & Assessment

Rate of referrals to social
care per 10,000 U18
population

Plan is Best Rolling Year 653.4 649.8 636.2 622.3 627.3 548.2 435.8
Publicly
Reported

Rate of Children in Need
per 10,000 U18 population
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 172.6 184.7 175.2 161.2 174.6 330.4 276.8
Publicly
Reported

Number of children subject
of a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 612 653 789 890 861 ? ?
Publicly
Reported

Number of Children in
Need receiving a service
from safeguarding teams
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 2,137 2,287 2,169 1,996 2,162 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of children subject to a
Children in Need plan for a
2nd or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

80.9 % 72.3 % 73.7 % 70.0 % 71.0 % n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Need who
have been on a plan for 12
months or more

Smaller is
Better

7.6 % 7.7 % 7.9 % 8.1 % 33.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of children on a Child
Protection plan due to
neglect

Smaller is
Better

44.2 % 49.0 % 51.1 % 43.7 % 44.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Number of children on
Child Protection Plans for
18 months or more

Smaller is
Better

25 30 35 42 42 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Rate of children and young
people per 10,000 subject
to a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 49.4 52.7 63.7 71.9 69.5 43.3 39.4
Publicly
Reported

% of children with initial
Child Protection
conferences within 15 days
of the strategy discussion

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 70.8 % 73.6 % 52.0 % 41.3 % 44.6 % 77.2 % 72.1 %
Performance has improved throughout the
quarter and had risen to 86% in December.

Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings work
diverted away from court

Bigger is
Better

75.0 % 48.2 % 83.3 % 47.4 % 54.8 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings cases
as a percentage of all
cases

Smaller is
Better

48.0 % 44.2 % 39.9 % 40.7 % 36.7 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of care proceedings
completed within 26 weeks

Bigger is
Better

38.5 % 39.1 % 50.0 % 57.1 % 45.2 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Average length of care
proceedings (weeks)

Smaller is
Better

33 33 29 28 30 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of Children in Need
whose CiN Plan has been
reviewed within the last 3
months

Bigger is
Better

? 71.7 % 62.7 % 56.0 % 56.4 % 80.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of referrals to Social
Care that are rereferrals
within 12 months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 28.6 % 29.2 % 30.1 % 30.5 % 29.9 % 25.0 % 21.9 % 21.8 %

Although the rate of rereferrals
improved marginally over the
quarter, more work is need to
improve performance.  Work is
ongoing with MASH partners to
ensure decision making and
subsequent assessment and
planning is robust.

Publicly
Reported

% of (single) assessments
completed within 45
working days

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 78.5 % 79.7 % 80.7 % 83.2 % 79.1 % 85.0 % 82.9 % 83.9 %

Single Assessment timeliness
has declined slightly however
this is due in part to increased
management oversight at sign
off in order to improve quality
and outcomes for children and
families.  This has impacted on
timeliness.

Publicly
Reported

% of children becoming
the subject of a Child
Protection Plan for a 2nd
or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 24.8 % 23.6 % 25.2 % 24.3 % 26.5 % 20.9 % 18.7 % 22.7 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Child Protection cases
which were reviewed within
required timescales

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91.8 % 89.9 % 87.7 % 86.8 % 97.7 % 90.0 % 92.2 % 86.9 %
Core Data
Set

% of children becoming
subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or
subsequent time within 2
years

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 11.4 % 12.0 % 10.5 % 10.6 % 12.0 % ? n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Children in Care

Number of children in care
Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 636 649 678 670 699
Publicly
Reported

Number of children in care
in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 59 61 53 60 55
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
external foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£874 £894 £905 £926 £892
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
internal foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£515 £511 £610 £532 £529
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
residential placements
funded by Social Care

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£3,815 £3,998 £4,369 £4,283 £4,144
Core Data
Set

Number of children
becoming subject to
Special Guardianship
Order or Child
Arrangement Order

Plan is Best
Latest
Quarter

12 11 6 9 7
Publicly
Reported

Number of adopters
approved

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

3 10 7 7 8
Core Data
Set

Number of children who
have left care and returned
home

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91 74 67 75 54
Publicly
Reported

% of children in care
placed in an Independent
Fostering Agency (IFA)

Bigger is
Better

21.3 % 20.3 % 35.1 % 36.7 % 36.7 %
Core Data
Set

% of children in care
placed in residential care

Bigger is
Better

9.8 % 9.2 % 8.0 % 9.4 % 9.5 %
Core Data
Set

Rate of Children in Care
Per 10,000 U18 population

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 51.0 52.0 54.3 53.7 56.0
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Care aged
16+ in suitable
accommodation

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 99.0 % 98.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % Figures from December 2018 data collection (snapshot).
Publicly
Reported

Number of foster carers not
currently active

Smaller is
Better

? ? 43 ? 36
Core Data
Set

% of Care Leavers
contacted by a Social
Workers in the last 6
months

Bigger is
Better

91.0 % ? ? ? 96.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of children admitted to
care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 18.1 % 18.1 % 18.0 % 20.6 % 20.1 % 12.0 % n/a n/a

Although the proportion of
children with subsequent care
episodes has
marginally  improved further
work is needed understand the
underlying causes.  A deep
dive in to a sample of cases
has been commenced which
will, amongst other things,
explore the reasons for repeat
care episodes.

Publicly
Reported

% of children who are
fostered who are placed
with the inhouse fostering
service

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 41.0 % 70.0 % 61.0 % 60.7 % 68.0 % 68.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Stability of placements of
children in care: 3 or more
placements in current
period of care

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 13.4 % 12.5 % 12.7 % 12.7 % 14.4 % 13.7 % n/a n/a

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Stability of placements of
children in care: length of
placement

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 72.6 % 67.1 % 62.8 % 63.0 % 64.4 % 65.4 % 68.0 % 69.1 %

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Number of children
adopted (becoming subject
to an adoption order)

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 15 10 5 12 1 7 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Young People

% of young people
(academic age 1617) not
in education, employment
or training (NEET)

Smaller is
Better

2.5 % 2.7 % 2.5 % 1.3 % 2.4 %

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Schools

Number of schools judged
as inadequate

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 6 4 6 5 7 7
(Paternoster, Gloucester Academy, Drybrook, Tuffley
primary, St Matthews CofE Primary, Beaufort Cooperative
Academy, Offa's Mead).

Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding primary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 93.7 % 92.7 % 85.8 % 90.0 % 90.9 % 92.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding secondary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 82.4 % 82.4 % 80.4 % 80.4 % 78.5 % 91.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of good or outstanding
secondary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 81.6 % 81.6 % 76.0 % 73.0 % 78.4 % 90.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
primary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 91.7 % 90.9 % 89.2 % 87.0 % 90.3 % 91.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
Early Years settings

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 89.9 % 89.8 % 88.8 % 88.6 % 89.0 % 89.0 %
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Dec
18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Yearly cost of transport
appeals approved

Smaller is
Better

£18,257 £16,948 £12,344 £0 £32,987
Publicly
Reported

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance  SEN

Smaller is
Better

1,177 1,149 1,194 1,223 1,149
Core Data
Set

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance 
Mainstream

Smaller is
Better

5,212 5,231 5,399 5,251 5,157
Core Data
Set

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
primary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£8.95 £9.27 £9.39 £10.30 £10.20 £9.35
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
secondary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£4.19 £4.28 £4.37 £4.65 £4.22 £4.30
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
special school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£30.11 £32.50 £32.27 £32.56 £32.30 £33.00
Publicly
Reported

Total average daily cost of
home to school transport
per pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£9.53 £9.89 £10.12 £10.63 £9.81 £10.00
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Comments Qtr Sep18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18
Target Qtr
Sep18

Comments Qtr Sep18

Youth Support

Rate of first time entrants
to the Youth Justice system
(per 100,000 of the 1017yr
old population) in the
previous 12months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 282 267 245 198 245

For the latest period reported by the YJB, Jan 17  Dec 17,  Gloucestershire's
rate is 245.  This is less than Quarter 4 when the rate was 267.  It is also less
than the South West Region (290) and also England (292).  This reduction
was expected following the introduction of Children's First.

Publicly
Reported

Rate of proven re
offending by young
offenders

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 36.00 47.20 39.50 39.10 37.00

The Jul 16  Sept 16 cohort consisted of 72  young people, and the
reoffending rate in Gloucestershire is 37.0% which is lower than the previous
Quarter which was 40.0%.  The average number of reoffences per 100
young people is 1.71 which is higher than the previous Quarter which was
1.61.    We continue to track live reoffending data on a quarterly basis to
identify cases where early intervention may prevent escalation.

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Quarters In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun17 Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Comments Jun18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Jun16 Qtr Sep16 Comments Qtr Sep16

3

P
age 285

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col7')


Children & Young  People
Cllr Richard Boyles

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

Gloucestershire Population 017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

122,734 123,086 124,799 126,287 127,004
The 017 population figure is used to calculate the rates per 10,000 for Children's social
care indicators.

Gloucestershire Population 1017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

55,186 55,062 54,892 55,058 55,337
The 1017 population figure is used to calculate the rate of first time entrants to the Youth
Justice system.

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

2013 2014 2015 2016
2017
(Latest)

Comments

Children's Safeguarding & Assessment

Rate of referrals to social
care per 10,000 U18
population

Plan is Best Rolling Year 653.4 649.8 636.2 622.3 627.3 548.2 435.8
Publicly
Reported

Rate of Children in Need
per 10,000 U18 population
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 172.6 184.7 175.2 161.2 174.6 330.4 276.8
Publicly
Reported

Number of children subject
of a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 612 653 789 890 861 ? ?
Publicly
Reported

Number of Children in
Need receiving a service
from safeguarding teams
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 2,137 2,287 2,169 1,996 2,162 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of children subject to a
Children in Need plan for a
2nd or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

80.9 % 72.3 % 73.7 % 70.0 % 71.0 % n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Need who
have been on a plan for 12
months or more

Smaller is
Better

7.6 % 7.7 % 7.9 % 8.1 % 33.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of children on a Child
Protection plan due to
neglect

Smaller is
Better

44.2 % 49.0 % 51.1 % 43.7 % 44.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Number of children on
Child Protection Plans for
18 months or more

Smaller is
Better

25 30 35 42 42 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Rate of children and young
people per 10,000 subject
to a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 49.4 52.7 63.7 71.9 69.5 43.3 39.4
Publicly
Reported

% of children with initial
Child Protection
conferences within 15 days
of the strategy discussion

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 70.8 % 73.6 % 52.0 % 41.3 % 44.6 % 77.2 % 72.1 %
Performance has improved throughout the
quarter and had risen to 86% in December.

Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings work
diverted away from court

Bigger is
Better

75.0 % 48.2 % 83.3 % 47.4 % 54.8 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings cases
as a percentage of all
cases

Smaller is
Better

48.0 % 44.2 % 39.9 % 40.7 % 36.7 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of care proceedings
completed within 26 weeks

Bigger is
Better

38.5 % 39.1 % 50.0 % 57.1 % 45.2 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Average length of care
proceedings (weeks)

Smaller is
Better

33 33 29 28 30 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of Children in Need
whose CiN Plan has been
reviewed within the last 3
months

Bigger is
Better

? 71.7 % 62.7 % 56.0 % 56.4 % 80.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of referrals to Social
Care that are rereferrals
within 12 months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 28.6 % 29.2 % 30.1 % 30.5 % 29.9 % 25.0 % 21.9 % 21.8 %

Although the rate of rereferrals
improved marginally over the
quarter, more work is need to
improve performance.  Work is
ongoing with MASH partners to
ensure decision making and
subsequent assessment and
planning is robust.

Publicly
Reported

% of (single) assessments
completed within 45
working days

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 78.5 % 79.7 % 80.7 % 83.2 % 79.1 % 85.0 % 82.9 % 83.9 %

Single Assessment timeliness
has declined slightly however
this is due in part to increased
management oversight at sign
off in order to improve quality
and outcomes for children and
families.  This has impacted on
timeliness.

Publicly
Reported

% of children becoming
the subject of a Child
Protection Plan for a 2nd
or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 24.8 % 23.6 % 25.2 % 24.3 % 26.5 % 20.9 % 18.7 % 22.7 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Child Protection cases
which were reviewed within
required timescales

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91.8 % 89.9 % 87.7 % 86.8 % 97.7 % 90.0 % 92.2 % 86.9 %
Core Data
Set

% of children becoming
subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or
subsequent time within 2
years

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 11.4 % 12.0 % 10.5 % 10.6 % 12.0 % ? n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Children in Care

Number of children in care
Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 636 649 678 670 699
Publicly
Reported

Number of children in care
in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 59 61 53 60 55
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
external foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£874 £894 £905 £926 £892
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
internal foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£515 £511 £610 £532 £529
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
residential placements
funded by Social Care

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£3,815 £3,998 £4,369 £4,283 £4,144
Core Data
Set

Number of children
becoming subject to
Special Guardianship
Order or Child
Arrangement Order

Plan is Best
Latest
Quarter

12 11 6 9 7
Publicly
Reported

Number of adopters
approved

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

3 10 7 7 8
Core Data
Set

Number of children who
have left care and returned
home

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91 74 67 75 54
Publicly
Reported

% of children in care
placed in an Independent
Fostering Agency (IFA)

Bigger is
Better

21.3 % 20.3 % 35.1 % 36.7 % 36.7 %
Core Data
Set

% of children in care
placed in residential care

Bigger is
Better

9.8 % 9.2 % 8.0 % 9.4 % 9.5 %
Core Data
Set

Rate of Children in Care
Per 10,000 U18 population

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 51.0 52.0 54.3 53.7 56.0
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Care aged
16+ in suitable
accommodation

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 99.0 % 98.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % Figures from December 2018 data collection (snapshot).
Publicly
Reported

Number of foster carers not
currently active

Smaller is
Better

? ? 43 ? 36
Core Data
Set

% of Care Leavers
contacted by a Social
Workers in the last 6
months

Bigger is
Better

91.0 % ? ? ? 96.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of children admitted to
care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 18.1 % 18.1 % 18.0 % 20.6 % 20.1 % 12.0 % n/a n/a

Although the proportion of
children with subsequent care
episodes has
marginally  improved further
work is needed understand the
underlying causes.  A deep
dive in to a sample of cases
has been commenced which
will, amongst other things,
explore the reasons for repeat
care episodes.

Publicly
Reported

% of children who are
fostered who are placed
with the inhouse fostering
service

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 41.0 % 70.0 % 61.0 % 60.7 % 68.0 % 68.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Stability of placements of
children in care: 3 or more
placements in current
period of care

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 13.4 % 12.5 % 12.7 % 12.7 % 14.4 % 13.7 % n/a n/a

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Stability of placements of
children in care: length of
placement

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 72.6 % 67.1 % 62.8 % 63.0 % 64.4 % 65.4 % 68.0 % 69.1 %

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Number of children
adopted (becoming subject
to an adoption order)

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 15 10 5 12 1 7 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Young People

% of young people
(academic age 1617) not
in education, employment
or training (NEET)

Smaller is
Better

2.5 % 2.7 % 2.5 % 1.3 % 2.4 %

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Schools

Number of schools judged
as inadequate

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 6 4 6 5 7 7
(Paternoster, Gloucester Academy, Drybrook, Tuffley
primary, St Matthews CofE Primary, Beaufort Cooperative
Academy, Offa's Mead).

Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding primary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 93.7 % 92.7 % 85.8 % 90.0 % 90.9 % 92.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding secondary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 82.4 % 82.4 % 80.4 % 80.4 % 78.5 % 91.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of good or outstanding
secondary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 81.6 % 81.6 % 76.0 % 73.0 % 78.4 % 90.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
primary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 91.7 % 90.9 % 89.2 % 87.0 % 90.3 % 91.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
Early Years settings

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 89.9 % 89.8 % 88.8 % 88.6 % 89.0 % 89.0 %
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Dec
18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Yearly cost of transport
appeals approved

Smaller is
Better

£18,257 £16,948 £12,344 £0 £32,987
Publicly
Reported

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance  SEN

Smaller is
Better

1,177 1,149 1,194 1,223 1,149
Core Data
Set

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance 
Mainstream

Smaller is
Better

5,212 5,231 5,399 5,251 5,157
Core Data
Set

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
primary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£8.95 £9.27 £9.39 £10.30 £10.20 £9.35
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
secondary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£4.19 £4.28 £4.37 £4.65 £4.22 £4.30
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
special school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£30.11 £32.50 £32.27 £32.56 £32.30 £33.00
Publicly
Reported

Total average daily cost of
home to school transport
per pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£9.53 £9.89 £10.12 £10.63 £9.81 £10.00
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Comments Qtr Sep18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18
Target Qtr
Sep18

Comments Qtr Sep18

Youth Support

Rate of first time entrants
to the Youth Justice system
(per 100,000 of the 1017yr
old population) in the
previous 12months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 282 267 245 198 245

For the latest period reported by the YJB, Jan 17  Dec 17,  Gloucestershire's
rate is 245.  This is less than Quarter 4 when the rate was 267.  It is also less
than the South West Region (290) and also England (292).  This reduction
was expected following the introduction of Children's First.

Publicly
Reported

Rate of proven re
offending by young
offenders

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 36.00 47.20 39.50 39.10 37.00

The Jul 16  Sept 16 cohort consisted of 72  young people, and the
reoffending rate in Gloucestershire is 37.0% which is lower than the previous
Quarter which was 40.0%.  The average number of reoffences per 100
young people is 1.71 which is higher than the previous Quarter which was
1.61.    We continue to track live reoffending data on a quarterly basis to
identify cases where early intervention may prevent escalation.

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Quarters In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun17 Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Comments Jun18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Jun16 Qtr Sep16 Comments Qtr Sep16

4

P
age 286

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B3','Col10')


Children & Young  People
Cllr Richard Boyles

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

Gloucestershire Population 017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

122,734 123,086 124,799 126,287 127,004
The 017 population figure is used to calculate the rates per 10,000 for Children's social
care indicators.

Gloucestershire Population 1017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

55,186 55,062 54,892 55,058 55,337
The 1017 population figure is used to calculate the rate of first time entrants to the Youth
Justice system.

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

2013 2014 2015 2016
2017
(Latest)

Comments

Children's Safeguarding & Assessment

Rate of referrals to social
care per 10,000 U18
population

Plan is Best Rolling Year 653.4 649.8 636.2 622.3 627.3 548.2 435.8
Publicly
Reported

Rate of Children in Need
per 10,000 U18 population
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 172.6 184.7 175.2 161.2 174.6 330.4 276.8
Publicly
Reported

Number of children subject
of a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 612 653 789 890 861 ? ?
Publicly
Reported

Number of Children in
Need receiving a service
from safeguarding teams
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 2,137 2,287 2,169 1,996 2,162 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of children subject to a
Children in Need plan for a
2nd or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

80.9 % 72.3 % 73.7 % 70.0 % 71.0 % n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Need who
have been on a plan for 12
months or more

Smaller is
Better

7.6 % 7.7 % 7.9 % 8.1 % 33.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of children on a Child
Protection plan due to
neglect

Smaller is
Better

44.2 % 49.0 % 51.1 % 43.7 % 44.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Number of children on
Child Protection Plans for
18 months or more

Smaller is
Better

25 30 35 42 42 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Rate of children and young
people per 10,000 subject
to a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 49.4 52.7 63.7 71.9 69.5 43.3 39.4
Publicly
Reported

% of children with initial
Child Protection
conferences within 15 days
of the strategy discussion

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 70.8 % 73.6 % 52.0 % 41.3 % 44.6 % 77.2 % 72.1 %
Performance has improved throughout the
quarter and had risen to 86% in December.

Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings work
diverted away from court

Bigger is
Better

75.0 % 48.2 % 83.3 % 47.4 % 54.8 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings cases
as a percentage of all
cases

Smaller is
Better

48.0 % 44.2 % 39.9 % 40.7 % 36.7 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of care proceedings
completed within 26 weeks

Bigger is
Better

38.5 % 39.1 % 50.0 % 57.1 % 45.2 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Average length of care
proceedings (weeks)

Smaller is
Better

33 33 29 28 30 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of Children in Need
whose CiN Plan has been
reviewed within the last 3
months

Bigger is
Better

? 71.7 % 62.7 % 56.0 % 56.4 % 80.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of referrals to Social
Care that are rereferrals
within 12 months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 28.6 % 29.2 % 30.1 % 30.5 % 29.9 % 25.0 % 21.9 % 21.8 %

Although the rate of rereferrals
improved marginally over the
quarter, more work is need to
improve performance.  Work is
ongoing with MASH partners to
ensure decision making and
subsequent assessment and
planning is robust.

Publicly
Reported

% of (single) assessments
completed within 45
working days

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 78.5 % 79.7 % 80.7 % 83.2 % 79.1 % 85.0 % 82.9 % 83.9 %

Single Assessment timeliness
has declined slightly however
this is due in part to increased
management oversight at sign
off in order to improve quality
and outcomes for children and
families.  This has impacted on
timeliness.

Publicly
Reported

% of children becoming
the subject of a Child
Protection Plan for a 2nd
or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 24.8 % 23.6 % 25.2 % 24.3 % 26.5 % 20.9 % 18.7 % 22.7 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Child Protection cases
which were reviewed within
required timescales

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91.8 % 89.9 % 87.7 % 86.8 % 97.7 % 90.0 % 92.2 % 86.9 %
Core Data
Set

% of children becoming
subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or
subsequent time within 2
years

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 11.4 % 12.0 % 10.5 % 10.6 % 12.0 % ? n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Children in Care

Number of children in care
Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 636 649 678 670 699
Publicly
Reported

Number of children in care
in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 59 61 53 60 55
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
external foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£874 £894 £905 £926 £892
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
internal foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£515 £511 £610 £532 £529
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
residential placements
funded by Social Care

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£3,815 £3,998 £4,369 £4,283 £4,144
Core Data
Set

Number of children
becoming subject to
Special Guardianship
Order or Child
Arrangement Order

Plan is Best
Latest
Quarter

12 11 6 9 7
Publicly
Reported

Number of adopters
approved

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

3 10 7 7 8
Core Data
Set

Number of children who
have left care and returned
home

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91 74 67 75 54
Publicly
Reported

% of children in care
placed in an Independent
Fostering Agency (IFA)

Bigger is
Better

21.3 % 20.3 % 35.1 % 36.7 % 36.7 %
Core Data
Set

% of children in care
placed in residential care

Bigger is
Better

9.8 % 9.2 % 8.0 % 9.4 % 9.5 %
Core Data
Set

Rate of Children in Care
Per 10,000 U18 population

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 51.0 52.0 54.3 53.7 56.0
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Care aged
16+ in suitable
accommodation

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 99.0 % 98.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % Figures from December 2018 data collection (snapshot).
Publicly
Reported

Number of foster carers not
currently active

Smaller is
Better

? ? 43 ? 36
Core Data
Set

% of Care Leavers
contacted by a Social
Workers in the last 6
months

Bigger is
Better

91.0 % ? ? ? 96.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of children admitted to
care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 18.1 % 18.1 % 18.0 % 20.6 % 20.1 % 12.0 % n/a n/a

Although the proportion of
children with subsequent care
episodes has
marginally  improved further
work is needed understand the
underlying causes.  A deep
dive in to a sample of cases
has been commenced which
will, amongst other things,
explore the reasons for repeat
care episodes.

Publicly
Reported

% of children who are
fostered who are placed
with the inhouse fostering
service

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 41.0 % 70.0 % 61.0 % 60.7 % 68.0 % 68.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Stability of placements of
children in care: 3 or more
placements in current
period of care

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 13.4 % 12.5 % 12.7 % 12.7 % 14.4 % 13.7 % n/a n/a

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Stability of placements of
children in care: length of
placement

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 72.6 % 67.1 % 62.8 % 63.0 % 64.4 % 65.4 % 68.0 % 69.1 %

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Number of children
adopted (becoming subject
to an adoption order)

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 15 10 5 12 1 7 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Young People

% of young people
(academic age 1617) not
in education, employment
or training (NEET)

Smaller is
Better

2.5 % 2.7 % 2.5 % 1.3 % 2.4 %

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Schools

Number of schools judged
as inadequate

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 6 4 6 5 7 7
(Paternoster, Gloucester Academy, Drybrook, Tuffley
primary, St Matthews CofE Primary, Beaufort Cooperative
Academy, Offa's Mead).

Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding primary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 93.7 % 92.7 % 85.8 % 90.0 % 90.9 % 92.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding secondary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 82.4 % 82.4 % 80.4 % 80.4 % 78.5 % 91.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of good or outstanding
secondary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 81.6 % 81.6 % 76.0 % 73.0 % 78.4 % 90.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
primary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 91.7 % 90.9 % 89.2 % 87.0 % 90.3 % 91.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
Early Years settings

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 89.9 % 89.8 % 88.8 % 88.6 % 89.0 % 89.0 %
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Dec
18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Yearly cost of transport
appeals approved

Smaller is
Better

£18,257 £16,948 £12,344 £0 £32,987
Publicly
Reported

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance  SEN

Smaller is
Better

1,177 1,149 1,194 1,223 1,149
Core Data
Set

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance 
Mainstream

Smaller is
Better

5,212 5,231 5,399 5,251 5,157
Core Data
Set

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
primary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£8.95 £9.27 £9.39 £10.30 £10.20 £9.35
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
secondary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£4.19 £4.28 £4.37 £4.65 £4.22 £4.30
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
special school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£30.11 £32.50 £32.27 £32.56 £32.30 £33.00
Publicly
Reported

Total average daily cost of
home to school transport
per pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£9.53 £9.89 £10.12 £10.63 £9.81 £10.00
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Comments Qtr Sep18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18
Target Qtr
Sep18

Comments Qtr Sep18

Youth Support

Rate of first time entrants
to the Youth Justice system
(per 100,000 of the 1017yr
old population) in the
previous 12months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 282 267 245 198 245

For the latest period reported by the YJB, Jan 17  Dec 17,  Gloucestershire's
rate is 245.  This is less than Quarter 4 when the rate was 267.  It is also less
than the South West Region (290) and also England (292).  This reduction
was expected following the introduction of Children's First.

Publicly
Reported

Rate of proven re
offending by young
offenders

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 36.00 47.20 39.50 39.10 37.00

The Jul 16  Sept 16 cohort consisted of 72  young people, and the
reoffending rate in Gloucestershire is 37.0% which is lower than the previous
Quarter which was 40.0%.  The average number of reoffences per 100
young people is 1.71 which is higher than the previous Quarter which was
1.61.    We continue to track live reoffending data on a quarterly basis to
identify cases where early intervention may prevent escalation.

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Quarters In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun17 Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Comments Jun18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Jun16 Qtr Sep16 Comments Qtr Sep16

5

P
age 287

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')


Children & Young  People
Cllr Richard Boyles

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

Gloucestershire Population 017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

122,734 123,086 124,799 126,287 127,004
The 017 population figure is used to calculate the rates per 10,000 for Children's social
care indicators.

Gloucestershire Population 1017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

55,186 55,062 54,892 55,058 55,337
The 1017 population figure is used to calculate the rate of first time entrants to the Youth
Justice system.

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

2013 2014 2015 2016
2017
(Latest)

Comments

Children's Safeguarding & Assessment

Rate of referrals to social
care per 10,000 U18
population

Plan is Best Rolling Year 653.4 649.8 636.2 622.3 627.3 548.2 435.8
Publicly
Reported

Rate of Children in Need
per 10,000 U18 population
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 172.6 184.7 175.2 161.2 174.6 330.4 276.8
Publicly
Reported

Number of children subject
of a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 612 653 789 890 861 ? ?
Publicly
Reported

Number of Children in
Need receiving a service
from safeguarding teams
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 2,137 2,287 2,169 1,996 2,162 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of children subject to a
Children in Need plan for a
2nd or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

80.9 % 72.3 % 73.7 % 70.0 % 71.0 % n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Need who
have been on a plan for 12
months or more

Smaller is
Better

7.6 % 7.7 % 7.9 % 8.1 % 33.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of children on a Child
Protection plan due to
neglect

Smaller is
Better

44.2 % 49.0 % 51.1 % 43.7 % 44.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Number of children on
Child Protection Plans for
18 months or more

Smaller is
Better

25 30 35 42 42 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Rate of children and young
people per 10,000 subject
to a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 49.4 52.7 63.7 71.9 69.5 43.3 39.4
Publicly
Reported

% of children with initial
Child Protection
conferences within 15 days
of the strategy discussion

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 70.8 % 73.6 % 52.0 % 41.3 % 44.6 % 77.2 % 72.1 %
Performance has improved throughout the
quarter and had risen to 86% in December.

Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings work
diverted away from court

Bigger is
Better

75.0 % 48.2 % 83.3 % 47.4 % 54.8 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings cases
as a percentage of all
cases

Smaller is
Better

48.0 % 44.2 % 39.9 % 40.7 % 36.7 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of care proceedings
completed within 26 weeks

Bigger is
Better

38.5 % 39.1 % 50.0 % 57.1 % 45.2 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Average length of care
proceedings (weeks)

Smaller is
Better

33 33 29 28 30 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of Children in Need
whose CiN Plan has been
reviewed within the last 3
months

Bigger is
Better

? 71.7 % 62.7 % 56.0 % 56.4 % 80.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of referrals to Social
Care that are rereferrals
within 12 months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 28.6 % 29.2 % 30.1 % 30.5 % 29.9 % 25.0 % 21.9 % 21.8 %

Although the rate of rereferrals
improved marginally over the
quarter, more work is need to
improve performance.  Work is
ongoing with MASH partners to
ensure decision making and
subsequent assessment and
planning is robust.

Publicly
Reported

% of (single) assessments
completed within 45
working days

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 78.5 % 79.7 % 80.7 % 83.2 % 79.1 % 85.0 % 82.9 % 83.9 %

Single Assessment timeliness
has declined slightly however
this is due in part to increased
management oversight at sign
off in order to improve quality
and outcomes for children and
families.  This has impacted on
timeliness.

Publicly
Reported

% of children becoming
the subject of a Child
Protection Plan for a 2nd
or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 24.8 % 23.6 % 25.2 % 24.3 % 26.5 % 20.9 % 18.7 % 22.7 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Child Protection cases
which were reviewed within
required timescales

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91.8 % 89.9 % 87.7 % 86.8 % 97.7 % 90.0 % 92.2 % 86.9 %
Core Data
Set

% of children becoming
subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or
subsequent time within 2
years

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 11.4 % 12.0 % 10.5 % 10.6 % 12.0 % ? n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Children in Care

Number of children in care
Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 636 649 678 670 699
Publicly
Reported

Number of children in care
in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 59 61 53 60 55
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
external foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£874 £894 £905 £926 £892
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
internal foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£515 £511 £610 £532 £529
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
residential placements
funded by Social Care

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£3,815 £3,998 £4,369 £4,283 £4,144
Core Data
Set

Number of children
becoming subject to
Special Guardianship
Order or Child
Arrangement Order

Plan is Best
Latest
Quarter

12 11 6 9 7
Publicly
Reported

Number of adopters
approved

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

3 10 7 7 8
Core Data
Set

Number of children who
have left care and returned
home

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91 74 67 75 54
Publicly
Reported

% of children in care
placed in an Independent
Fostering Agency (IFA)

Bigger is
Better

21.3 % 20.3 % 35.1 % 36.7 % 36.7 %
Core Data
Set

% of children in care
placed in residential care

Bigger is
Better

9.8 % 9.2 % 8.0 % 9.4 % 9.5 %
Core Data
Set

Rate of Children in Care
Per 10,000 U18 population

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 51.0 52.0 54.3 53.7 56.0
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Care aged
16+ in suitable
accommodation

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 99.0 % 98.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % Figures from December 2018 data collection (snapshot).
Publicly
Reported

Number of foster carers not
currently active

Smaller is
Better

? ? 43 ? 36
Core Data
Set

% of Care Leavers
contacted by a Social
Workers in the last 6
months

Bigger is
Better

91.0 % ? ? ? 96.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of children admitted to
care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 18.1 % 18.1 % 18.0 % 20.6 % 20.1 % 12.0 % n/a n/a

Although the proportion of
children with subsequent care
episodes has
marginally  improved further
work is needed understand the
underlying causes.  A deep
dive in to a sample of cases
has been commenced which
will, amongst other things,
explore the reasons for repeat
care episodes.

Publicly
Reported

% of children who are
fostered who are placed
with the inhouse fostering
service

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 41.0 % 70.0 % 61.0 % 60.7 % 68.0 % 68.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Stability of placements of
children in care: 3 or more
placements in current
period of care

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 13.4 % 12.5 % 12.7 % 12.7 % 14.4 % 13.7 % n/a n/a

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Stability of placements of
children in care: length of
placement

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 72.6 % 67.1 % 62.8 % 63.0 % 64.4 % 65.4 % 68.0 % 69.1 %

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Number of children
adopted (becoming subject
to an adoption order)

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 15 10 5 12 1 7 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Young People

% of young people
(academic age 1617) not
in education, employment
or training (NEET)

Smaller is
Better

2.5 % 2.7 % 2.5 % 1.3 % 2.4 %

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Schools

Number of schools judged
as inadequate

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 6 4 6 5 7 7
(Paternoster, Gloucester Academy, Drybrook, Tuffley
primary, St Matthews CofE Primary, Beaufort Cooperative
Academy, Offa's Mead).

Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding primary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 93.7 % 92.7 % 85.8 % 90.0 % 90.9 % 92.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding secondary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 82.4 % 82.4 % 80.4 % 80.4 % 78.5 % 91.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of good or outstanding
secondary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 81.6 % 81.6 % 76.0 % 73.0 % 78.4 % 90.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
primary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 91.7 % 90.9 % 89.2 % 87.0 % 90.3 % 91.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
Early Years settings

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 89.9 % 89.8 % 88.8 % 88.6 % 89.0 % 89.0 %
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Dec
18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Yearly cost of transport
appeals approved

Smaller is
Better

£18,257 £16,948 £12,344 £0 £32,987
Publicly
Reported

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance  SEN

Smaller is
Better

1,177 1,149 1,194 1,223 1,149
Core Data
Set

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance 
Mainstream

Smaller is
Better

5,212 5,231 5,399 5,251 5,157
Core Data
Set

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
primary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£8.95 £9.27 £9.39 £10.30 £10.20 £9.35
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
secondary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£4.19 £4.28 £4.37 £4.65 £4.22 £4.30
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
special school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£30.11 £32.50 £32.27 £32.56 £32.30 £33.00
Publicly
Reported

Total average daily cost of
home to school transport
per pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£9.53 £9.89 £10.12 £10.63 £9.81 £10.00
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Comments Qtr Sep18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18
Target Qtr
Sep18

Comments Qtr Sep18

Youth Support

Rate of first time entrants
to the Youth Justice system
(per 100,000 of the 1017yr
old population) in the
previous 12months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 282 267 245 198 245

For the latest period reported by the YJB, Jan 17  Dec 17,  Gloucestershire's
rate is 245.  This is less than Quarter 4 when the rate was 267.  It is also less
than the South West Region (290) and also England (292).  This reduction
was expected following the introduction of Children's First.

Publicly
Reported

Rate of proven re
offending by young
offenders

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 36.00 47.20 39.50 39.10 37.00

The Jul 16  Sept 16 cohort consisted of 72  young people, and the
reoffending rate in Gloucestershire is 37.0% which is lower than the previous
Quarter which was 40.0%.  The average number of reoffences per 100
young people is 1.71 which is higher than the previous Quarter which was
1.61.    We continue to track live reoffending data on a quarterly basis to
identify cases where early intervention may prevent escalation.

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Quarters In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun17 Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Comments Jun18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Jun16 Qtr Sep16 Comments Qtr Sep16

6

P
age 288

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col9')


Children & Young  People
Cllr Richard Boyles

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

Gloucestershire Population 017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

122,734 123,086 124,799 126,287 127,004
The 017 population figure is used to calculate the rates per 10,000 for Children's social
care indicators.

Gloucestershire Population 1017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

55,186 55,062 54,892 55,058 55,337
The 1017 population figure is used to calculate the rate of first time entrants to the Youth
Justice system.

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

2013 2014 2015 2016
2017
(Latest)

Comments

Children's Safeguarding & Assessment

Rate of referrals to social
care per 10,000 U18
population

Plan is Best Rolling Year 653.4 649.8 636.2 622.3 627.3 548.2 435.8
Publicly
Reported

Rate of Children in Need
per 10,000 U18 population
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 172.6 184.7 175.2 161.2 174.6 330.4 276.8
Publicly
Reported

Number of children subject
of a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 612 653 789 890 861 ? ?
Publicly
Reported

Number of Children in
Need receiving a service
from safeguarding teams
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 2,137 2,287 2,169 1,996 2,162 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of children subject to a
Children in Need plan for a
2nd or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

80.9 % 72.3 % 73.7 % 70.0 % 71.0 % n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Need who
have been on a plan for 12
months or more

Smaller is
Better

7.6 % 7.7 % 7.9 % 8.1 % 33.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of children on a Child
Protection plan due to
neglect

Smaller is
Better

44.2 % 49.0 % 51.1 % 43.7 % 44.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Number of children on
Child Protection Plans for
18 months or more

Smaller is
Better

25 30 35 42 42 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Rate of children and young
people per 10,000 subject
to a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 49.4 52.7 63.7 71.9 69.5 43.3 39.4
Publicly
Reported

% of children with initial
Child Protection
conferences within 15 days
of the strategy discussion

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 70.8 % 73.6 % 52.0 % 41.3 % 44.6 % 77.2 % 72.1 %
Performance has improved throughout the
quarter and had risen to 86% in December.

Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings work
diverted away from court

Bigger is
Better

75.0 % 48.2 % 83.3 % 47.4 % 54.8 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings cases
as a percentage of all
cases

Smaller is
Better

48.0 % 44.2 % 39.9 % 40.7 % 36.7 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of care proceedings
completed within 26 weeks

Bigger is
Better

38.5 % 39.1 % 50.0 % 57.1 % 45.2 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Average length of care
proceedings (weeks)

Smaller is
Better

33 33 29 28 30 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of Children in Need
whose CiN Plan has been
reviewed within the last 3
months

Bigger is
Better

? 71.7 % 62.7 % 56.0 % 56.4 % 80.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of referrals to Social
Care that are rereferrals
within 12 months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 28.6 % 29.2 % 30.1 % 30.5 % 29.9 % 25.0 % 21.9 % 21.8 %

Although the rate of rereferrals
improved marginally over the
quarter, more work is need to
improve performance.  Work is
ongoing with MASH partners to
ensure decision making and
subsequent assessment and
planning is robust.

Publicly
Reported

% of (single) assessments
completed within 45
working days

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 78.5 % 79.7 % 80.7 % 83.2 % 79.1 % 85.0 % 82.9 % 83.9 %

Single Assessment timeliness
has declined slightly however
this is due in part to increased
management oversight at sign
off in order to improve quality
and outcomes for children and
families.  This has impacted on
timeliness.

Publicly
Reported

% of children becoming
the subject of a Child
Protection Plan for a 2nd
or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 24.8 % 23.6 % 25.2 % 24.3 % 26.5 % 20.9 % 18.7 % 22.7 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Child Protection cases
which were reviewed within
required timescales

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91.8 % 89.9 % 87.7 % 86.8 % 97.7 % 90.0 % 92.2 % 86.9 %
Core Data
Set

% of children becoming
subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or
subsequent time within 2
years

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 11.4 % 12.0 % 10.5 % 10.6 % 12.0 % ? n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Children in Care

Number of children in care
Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 636 649 678 670 699
Publicly
Reported

Number of children in care
in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 59 61 53 60 55
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
external foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£874 £894 £905 £926 £892
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
internal foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£515 £511 £610 £532 £529
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
residential placements
funded by Social Care

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£3,815 £3,998 £4,369 £4,283 £4,144
Core Data
Set

Number of children
becoming subject to
Special Guardianship
Order or Child
Arrangement Order

Plan is Best
Latest
Quarter

12 11 6 9 7
Publicly
Reported

Number of adopters
approved

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

3 10 7 7 8
Core Data
Set

Number of children who
have left care and returned
home

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91 74 67 75 54
Publicly
Reported

% of children in care
placed in an Independent
Fostering Agency (IFA)

Bigger is
Better

21.3 % 20.3 % 35.1 % 36.7 % 36.7 %
Core Data
Set

% of children in care
placed in residential care

Bigger is
Better

9.8 % 9.2 % 8.0 % 9.4 % 9.5 %
Core Data
Set

Rate of Children in Care
Per 10,000 U18 population

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 51.0 52.0 54.3 53.7 56.0
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Care aged
16+ in suitable
accommodation

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 99.0 % 98.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % Figures from December 2018 data collection (snapshot).
Publicly
Reported

Number of foster carers not
currently active

Smaller is
Better

? ? 43 ? 36
Core Data
Set

% of Care Leavers
contacted by a Social
Workers in the last 6
months

Bigger is
Better

91.0 % ? ? ? 96.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of children admitted to
care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 18.1 % 18.1 % 18.0 % 20.6 % 20.1 % 12.0 % n/a n/a

Although the proportion of
children with subsequent care
episodes has
marginally  improved further
work is needed understand the
underlying causes.  A deep
dive in to a sample of cases
has been commenced which
will, amongst other things,
explore the reasons for repeat
care episodes.

Publicly
Reported

% of children who are
fostered who are placed
with the inhouse fostering
service

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 41.0 % 70.0 % 61.0 % 60.7 % 68.0 % 68.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Stability of placements of
children in care: 3 or more
placements in current
period of care

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 13.4 % 12.5 % 12.7 % 12.7 % 14.4 % 13.7 % n/a n/a

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Stability of placements of
children in care: length of
placement

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 72.6 % 67.1 % 62.8 % 63.0 % 64.4 % 65.4 % 68.0 % 69.1 %

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Number of children
adopted (becoming subject
to an adoption order)

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 15 10 5 12 1 7 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Young People

% of young people
(academic age 1617) not
in education, employment
or training (NEET)

Smaller is
Better

2.5 % 2.7 % 2.5 % 1.3 % 2.4 %

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Schools

Number of schools judged
as inadequate

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 6 4 6 5 7 7
(Paternoster, Gloucester Academy, Drybrook, Tuffley
primary, St Matthews CofE Primary, Beaufort Cooperative
Academy, Offa's Mead).

Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding primary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 93.7 % 92.7 % 85.8 % 90.0 % 90.9 % 92.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding secondary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 82.4 % 82.4 % 80.4 % 80.4 % 78.5 % 91.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of good or outstanding
secondary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 81.6 % 81.6 % 76.0 % 73.0 % 78.4 % 90.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
primary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 91.7 % 90.9 % 89.2 % 87.0 % 90.3 % 91.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
Early Years settings

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 89.9 % 89.8 % 88.8 % 88.6 % 89.0 % 89.0 %
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Dec
18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Yearly cost of transport
appeals approved

Smaller is
Better

£18,257 £16,948 £12,344 £0 £32,987
Publicly
Reported

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance  SEN

Smaller is
Better

1,177 1,149 1,194 1,223 1,149
Core Data
Set

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance 
Mainstream

Smaller is
Better

5,212 5,231 5,399 5,251 5,157
Core Data
Set

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
primary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£8.95 £9.27 £9.39 £10.30 £10.20 £9.35
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
secondary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£4.19 £4.28 £4.37 £4.65 £4.22 £4.30
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
special school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£30.11 £32.50 £32.27 £32.56 £32.30 £33.00
Publicly
Reported

Total average daily cost of
home to school transport
per pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£9.53 £9.89 £10.12 £10.63 £9.81 £10.00
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Comments Qtr Sep18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18
Target Qtr
Sep18

Comments Qtr Sep18

Youth Support

Rate of first time entrants
to the Youth Justice system
(per 100,000 of the 1017yr
old population) in the
previous 12months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 282 267 245 198 245

For the latest period reported by the YJB, Jan 17  Dec 17,  Gloucestershire's
rate is 245.  This is less than Quarter 4 when the rate was 267.  It is also less
than the South West Region (290) and also England (292).  This reduction
was expected following the introduction of Children's First.

Publicly
Reported

Rate of proven re
offending by young
offenders

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 36.00 47.20 39.50 39.10 37.00

The Jul 16  Sept 16 cohort consisted of 72  young people, and the
reoffending rate in Gloucestershire is 37.0% which is lower than the previous
Quarter which was 40.0%.  The average number of reoffences per 100
young people is 1.71 which is higher than the previous Quarter which was
1.61.    We continue to track live reoffending data on a quarterly basis to
identify cases where early intervention may prevent escalation.

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Quarters In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun17 Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Comments Jun18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Jun16 Qtr Sep16 Comments Qtr Sep16

7

P
age 289

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col9')


Children & Young  People
Cllr Richard Boyles

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

Gloucestershire Population 017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

122,734 123,086 124,799 126,287 127,004
The 017 population figure is used to calculate the rates per 10,000 for Children's social
care indicators.

Gloucestershire Population 1017 (ONS Mid Year
Estimate)

55,186 55,062 54,892 55,058 55,337
The 1017 population figure is used to calculate the rate of first time entrants to the Youth
Justice system.

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

2013 2014 2015 2016
2017
(Latest)

Comments

Children's Safeguarding & Assessment

Rate of referrals to social
care per 10,000 U18
population

Plan is Best Rolling Year 653.4 649.8 636.2 622.3 627.3 548.2 435.8
Publicly
Reported

Rate of Children in Need
per 10,000 U18 population
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 172.6 184.7 175.2 161.2 174.6 330.4 276.8
Publicly
Reported

Number of children subject
of a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 612 653 789 890 861 ? ?
Publicly
Reported

Number of Children in
Need receiving a service
from safeguarding teams
(excluding Child Protection
and Children in Care)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 2,137 2,287 2,169 1,996 2,162 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of children subject to a
Children in Need plan for a
2nd or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

80.9 % 72.3 % 73.7 % 70.0 % 71.0 % n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Need who
have been on a plan for 12
months or more

Smaller is
Better

7.6 % 7.7 % 7.9 % 8.1 % 33.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of children on a Child
Protection plan due to
neglect

Smaller is
Better

44.2 % 49.0 % 51.1 % 43.7 % 44.5 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Number of children on
Child Protection Plans for
18 months or more

Smaller is
Better

25 30 35 42 42 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Rate of children and young
people per 10,000 subject
to a Child Protection Plan

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 49.4 52.7 63.7 71.9 69.5 43.3 39.4
Publicly
Reported

% of children with initial
Child Protection
conferences within 15 days
of the strategy discussion

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 70.8 % 73.6 % 52.0 % 41.3 % 44.6 % 77.2 % 72.1 %
Performance has improved throughout the
quarter and had risen to 86% in December.

Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings work
diverted away from court

Bigger is
Better

75.0 % 48.2 % 83.3 % 47.4 % 54.8 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of preproceedings cases
as a percentage of all
cases

Smaller is
Better

48.0 % 44.2 % 39.9 % 40.7 % 36.7 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of care proceedings
completed within 26 weeks

Bigger is
Better

38.5 % 39.1 % 50.0 % 57.1 % 45.2 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Average length of care
proceedings (weeks)

Smaller is
Better

33 33 29 28 30 n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of Children in Need
whose CiN Plan has been
reviewed within the last 3
months

Bigger is
Better

? 71.7 % 62.7 % 56.0 % 56.4 % 80.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

% of referrals to Social
Care that are rereferrals
within 12 months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 28.6 % 29.2 % 30.1 % 30.5 % 29.9 % 25.0 % 21.9 % 21.8 %

Although the rate of rereferrals
improved marginally over the
quarter, more work is need to
improve performance.  Work is
ongoing with MASH partners to
ensure decision making and
subsequent assessment and
planning is robust.

Publicly
Reported

% of (single) assessments
completed within 45
working days

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 78.5 % 79.7 % 80.7 % 83.2 % 79.1 % 85.0 % 82.9 % 83.9 %

Single Assessment timeliness
has declined slightly however
this is due in part to increased
management oversight at sign
off in order to improve quality
and outcomes for children and
families.  This has impacted on
timeliness.

Publicly
Reported

% of children becoming
the subject of a Child
Protection Plan for a 2nd
or subsequent time

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 24.8 % 23.6 % 25.2 % 24.3 % 26.5 % 20.9 % 18.7 % 22.7 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Child Protection cases
which were reviewed within
required timescales

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91.8 % 89.9 % 87.7 % 86.8 % 97.7 % 90.0 % 92.2 % 86.9 %
Core Data
Set

% of children becoming
subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or
subsequent time within 2
years

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 11.4 % 12.0 % 10.5 % 10.6 % 12.0 % ? n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Children in Care

Number of children in care
Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 636 649 678 670 699
Publicly
Reported

Number of children in care
in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 59 61 53 60 55
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
external foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£874 £894 £905 £926 £892
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
internal foster placements

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£515 £511 £610 £532 £529
Publicly
Reported

Average weekly cost of
residential placements
funded by Social Care

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£3,815 £3,998 £4,369 £4,283 £4,144
Core Data
Set

Number of children
becoming subject to
Special Guardianship
Order or Child
Arrangement Order

Plan is Best
Latest
Quarter

12 11 6 9 7
Publicly
Reported

Number of adopters
approved

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

3 10 7 7 8
Core Data
Set

Number of children who
have left care and returned
home

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 91 74 67 75 54
Publicly
Reported

% of children in care
placed in an Independent
Fostering Agency (IFA)

Bigger is
Better

21.3 % 20.3 % 35.1 % 36.7 % 36.7 %
Core Data
Set

% of children in care
placed in residential care

Bigger is
Better

9.8 % 9.2 % 8.0 % 9.4 % 9.5 %
Core Data
Set

Rate of Children in Care
Per 10,000 U18 population

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 51.0 52.0 54.3 53.7 56.0
Publicly
Reported

% of Children in Care aged
16+ in suitable
accommodation

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 99.0 % 98.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % 99.0 % Figures from December 2018 data collection (snapshot).
Publicly
Reported

Number of foster carers not
currently active

Smaller is
Better

? ? 43 ? 36
Core Data
Set

% of Care Leavers
contacted by a Social
Workers in the last 6
months

Bigger is
Better

91.0 % ? ? ? 96.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of children admitted to
care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 18.1 % 18.1 % 18.0 % 20.6 % 20.1 % 12.0 % n/a n/a

Although the proportion of
children with subsequent care
episodes has
marginally  improved further
work is needed understand the
underlying causes.  A deep
dive in to a sample of cases
has been commenced which
will, amongst other things,
explore the reasons for repeat
care episodes.

Publicly
Reported

% of children who are
fostered who are placed
with the inhouse fostering
service

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 41.0 % 70.0 % 61.0 % 60.7 % 68.0 % 68.0 % n/a n/a
Core Data
Set

Stability of placements of
children in care: 3 or more
placements in current
period of care

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 13.4 % 12.5 % 12.7 % 12.7 % 14.4 % 13.7 % n/a n/a

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Stability of placements of
children in care: length of
placement

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 72.6 % 67.1 % 62.8 % 63.0 % 64.4 % 65.4 % 68.0 % 69.1 %

Improving placement stability
is a key area of focus and the
new Sufficiency Strategy sets
out a range of measures that
aim to improve the quality and
stability of placement options.

Publicly
Reported

Number of children
adopted (becoming subject
to an adoption order)

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 15 10 5 12 1 7 n/a n/a
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

National
Average

Peer Group
Average

Comments Qtr Dec18

Young People

% of young people
(academic age 1617) not
in education, employment
or training (NEET)

Smaller is
Better

2.5 % 2.7 % 2.5 % 1.3 % 2.4 %

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Schools

Number of schools judged
as inadequate

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 6 4 6 5 7 7
(Paternoster, Gloucester Academy, Drybrook, Tuffley
primary, St Matthews CofE Primary, Beaufort Cooperative
Academy, Offa's Mead).

Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding primary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 93.7 % 92.7 % 85.8 % 90.0 % 90.9 % 92.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of pupils attending good
or outstanding secondary
schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 82.4 % 82.4 % 80.4 % 80.4 % 78.5 % 91.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of good or outstanding
secondary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 81.6 % 81.6 % 76.0 % 73.0 % 78.4 % 90.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
primary schools

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 91.7 % 90.9 % 89.2 % 87.0 % 90.3 % 91.0 %
Core Data
Set

% of good or outstanding
Early Years settings

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 89.9 % 89.8 % 88.8 % 88.6 % 89.0 % 89.0 %
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Dec
18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Yearly cost of transport
appeals approved

Smaller is
Better

£18,257 £16,948 £12,344 £0 £32,987
Publicly
Reported

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance  SEN

Smaller is
Better

1,177 1,149 1,194 1,223 1,149
Core Data
Set

Number of pupils receiving
transport assistance 
Mainstream

Smaller is
Better

5,212 5,231 5,399 5,251 5,157
Core Data
Set

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
primary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£8.95 £9.27 £9.39 £10.30 £10.20 £9.35
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
secondary school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£4.19 £4.28 £4.37 £4.65 £4.22 £4.30
Publicly
Reported

Average daily cost of home
to school transport per
special school pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£30.11 £32.50 £32.27 £32.56 £32.30 £33.00
Publicly
Reported

Total average daily cost of
home to school transport
per pupil

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£9.53 £9.89 £10.12 £10.63 £9.81 £10.00
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Comments Qtr Sep18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18
Target Qtr
Sep18

Comments Qtr Sep18

Youth Support

Rate of first time entrants
to the Youth Justice system
(per 100,000 of the 1017yr
old population) in the
previous 12months

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 282 267 245 198 245

For the latest period reported by the YJB, Jan 17  Dec 17,  Gloucestershire's
rate is 245.  This is less than Quarter 4 when the rate was 267.  It is also less
than the South West Region (290) and also England (292).  This reduction
was expected following the introduction of Children's First.

Publicly
Reported

Rate of proven re
offending by young
offenders

Smaller is
Better

Rolling Year 36.00 47.20 39.50 39.10 37.00

The Jul 16  Sept 16 cohort consisted of 72  young people, and the
reoffending rate in Gloucestershire is 37.0% which is lower than the previous
Quarter which was 40.0%.  The average number of reoffences per 100
young people is 1.71 which is higher than the previous Quarter which was
1.61.    We continue to track live reoffending data on a quarterly basis to
identify cases where early intervention may prevent escalation.

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Quarters In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Jun17 Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Comments Jun18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep15 Qtr Dec15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Jun16 Qtr Sep16 Comments Qtr Sep16

8

Home to School Transport

P
age 290

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col9')


Workforce

Agency worker rate
(excluding vacancies)

Plan is Best Snapshot 29.0 % 42.7 % 51.6 % 49.4 % 49.8 %
Core Data
Set

% of Social Work posts
which are vacant

Smaller is
Better

Snapshot 21.0 % 23.3 % 33.8 % 35.1 % 32.6 %
Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

9

Number of young people
on youth support caseloads

Plan is Best Snapshot 1,326 1,496 1,509 1,398 1,517
Please note that this caseload now includes those young people who are
caseloaded to the 1125 Service.  The figure will  also include duplicate
young people if they are open to more than one area of the Service

Core Data
Set

Number of young people
sentenced to custody

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

6 0 0 3 0
There were no young people in Gloucesteshire sentenced to Custody during
Quarter 3, this compares to three young people in the previous quarter.

Core Data
Set

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments QtrDec18

P
age 291

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col9')


Strategic Risk Register Summary

SR7.4

Failure to close the gaps in
educational outcomes for
vulnerable learners and their
peers resulting in adverse
impacts for children and
families, increased
cost/pressures on specialist
provision and damage to
reputation.

Browne, Tim High 20 High 20 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 12 Moderate 12

Reshaping Education  phase 1 complete and
phase 2 underway
High Needs Programme  with
recommendations going to Cabinet in January
1 9
Joint Additional Strategy for Children & Young
People with Additional Needs, including SEND
School Partnership Board

SR7.2

Ineffective social care practice,
management oversight and
review processes resulting in
drift and delay for children and
young people in situations of
harm.

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12

A comprehensive Improvement Plan has been
developed, with input from our Improvement
Partner (Essex County Council), with progress
subject to oversight by the Children's
Improvement Board.  Key elements include:

an integrated MASH to ensure a consistent,
timely and effective response to contacts
a comprehensive programme of professional
and management development for the social
care workforce
a robust QA framework to enable management
and senior leaders to understand the
effectiveness  of practice in improving
outcomes for children and young people
the implementation of practice standards
covering all aspects of social care activity

a robust multiagency focus on complex
safeguarding issues  including  criminal/sexual
exploitation, radicalisation and missing
episodes

SR7.5

Insufficient workforce capacity
and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and
sustainability of improvement
and contributing to
discontinuity in social
engagement with children and
families

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12

Additional funding provided to Children's
Services to increase capacity and ensure
caseloads are manageable
Recruitment and Relocation Strategy in place
including enhanced package for 'hard to
recruit' posts
'Grow our own' approach to workforce
development including ASYE, Frontline and
Step Up to Social Worker
Overseas social work recruitment

Investment in technology and workplaces to
place the focus on direct work with children and
young families.

SR7.7
Failure to develop sufficient
placement capacity to meet the
needs of children looked after

Spencer,
Chris

High 20 High 16

Revised Sufficiency Strategy currently being
completed.
Refreshed Recruitment strategy for foster
carers with the aim of increasing the numbers
and proportion of children care for by 'in house'
foster care provision.
Work with health partners to develop specialist
residential provision as part of the IRIS
Project

Continued development of our Permanence
arrangements

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People

Ref. Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Residual
Risk Dec17

Residual
Risk Mar18

Residual
Risk Jun18

Residual
Risk Sep18

Residual
Risk Dec18

Direction
of Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People (New Quarter 3 2018/19)

Ref. Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Residual Risk Dec18 Mitigating Actions

10

P
age 292

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')


Strategic Risk Register Summary

SR7.4

Failure to close the gaps in
educational outcomes for
vulnerable learners and their
peers resulting in adverse
impacts for children and
families, increased
cost/pressures on specialist
provision and damage to
reputation.

Browne, Tim High 20 High 20 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 12 Moderate 12

Reshaping Education  phase 1 complete and
phase 2 underway
High Needs Programme  with
recommendations going to Cabinet in January
1 9
Joint Additional Strategy for Children & Young
People with Additional Needs, including SEND
School Partnership Board

SR7.2

Ineffective social care practice,
management oversight and
review processes resulting in
drift and delay for children and
young people in situations of
harm.

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12

A comprehensive Improvement Plan has been
developed, with input from our Improvement
Partner (Essex County Council), with progress
subject to oversight by the Children's
Improvement Board.  Key elements include:

an integrated MASH to ensure a consistent,
timely and effective response to contacts
a comprehensive programme of professional
and management development for the social
care workforce
a robust QA framework to enable management
and senior leaders to understand the
effectiveness  of practice in improving
outcomes for children and young people
the implementation of practice standards
covering all aspects of social care activity

a robust multiagency focus on complex
safeguarding issues  including  criminal/sexual
exploitation, radicalisation and missing
episodes

SR7.5

Insufficient workforce capacity
and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and
sustainability of improvement
and contributing to
discontinuity in social
engagement with children and
families

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12

Additional funding provided to Children's
Services to increase capacity and ensure
caseloads are manageable
Recruitment and Relocation Strategy in place
including enhanced package for 'hard to
recruit' posts
'Grow our own' approach to workforce
development including ASYE, Frontline and
Step Up to Social Worker
Overseas social work recruitment

Investment in technology and workplaces to
place the focus on direct work with children and
young families.

SR7.7
Failure to develop sufficient
placement capacity to meet the
needs of children looked after

Spencer,
Chris

High 20 High 16

Revised Sufficiency Strategy currently being
completed.
Refreshed Recruitment strategy for foster
carers with the aim of increasing the numbers
and proportion of children care for by 'in house'
foster care provision.
Work with health partners to develop specialist
residential provision as part of the IRIS
Project

Continued development of our Permanence
arrangements

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People

Ref. Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Residual
Risk Dec17

Residual
Risk Mar18

Residual
Risk Jun18

Residual
Risk Sep18

Residual
Risk Dec18

Direction
of Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People (New Quarter 3 2018/19)

Ref. Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Residual Risk Dec18 Mitigating Actions

11

P
age 293

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col11')


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
1. Purpose 
 

To provide the budget forecast outturn figures for the 2018/19 revenue budgets. 
 
The structure of the report reflects the commissioning view of children and families services. 
Services are grouped by Service Areas with DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) and non-DSG 
variances identified.  
 
DSG is the grant allocated by the Department for Education to fund all education services 
including schools and the total for Gloucestershire is over £442 million. Of this total, £346 
million is delegated to schools and academies with the remainder relating to early years, 
high needs and a small number of central support services which are the responsibility of the 
Local Authority. High needs includes the funding for special schools, pupil referral service, 
additional SEN support for pupils in mainstream schools and post 16 support to colleges. 

 
2. Executive Summary  
 

2.1 Overall Position 
 

The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at December 2018 for non-DSG 
funded services is an over-spend position of £7.97 million (7.5% of budget). The underlying 
over-spend is £10.57 million, £6.23 million being external placement costs, which reduces to 
£7.97 million when offset by £2.6 million of Business Rates Retention pilot income. 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by £5.7 
million in-year. The announcement in December 2018 by the DFE of additional funds to 
support children with special educational needs has reduced the over-spend by £1.35 million 
and balances brought forward of £2.3 million reduce the net over-spend to £2.05 million 
against the ring-fenced grant.  
 
At the end of November 2018 children in care numbers had risen to 686 from 549 at the end 
of March 2016 and although nationally the trend is increasing (circa 3% p.a.) other factors 
will include the improvement in social work practice through catching up on drift and delay in 
casework. The ongoing rise in children coming into care continues to cause significant 
pressures on children’s services and in particular against the external placement and 
safeguarding staff budgets  resulting in the over-spend. 

This position is analysed in the monitoring spreadsheet provided at attachment 1 to this 
report, based on actual expenditure to the end of November 2018 and forecasts input in 
December 2018. 

 
2.2 Variance Summary 
 

Significant non-DSG variances are as follows:- 

Gloucestershire County Council 

2018/19 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report 
Commissioner Director: Children & Families 

Net Budget Analysis 
Year-End Forecast input in December 2018 

  

Page 295

Agenda Item 11



 Children in Care – over-spend against the external placement budget of £6.23 million 
(36.1% of budget) is the significant part of the total over-spend of £6.38 million. 

 Safeguarding – staffing budgets are forecasting to be £2.87 million over-spent. 
Recruitment and retention of social workers continues to be challenging with a significant 
number of agency staff continuing to cover staff vacancies or where caseloads remain 
high. Section 17 and Children in Care payment budgets are forecasting a £0.83 million 
over-spend. 

 Quality – additional Conference Chairs are resulting in a forecast over-spend of £0.25 
million. 

 Young People Support – are forecasting a £0.88 million over-spend due to the cost of 
supporting a number of complex cases and the additional cost of agency staff. 

 Regulated Services – an over-spend of £0.21 million includes the cost of in-house 
fostering and adoption placements offset by lower allowance payments. 

 Disabled Children & Young People – forecast under-spend of £0.34 million reflecting 
lower staffing costs. 

 Commissioning Function - £2.6 million reflects the business rate retention rate pilot 
income and £0.19 million from the release of contingencies. 

 Other variances – under-spends totalling £0.24 million across a number of areas. 
 

Significant DSG variances are as follows:- 
 Schools DSG balances brought forward from 2017/18 which are uncommitted total £2.3 

million. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to over-spend by 
£5.7 million in-year, and after allowing for the additional funding announced by the DFE 
of £1.35 million in 2018/19 and balances the DSG over-spend reduces to £2.05 million 
against the ring-fenced grant. 

 Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) top ups are over-spending by £2.25 million 
mostly within primary schools. Special school places are forecasting to over-spend by £1 
million. 

 Services for CYP with Additional Needs – Independent Special Schools are 
forecasting to over-spend by £1.15 million due to increased activity. 

 Education Outcomes and Intervention – EHCP top ups are over-spending by £1.36 
million within alternative provision schools as a result of the high levels of exclusions 
from mainstream schools and DSG balances of £0.5 are being used to fund known in-
year commitments. 

 Other variances – there are a number of other smaller under-spends totalling £0.56 
million across a range of services.  
 

2.3 Underlying Financial Considerations 
 

The outturn forecast summarised above includes the following financial information: 
 The MTC targets for 2018/19 total £0.35 million and are forecasting to underachieve by 

£0.06 million due to pensions savings where commitments have not reduced as 
expected. 
 

3. Detailed Analysis 
 

An analysis of the financial figures is contained in the following attachments: 
 Attachment 1 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) Commissioning Director: Children & 

Families – SLA format 
 Attachment 2 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) – High Risk Analysis 
 Attachment 3 – Activity Analysis – External Agency Placements 

Page 296



 
The detailed analysis is set out under service areas:- 
 
3.1 Education and Additional Needs  
 Schools - balances brought forward from 2017/18 total £2.3 million and additional 

funding for 2018/19 of £1.35 million was announced by the DFE in December. DSG 
funded services are forecast to over-spend by £5.7 million in-year, but this reduces to   
£2.05 million after the use of balances and the additional funding. Top ups are over-
spending by £1.8 million within mainstream primary schools due to the increase in the 
number of children with education, health and care plans. This is likely to increase as the 
year progresses. Special school places are forecasting to over-spend by £1 million. 

 Services for CYP with Additional Needs – Independent Special Schools are 
forecasting to over-spend by £1.15 million due to increased activity.  

 Education Outcomes and Intervention - top ups are over-spending by £1.36 million 
within alternative provision schools due to the number of exclusions. A pilot project to 
seek to reduce exclusions will address some of the additional costs. DSG balances of 
£0.5 million are being used to fund known in-year commitments within high needs 
services. 

 Disabled Children & Young People – forecast under-spend of £0.34 million reflecting 
lower staffing costs in fieldwork and residential provision. 

 
The High Needs Programme is focussing on addressing this financial pressure and the 
additional funding announced by the DFE for 2018/19 and 2019/20 will ease some of the 
pressure but not all if expenditure continues at this level in 2019/20. Changes to funding 
arrangements are currently being discussed with the Schools Forum to bring the DSG back 
into balance. Any potential over-spend in future years which could not be addressed through 
the DSG ring-fenced grant may result in a future financial risk to the Council.  

 
3.2 Children and Families 
There are significant pressures on budgets related to operational social care services. This 
relates to the demand for child protection services and the number of children in care. 
Details include:- 

 Children in Care – as part of the 2018/19 budget, additional investment of £7.6 million 
was approved for external placements. This investment was based on a maximum 
number of 280 external placements with a unit cost of £61,600 per annum using an 
80:20 fostering to residential weighting. The current forecast over-spend against the 
external placement budget of £6.23 million (36.1% above budget) is due to a higher 
number of external placements than anticipated, within which the number of residential 
placements has increased in both absolute and proportionate terms. Many of the 
residential placements are required to meet the needs of highly complex children 
resulting in a current average unit cost of £86,700 per annum. There are currently 295 
external placements, of which 75 are residential. The forecast includes contingencies of 
£1.2 million for new cases in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing 
care commitments or allow for high number of placements.  

 The Director of Children’s Service’s is leading a review of all high cost placements on a 
regular basis as part of the wider improvement work on permanence planning. The aim 
is to reduce the cost of external placements where appropriate, given the higher unit 
costs outlined above, ensure decisions around placement change and permanence are 
executed in timely child centred manner, and ultimately bring down the forecast over-
spend. It is estimated that these reviews will result in approximately £1 million of cost 
avoidance in 2018/19, which has been built into the forecast. To date the reviews have 

Page 297



resulted in estimated cost avoidance of £0.77 million in the current financial year. 
Improving social care practice to divert children from care at an earlier point and achieve 
permanence at the earliest opportunity will reduce costs in the longer term. Activity 
information for the last few years is presented in attachment 3.  

 Safeguarding - Safeguarding staffing budgets have received £4.01 million of investment 
in 2018/19 to reduce caseloads and improve practice within teams. Recruitment of social 
workers especially experienced staff continues to be a challenge and agency staff have 
continued to cover staff vacancies or where caseloads remain high. Due to the number 
of agency staff, budgets are forecasted to be £2.87 million over-spent. To address the 
issue of recruitment and retention it has been agreed that a number of changes are to be 
made to social work pay scales and allowances in year to make Gloucestershire 
competitive with neighbouring authorities. Section 17 and Children in Care payment 
budgets are forecasting a £0.83 million over-spend due to the higher level of activity. 
Procedures are being put in place to review all significant payments to ensure 
consistency across teams. 

 Quality - The increase in child protection cases has resulted in additional Child 
Protection Chairs being employed on a temporarily basis resulting in a £0.24 million 
over-spend. 

 Regulated services – a net over-spend of £0.25 million includes adoption, child 
arrangement and special guardianship orders forecast under-spend of £0.22 million due 
to lower than expected number of orders/allowances being made. This is offset by the in-
house fostering service which is forecasting to over-spend by £0.17 million and adoption 
placements of £0.19 million. 

 
3.3 Commissioned Children’s Services 
 Young People Support – young people’s expenses are forecasting a £0.88 million over-

spend due to the cost of supporting a number of complex cases and the additional cost 
of agency staff covering staff vacancies. 

 
3.4 Commissioning Function  
 The July 2018 Cabinet approved that £2.6 million of business rates pilot income should 

be allocated to demand pressures within Children’s services. The allocation is set 
against this heading. Unallocated one off monies totalling £0.19 million have been 
released to help offset the over-spend. 

 

Page 298



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

Services for CYP £000 £000 DSG   £000
Non DSG 

£000
Total £000 % DSG   £000

Non DSG 

£000
Total £000

Change 

£000

Education & Additional Needs Tim Browne

Schools CF0201 -51,443 -50,752 631 60 691 -1.3% -372 60 -312 1,003

Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 16,254 17,363 1,209 -100 1,109 6.8% 1,282 -74 1,208 -99 

Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 4,338 3,995 0 -343 -343 -7.9% 0 -317 -317 -26 

Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 7,915 8,170 393 -138 255 3.2% 998 -116 882 -627 

Commissioning for Learning CF0206 13,331 13,198 21 -154 -133 -1.0% 24 -146 -122 -11 

Early Years Education CF0210 30,885 30,678 -189 -18 -207 -0.7% -6 -18 -24 -183 

Other Education Services CF02-0 828 868 0 40 40 4.8% -1 19 18 22

Total Education & Skills 22,108 23,520 2,065 -653 1,412 6.4% 1,925 -592 1,333 79

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Children & Families Julie Rzezniczek

Safeguarding CF0301 14,920 18,611 0 3,691 3,691 24.7% 0 3,316 3,316 375

Children in Care CF0302 20,303 26,680 0 6,377 6,377 31.4% 0 6,107 6,107 270

Regulated Services CF0303 15,133 15,341 0 208 208 1.4% 0 65 65 143

Quality CF0305 1,927 2,177 0 250 250 13.0% 0 424 424 -174 

CF Management & Business Support CF0306 2,784 2,760 0 -24 -24 -0.9% 0 14 14 -38 

Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 3,080 3,105 0 25 25 0.8% 0 6 6 19

Total Children & Families 58,147 68,674 0 10,527 10,527 18.1% 0 9,932 9,932 595

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams

Young People Support CF0402 9,349 10,229 0 880 880 9.4% 0 747 747 133

Localities Early Intervention CF0403 881 881 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0

Health Contracts CF0405 704 704 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0

Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 4,850 4,869 0 19 19 0.4% 0 1 1 18

Other Commissioned Children's Services 15,784 16,683 0 899 899 5.7% 0 748 748 151

CF07 ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Commissioning Function Sue Hall 10,049 7,233 -10 -2,806 -2,816 -28.0% -6 -2,861 -2,867 51

Roundings 0 -2 0 -2 -2 0 0 0 -2 

Total 106,088 116,108 2,055 7,965 10,020 9.4% 1,919 7,227 9,146 874

Variance

2018/19 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 1

Commissioning Director : Children & Families

Net Budget Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in December 2018

Prev. Mth's Forecast Variance

P
age 299



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

High Risk Areas £000 £000 DSG £000
Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000
% DSG £000

Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000

Change 

£000

External Agency Placements Wendy Williams 17,255 23,485 0 6,230 6,230 36.1% 0 5,980 5,980 250

Independent Special Schools Charlotte Jones 9,291 10,441 1,150 0 1,150 12.4% 1,150 0 1,150 0

Fostering Tammy Wheatley 9,658 9,831 0 173 173 1.8% 0 195 195 -22 

Adoption Tammy Wheatley 2,482 2,671 0 189 189 7.6% 0 44 44 145

Special Guard & Res Orders Tammy Wheatley 2,993 2,839 0 -154 -154 -5.1% 0 -175 -175 21

Safeguarding Staff Julie Rzezniczek 13,291 16,161 0 2,870 2,870 21.6% 0 2,605 2,605 265

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments Various 1,284 2,116 0 832 832 64.8% 0 705 705 127

High Needs Top-up Budgets Charlotte Jones 25,482 29,097 3,615 0 3,615 14.2% 1,925 0 1,925 1,690

Pensions Stewart King 3,812 3,872 0 60 60 1.6% 0 60 60 0

Youth Support - Leaving Care / After Care Mark Bone/Francis Gobey 4,170 5,050 0 880 880 21.1% 0 748 748 132

Staffing 2,699 3,081 0 382 382 14.2% 0 337 337 45

Payments 1,471 1,969 0 498 498 33.9% 0 411 411 87

Transport Charlotte Jones/Clare Medland 11,425 11,325 0 -100 -100 -0.9% 0 -100 -100 0

Nursery Education Fees Sarah Hylton 30,603 30,415 -189 0 -189 -0.6% -6 0 -6 -183 

Roundings 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 131,747 147,303 4,576 10,980 15,556 11.8% 3,069 10,062 13,131 2,425

Variance

2018/19 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 2

Commissioning Director : Children & Families Services

High Risk Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in December 2018

Prev. Mth's Forecast Variance

P
age 300



Annex 3

Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Month 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Apr 151 131 159 136 153 184 245 270 Apr 31 21 31 33 37 55 63 72 Apr 102 92 107 89 108 104 153 161 Apr 18 21 14 8 19 29 37

May 158 134 152 138 162 201 252 287 May 28 22 30 36 42 56 63 72 May 109 93 101 90 114 118 154 176 May 19 21 12 6 19 35 39

Jun 159 129 149 142 174 205 248 287 Jun 27 23 31 35 45 63 61 68 Jun 114 90 95 95 117 119 155 181 Jun 16 22 12 12 23 32 38

Jul 157 129 149 138 170 226 247 299 Jul 23 21 29 36 41 61 65 68 Jul 115 94 98 92 115 136 150 188 Jul 14 22 10 14 29 32 43

Aug 153 126 138 132 169 215 241 305 Aug 20 23 24 29 40 57 61 70 Aug 113 88 98 94 115 133 146 192 Aug 15 16 9 14 25 34 43

Sep 161 131 134 136 166 231 251 289 Sep 23 23 24 27 40 63 65 68 Sep 114 91 95 101 111 145 152 182 Sep 17 14 8 15 23 34 39

Oct 156 127 135 134 178 221 246 294 Oct 24 22 28 22 44 61 65 69 Oct 111 89 93 104 119 136 144 186 Oct 16 13 8 15 24 37 39

Nov 153 127 139 129 176 213 246 295 Nov 21 22 31 22 45 61 67 75 Nov 110 89 96 100 117 131 138 173 Nov 16 11 7 14 21 41 47

Dec 155 127 133 124 189 222 246 Dec 21 24 30 20 51 61 67 Dec 110 91 91 98 120 133 142 Dec 12 12 6 18 26 37

Jan 148 129 138 132 180 217 244 Jan 20 25 34 24 49 60 67 Jan 108 93 92 100 113 129 142 Jan 11 12 8 18 28 35

Feb 133 126 142 124 178 234 252 Feb 20 25 34 24 52 61 68 Feb 94 91 94 95 110 137 149 Feb 10 14 5 16 36 35

Mar 137 129 136 143 187 231 246 Mar 22 25 30 36 53 63 67 Mar 94 94 91 100 114 134 146 Mar 10 15 7 20 34 33

Average 152 129 142 134 174 217 247 291 23 23 30 29 45 60 65 70 108 91 96 97 114 130 148 180 15 16 9 14 26 35 41

1. Youth Offending placements account for the difference between the number of residential and fostering placements and the total.

2. Activity includes unaccompanied asylum seekers

3. The numbers are based on placements in the database at the end of a month. Previous months figures are updated as information becomes available

4. Prior to 2011/12 supported living placements were included within the fostering figures

5. There were a significant number of placements which came in during March 2013 which were only identified from April 

Notes

2018/19 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report

Children & Young People’s Services

Activity Analysis - External Placements

Total Agency Placements Total Residential Agency Placements Total Fostering Agency Placements Supported Living Placements

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o

v

D
e

c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Total External Agency Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u

l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a

r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e

m
e

n
ts

 

Month 

Agency Residential Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e

b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e

m
e

n
ts

 

Month 

Agency Fostering Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

0

10

20

30

40

50

A
p

r

M
a

y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

Supported Living Placements 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

P
age 301



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager Full Year 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

Services for CYP £000 £000 DSG   £000 Non DSG 
£000 Total £000 % DSG   £000 Non DSG 

£000 Total £000 Change 
£000

Education & Additional Needs Tim Browne
Schools CF0201 -51,443 -50,752 631 60 691 -1.3% -372 60 -312 1,003
Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 16,254 17,363 1,209 -100 1,109 6.8% 1,282 -74 1,208 -99 
Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 4,338 3,995 0 -343 -343 -7.9% 0 -317 -317 -26 
Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 7,915 8,170 393 -138 255 3.2% 998 -116 882 -627 
Commissioning for Learning CF0206 13,331 13,198 21 -154 -133 -1.0% 24 -146 -122 -11 
Early Years Education CF0210 30,885 30,678 -189 -18 -207 -0.7% -6 -18 -24 -183 
Other Education Services CF02-0 828 868 0 40 40 4.8% -1 19 18 22
Total Education & Skills 22,108 23,520 2,065 -653 1,412 6.4% 1,925 -592 1,333 79

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Children & Families Julie Rzezniczek
Safeguarding CF0301 14,920 18,611 0 3,691 3,691 24.7% 0 3,316 3,316 375
Children in Care CF0302 20,303 26,680 0 6,377 6,377 31.4% 0 6,107 6,107 270
Regulated Services CF0303 15,133 15,341 0 208 208 1.4% 0 65 65 143
Quality CF0305 1,927 2,177 0 250 250 13.0% 0 424 424 -174 
CF Management & Business Support CF0306 2,784 2,760 0 -24 -24 -0.9% 0 14 14 -38 
Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 3,080 3,105 0 25 25 0.8% 0 6 6 19
Total Children & Families 58,147 68,674 0 10,527 10,527 18.1% 0 9,932 9,932 595

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams
Young People Support CF0402 9,349 10,229 0 880 880 9.4% 0 747 747 133
Localities Early Intervention CF0403 881 881 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0
Health Contracts CF0405 704 704 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0
Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 4,850 4,869 0 19 19 0.4% 0 1 1 18
Other Commissioned Children's Services 15,784 16,683 0 899 899 5.7% 0 748 748 151

CF07 ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Commissioning Function Sue Hall 10,049 7,233 -10 -2,806 -2,816 -28.0% -6 -2,861 -2,867 51

Roundings 0 -2 0 -2 -2 0 0 0 -2 

Total 106,088 116,108 2,055 7,965 10,020 9.4% 1,919 7,227 9,146 874

Variance

2018/19 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 1
Commissioning Director : Children & Families

Net Budget Analysis
Year-End Forecast input in December 2018

Prev. Mth's Forecast Variance

P
age 303



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Ofsted Outcome Letter
	5 Improvement Board Update
	6 Quality Assurance Framework: Progress Update Report
	7 School Off Rolling Information
	8 Update on the Permanent Exclusions Task Group Report
	9 Children's Centres - A Position Statement
	County Report 2018
	Gloucester Report 2018
	Stroud Report 2018
	Forest of Dean Report 2018
	Cheltenham Report 2018
	Tewkesbury Report 2018
	Cotswold Report 2018

	10 Performance Monitoring
	Children  Families Scrutiny Annex Q3 26.2.19

	11 Revenue Monitoring
	P09 December 18 Revenue Monitoring SC v2
	Copy of P9 CF Dec 2018 App SC
	P9 CF Dec 2018 App SC




